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We’re on a journey. 
To an online driven future.



Market leading brands
We have some of the most recognised and highly trusted brands in the industry, which reduces the  
cost of customer acquisition and means we are highly attractive to our accommodation providers and 
distribution partners. 

Differentiated, unique products
We are committed to offering our customers a wide choice of differentiated and unique products, which,  
as well as enhancing customer satisfaction and retention, also improves pricing power and produces a 
higher quality margin.

Market leading positions
We are either the number one or number two tour operator in almost all of our mainstream source 
markets, including leadership positions in the UK, Germany, France, Belgium, the Netherlands and Canada.

Online driven
We are the European market leader in online package holiday sales. In addition, we have a market leading 
presence through our international online accommodation wholesalers and our UK accommodation 
online travel agent (OTA). We also have a growing presence through our accommodation OTA in Asia and 
Australia. There is a prevailing trend towards online bookings in all of our source markets and increasing  
our share of sales made through online channels results in lower distribution costs and higher margins. 

Economies of scale
We buy over 150 million roomnights per year, making us one of the largest distributors of accommodation 
globally. Our scale gives us a competitive advantage when negotiating with suppliers, allowing us to offer 
excellent value to our customers.

Exposure to higher growth independent travel
Almost one third of our profits are generated by our Accommodation & Destinations and Specialist  
& Activity Sectors, which primarily serve the independent travel market. These enjoy high growth and 
margin characteristics and include specialist tour operators offering unique, experiential travel and online 
accommodation providers.  

Business improvement opportunities 
In 2009, we identified £142m of turnaround opportunities as we took strategic actions to improve margins 
in a number of underperforming businesses. We delivered £53m of these in 2010 and £42m in 2011. We have 
identified further opportunities and expect £107m of business improvement profits and cost savings to be 
delivered over the next three years. 

Emerging markets
We have established a significant presence in the fast growing Russian and Ukrainian markets, leaving us 
well positioned to take advantage of their potential. We have an existing presence in Brazil, China and India 
and are investigating further opportunities in these exciting markets including capitalising on the outbound 
licence we have been granted with our joint venture partner in China.

Experienced management team
Each of our businesses is led by highly experienced management teams giving us real strength and depth 
of leadership. Our leaders have demonstrated excellent track records of building strong businesses and 
creating value.

www.tuitravelplc.com

The investment case
Reasons to invest in TUI Travel PLC
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TUI Travel PLC is one of  
the world’s leading leisure 
travel companies.

Find our 2011  
Annual Report online at 
http://ara2011.tuitravelplc.com

The Annual Report & Accounts contain forward-looking statements that are subject  
to risk factors associated with, amongst other things, the economic and business 
circumstances occurring from time to time in countries and Sectors in which the  
Group operates. It is believed that the expectations reflected in these statements  
are reasonable but they may be affected by a wide range of variables which could  
cause actual results to differ from those currently anticipated.
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Who we are
TUI Travel PLC group of companies (TUI Travel or the Group) is one  
of the world’s leading leisure travel companies, with over 200 trusted 
brands in 180 countries and more than 30 million customers.

TUI Travel is proud to offer a rich diversity of travel experiences 
through its portfolio of individual and market leading brands,  
grouped into four sectors – Mainstream, Accommodation & 
Destinations, Specialist & Activity and Emerging Markets. 

TUI Travel is a truly global business, employing approximately  
53,000 people and operating in 31 key source markets worldwide.  
As a dynamic, influential company it is committed to responsible 
leadership in the travel sector. 

TUI Travel is headquartered in the UK and listed on the London  
Stock Exchange as a member of the FTSE 250 and FTSE4Good  
indices with the ticker code TT. 

Group at a glance

TUI Travel overview
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Australia
Austria
Belgium
Brazil
Canada
China
Czech Republic
Denmark
Finland
France
Germany
Hungary
India
Ireland
Italy
Luxembourg

Mexico
The Netherlands
New Zealand
Norway
Poland
Russia
Singapore
Slovenia
Spain
Sweden 
Switzerland
Thailand
Ukraine
United Kingdom
United States

Feature brands
TUI Travel operates more than 200 brands which are available to view on our website  
www.tuitravelplc.com. A selection of our featured brands includes:

Group at a glance

Strategic overview
G
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In Germany, TUI is one of the best 
known consumer brands and the 
favourite holiday brand for consumers 
and travel agencies alike. It has a 
market leading position.

www.tui.com

Thomson has been selling holidays 
from the UK for over 45 years and is 
still evolving. It offers the full spectrum 
of holidays including summer holidays, 
winter breaks and last minute 
getaways. Three quarters of holidays 
on offer are now exclusive to Thomson.

www.thomson.co.uk

Fritidsresor is Sweden’s largest tour 
operator offering mainstream holidays 
to sun and beach destinations including 
the Mediterranean, Canary Islands and 
Thailand. It also includes the airline, 
TUIFly Nordic.

www.fritidsresor.se

The Moorings is the world’s leading 
yacht charter company with over  
650 yachts in 27 cruising destinations.  
The Moorings offers a collection of 
getaways from hands-on sailing or 
power yacht vacations to all inclusive, 
private, luxury crewed yachts. 

www.moorings.com

As the leader in polar expeditions, 
Quark offers unparalleled access to  
the world’s most remote regions to 
intrepid travellers from around the 
globe. Quark is recognised for its 
technical expertise, leadership  
and passion for polar adventure.

www.quarkexpeditions.com

LateRooms.com is the UK’s leading 
online accommodation site offering 
deals in over 50,000 properties 
worldwide, ranging from B&Bs  
to 5-star luxury hotels.

www.laterooms.com

Hotelbeds, the international 
accommodation wholesaler, has an 
online accommodation database  
of over 45,000 hotels. Hotelbeds 
provides accommodation in 147 
countries from over 1,500 hotel  
chains and independent hotels. 

www.hotelbeds.com

Intercruises Shoreside & Port  
Services is an experienced global 
business offering first class ground 
handling and port agency services to 
the ocean and river cruise industry.

www.intercruises.com

Jetair is TUI Belgium’s master brand.  
It is a tour operator offering a range  
of air and car holidays and city trips.

www.jetair.be

Arke is the leading travel brand in the 
Netherlands and a household name. 
Besides tour operating, it operates  
128 travel shops, a call centre and the 
airline, ArkeFly. 

www.arke.nl

Airtours is a luxury holiday brand which 
has, for more than 40 years, provided 
the most comprehensive and individual 
offering of exclusive holidays in the 
German-speaking market. 

www.airtours.de

Crystal is the UK’s number one ski 
operator, offering more choice of 
accommodation and resorts than 
anyone else to families, beginner  
and advanced skiers as well as Santa 
holidays and other winter activities.

www.crystalski.co.uk

Where we operate
TUI Travel is a truly global business operating  
in 31 key source markets.

Our 31 key source markets:
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Northern Region
The Northern Region comprises the distribution, 
tour operating businesses and airlines based in 
the UK and Ireland, the Nordic countries and 
Canada. The UK sells holidays through the two 
distinctive brands of Thomson and First Choice 
and flies customers on the UK’s third largest 
airline, Thomson Airways. The Nordics comprises 
the markets of Sweden, Norway, Denmark and 
Finland. The Nordics has number one or number 
two brands in all its markets.

Top selling brands*
Thomson, First Choice and Fritidsresor

Customer numbers
6.9 million (excluding Canada)

Top three destinations*
Spain (including Tenerife and the 
Balearics), Greece and Turkey

Central Europe
Central Europe comprises distribution, tour 
operating businesses and airlines in the source 
markets of Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Poland, 
Slovenia and the Czech Republic. Germany is the 
largest market in terms of customer numbers and 
TUI is the market leading brand, both here and in 
Austria. The business is focused on providing a 
unique service and great products at the best value.

Top selling brands*
TUI, l’tur and 1-2-FLY

Customer numbers
7.3 million

Top three destinations*
Germany, Spain and USA

Western Europe
Western Europe comprises the leading tour 
operators and airlines in the Netherlands, 
Belgium and France and two further tour 
operators in Italy and Spain. Its leading position  
in the French market is driven by differentiated 
club products, while in the Dutch and Belgian 
markets it is driven by the integrated model  
of tour operators with airlines supported by  
a strong retail network.

Top selling brands*
Marmara, Jetair, Arke, Holland 
International, Nouvelles Frontières  
and Sunjets 

Customer numbers
6.1 million

Top three destinations*
Spain, Turkey and Morocco

Key activities

Mainstream Sector
The Mainstream Sector is the largest in the Group, in terms of scale and scope, financial performance  
and number of employees. It comprises instantly recognisable ‘power’ brands, leading tour operators, 
approximately 3,500 retail travel shops and a fleet of 145 aircraft. The Sector has three operational 
divisions – the Northern Region, Central Europe and Western Europe. 

Group at a glance

Our structure
In the financial year ended 30 September 2011, TUI Travel was organised and managed  
through four Sectors – Mainstream, Accommodation & Destinations, Specialist & Activity  
and Emerging Markets.

*By customer numbers.
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Accommodation & 
Destinations Sector
The Accommodation & Destinations Sector (A&D) 
is a global provider of travel services. Its businesses 
provide hotel accommodation, transfers, excursions 
and tours, meetings and events and cruise handling 
services to tour operators, travel agents, corporate 
clients and customers worldwide. A&D competes  
in fast growing areas of the travel sector in four 
business lines: accommodation wholesale; 
accommodation online travel agent (OTA); 
destination services and cruise handling. 

Top selling brands*
Hotelbeds, LateRooms, Bedsonline, 
AsiaRooms, Intercruises and TUI España 

Customer numbers/roomnights
12 million passengers  
(wholesale accommodation  
and destination services brands)
21.4 million roomnights  
(accommodation brands)

Top three destinations*
Spain, UK and USA

Specialist & Activity Sector
This Sector’s ethos is, ‘if you can dream it, we  
can take you there.’ The Sector comprises over 
100 global travel businesses to fulfil the holiday 
and independent travel needs of customers  
with a wide range of interests and passions.  
It operates under six divisions – Adventure, 
Education, Marine, North American Specialist, 
Sport and Specialist Holiday Group.

Top selling brands*
Crystal, Hayes & Jarvis, The Moorings, 
Educational Tours Inc, USA, Brightspark 
and Le Boat

Customer numbers
1.5 million 

Top three destinations*
USA, France and Italy

Emerging Markets Sector
The Emerging Markets Sector is a portfolio of 
travel businesses focusing on the specific source 
markets of Brazil, Russia & CIS, India and China. 
We have a tour operator in Russia & CIS and are 
currently determining our strategy in Brazil, India 
and China using our inbound businesses in these 
countries to explore opportunities. 

Top selling brands*
TUI Russia & CIS

Customer numbers
0.5 million

Top three destinations*
Egypt, Turkey and Spain

Group at a glance

The chart opposite illustrates the  
underlying operating profit mix**  
by Sector. 
 
 
**Before central costs and Emerging Markets Sector.

Mainstream Sector

Accommodation & Destinations Sector

Specialist & Activity Sector

 

73%

14%

13%

*By customer numbers.
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•  Record underlying operating profits of £471m, up 18% despite  
the challenging geopolitical and economic environment

•  Record profits delivered by the UK as a result of increased sales  
of differentiated and exclusive products, with online being the 
biggest channel

•  Record profits also delivered by the Nordic region, Belgium,  
the Netherlands, Canada and Austria

•  Record cash flow generation, with free cash flow before dividends 
and acquisitions of £451m and a £4m net cash position, providing 
balance sheet strength

•  Significant reduction in net separately disclosed items to £74m 
(2010: £255m) contributed to a £211m improvement in statutory 
operating profit

•  Strong underlying earnings per share growth of 24%

•  Business improvement target increased by £29m to £107m, to  
be delivered in broadly even tranches over the next three years

•  Johan Lundgren appointed as Deputy CEO with overall 
responsibility for Mainstream

•  Final dividend of 8.0p per share, resulting in a full year dividend  
of 11.3p per share, up 3% on 2010, comfortably covered by both 
earnings and free cash flow

Group at a glance

Operational highlights
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Revenue 

11 £14,687m  +9%
10 £13,514m

Underlying operating profit 

11 £471m  +18%
10 £399m

Underlying profit before tax

11 £360m  +25%
10 £289m

Free cash flow

11 £451m  +33%
10 £339m

Basic underlying earnings per share

11 23.6p  +24%
10 19.0p

Dividend per share

11 11.3p  +3%
10 11.0p

 Underlying results1 Statutory results  
£m 2011 20102 Change % 2011 20102

Revenue 14,687 13,514 +9% 14,687 13,514
Operating profit 471 399 +18% 255 44
Profit/(loss) before tax 360 289 +25% 144 (73)
Free cash flow 451 339 +33% 451 339
Basic earnings per share (pence) 23.6 19.0 +24% 7.7 (11.1)
Dividend per share (pence) 11.3 11.0 +3% 11.3 11.0

1)  Underlying revenue, operating profit, profit/(loss) before tax and EPS exclude separately disclosed items, amortisation of business 
combination intangibles, acquisition related expenses, predecessor accounting for Magic Life and interest and taxation of results of the 
Group’s joint ventures and associates.

2)  Prior year figures have been re-presented to include Jet4You which was previously reported as a discontinued operation and to incorporate 
the results of Magic Life under predecessor accounting within revenue.

Group at a glance

Financial highlights G
roup at a glance

Strategic overview



www.tuitravelplc.com

8 TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2011

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee effective  
from that date. Also post year end, on 20 October 
2011, Johan Lundgren, an Executive Director,  
was promoted to Deputy Chief Executive with 
responsibility for the Mainstream Sector. Johan 
was previously Managing Director of the Northern 
Region of the Mainstream Sector.

The TUI Travel PLC Board has resolved to adopt  
a policy designed to achieve at least 25% female 
representation among its members by 2015. 

Sustainable development
At TUI Travel we have a firm commitment to 
sustainable development and our goal is to make 
travel experiences special. We seek to achieve this 
whilst minimising environmental impact, respecting 
culture and people and bringing economic benefits 
to communities. The past year has seen our 
businesses continue to drive eco-efficiencies, which 
have brought financial as well as environmental 
benefits and sustainability has also stimulated  
a number of product innovations. There is also 
evidence that our most sustainably-managed 
hotels are also those which are delivering higher 
quality and customer satisfaction (See Sustainable 
development on page 28).

Colleagues
We are a truly international business and our team 
of colleagues, numbering some 53,000, are based 
worldwide. A large proportion of our colleagues are 
customer facing and the level of service they deliver 
to our customers is an essential part of the leisure 
travel experience. We have a committed team 
across the whole organisation and on behalf of  
the Board I would like to thank them for their  
much valued contribution to our success. 

Dr Michael Frenzel
Non-Executive Chairman

In January, the Group updated the market on its 
strategic priorities and the roadmap to achieve 
these objectives. Since then, we have faced not 
only the events that occurred in some of our key 
North African destinations but also increasing 
global economic uncertainty. It is testament to  
the strength of our business and its flexibility  
that we have achieved the results that we have.

Results
The Group has achieved an 18% increase in 
underlying operating profit to £471m (2010: 
£399m) on revenue of £14,687m (2010: £13,514m). 
Underlying profit before tax is up 25% to £360m 
(2010: £289m). Underlying earnings per share 
increased 24% to 23.6p (2010: 19.0p). Following a 
reduction in separately disclosed items, the Group’s 
statutory profit before tax was £144m (2010: loss 
of £73m).

Dividends
The Board is recommending a final dividend of 8.0p 
per share (2010: 7.8p). On 10 May 2011, the Board 
recommended an interim dividend of 3.3p per 
share (2010: 3.2p), thereby resulting in a full year 
dividend of 11.3p per share (2010: 11.0p). The 
Group has a progressive dividend policy and will 
look to maintain underlying dividend cover at just 
over two times.

Board
Two of our Non-Executive Directors, Jeremy Hicks 
and Giles Thorley, resigned from the Board in 
January 2011 and on 4 April 2011 Minnow Powell 
joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director and 
Chairman of the Audit Committee. In September, 
we welcomed another Non-Executive Director to 
the Board, Coline McConville. Post year end, on  
19 October 2011, Clare Chapman stepped down 
from the Board and Bill Dalton was appointed 

Strategic overview

Chairman’s statement

Having faced a number of geopolitical events in 2011, the most serious of which 
was the North African crisis, we are pleased to have achieved an 18% increase in 
underlying operating profit for the full year to £471m (2010: £399m).
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initiatives across the Group and the improvement  
in working capital as a result of these initiatives has 
helped us to end the year in a net cash position.

As one of the world’s leading leisure travel companies 
we operate in a highly regulated industry from both a 
tour operator and an airline perspective. We work with 
national Governments and the EU to ensure that our 
position is understood and respected and our opinion 
remains that a level playing field across the industry  
is a necessary requirement to allow good companies 
to flourish.

We have a clear strategy and road map for delivering 
our strategic growth initiatives. As trading in the new 
financial year progresses, it is apparent that customers 
in some source markets are booking later than usual 
and that the recovery in demand for North African 
destinations will be slow for some considerable time. 
We have adjusted our Winter capacities to reflect the 
current market conditions and are trading in line 
with our expectations. Summer capacities will be 
flexed to match profitable demand.

We remain focused on our strategy of increasing the 
proportion of sales of differentiated and exclusive 
product, and on increasing controlled distribution with 
a focus on online to enhance our customer access and 
reduce distribution costs. Through our new business 
improvement programme we have self-help measures 
in place to help offset the difficult macro-economic 
environment, including clear plans in place for Germany 
and France. In addition, we continue to strengthen our 
cash flow in order to fund the dividend and growth. 
All of which means that, even with the current 
challenging market conditions, we continue to 
operate from a position of strength.

Finally, I am very proud of all my colleagues – 
53,000 of them – who are passionate about our 
business and who each year face new challenges 
head on. I would like to thank them for all their 
efforts and achievements not only in their own 
businesses but also at the wider Group level.

Peter Long
Chief Executive

These achievements reflect the strength of our 
strategy to increase differentiated and exclusive 
product sales, increase controlled distribution with 
a focus on online to enhance customer access and 
reduce distribution costs, and the delivery of our 
turnaround and cost efficiency programmes.

Having experienced a strong start to trading at the 
beginning of the financial year, the events of the 
Árab Spring´ affected our performance and we 

reported a £29m impact for the first half. The 
flexibility we have in our business model meant we 
were able to act quickly and move capacity for the 
Summer season from Egypt and Tunisia to other 
destinations, including Spain, Greece and Turkey 
– thereby mitigating the full year effect for all our 
source markets (except France). Our French tour 
operators rely heavily on these destinations where 
historically they have collectively accounted for 
about 40% of the programmes and 65% of 
Marmara’s alone. This, together with a weaker 
consumer environment, meant that they were 
adversely impacted for the full year and results  
for this source market were very poor. We have 
initiated a project to consolidate the businesses of 
the French tour operators with the aim of creating 
a single business with a long term viable future.

Across the rest of the Group, we delivered a good 
trading performance in the UK, Nordic region, 
Belgium, the Netherlands, Canada and Austria.  
The performance of our differentiated product 
continues to be encouraging. We continued to 
make good progress in business improvement 
(turnaround and cost efficiency) especially in 
Canada, the Netherlands and Ireland, which  
have now all completed their turnarounds. The 
performance in Canada is particularly pleasing 
where, following the completion of the joint venture 
with Sunwing, the business has transformed itself 
to become a market leader. We also achieved a 
significant reduction in net separately disclosed 
items which were £74m (2010: £255m). 

We continue to focus on cash performance and ended 
the year with a net cash position of £4m (2010: net 
debt of £249m). We have a number of cash management 

Strategic overview

Chief Executive’s statement

We are pleased with our performance in 2011 and have delivered another year  
of record profit growth and strong cash flow against a backdrop of unrest in key 
North African destinations and weak consumer sentiment in some source markets.
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What we mean by differentiated and exclusive 
product is a holiday that you can only get from  
us. We either define the concept and own it,  
like Sensatori, Blue Villages, Sensimar or Holiday 
Villages, or we are the exclusive tour operator in  
a particular hotel in a particular source market.  
We are increasing the share of differentiated and 
exclusive holidays and moving away from product 
that you can get from anyone and which we 
consider to be commodity.

Having a direct relationship with the customer  
is very important for us and we believe that this  
will increasingly be through online channels.

How important to TUI Travel is the 
online side of your business?

We regard it as a vital part of our business and not 
just a channel to market. We will be driving online 
growth across all our businesses whatever leisure 
travel experiences they satisfy. In the Nordics,  
our businesses are already online driven and our 
online accommodation wholesalers and online 
travel agents have been delivering an average 
CAGR of 25% and 33% respectively. 

One thing you have done this year  
is generate an extremely strong cash 
flow which has been the envy of many 
of your competitors. How did you 
manage to do that?

We have turned our operating profits into cash  
and that’s ultimately what we have to do and we’ve 
demonstrated our ability to be able to grow the 
business successfully through these initiatives and 
particularly around modern mainstream, also 
around the other range of products that we have 
within our specialist businesses, whether that’s our 
yacht fleet where we’re number one in the world 
with over 1,200 yachts, whether it’s all our boats on 
the inland waterways across Europe – a very broad 
choice of leisure travel experiences which is quite a 
unique portfolio when one compares with the rest 
of our competitors in the market. 

We were able to reduce net debt and end the year 
in a positive position. Continued improvement in 
cash flow is a key target for us in order to fund the 
dividend and future growth.

So Peter, how did you manage to 
perform so well?

I am very pleased with our performance this year. 
We have achieved another year of record profits. 
This is despite us being affected by the events of 
the ‘Arab Spring,’ which we estimate probably cost 
us something in the region of £70m but which we 
were able to mitigate in all our markets except 
France, which has a huge reliance on North African 
destinations, particularly Egypt and Tunisia. 

We had a strong performance in most of our 
source markets and the flexibility in our business 
model meant that when the ‘Arab Spring’ hit us,  
we were able to quickly move capacity away from 
those affected destinations and secure additional 
beds, particularly in the Western Mediterranean.

The breadth of businesses that we have across  
the Group means that we are able to satisfy most 
leisure travel requirements through either our 
‘product driven’ or ‘price driven’ propositions.

Within product driven you will find our modern 
mainstream, differentiated and exclusive product, 
as well as our specialist and activity products. Price 
driven includes mainstream commodity packages 
and our online accommodation providers.

We have a clear strategy and road map for 
achieving our strategic goals and with a strong, 
committed management team we operate from  
a position of strength. 

You’ve identified ‘modern mainstream’ 
as central to your strategy for 2012. 
What do you mean by modern 
mainstream and how are you going  
to approach it?

Modern mainstream is about building on the 
journey of offering this unique and exclusive 
product – we need to give customers the reason 
why they should book with us and I think that 
exclusive offering is very important. The other 
important factor with modern mainstream is to 
give the customer the opportunity to book their 
holiday through any channel that they wish and  
the importance of online today, whether it’s 
researching the holiday, whether it’s booking the 
holiday, or whether it’s a combination of using 
research plus going to one of our travel agents, 
modern mainstream encompasses those two key 
aspects – the uniqueness of holiday experience and 
the choice of channels with which our customers 
can book their holidays. 

Strategic overview

An interview with the 
Chief Executive, Peter Long
2011 has been a turbulent year for the travel industry with global economic uncertainties and many 
companies hit hard by the Arab Spring uprisings. Still, TUI Travel, a leader in the market, has in these 
difficult times recorded a profit. To understand how TUI Travel has weathered the storm and get some 
insights into their strategies for 2012 we’re joined now by Chief Executive of TUI Travel, Peter Long. 

View the  
interview online
http://ara2011.tuitravelplc.com
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You have appointed Johan Lundgren 
as Deputy Chief Executive with 
responsibility for the Mainstream 
Sector – a Sector that you’ve decided 
is critical to your plans in the future – 
this must indicate that Mainstream is 
incredibly important to you?

Yes. Four years on from our merger much has  
been achieved including integrating two very big 
businesses in the UK – Thomson and First Choice.

We are now at the next stage of our development 
and for us to achieve what we want with modern 
mainstream we need to be best in class, not in 
pockets of Mainstream but across all the 
Mainstream businesses. 

Johan is a first rate tour operator and leader.  
He successfully led our Nordics businesses and 
more recently took overall responsibility for  
TUI UK & Ireland which has achieved an excellent 
performance. What Johan will do with his 
experience and his enthusiasm is to take the 
business to the next stage to ensure that our 
business model is robust not just for the next two 
to three years but to the end of this decade and 
into the next decade so by the time we’re at 2025 
we can say we’ve changed our business and we’ve 
adapted our business to satisfy the customers’ 
needs of today and that requires us to continue  
on a journey of change and innovation. 

So is Johan’s promotion an  
indication that perhaps you  
are thinking of retiring?

Far from it, I’m as excited and committed to TUI 
Travel and the next stage of our journey as I’ve  
ever been. What it does reflect, however, is the 
importance of Johan’s role. It also shows how 
seriously we take management succession and 
capability in the Group. I am delighted to say that 
following Johan’s appointment we have promoted 
from within, which is testament to the strength  
and capability of our management team.

Next year will see the introduction  
of the EU Emissions Trading Scheme 
or ETS, how do you feel about having 
yet another tax being imposed upon 
your Group?

We advocate legislative frameworks that reward 
and incentivise businesses like ours that strive to 
continuously improve environmental efficiency  
and invest in lower-carbon technology. What we 
need, however, is a level playing field so I am very 
concerned that this could become a situation  
where it is only European airlines facing ETS.

Also, in a number of our source markets and 
particularly the UK, we already pay significant 
passenger duty taxes and EU ETS should not  
be about double taxation.

On top of your cash flow and your 
profits you’ve also announced a 
business improvement programme so 
obviously you’re not being complacent 
about your success?

That’s absolutely right. At the beginning of the 
financial year we said that we expected to deliver a 
further £89m through our turnaround programmes 
across our Mainstream businesses and an 
additional £40m of cost savings and efficiencies 
across the Group over a three-year period. This 
year we have delivered £63m of this total.

We have, since then, identified further turnaround 
opportunities and cost efficiencies across the 
Group and have combined them under a new 
business improvement programme and, as a result, 
we have increased our target to £107m which we 
expect to deliver over the next three years. 

You announced earlier in the year  
that from next summer the First 
Choice programme would be an all 
inclusive brand. Why did you make  
this decision?

A not inconsiderable number of our customers like 
the certainty of knowing what the overall cost of 
their holiday is going to be before they go away, 
particularly in the current economic environment. 
Our First Choice brand was already 65% all 
inclusive and by making it an all inclusive brand  
we have a clear differentiator.

So what is your response to those who 
might argue that all inclusive holidays 
are harmful to local communities?

We try to fulfil our customers’ holiday needs in  
the most responsible way that we can and we are 
mindful that all inclusive holidays evoke strong 
opinions. In our view the key issue is whether a 
hotel is being operated responsibly in relation  
to the environment and the local community, 
whatever its board basis. The evidence we have  
to date shows that our all inclusive properties 
employ more local people on higher benefits. We 
promote the use of local produce and encourage 
our customers to buy local goods and to take 
excursions to the surrounding area. In a number  
of destinations all inclusive properties are bringing 
improved economic benefit to that particular 
region. We are involved with several research 
projects into all inclusive which will guide our 
efforts to ensure our holidays benefit communities 
as well as our customers.

Strategic overview
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provide our customers with easy-to-access 
information combined with easy-to-use booking 
engines. TUI Travel’s mainstream businesses have 
seen a consistent year on year increase in online 
bookings. In the past year, the Nordic business  
took 61% of its bookings online and in the UK 
online sales made up 39% of total bookings. 

TUI Travel’s accommodation wholesaler businesses 
(Hotelbeds, Bedsonline and Hotelopia) continue  
to experience strong growth and have established 
leading positions in this market. In the 
accommodation only online travel agency (OTA) 
segment, LateRooms.com now commands 25% 
market share in the UK and is among the top OTA 
players within Europe. The APAC region, with high 
annual growth forecasts in the accommodation 
OTA segment, is of increasing importance to TUI 
Travel. To strengthen our position in this market, 
we continue to invest in the AsiaRooms brand.

The economic environment
The global economic environment experienced  
two distinct phases in 2011. A recovery in early 
2011 curtailed the fears of a double-dip recession. 
This has, however, been followed by a period of 
slow growth and economies across Europe now 
face the prospect of a pronounced slowdown. 

The IMF projects real GDP growth worldwide at 
4.0% for 2011 and 2012 – 0.5% lower than its 
previous projection in April 2011. The GDP growth 
of our two largest source markets, Germany and 
UK, is also expected to slow to 2.7% and 1.1% 
respectively. While unemployment has continued  
to rise in the UK and currently stands at 8.3%, 
unemployment in Germany rose unexpectedly for 
the first time in over two years in October 2011 and 
now stands at 7%. The economic outlook for 2012 
remains uncertain with continued uncertainty in 
North Africa, the ongoing Eurozone crisis and 
volatility in fuel and currency prices.

The leisure travel market
In 2010, international tourism saw a strong 
recovery driven primarily by better global  
economic conditions and compared to 2009,  
total international arrivals grew by 7% (UNWTO). 

TUI Travel’s ten core source markets, including  
the UK, Sweden, Germany, France, Belgium, the 
Netherlands, Austria, Poland, Switzerland and 
Canada, make up £388bn of global travel spend 
(Euromonitor), with our three largest markets  
of Germany, France and the UK totalling 65%  
of this spend.

With approximately a one third share of the 
European mainstream holiday market, TUI Travel 
occupies a strong position. We have number one  
or two brand positions across all our core markets 
and, as the traditional mainstream markets mature, 
we continue to differentiate ourselves by offering a 
greater choice of unique products and destinations 
as well as looking to new markets for growth. 

Independent travel, which includes self-packaged 
holidays, specialist holidays, accommodation only 
and online travel agencies, continues to be the 
fastest growing area of leisure travel. TUI Travel  
has market leading positions in a number of 
specialist segments within independent travel  
and we plan to continue to expand this portfolio  
of fast growing businesses.

The online travel market is a key area of focus. 
According to PhoCusWright, the global online travel 
market is estimated to be worth £181bn. Europe 
and the USA led the way in online sales in 2011, 
generating approximately 75% of global online 
revenues and growing 10% and 8% respectively 
year on year. The Asia-Pacific (APAC) region, 
however, continues to grow at a much faster rate  
of 17% year on year. With the significant proportion 
of future growth estimated to come through online 
channels, we remain focused in our efforts to 

Strategic overview

Market overview

£346bn

£42bn

Our three largest markets

France

UK

Germany

£85bn

£106bn

£61bn

= Core markets include
UK, Sweden, Germany,
France, Belgium, Netherlands,
Austria, Poland, Switzerland
and Canada

(Euromonitor)

TUI Travel’s core markets account  
for £388bn of global travel spend



Strategic overview

www.tuitravelplc.com

TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2011 13
G

roup at a glance
Strategic overview

B
usiness and financial review

G
overnance

Financial statem
ents

Shareholder inform
ation

*  World Travel and Tourism Council’s 
Economic Impact Report 2011.

**  United Nations World Tourism 
Organisation (UNWTO), United Nations 
Environment Programme (UNEP) and 
World Meteorological Organisation 
(WMO) October 2007 Climate Change 
and Tourism: Responding to Global 
Challenges.

Outlook, future trends and factors
While the global recession and uncertain economic 
environment have had an effect on consumer travel 
spending habits, demand for leisure travel remains 
strong. The mainstream holiday market, our 
traditional stronghold, has seen a resurgence  
in a tough economic environment. We have 
continued to modify our product offering in  
line with consumer preferences to include more 
differentiated and exclusive products as well as 
flexibility of duration. Our all inclusive holidays  
have proved particularly popular as consumers 
seek more financial certainty of their total holiday 
spend. In the UK, we announced that from Summer 
2012, the First Choice brand in the UK would be 
completely all inclusive – a reflection of growing 
consumer demand. 

Independent travel, which has experienced 
consistently strong growth over the years, remains 
a key focus area for TUI Travel. As the demand for 
independent travel continues to increase, we seek 
to expand our already significant positions within 
this segment of the market.

In 2011, an increasing number of consumers  
turned to online channels to research and book 
their holiday. We expect this trend to continue  
into 2012 and beyond where our mainstream 
businesses expect to see an even greater share  
of online bookings. We, therefore, remain focused 
on improving our online presence, increasing our 
participation in social media and moving towards  
an online-driven Company culture. 

We believe the BRIC (Brazil, Russia, India and 
China) economies, with high growth forecasts,  
will be the key driver of long term travel growth. 
TUI Travel already has a presence in Russia and 
Ukraine which we plan to increase from the existing 
platform and we continue to determine our 
participation strategy in Brazil, India and China.

We remain cautious about 2012, given the 
continued economic uncertainty in Europe, a slow 
recovery of demand to North African destinations 
and increased volatility in fuel prices and currency 
exchange rates. There is, however, every reason  
to believe that the demand for leisure travel will 
continue to experience robust growth in the long 
term. TUI Travel has already proved resilient in  
a challenging market environment and, with a 
heritage in leisure travel and a diverse range of 
experiences on offer, the Company is well placed.

The political climate
Travel and tourism are heavily regulated industries. 
As a global organisation, TUI Travel has a public 
affairs team that works with governments and 
regulators across key source markets to address 
issues affecting our industry and customers.

The issue of air passenger rights has assumed 
particular importance, the European institutions 
having focused heavily on this issue during the year. 
Our public affairs team has engaged regularly with 
politicians and officials both in Brussels and in key 
source markets in order to ensure that regulation 
properly balances the needs and interests of 
customers and industry.

The question of aviation taxation has also figured 
prominently in a number of jurisdictions and we 
have, together with trade associations and other 
industry partners, sought to press our case for  
a more equitable taxation regime that properly 
rewards and incentivises efficient use of aircraft.

Financial protection of air passengers continues  
to be an issue, particularly in the UK, and we  
have continued to lobby stakeholders to ensure  
a fair and affordable system of protection. Good 
progress has been made in this area, with the  
UK Government announcing plans for a series  
of key reforms. 

Finally, our work to influence the European 
Commission to extend the scope of the European 
Package Travel Directive in order to reflect the 
changes in the industry since the inception of that 
regulation, has continued and we see clear signals 
that the European Commission is now persuaded 
of the need for reform.

The sustainability challenge 
Travel and Tourism will account for 9% of global 
GDP* in 2011. The industry will continue to be  
one of the world’s fastest growing sectors, with 
emerging economies in particular seen as engines 
of such growth. Travel and Tourism today is 
responsible for 9% of global employment* but  
also for 5% of global carbon dioxide emissions**. 
From a sustainable development perspective this 
poses an interesting challenge – the growth of  
an industry highly dependent on fossil fuels and 
biodiversity in a world of finite natural resources. 

At TUI Travel we have long embraced this  
challenge. We are actively working towards our  
goal of providing special travel experiences whilst 
minimising environmental impact, respecting the 
culture and people in destinations and bringing  
real economic benefit to local communities. We 
recognise these as issues on which the future 
health of our own business and of the wider 
industry depend. Hence the alignment of our 
sustainability programme with TUI Travel’s strategy 
and our record across the industry of inspiring 
change and leading by example. See Sustainable 
development on page 28.
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Strategic overview

Business model
In recent years our business model has been redefined to address evolving trends in leisure 
travel. By defining our customers in one of two ways we are able to anticipate their future 
preferences and leverage our position to tailor our offering accordingly.

1.  Global market 
trends

We actively seek to understand 
consumer needs, anticipate what 
they might demand in the future 
and move quickly to offer them  
the right product at the right time.

2.  Our customers 

Based on global market trends, we 
define our customers in two ways.

3.  Product 
characteristics

Product driven products satisfy 
the increasing demand for 
differentiated, exclusive, flexible 
and experiential holidays that are 
unique to TUI Travel. Price driven 
products satisfy the demand for  
a broad range of holidays with 
competitive pricing.

Growing 
demand for 

leisure travel 

•  Customers seek value

•  ‘Go online’  
Search, compare, book  
and share

•  Individualisation

•  New business model 
online travel agencies, 
search engines, low cost 
carriers

•  Increased demand for  
experiential holidays

•  Demand from  
emerging markets

Product
driven

Modern Mainstream: 
Differentiated/ 
Exclusive product

Specialist &  
Activity products

Price 
driven

Mainstream: 
Commodity packages

Online accommodation
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• Leading brands

• Leveraging scale

• Online driven

• Experienced management teams

• Common technology platforms

4.  Key success factors 

The key success factors form the backbone of our business model 
and enable us to cater efficiently to global trends while maintaining 
our leading market positions. Each of the categories, product driven 
and price driven, has a unique set of factors that make it thrive. 
There are, however, a few critical factors that transcend both. 

5.  Outcome 

Both propositions are focused  
on our vision of making travel  
experiences special. 

Making
travel

experiences
special

High volume,  
high margin,  
demand driven,
customer service
orientated business

 
•  High volume

•  Competitive pricing

•  Range and diversity of hotel stock

•  Lowest cost

High volume, lower margin 
and price driven business

High barriers to entry

•  Unique and innovative concepts 
and products

•  Supplier relationships
•  Cost relevant
•  Commitment and yield management
•  Product knowledge
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Distribution
Each of our source markets has its own distribution 
strategy which is tailored to meet different 
customer preferences and market dynamics. All 
markets, however, have a goal of increasing their 
levels of controlled distribution and reducing their 
costs of distribution through the efficient operation 
of retail shops and call centres and the effective 
use of online sales channels. Strong controlled 
distribution with a focus on online sales has the 
benefit of: (1) making it easier for us to understand 
customer needs and tailoring our products 
accordingly; (2) improving brand and product 
loyalty; and (3) enabling us to reduce our cost  
of distribution, thereby increasing margins. In the 
Mainstream Sector 65% of sales are now made 
through controlled channels (2010: 62%) and 30% 
of sales are made online (2010: 27%).

Operational efficiency
One of the key areas of focus for the Mainstream 
business is to be as cost efficient as possible 
without making any compromises on customer 
experience. We are currently in the process of 
building new reservation systems in key source 
markets which will lower our production and  
back office costs and at the same time improve 
customer experience. We are also taking a closer 
look at our airlines with the goal of making them  
as efficient as possible.

Product 
Differentiation is one of the central pillars of our 
product strategy within our Mainstream Sector  
and we have a clear focus on increasing our 
differentiated and exclusive product offering across 
all source markets. By their nature, differentiated 
products are unique in the marketplace and 
difficult to replicate by competitors. They 
command a margin premium and attract greater 
customer loyalty leading to higher repeat booking 
rates. In addition, earlier booking trends for 
differentiated content enable us to manage  
our capacity and yield more effectively.

In the Mainstream Sector, the level of differentiated 
product has increased over the last year and 
currently represents 41% of total holidays.  
We have specific targets to increase the level  
of differentiation and continue to evolve product 
content. In the UK we have introduced the 
Thomson Couples concept; all 16 hotels in this 
concept are child free. In the Nordics two new Blue 
Villages were opened in Turkey and Mallorca and,  
in Germany, the Sensimar portfolio grew from five 
to ten hotels.

Strategic overview

Strategy

Strategic growth initiatives

Mainstream

We have redefined our mainstream business model from ‘traditional’ to ‘modern’ mainstream with a focus 
on differentiated and exclusive product, being online driven and cost efficient.

TUI Travel’s strategic goal is to create superior shareholder value by being the 
leading global leisure travel group, providing customers with the widest choice 
of differentiated and flexible travel experiences to meet their changing needs 
and maintaining our commitment to sustainable development.

Our four strategic imperatives of product and content, distribution and brands, 
people and operational effectiveness and growth and capital allocation underpin 
everything our businesses do. In addition, the Group is focused on three 
strategic growth initiatives: product, distribution and operational efficiency.

Traditional Mainstream

Commodity packages

7 and 14 night durations

Brochure and retail led

Call centre based customer support

Modern Mainstream

Differentiated, unique holidays

Flexible durations

Online multi-media product marketing

Online self-service
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the backbone of Hotelbeds’ rapid expansion and 
has also enabled it to outperform the market 
consistently with 21% growth in total transaction 
value in 2011. Bedsonline, the accommodation 
wholesaler that sells directly to travel agencies,  
has been rapidly expanding its distribution 
channels and, since 2009, has entered into 11 new 
markets including the US, Brazil, Russia, Thailand 
and Singapore. Bedsonline now works with over 
23,500 travel agencies and sold 4.6 million roomnights 
in 2011 compared to 3.8 million in 2010.

Within Specialist & Activity, we are focusing on 
increasing the share of direct distribution to reduce 
distribution costs and increase direct access to 
customers. We have also recently launched the 
online iExplore portal which aggregates products 
from 20 UK brands, showcasing 120 activities, 130 
destinations and over 1500 products. Key features 
of the site include the ability to search, filter and 
compare activity products side by side, plus an 
‘inspirator travel profiler’, which matches your 
travel personality to holiday experiences.

Operational efficiency
There is an increased focus on operational 
efficiency within our Specialist & Activity 
businesses. An optimal cost structure for the 
Sector includes a reduction in the number of 
finance and reservation systems together with  
cost reductions gained by centralising certain  
back office functions. 

Product
Increasing our hotel inventory and the range of 
accommodation will be the major growth driver  
for our online accommodation businesses in the 
Accommodation & Destinations Sector. Within the 
APAC region, we are looking to expand into new 
source markets with the AsiaRooms brand and 
have already translated the site into five languages 
(Traditional Chinese and Simplified Chinese, Thai, 
Malaysian and Indonesian). Sourcing the right hotels 
in the right destinations will be a key success factor. 

Within our portfolio of Specialist & Activity 
businesses there continues to be strong demand 
for experiential holidays. We plan to consolidate 
our market leading positions within the Specialist  
& Activity businesses and continue to look for 
innovative products and attractive markets for 
further growth. During the year in the Marine 
division, our inland waterways brand Le Boat 
launched the new 1500 series of boats, which 
introduces a new level of luxury to the inland 
waterways markets with a significantly enhanced 
customer experience.

Distribution
Efficient use of online distribution channels  
is at the forefront of our strategy within the 
accommodation OTA and accommodation 
wholesaler businesses. In 2011, Hotelbeds, the 
international accommodation wholesaler, covered 
over 100 source markets and more than 500 
destinations. A robust IT infrastructure has been 

Independent

TUI Travel already has market leading positions in independent travel including online accommodation, 
marine, adventure, education, language travel, ski, sport and specialist holidays. As the demand for 
independent travel grows, we aim to leverage TUI Travel’s strong position in the segment and further 
enhance our offering and reach.

Emerging Markets

Our Emerging Markets strategy continues to  
focus on Russia & CIS, where we have successfully 
completed three acquisitions with our venture 
partner S-Group Capital Management and 
successfully launched the TUI brand into the 
market. We are now focusing on increasing our 
presence from this platform.

We also have a presence in Brazil, China and  
India through our accommodation wholesaler and 
destination services businesses. In China we are 

delighted that this year TUI Travel has been one  
of the three foreign companies to be granted an 
outbound operating licence, under a new pilot 
scheme introduced by the Chinese National 
Tourism Authority. This licence creates a new 
source market for us with extensive growth 
prospects. We will continue to determine our 
participation strategy in the emerging markets  
to create long term sustainable growth for TUI 
Travel on a global scale.
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 Strategy Target 

Financial   

Product   

Distribution   

Operational  
efficiency   

Non-mainstream  
growth   

Responsible  
leadership   

Our main strategic objective is to improve the Group’s profitability 
and free cash flow and to deliver enhanced returns on investment.  
We believe that improving our financial performance will allow us to 
invest in the future of our business for the benefit of shareholders, 
colleagues and customers.

We target continuous 
improvement in Group return  
on invested capital (ROIC) and 
cash conversion of at least 70% 
of profit before tax.

Increasing the proportion of our products which are different to  
those offered by our competitors is key to our strategy. Differentiated 
products have earlier booking curves, higher customer satisfaction and 
retention and superior margins. These products are difficult for 
competitors to replicate and we have a significant competitive 
advantage due to our existing brand loyalty and experience of 
designing and operating new concepts.

We are targeting a differentiated 
product mix of greater than  
50% as a proportion of total 
Mainstream Sector holidays.

Increasing our direct distribution mix, with a focus on online sales, is a 
key driver of reducing our distribution costs and enhancing customer 
relationships. Direct distribution typically represents the most 
efficient distribution method and allows us to provide even better 
value to customers. In addition, customer trends support a shift 
towards the online channel and multi-media product marketing 
provides the opportunity to incorporate richer content, driving  
higher conversion rates.

We are targeting a controlled 
distribution mix of greater  
than two thirds and an online 
distribution mix of greater than 
40% in our Mainstream Sector. 

Our aim is to be as cost efficient as possible without compromising 
customer experience. We have identified a number of business 
improvement opportunities within our Mainstream source markets 
which centre around legacy airline and systems costs. Within 
Mainstream, we target overheads of less than 5% in each source 
market. In addition, we are focused on making cost savings in our 
other Sectors, for example, through centralisation of back office 
functions where appropriate.

We are targeting a further 
£107m of business improvement 
opportunities over the next 
three years to be delivered  
in broadly even tranches. 

The Specialist & Activity and Accommodation & Destinations Sectors 
enjoy higher margin and growth characteristics. These operations are 
difficult to replicate as we have crucial first-mover advantage. Having a 
relevant position in the independent travel markets that are served by 
these Sectors is strategically important and a key differentiator and 
growth driver for the Group. Organic growth will be the key driver of 
profit growth in these sectors.

We are targeting an average 
organic growth rate of 
approximately 10% per annum 
in the S&A and A&D Sectors  
in the next three years.

We are experiencing greater consumer awareness of sustainability and 
believe that creating more sustainable holidays will help protect our 
product into the future and also support product differentiation, 
brand loyalty, customer satisfaction and competitive advantage.

We are targeting our airlines to 
reduce per passenger carbon 
emissions by 6% by 2013/14 
(against a baseline of 2007/08). 
See Sustainable development 
page 28.

Strategic overview

Key performance indicators (KPIs)
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Strategic overview

Performance Key performance indicators

 

 

 

 

 

 

To measure our financial progress we have two financial KPIs:  
(i) the ROIC; and (ii) conversion of underlying profit before tax  
to free cash flow. 

ROIC has improved by 1.6 percentage points to 11.3%. This was  
driven by improvements in earnings in the year and a reduction in  
the defined benefit pension net deficit as a result of measures taken 
to manage future liabilities. The improvement further justifies our 
‘asset-right’ approach to managing the business.

Following an exceptional cash performance in 2010 as a result of 
significant improvements to working capital, we are pleased with our 
cash conversion rate of 125% in 2011. We expect the conversion rate 
to fall in the next few years as we invest in order to improve under- 
performing businesses but that will return to a conversion rate of at 
least 70% once the business improvement programme is delivered.

ROIC
2011 2010 2009

11.3% 9.7%1 8.4%1

Cash conversion
2011 2010 2009

125% 105%1 46%1

1)  2010 and 2009 re-presented for Jet4You and Magic Life predecessor accounting; 
2010 profits based on pro forma unaudited underlying operating profit excluding 
the impact of volcanic ash.

In the year, we increased the differentiated product mix by three 
percentage points across the Mainstream Sector as a whole. Within 
this, the Nordic region improved by thirteen percentage points and 
the UK by five percentage points.

Differentiated/exclusive product mix as a proportion of total 
Mainstream Sector holidays
2011 2010 2009

41% 38% 37%

To measure our progress, we have two Distribution KPIs: (i) controlled 
distribution mix; and (ii) online distribution mix.

Controlled distribution mix improved by three percentage points in 
2011, with a strong performance by the Nordics and Belgium. The 
improvement in controlled distribution was driven by the online 
channel which also increased by three percentage points in 2011.

Controlled distribution mix, as a proportion of total Mainstream 
Sector holidays
2011 2010 2009

65% 62% 59%
Online distribution mix, as a proportion of total Mainstream  
Sector holidays
2011 2010 2009

30% 27% 25%
We delivered £63m of turnaround and cost saving opportunities in 
2011 and were particularly pleased with our performance in Canada, 
which delivered £23m of profit improvement, exceeding the original 
target of £11m.

Turnaround and cost savings delivered
2011

£63m

The S&A and A&D Sectors have grown on average by 6% per annum 
since the merger (2007). The average organic growth rate since 
merger fell from 7% in 2010 to 3% in 20112, mainly due to challenging 
trading conditions in the Adventure and Education divisions of the 
S&A Sector.

Compound annual growth rate in the S&A and A&D Sectors’ organic 
profits since merger
2007-2011 2007-2010

3%2 7%
2)  Excluding £10m investment in the OTA.

Three years ago TUI Travel airlines set a target to reduce carbon 
emissions by 6% by 2013/14, against a baseline of 2007/08, both on  
a total and relative basis. In 2010/11 TUI Travel airlines’ total carbon 
emissions were 5,467,814 tonnes, i.e. 9% less than in 2007/08*, whilst 
our relative carbon emissions in 2010/11 were 75.9g per revenue 
passenger kilometre (CO2/RPK), i.e. 2.6% less than 2007/08.

Carbon efficiency, measured through TUI Travel airlines’ average 
carbon emissions per revenue passenger kilometre (CO2/RPK) 
2011 2010 2009

75.9g 76.1g 78.1g
CO2/RPK CO2/RPK CO2/RPK

* Achieved through operational efficiencies, fuel conservation and capacity amendments 
as well as the emission reductions which occurred in 2009/10 following the strategic 
venture with Air Berlin.
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Strategic overview

Principal risks

Such risks are reviewed by our Group functions, 
Sectors and source markets on a quarterly 
basis and measured against predefined 
criteria, relevant to the specific business area, 
to ensure that challenges are prioritised and 
managed in order of significance. It is the 
responsibility of Sector Boards across the 
Group (and senior management teams 
beneath them) to review, challenge and agree 
the risk profile for their area of responsibility 
and to ensure resource is allocated effectively 
to manage risk and maximise opportunities.

Group Risk Management consolidates the risk 
information on a six-monthly basis to create 
the Group Risk Profile and reports this to the 
GRMC (chaired by the Chief Executive) which 
monitors the ongoing status of key risks to 
ensure that the progression of key action 
plans is in line with the Group’s risk appetite.

In addition, the effectiveness of the risk 
management process is monitored by the 
Audit Committee through its review of audits 
undertaken by Group Audit Services and 
reports provided by the Group Risk Manager.

Our approach
Whilst the ultimate responsibility for risk 
rests with the Board, effective day-to-day 
management of risk resides within the 
business. The Board has delegated authority 
to the Group Risk Management Committee 
(GRMC), a committee of the Group 
Management Board (GMB), to provide an 
oversight of the framework for managing risk 
throughout the Group and to ensure the 
most significant risks to the Group are 
identified and mitigated accordingly. All key 
areas of the business adopt the Group’s 
uniform enterprise-wide risk management 
(ERM) approach, the output of which is used 
to inform decisions on the Group’s strategy. 
Risks are considered in the context of:

• Longer term strategic and emerging threats 

• Medium term challenges associated with 
business change programmes 

• Shorter term risks triggered by changes in the 
external and regulatory environment

• Shorter term risks in relation to internal 
operations and control

See risk aide memoire below.

Successful management of risk is critical to the delivery of our objectives. Our framework strives continually 
to improve operational performance, reduce losses and create superior shareholder value in the pursuit of the 
Group’s strategic goals. 
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Risk aide memoire

Key areas of focus
With a common structure and process for 
ERM now established, the GRMC recognises 
the opportunity to continue to leverage this 
investment and drive better value from it. It 
intends to enhance risk competencies across 
the Group and develop a culture whereby 
risk management becomes a routine way of 
working from planning and strategy setting 
through to daily operations.

Individual members of the GRMC have  
taken ownership for specific risks on the 
Group Risk Profile and are responsible for 
developing appropriate mitigation and 
response plans to reduce the likelihood and 
impact of risks within the Group’s control 
and to limit and contain the impact of those 
outside its control. These in turn are 
communicated to the wider business to 
implement in order to ensure risks are 
managed to within acceptable levels.
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Economic conditions 

Spending on travel and tourism is 
discretionary and price sensitive. The 
economic outlook remains uncertain with 
different markets at different points in the 
recovery cycle. Consumers are also waiting 
longer to book their trips in order to assess 
their financial situation.

“We are pleased with our robust performance in 
2011 and have delivered another year of profit 
growth, against a backdrop of unrest in key North 
African destinations and weak consumer sentiment 
in some source markets. These achievements  
reflect the strength of our strategy to increase 
differentiated and exclusive product sales, increase 
controlled distribution with a focus on online to 
enhance customer access and reduce distribution 
costs, and the delivery of our turnaround and cost 
efficiency programmes” – see page 2 of Preliminary 
Results announcement dated 5 December 2011.

Risk
Sustained decline in consumers’ propensity to 
travel; continuation of later booking patterns; 
inability to respond to short term changes in 
consumer demand.

Potential impact 
Lower short term growth rates and reduced 
margins.

Strategic initiative
• Product
• Distribution
• Operational efficiency

Mitigation
• Enhance the portfolio of products within the 

Mainstream Sector that increase competitive 
advantage, command a premium margin and 
attract greater customer loyalty

• Optimisation of the business model ensuring 
the flexibility to reduce capacity in order to 
protect margins

• Manage actively capacity through use of 
sophisticated capacity and yield management 
systems to improve efficiency and drive 
margin improvements

• Continue to drive controlled distribution 
strategy which provides customers with 
greater access to lower costs and value  
for money

Future developments
The GRMC will continue to drive a consistent 
‘Tone at the Top’ and will ensure this is 
cascaded and monitored effectively in order 
that risks are managed appropriately and, 
through this, the Group’s overall business 
performance enhanced. This will also support 
the roll-out of the COSO Control Framework.

The GRMC has approved plans to enhance 
the Group’s ERM approach through a closer 
focus on gross and target risk. This will 
improve the visibility of, and accountability 
for, controls on which reliance is being placed 
to achieve the current net risk position.  
This will also improve the visibility of, and 
accountability for, mitigation on which 
reliance is being placed to achieve the 
targeted risk position. Group Risk 
Management will also support the business 
in developing a greater scrutiny of risks 
associated with the delivery of key growth 
plans and those associated with routine but 
critical activities. 

These changes will be supported by the 
implementation of a flexible, integrated 
web-based risk and control solution that  
will assist the businesses to record, assess, 
control, manage and monitor their risks. The 
system is expected to be launched during  
the new financial year upon successful 
completion of customisations required to 
align full functionality and reporting to the 
Group’s ERM process and requirements.

Principal risk table
The following table contains information 
relating to the Group’s principal risks and  
key mitigating activities, either in place or 
underway, to manage them. The ordering 
does not seek to provide an indication of  
the relative significance of the risks nor is it  
a complete list of all risks to which the Group 
is exposed. Those contained are currently 
deemed to be of key concern and have been 
subject to debate at recent GRMC and Audit 
Committee meetings.

Political volatility, natural 
catastrophes, outbreaks

Providers of holiday and travel services are 
exposed to the inherent risk of domestic 
and/or international incidents affecting 
some of the countries/destinations within 
its operations.

“We have a clear strategy and road map for 
delivering our strategic growth initiatives. As 
trading in the new financial year progresses,  
it is apparent that customers in some source 
markets are booking later than usual and that the 
recovery in demand for North African destinations 
will be slow for some considerable time. We have 
adjusted our Winter capacities to reflect the current 
market conditions and are trading in line with our 
expectations. Summer capacities will be flexed to 
match profitable demand” – see Chief Executive’s 
statement on page 9. 

Risk
Large scale events causing operational disruption; 
future reduction in destination desirability; 
inability to operate efficiently.

Potential impact
Significant losses (holiday cancellations, repatriation 
of customers and decline in consumer demand, 
possible increase in insurance premiums).

Strategic initiative
• Product
• Operational efficiency

Mitigation
• Ensure a balanced destination mix to 

minimise concentration and introduce flexible 
supplier agreements to allow for capacity to 
be switched if required

• Minimise the impact of any negative events 
through the effective execution of 
established incident management policy and 
utilisation of experienced leadership teams to 
support and repatriate stranded customers 

• Promote the benefits of travelling with a 
recognised and leading tour operator to 
increase consumer confidence throughout 
source markets

• Monitor actively the political situation in 
volatile destinations and act upon security 
intelligence advice

• Maintain strong relationships with local 
tourism bodies and travel industry 
associations and ensure government 
guidance is obtained and used as required

• Liaise with aviation industry stakeholders  
and meteorology service providers to ensure 
efficient emergency response plans in the 
event of adverse weather conditions
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Regulatory environment

Industries in which the Group operates are 
highly regulated, particularly in relation to 
consumer protection, aviation and the 
environment. 

“We work with national Governments and the  
EU to ensure that our position is understood and 
respected and our opinion remains that a level 
playing field across the industry is a necessary 
requirement to allow good companies to flourish” 
– see Chief Executive’s statement on page 9.

Risk
Failure in safety due diligence processes; 
non-compliance to applicable regulations; 
negative perception of product offering due to 
increased costs and/or increase in awareness  
of environmental issues. 

Potential impact 
Harm or injury to customers, and or/employees, 
limitations on operational flexibility, possible 
exposure to legal or regulatory sanctions, associated 
reputational damage and increased costs.

Strategic initiative
• Product
• Operational efficiency

Mitigation
• Address issues affecting the industry and  

its customers through utilisation of skilled 
public affairs team working closely with 
governments and regulators 

• Develop more sustainable holidays by 
reducing the environmental impact at each 
stage of the customer’s journey supported by 
experienced sustainable development team 
working closely with business management 
(see Sustainable development on page 28)

• Deliver the carbon management strategy 
which has a commitment to reducing TUI 
Travel’s Airlines’ per passenger carbon 
emissions by 6% by 2013/14 (against a 
baseline of 2007/08 – see Sustainable 
development on page 28)

• Submitted TUI Travel’s 2010 airline data, 
which has been externally verified by PwC,  
to relevant authorities in preparation for  
the EU Emission Trading Scheme (applicable 
from January 2012 – see Sustainable 
development on page 28)

• Introduced a new decentralised responsibility 
for Health & Safety (H&S) management, 
enabling Sectors to focus on specific risks  
in the context of bespoke operating and  
legal environments

• Continue to raise awareness of and 
compliance with the provisions of the  
Bribery Act 2010

 
Global financial factors 

Cross-border element of trading exposes 
the business to fluctuations in exchange 
rates and complex and technical tax laws. A 
significant proportion of operating expenses 
are in relation to aircraft fuel which is also 
unstable. Pressure on the banking industry 
is set to continue due to the Eurozone debt 
crisis and the introduction of Basel III.

“We have hedged the majority of our fuel and 
currency requirements for the seasons currently  
on sale” – see page 4 of Preliminary Results 
announcement dated 5 December 2011.

“We continue to focus on cash performance and 
ended the year with a net cash position of £4m 
(2010: net debt of £249m). We have a number of 
cash management initiatives across the Group and 
the improvement in working capital as a result of 
these initiatives has helped us to end the year in a 
net cash position” – see Chief Executive’s statement 
on page 9.

Risk
Volatility of exchange rates and fuel prices may 
have a negative impact on unhedged balances; 
rising input costs could increase cost of product 
offering and leave the Group competitively 
disadvantaged; increase in tax authorities taking 
more frequent and intrusive tax audits of the 
Group’s business operations; lack of available 
funding to secure additional facilities, if needed, 
and at a reasonable cost.

Potential impact
Reduced demand due to increased costs,  
reduced margins, negative impact on cash  
flow, lengthy tax litigation processes, possible 
reduction in Group’s after tax earnings, increased 
cost of borrowing.

Strategic initiative
• Operational efficiency

Mitigation
• Ensure hedging cover is taken out ahead of 

customer booking profiles in order to provide 
certainty of input costs prior to pricing

• Monitor the appropriateness of the Group’s 
hedging policies in relation to fuel and  
foreign currency

• Track closely the foreign exchange and fuel 
markets to ensure possession of most up  
to date market intelligence

• Minimise uncertainty through recording of 
provisions to reflect potential tax exposures

• Develop and maintain high quality relationships 
with tax authorities, including communication 
of the Group’s business operations

• Ensure key facilities are refinanced well ahead 
of maturity. The Group’s key bank facilities 
were refinanced in May 2011 by a new 
£1,155m revolving credit facility committed 
until 2015

• Monitor actively compliance with the covenants 
contained within the Group’s financing facilities

• Develop and maintain high quality 
relationships with the Group’s key financiers

Consumer preferences  
and demands

Consumers are increasingly turning online 
to research and book holidays. Social 
media, price and product play a key part  
in the decision-making process. Customers 
are increasingly booking holidays nearer 
the time of travel.

“We continue to differentiate ourselves by  
offering a greater choice of unique products and 
destinations as well as looking to new markets for 
growth” – see Market overview on pages 12 to 13.

“We remain focused in our efforts to provide  
our customers with easy-to-access information 
combined with easy-to-use booking engines”  
– see Market overview on pages 12 to 13.

Risk 
Failure to anticipate changes in consumer 
preferences; inability to keep up with latest 
technological developments; difficulty to  
engage efficiently in seasonal planning.

Potential impact
Market positions come under pressure,  
lower short to medium term growth rates, 
reduced margins.

Strategic initiative
• Product
• Distribution
• Operational efficiency

Mitigation
• Enhance the portfolio of products within 

Mainstream Sector that increase competitive 
advantage, command a premium margin and 
attract greater customer loyalty

• Increase hotel inventory within 
Accommodation & Destinations Sector  
as a major growth driver for online 
accommodation business 

• Consolidate the market leading positions in 
Specialist & Activity Sector and continue to 
look for innovative products and attractive 
markets for future growth

• Appointed a Director of Online for the 
Mainstream Sector

• Leverage new technologies in order to 
compete with key industry players

• Focus on online presence, increase 
participation in social media and move 
towards an online driven Company culture

• Implement a tailored distribution strategy 
within each source market to meet different 
customer preferences and market dynamics

Strategic overview

Principal risks continued
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Talent management 

The Group’s success depends on its ability 
to retain key management and it relies on 
having good relations with its employees.

“We believe that engaged and happy colleagues  
are key to both superior customer service and the 
Group’s continued success and profitability. With 
people who believe in our products and services, 
and the right approach, we will continue to be our 
customers’ automatic choice for leisure travel”  
– see People on page 24.

Risk 
Inability to attract new and retain key managers 
and personnel; difficulty transferring talent within 
a diverse and international business; failure to 
build future leadership capability. 

Potential impact 
Adverse effect on the business, operating results 
and financial performance of the Group.

Strategic initiative
• Operational efficiency

Mitigation
• Continue to focus on current capability needs 

and gain insight in to future skills required
• Ensure succession plans in place for all 

identified business critical roles in particular 
emergency successors for all Sector board 
roles 

• Review succession plans every six months 
• Introduced Group-wide initiatives to develop 

talent and ensure continued investment in 
international and tailored graduate 
programmes

• Implemented a Group-wide leadership 
framework to be used for development  
and recruitment of all senior roles 

Emerging markets, acquisitions 
and investments

The Group continues to look into new 
markets as the traditional mainstream 
markets mature. Niche businesses and the 
BRIC countries represent a significant 
opportunity to participate in longer term 
travel growth trends and have higher 
growth potential.

“We believe the BRIC (Brazil, Russia, India and 
China) economies, with high growth forecasts,  
will be the key driver of long term travel growth.  
TUI Travel already has a presence in Russia  
and Ukraine which we plan to increase from the 
existing platform and we continue to determine  
our participation strategy in Brazil, India and 
China” – see Market overview on pages 12 to 13.

Risk 
Inability to identify appropriate opportunities; 
failure of acquisitions to deliver expectations; 
limited experience in new markets; possible 
difficulty in integrating operations and systems.

Potential impact 
Potential lower long term growth and reduced 
margins, impact on anticipated cash flows, 
significant diversion of management time.

Strategic initiative
• Product
• Operational efficiency

Mitigation
• Established a significant presence in the  

fast growing Russian and Ukrainian markets
• Investigate opportunities to build on existing 

presence in Brazil, China and India supported 
by significant market research

• Completed a number of successful 
acquisitions within the Specialist & Activity 
and Accommodation & Destinations Sectors 
during 2010/11 

Business improvement 
opportunities

The Group is heavily reliant on legacy 
systems, processes and structures which, 
in some cases, are outdated, complex  
and inefficient. 

“We remain focused on our strategy to increase 
differentiated and exclusive product sales, increase 
controlled distribution with a focus on online to 
enhance our customer access and reduce distribution 
costs and our delivery of our business improvement 
programme. We have self-help measures in place to 
help offset the difficult macro-economic environment. 
In addition, we continue to strengthen our cash  
flow in order to fund the dividend and growth”  
– see Chief Executive’s statement on page 9.

Risk 
Weaknesses or inefficiencies in IT and financial 
control processes; misreporting of financial 
results; inefficient cost structures; failure in 
systems causing operational disruption.

Potential impact 
Higher costs due to inefficiencies, failure to 
optimise business performance, impact on 
day-to-day, loss of revenue.

Strategic initiative
• Distribution
• Operational efficiency

Mitigation
• Continue to deliver cost savings and 

efficiencies through the implementation  
of the business improvement programme

• Implement strategy and growth plan in German 
Mainstream focusing on differentiated and 
exclusive products, integration of online and 
offline businesses and back office 
restructuring. Initiatives already underway  
to replace outdated IT systems

• Transform business processes used to create, 
book and process holiday products within the 
UK business through replacement of core  
IT systems 

• Consolidate tour operator businesses in 
French Mainstream to create a single 
business with a long term viable future

• Reposition French airline as scheduled  
carrier specialising in long haul through 
delivery of Corsairfly transformation project 

• Improve cost efficiency in the Group’s Airline 
operations

• Embed a COSO control framework in the UK 
& Ireland to strengthen financial controls as 
part of an initiative to implement a 
Group-wide COSO compliance framework

• Continue to implement business continuity 
management across the Group to improve 
capability and reduce exposure

• Drive efficiencies through the co-ordination of 
key procurement activities across the Group

• Review key service providers to assess 
financial standing and levels of H&S, quality 
and sustainability standards

• Minimise levels of prepayments to hoteliers 
and other third party service providers
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We believe that engaged and happy colleagues  
are key to both superior customer service and the 
Group’s continued success and profitability. With 
people who believe in our products and services, 
and the right approach, we will continue to be our 
customers’ automatic choice for leisure travel.

A diverse organisation
The result of such a large and global workforce  
is that, by its very nature, it is incredibly diverse.  
We see strength in this. Only with the input from 
our varied and inspiring people can we continue to 
innovate and deliver. We are very clear about the 
fact that we do not tolerate discrimination on any 
grounds and our ethos is that opportunities should 
be equally available to everyone. We have principles 
and guidelines in place, both on a Group-level and 
more locally, to actively support this.

We give full and fair consideration to applications 
for employment from applicants who may be 
disabled and, wherever possible, continue to 
employ colleagues who have become disabled 
ensuring they have equal access to development 
and career opportunities.

Our top 250 senior leaders continue to illustrate 
the diverse nature of our Group. Over a quarter  
are female and members are based in 25 different 
countries around the world. Of the Group’s total 
workforce, 42% of managers are female. The Board 
has resolved to adopt a policy designed to achieve 
at least 25% female representation among its 
members by 2015 and we are working towards 
making this happen.

Group Management Board 
The strategic direction of the Group is set by the 
Group Management Board (GMB) in conjunction 
with the Board (see page 46). The GMB consists  
of tour operating and function experts drawn  
from across the Group. This highly experienced 
international team manages and executes TUI 
Travel’s day-to-day operations and is responsible 
for the overall performance of the Group.

During the year and post year end, there have  
been changes. Paul Bowtell stepped down from  
the GMB and Board with effect from 31 December 
2010. Post the year end, on 20 October 2011, Johan 
Lundgren, previously Managing Director, Northern 
Region was appointed Deputy Chief Executive with 
overall responsibility for the Mainstream Sector.

The TUI spirit
We are one of the world’s leading leisure travel 
groups and have a large workforce of more than 
53,000 colleagues. Across the Group we have 
shared values that are embedded in all aspects  
of working life at TUI Travel. Whilst the Group is 
varied and consists of brands and businesses of  
all sizes and from all over the world, our people  
all share the same core beliefs that help drive  
our business forward. Our four values: Customer 
Obsessed, Playing to Win, Value Driven and 
Responsible Leadership continue to underpin  
our strategy and help us achieve the Group’s  
vision of making travel experiences special.

Strategic overview

People

1.

4.

2.

5.

3.

6.
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Our team
(as at 4 December 2011)

1. Peter Long
Chief Executive

2. William Waggott
Chief Financial Officer

3. Johan Lundgren
Deputy Chief Executive

4. Dr Volker Böttcher
Managing Director, Central Europe

5. Bart Brackx
Managing Director, Western Europe

6. John Wimbleton
Managing Director, Specialist & Activity 

7. Joan Vilà
Managing Director,  
Accommodation & Destinations 

8. Andrew John
Group Legal Director and  
Company Secretary

9. Jacky Simmonds
Group Human Resources Director

• 96% are personally motivated to help TUI Travel 
be successful

• 95% understand how their contribution 
influences TUI Travel

• 93% agree that, in their Sector, they have the 
freedom to constantly find ways to improve  
their customer offering

At TUI Travel, we value two-way communication 
and we have a significant number of proactive 
employee forums in place to ensure we have  
an ongoing dialogue and involve colleagues  
with matters that are important to them.  
This is facilitated through elected employee 
representatives and directly in team meetings  
and larger briefings.

People plans key to our strategy  
and success
The breadth of our organisation brings with it 
exciting opportunities for career progression, both 
nationally and internationally. Attracting, retaining 
and developing talent is vital to our strategy and 
success. Members of the GMB meet regularly  
to focus on the Group’s current capability needs 
and to gain an insight into future skills which  
will be required within the Group. This involves 
discussing current senior vacancies and potential 
candidates as well as undertaking regular reviews 
of succession plans.

As part of this work a leadership framework 
specifically highlighting what we are looking for  
in our leaders has been produced and this will be 
used for recruitment and development of all senior 
roles in the future.

Involvement and communication
We have engaged colleagues with great ideas at TUI 
Travel and we always strive to involve our people 
with matters impacting them. Over two thirds of 
our businesses receive feedback through employee 
opinion surveys and we are working towards 
ensuring this is even more aligned across the Group 
in the future. Employee survey findings form an 
important strategic tool for our Board and leaders. 
It ensures that they are provided with honest 
feedback that can drive business improvements.

During the first half of 2011, we conducted the 
third Leadership Voice survey since 2008. Our aim 
was to elicit the views of our core senior managers 
and over 300 leaders were invited to participate.  
In doing this we are able to track progress since 
previous surveys and benchmark how we are  
doing compared to other, external organisations.

Compared with the results in 2009, we were 
delighted to see a significant improvement in how 
we collaborate across our businesses. Most of our 
leaders believe that the Group structure facilitates 
sharing of best practice and believe their particular 
sector provides clear accountabilities. In six out of 
seven survey categories our results were above, or 
on par with, the Global Senior Management Norm 
(as independently verified by our external supplier).

Some of the highlights from the survey tell us that 
we have a committed and focused leadership team. 
Some highlights are:

• 97% are willing to work over and above what is 
normally expected to help TUI Travel succeed

• 96% fully support TUI Traveĺ s values 

7.

9.

8.
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People continued

Attracting and nurturing young talent
We continue to invest in attracting young graduates 
for both international roles and local source 
markets. The International Management Graduate 
Programme is an 18-month experience which is 
open to outstanding and multi-lingual graduates 
from around the world, giving them unique 
exposure within TUI Travel. Once in the 
programme, they have the choice of a variety of 
assignments throughout the Group, which will help 
develop their skills and experience. This year we 
have had an intake of eight international graduates.

We also have tailored graduate programmes in 
place at a Sector and business level, such as those 
within TUI UK & Ireland, TUI Deutschland and  
the Specialist & Activity Sector. All are designed  
to attract and nurture new talent to create TUI 
Travel’s leaders of the future. 

In addition, within these larger Sectors and 
businesses, our approach is to support young 
people in gaining valuable work experience through 
apprenticeships and we support many colleagues in 
gaining qualifications relevant to their role. These 
are important ways to nurture talent and invest in 
our people. 

Leadership capability development
We have a number of Group-wide initiatives in 
place to develop our talent. Horizons is an internal 
leadership programme aimed to develop potential 
future, international leaders at TUI Travel. The 
successful programme focuses on developing 
leadership skills but also gives participants a 
broader understanding of the business areas within 
the Group. The end result is sound leadership skills, 
an excellent understanding of our business and an 
ability to influence business strategy at the highest 
level. Many of those attending the programme have 
been given the chance to further their careers and 
we have seen a number of individuals promoted 
across the Group.

Another exciting programme is the Global 
Responsible Leadership Programme which has 
most recently been taking place in Thailand. The 
aim is for selected leaders of TUI Travel to gain 
further insight into their leadership styles and build 
contacts across the Group whilst, at the same time, 
making a contribution to a local community. The 
programme is closely aligned to our sustainable 
development agenda and during the six-day 
programme delegates have the opportunity to 
explore their leadership styles and work with a 
diverse group of nationalities as well as helping a 
local community with building projects and school 
activities and providing advice to local businesses. 

The programme not only develops leadership skills 
by taking people out of their comfort zone but also 
enables them to appreciate that local businesses 
may have different views on how success can be 
achieved. In this way, leaders develop empathy  
and recognition of the need to adapt their style for 
different cultural settings. It is a great opportunity 
for colleagues to develop as leaders and is also a 
chance for us to give something back to a community 
in one of the countries where we operate.

A significant amount of capability development also 
takes place locally in our Sectors and businesses 
where initiatives are tailored to meet the needs of 
their teams. This includes the successful ‘Essence 
of leadership’ programme for senior leaders in  
the Accommodation & Destinations Sector and 
significant amounts of training hours delivered  
in other Sectors and businesses utilising both 
in-house and external suppliers.
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for the development and implementation of the UK 
& Ireland Mainstream safety management system. 

The specialist third party provider undertakes 
audits of overseas accommodation, transport  
and excursion suppliers utilising a mix of physical 
visits and self-assessments. Where high risk areas 
are identified, specialist intervention may be 
commissioned such as, for example, the deployment 
of specialist food, water or hygiene consultants.

H&S is a standing agenda item at the monthly  
UK & Ireland Board meetings. The Distribution & 
Customer Director reports directly to the UK & 
Ireland Board in respect of H&S and is responsible 
for implementing all necessary actions on its behalf.

The Specialist & Activity Sector operates a 
Sector-specific H&S function. The Sector’s H&S 
team comprises 14 staff based in the UK and 
overseas. Audits of suppliers are undertaken 
utilising a mix of physical inspections and the use of 
supplier self-assessments by means of ‘Sure2Care’ 
– the in-house web-based due diligence system.

Each business within the Sector is ‘risk profiled’  
and appropriate safety management systems are 
devised and implemented according to the risks 
identified within each business. The profile of each 
business is amalgamated into a Divisional Risk 
Summary – the results of which are presented  
to the Sector Board on a regular basis.

Additionally, a growing number of businesses also 
comply with safety management requirements set 
by external accreditation bodies, such as Schools 
Travel Forum, Learning Outside the Classroom, 
British Activity Holiday Association and British 
Standard for Adventurous Activities outside the  
UK (BS8848).

In the Accommodation & Destinations Sector,  
H&S is managed by each individual division and 
business. Hotelbeds actively pursues the collection 
of H&S data on hotels by means of the Sure2Care 
due diligence system.

Intercruises has a dedicated H&S Manager  
who is responsible for the implementation and 
development of Intercruises’ safety management 
system. The operations of suppliers of services 
which are part of the core Intercruises business,  
for example accommodation, transport and 
excursions, are assessed by physical inspections 
and, in the case of accommodation, by means of 
the Sure2Care in-house due diligence system.

TUI Travel attaches great importance to the Health 
& Safety (H&S) of its customers and employees at 
all levels of the business. Andrew John, the Group 
Legal Director & Company Secretary continues to 
be the Group Management Board (GMB) member 
with delegated responsibility on H&S matters, 
reporting to the GMB. 

In April 2011, following a review of H&S processes, 
TUI Travel decided to discontinue the Group H&S 
Department and decentralise responsibility for 
H&S management, enabling Sectors to focus on 
their specific risks in the context of their bespoke 
operating and legal environments. 

Sectors, and the divisions and businesses within 
them, continue to liaise, co-operate and share best 
practice, with the overall direction continuing to be 
founded on the TUI Travel H&S Policy Statement 
issued and signed by the Chief Executive, Peter Long. 

Employee safety
As the Group continues to expand into new areas, 
the nature of hazards faced by employees changes. 
The likelihood and impact of these hazards needs 
to be continually assessed and mitigating measures 
put in place as appropriate. Hazards range from 
relatively low risk office to the higher risk airline 
engineering environments. 

A programme of workplace risk assessment continues 
to be undertaken, highlighting any areas of concern. 
Where significant risk exists, the assessments are 
used to understand better the various hazards 
involved and identify and implement appropriate 
mitigating measures. Safety management systems 
continue to be developed and improved by 
individual businesses with assistance from the 
relevant Sector and divisional H&S professionals.

The Group H&S induction programme ‘Safety in 
Your Workplace’ continues to provide employees 
with the relevant H&S knowledge for their workplace.

Within the UK, any relevant injuries, diseases or 
dangerous occurrences are reported under the 
Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrences Regulations (RIDDOR). The incidents 
statistics for the UK for 2010/11 are given below.

Local and national authorities continue to visit 
various Group premises offering advice and 
highlighting relevant issues. No enforcement 
notices or convictions have occurred within the 
2010/11 financial year.

Customer safety
Each of the Sectors has responsibility for ensuring 
that sound H&S practices and robust safety 
management systems are embedded within their 
businesses. 

In Mainstream, the UK & Ireland business has 
outsourced certain of its H&S activities to a 
specialist external third party provider. The  
third party provider is instructed and monitored  
by a UK-based team which sets the H&S strategy, 
agrees the audit schedule and takes responsibility 

Strategic overview

Health & Safety

Incident data October 2010 to September 2011
    Crawley, 
  Airline UK & and other 
UK incident category Airline equivalent* Ireland businesses Total

Number of incidents 493  47 19 559
Number of RIDDOR over 3-day incidents** 19 34 6 0 59
Number of RIDDOR major incidents 2 1 0 0 3
Number of RIDDOR fatalities 0 0 0 0 0

*  Where an incident occurs outside of the UK it is not reportable under the RIDDOR legislation but, within the Group, 
incidents are reported as a ‘RIDDOR equivalent’.

**  Where, due to an accident at work, an employee is unable to perform their normal work duties for more than three 
consecutive days (not including the day of the accident).
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Our sustainable development goal is to minimise 
our environmental impact, respect the culture and 
people in our destinations and offer real economic 
benefit to local communities. 

Sustainability is regarded as a serious business 
issue across TUI Travel, where it is an integral part 
of business processes, supplier operating standards 
and performance metrics for many of our brands. 
We have already experienced a range of business 
benefits, including cost efficiencies, quality 
improvements and the enhanced engagement  
of customers, colleagues and suppliers. 

In 2010/11 we were pleased that our performance 
was recognised as follows:

• For the fourth consecutive year TUI Travel was 
featured in the Carbon Disclosure Leadership 
Index and was in the top 10% of the FTSE 350 
for its approach to carbon disclosure and 
performance and ranked in the top seven for 
carbon performance in the GICS Consumer 
Discretionary Sector (covering Global 500,  
S&P 500 and FTSE 350), www.cdproject.net 

• TUI Travel continues to be listed on the 
FTSE4Good Index in recognition of its 
transparency and for meeting strict social, 
environmental and governance standards 

• TUI Travel was featured in the 2011 Dow Jones 
Sustainability Year Book which features the  
best performing 15% of companies who submit 
data to the index in each industry sector,  
www.sam-group.com/yearbook

• TUI Travel completed its second submission  
to the Forest Footprint Disclosure Project in 
2011 and was one of eight companies listed  
in the Travel and Leisure Sector in 2010,  
www.forestdisclosure.com

For further details on awards and our  
latest Sustainable Development Report, see  
http://www.tuitravelplc.com/sustainability. 

Sustainable development strategy 
TUI Travel’s sustainable development strategy  
is based on consideration of the key issues 
affecting the Company, now and in the future. It  
is regularly reviewed in consultation with internal 
and external stakeholders. Our four strategic 
priorities for sustainable development align with 
TUI Travel’s strategy. 

We encourage all TUI Travel businesses to  
develop their own strategies, aligning with Group 
and Sector priorities and the related targets,  
where appropriate. 

Strategic overview

Sustainable development

Carbon management

Goal: To reduce TUI Travel’s airlines’ per 
passenger carbon emissions by 6% by 
2013/14 (against a baseline of 2007/08).

Destinations

Supplier management goal: All suppliers  
in each destination follow sustainability 
practices and have continuous improvement 
programmes in place.

Destination projects goal: TUI Travel,  
working with partners, will make measurable 
improvements to local livelihoods and 
environmental protection in destinations.

Our Colleagues

Goal: TUI Travel colleagues are engaged and 
empowered to take action on sustainability 
for the future success of the Company.

Our Customers

Goal: TUI Travel businesses deliver quality 
communications designed to raise customer 
interest and demand for sustainable holidays.

Our four strategic priorities for 
sustainable development are:

Pioneer partner

TUI Travel PLC works with 
Forum for the Future, a UK 
sustainable development NGO. 
Forum for the Future selects  
a handful of companies as 
‘Pioneer’ partners. defined as 
leading organisations at the 
cutting edge of sustainability. 
TUI Travel has been selected  
as one of these partners.
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Strategic overview

*  Achieved through operational 
efficiencies, fuel conservation, capacity 
amendments as well as the emission 
reductions which occurred in 2009/10 
following the strategic venture with Air 
Berlin.

**  An approximate figure of Group  
savings tracked, gross of any upfront 
investments required to achieve those 
savings between 2008 and 2010. Part  
of previously identified cost savings.

***  Carbon footprint covers Scope 1 and 2 
data only (Scope 1 – greenhouse gas 
emissions arising from sources owned 
or controlled by an organisation, Scope 
2 – greenhouse gas emissions which do 
not physically occur from within the 
organisation’s reporting boundary and 
are therefore ‘indirect’ emissions).

Key achievements in 2010/11 include:

• Circa £16m cost savings realised via environmental 
initiatives between 2008 and 2010**

• 2010 airline data externally verified by PwC  
and submitted to the relevant authorities in 
preparation for the EU Emission Trading Scheme

• CO2 per Revenue Passenger Kilometre across 
TUI Travel airlines in 2010/11 of 75.9g (an 
improvement of 2.6% since 2007/08) – making  
us one of the most efficient airlines in Europe 
and beyond 

• Thomson Airways was the first UK airline to achieve 
ISO 14001 certification for its engineering operations

• On 6 October 2011, Thomson Airways became 
the first UK airline to fly customers on 
sustainable biofuel 

• Le Boat introduced a fleet of environmentally-
friendly vessels in 2011 – allowing cruising under 
solar-generated electric power

• Two of TUI Deutschland’s river cruises achieved 
Green Globe certification (the first in the world 
to achieve the new cruise standard) and 
Thomson Cruises trialled the Travelife 
Sustainability System on board

• TUI Nordic has replaced the majority of overseas 
employees’ cars with eco-vehicles (<130g CO2/
km) in destinations across Europe and Turkey

• TUI Nederland built a new head office to BREEAM 
Excellent standard (a rating for green buildings)

• TUI Travel scored in the top 20% of the UK’s 2011 
Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy Efficiency 
Scheme Performance League Table. This recognises 
TUI UK’s commitment to measuring, managing 
and reducing its carbon emissions through the 
Carbon Trust Standard and rolling out Automatic 
Meter Readers across the retail estate to 
improve day-to-day energy management

In 2010/11 the carbon emissions from TUI Travel 
airlines accounted for 91.9% of its carbon footprint.*** 

We have developed collaborative partnerships with 
many stakeholders whose insight and guidance is 
helping us to develop our position on aviation and 
climate change. Examples include: Forum for the 
Future, EU Cleansky project, UK Sustainable Aviation 
and Sustainable Aviation Fuel Users Group.

Managing sustainable development
This year, the Group has enhanced its governance 
structure for sustainable development. Jane Ashton 
has been appointed Director of Group Sustainable 
Development, Jacky Simmonds, Group HR Director, 
now has responsibility for reporting on sustainable 
development to the Group Management Board (GMB) 
and Johan Lundgren, Deputy Chief Executive,  
is responsible for reporting on sustainable 
development to the TUI Travel PLC Board. 

The GMB acts as the Steering Committee and  
sets the Group’s strategic direction and long term 
objectives for sustainable development.

The Group Sustainable Development Department’s 
role is to drive change towards a more sustainable 
Company and to forge Sector leadership. Our 
Group-wide work streams meet regularly to tackle 
issues and develop programmes of work. Each 
Sector within the Group has a sustainable 
development coordinator or team with a remit to 
develop and implement sustainable development 
strategy, supported by a network of champions. 

To review performance and to measure progress, 
we have incorporated sustainable development 
questions into regular employee surveys at  
Sector and Group level and we conduct an  
annual Sustainable Development Evaluation  
of TUI Travel tour operating businesses, as well  
as specific surveys of airlines, hotels and water 
transport operations.

Carbon management 
Travel and tourism are responsible for around  
5% of global CO2 emissions (UNWTO, 2007). As a 
leading tour operator, our challenge is to prepare 
for a low-carbon society by further reducing our 
environmental impacts. Three years ago TUI Travel 
airlines set a target to reduce carbon emissions  
by 6% by 2013/14, against a baseline of 2007/08, 
both on a total and on a relative basis. In 2010/11 
TUI Travel airlines’ total carbon emissions were 
5,467,814 tonnes, i.e. 9% less than in 2007/08*, 
whilst our relative carbon emissions in 2010/11 
were 75.9g per revenue passenger kilometre  
(CO2/RPK), i.e. 2.6% less than 2007/08. We will 
continue to work towards achieving our 6%  
relative reduction target by 2013/14.

TUI Travel has a carbon management strategy  
in place covering aviation, water transport, major 
premises, ground transport and flagship hotel 
properties. We are monitoring and preparing  
for regulatory proposals on climate change  
that could have a fiscal impact. 

Protecting forests in Kenya

TUI Travel supports a project in 
Kasigau Wildlife Corridor, Kenya, 
which is preserving 75,000 acres 
of dry forest under threat from 
agriculture and charcoal 
production. The project provides 
alternative livelihoods for locals, 
for example, as game wardens,  
in sustainable charcoal making 
and at a clothing factory. It is the 
world’s first project to be issued 
with Reduced Emissions from 
Deforestation & Degradation 
(REDD) credits. 

TUI Travel airlines and aviation

Water transport

Ground transport

Premises

Flagship hotel properties

 91.9%

4.2%
0.7% 0.7%

2.5%

Breakdown of TUI Travel’s carbon footprint in 2010/11***
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Strategic overview

Sustainable development continued

Key achievements in 2010/11 include: 

• Initiation of a project to understand the key 
sustainability issues in three destinations 
(Turkey, Cape Verde and Tunisia) – we are now 
planning our operational response

• Commissioning of a study and report ‘Measuring 
and improving the socio-economic impact of an 
all inclusive hotel in Turkey’ with the Travel 
Foundation and Overseas Development Institute. 
Recommendations have been implemented at 
this hotel and are being replicated at other hotels

• Investment in six emission reduction projects in 
key destinations, which are scheduled to deliver 
in excess of 500,000 tonnes of CO2 reductions  
by the middle of 2013

• Support of initiatives to help protect sea turtle 
populations in Turkey and Greece by many 
businesses across the Group

• Support of clean water projects through ‘Just a 
Drop’ and ‘Pump Aid’ in Kenya, Bolivia, Uganda, 
Zimbabwe, Malawi and Liberia

We are conscious of the pressures that tourism  
can place on local populations and resources and 
therefore work collaboratively with communities, 
local and national governments, non-governmental 
organisations (NGOs) and trade associations to 
support sustainable management of destinations 
and to shape our strategy in this area. Examples 
include: Dutch Association of Travel Agents  
and Tour Operators, Deutscher ReiseVerband, 
Association of British Travel Agents, The Tour 
Operators Initiative, Global Sustainable Tourism 
Council, Sustainable Travel International, The 
Overseas Development Institute, Born Free and 
The Travel Foundation. 

Charitable giving 
In the last year, our businesses supported many 
source market and destination charities. Our 
Group-wide charity policy and guidelines help 
businesses to ensure transparency, report annual 
monies collected and manage charity relationships. 

Key achievements in 2010/11 include:

• We are the largest corporate sponsor of the 
Family Holiday Association a charity that provides 
holidays to disadvantaged children and their 
families. Since 2009 we have donated more  
than £1m, www.fhaonline.org.uk 

• Street Child World Cup has been selected as the 
Specialist & Activity Sector’s chosen charity for 
the next three years. Colleagues will be involved 
in raising as much money as possible for millions 
of vulnerable children living on the streets 
around the world, www.streetchildworldcup.org 

• Many TUI Travel businesses support the  
Travel Foundation, a charity which helps  
the travel industry understand, manage and  
take effective action on sustainable tourism.  
To date we have donated more than £2.8m, 
www.thetravelfoundation.org.uk 

Destinations 
Depending on how impacts are managed, we  
know that the leisure travel industry can have both 
positive and negative effects on communities and 
the natural environment. We are committed to 
learning more about how our holidays can benefit 
local livelihoods and protect the environment – and 
are putting this into practice. This is fundamental 
to preserving the quality of our product in years  
to come.

Supplier management
TUI Travel has an extensive supply chain operating 
across the world – see page 48. These businesses 
are the gatekeepers to TUI Travel’s sustainability 
performance in destinations. By focusing on 
sustainability, our suppliers are able to achieve  
cost efficiency savings which ultimately give 
customers better value for money. Our challenge  
is to extend the reach of influence to all suppliers 
and to monitor their progress. 

Key achievements in 2010/11 include: 

• Launch of ‘Guidelines for Environmental 
Sustainability in Hotels’ – the guidelines aim to 
help our hotel suppliers achieve best practice 
sustainability performance and highlight case 
studies where eco-efficiencies have saved 
suppliers significant sums

• Adoption of environmental and social contractual 
minimum standards for accommodation suppliers 
by our Mainstream tour operating businesses 
and other businesses across the Group

• Sustainability certifications for over 700 hotels 
by the end of Summer 2011

• Organisation of sustainability supplier 
conferences in the Canaries and London

• Launch of BlueContec – a sustainability  
and energy consultancy business for tourism 
companies, especially hotels – by TUI 
Deutschland

• Incorporation of sustainability flagship hotel 
standards into Holiday Village, Sensatori and  
the Couples’ hotel specification contracts in  
TUI UK & Ireland

• Introduction of eco-cotton shirts for all retail, 
overseas and flight crew colleagues by TUI Nordic

Destination projects
TUI Travel is involved in hundreds of projects 
designed to improve the livelihoods of local people 
in destinations and to protect the environment. 

Holidays Forever

In 2010/11, TUI UK unveiled  
a new consumer sustainable 
tourism campaign called 
Holidays Forever. The campaign 
brings together the Company’s 
sustainability strategy under 
four ambitions supported by  
20 commitments to be achieved 
by 2014. It focuses on reducing 
carbon emissions; taking care in 
destinations; living our values; 
and inspiring customers  
by engaging one million 
holidaymakers in sustainable 
tourism.

Shaping Lives

In 2010/11, Le Passage to India 
developed and launched ‘Shaping 
Lives – Le Passage Travel 
Foundation’. This initiative 
supports over 16 animal and 
child welfare projects across 
India. One project took over 150 
disadvantaged children on a 
flight from Delhi to Jaipur for a 
3-day city tour.
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Our Customers 
Across the business we have been proactive in 
raising awareness of sustainability issues with our 
customers. To achieve many of our goals we need 
customers’ support both through the purchases 
they make and the personal actions they take. We 
are working to raise awareness, influence choice, 
change behaviour and develop and promote new 
products to encourage responsible holiday choices.

Key achievements for 2010/11 include:

• Launch of the internal Sustainability Customer 
Communication Awards – encouraging 
businesses to showcase best practice in this area

• Over 300,000 parents, teachers and children 
were engaged in sustainable tourism through the 
UK schools’ Eco-traveller programme (teaching 
children how they could make a difference on 
holiday) developed by TUI UK in collaboration 
with the National Schools Partnership

• TUI Deutschland and TUI UK & Ireland are  
now including carbon emission information on 
the flight element of the holiday in customer 
communication

• Commissioning of the Sustainable Holiday 
Futures report: showing how travel will have to 
change in order to save the world’s dwindling 
resources

• Analysis from TUI UK & Ireland’s Summer 2010 
Customer Satisfaction Questionnaires revealed  
a statistically significant correlation between 
good customer ratings on our approach to  
the ‘environment and community’ and overall 
holiday satisfaction 

TUI Travel businesses request feedback from 
customers regularly and some offer the 
opportunity to comment on the environmentally 
and socially responsible aspects of their holiday. 

Our Colleagues 
Our aim is to make sustainable development 
tangible to each and every colleague within the 
Group. We communicate regularly about the 
progress we have made on our journey towards 
securing a sustainable future for our industry and 
continue to build sustainability into our colleague 
inductions and training programmes, including 
development programmes for managers. 

We have a Group Code of Conduct which covers  
a wide range of sustainability issues, including 
human rights, business ethics and transparency 
and commits TUI Travel to upholding the principles 
of the UN Global Compact. 

Key achievements for 2010/11 include:

• Organisation of sustainability awareness-raising 
initiatives at head offices and overseas, for 
example the Accommodation & Destinations 
Sector held an inaugural Green week, hosting 
sustainability ‘lunch and learn’ sessions at their 
head office in Palma as well as activities across 
the world. Jetair organised a Green Day for 
colleagues including a car-free day and 
sustainable lunch

• Colleagues within the Specialist & Activity  
Sector are each given a day to volunteer for  
their chosen charity, supporting charities such  
as the Chestnut Tree Children’s Hospice 

• Volunteers at TUI UK supported sustainable 
tourism projects in Cyprus, Turkey and Crete  
and launched ‘Project Discovery UK’ giving all 
colleagues one day a year to volunteer in the UK

• TUI Nederland launched a green loyalty 
programme for travel agencies (including third 
party) to stimulate sales of green accommodation

• TUI Travel’s senior management were regular 
public advocates for more sustainable tourism  
in the media at industry and governmental 
events. For example, senior executives presented 
at the Hungarian EU Presidency conference  
in Budapest, the 5th International conference  
on Responsible Tourism in Destinations in 
Edmonton, ITB Berlin’s Corporate Social 
Responsibility Day and World Travel Market’s 
World Responsible Tourism Day in London

We have developed a number of core questions 
relating to Responsible Leadership and sustainable 
development that businesses and Sectors include 
in colleague opinion surveys. Our 2011 Leadership 
Voice survey confirmed that:

• 88% of leaders agreed that TUI Travel acts 
responsibly on environmental matters 

• 80% of leaders agreed that TUI Travel acts 
responsibly in the local communities in which  
we operate 

We also gather feedback from colleagues on 
sustainability issues through focus groups. 

Green office opened

TUI Nederland is leading the  
way by building a new office  
with significant environmental 
features. Energy consumption  
is managed using an advanced 
system that substantially 
reduces CO2 emissions, solar 
energy is generated using solar 
panels, cold and heat energy  
is stored and lights only switch 
on when there is insufficient 
daylight. The building is certified 
to BREEAM Excellent standard  
(a rating for green buildings)  
and when launched in August 
2011 it was one of the most 
environmentally friendly 
buildings in the Netherlands.

Intrepid Travel wins global 
award

Intrepid Travel won the Global 
Tourism business award at the 
2011 Tourism for Tomorrow 
Awards. The awards, run by the 
World Travel and Tourism 
Council, recognise leading travel 
organisations that have gone the 
extra mile to demonstrate 
sustainable tourism best 
practices in their philosophy, 
strategy and operations. Intrepid 
Travel was recognised for the 
depth of its sustainability 
practices that span its entire 
operations.
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A reconciliation of underlying operating profit to 
statutory operating profit is as follows:

   2011 2010
Year ended 30 September   £m £m

Underlying operating profit  471 399
Separately disclosed items  
– operating (Note 4)   (74) (255)
Predecessor accounting for Magic Life (17) (19)
Acquisition related expenses  (82) (63)
Impairment of goodwill   (39) (12)
Interest and taxation on results  
of joint ventures and associates  (4) (6)

Statutory operating profit  255 44

Acquisitions and investments
The Group invested £51m in acquisitions in 2011. 

In July, we acquired the operating companies that 
lease and manage thirteen Magic Life clubs for  
€6 from TUI AG, reflecting the current loss-making 
nature of the business. The transaction has helped 
us to secure exclusive access to differentiated 
content for our tour operators.

In April, Specialist & Activity entered into a strategic 
venture with Intrepid Travel. The transaction 
combines our Adventure businesses with Intrepid 
to create the clear global leader in adventure travel. 
The transaction was based on an injection of 
businesses into the venture by both parties and 
has no cash component. The Group has 60% 
ownership of the combined business and fully 
consolidates its results. Intrepid Travel’s private 
shareholders own the remaining 40%. The transaction 
is expected to deliver at least £10m per annum of 
cost synergies, primarily arising from increased 
economies of scale, within the first three years.

Group revenue was 9% higher than the prior year 
at £14,687m (2010: £13,514m), driven by organic 
growth of 7%, foreign currency translation 2% and 
acquisitions 1%. These were offset by the impact  
in the first half of the strategic transactions in 2010 
in Canada and Germany scheduled flying which 
reduced revenue by 1%.

The main drivers of the year on year improvement 
in underlying operating profit are:

£m

2010 underlying operating profit 399
Non-recurrence of volcanic ash 35
Incremental synergies/cost efficiencies 26
Turnaround 42
Acquisitions including Magic Life (see Note 1(B)(ii)) 14
Trading 23
Investment in accommodation  
Online travel agents (OTAs) (10)
Provision for North African contracts (9)
France tour operator (50)
Egypt/Tunisia (excluding France tour operator) (25)
FX translation 26

2011 underlying operating profit 471

Underlying operating profit improved by £72m  
to £471m (2010: £399m). This was driven by the 
delivery of £42m of incremental turnaround profits, 
strong performances by the UK, Nordic region, 
Belgium, the Netherlands, Canada and Austria, and 
by the non-recurrence of volcanic ash disruption. 
These were partially offset by the impact of unrest 
in North Africa during the first half, and continued 
impact during the second half on the French tour 
operators.

Business and financial review

Group performance

 Underlying results1 Statutory results  
£m 2011 20102 Change % 2011 20102

Revenue 14,687 13,514 +9% 14,687 13,514
Operating profit 471 399 +18% 255 44
Profit/(loss) before tax 360 289 +25% 144 (73)
Free cash flow 451 339 +33% 451 339
Basic earnings per share (pence) 23.6 19.0 +24% 7.7 (11.1)
Dividend per share (pence) 11.3 11.0 +3% 11.3 11.0

1)  Underlying revenue, operating profit, profit/(loss) before tax and EPS exclude separately disclosed items, amortisation of business 
combination intangibles, acquisition related expenses, predecessor accounting for Magic Life and interest and taxation of results of the 
Group’s joint ventures and associates.

2)  Prior year figures have been re-presented to include Jet4You which was previously reported as a discontinued operation, and to incorporate 
the results of Magic Life under predecessor accounting.

William Waggott
Chief Financial Officer
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Strategic overview

Dividends
The Board is recommending a final dividend of  
8.0p per share (2010: 7.8p). On 10 May 2011 the 
Board recommended an interim dividend of 3.3p 
per share (2010: 3.2p), making a full year dividend 
of 11.3p per share (2010: 11.0p). The final dividend 
will be paid on 10 April 2012 to holders of relevant 
shares on the register at 9 March 2012.

The Group’s policy is to maintain underlying 
dividend cover at around two times. We intend  
to continue to operate a dividend reinvestment 
plan as an alternative to receiving a cash dividend.

Cash and liquidity
The net cash position (cash and cash equivalents 
less loans, bonds, overdrafts and finance leases)  
at the year end was £4m (2010: net debt £249m). 
This consisted of £902m cash and cash equivalents 
and £898m of interest-bearing loans and liabilities. 
The reduction in net debt was primarily driven by 
growth in underlying profit together with lower 
separately disclosed items and strong working 
capital management. As at 30 September 2011, 
undrawn committed borrowing facilities totalled 
£1,044m (2010: £984m).

Free cash flow improved by 33% to £451m  
(2010: £339m), analysed as follows:

£m   2011 2010

Underlying operating profit  
(2010: pro forma)   471 434
Depreciation and amortisation included  
within underlying operating profit  172 207

Underlying EBITDA1   643 641
Working capital movement   218 217
Capital expenditure (net of disposals) (162) (178)
Other   (248) (341)

Free cash flow   451 339

1) Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

On 30 April 2011 we completed the final €160m 
repayment of our shareholder loan with TUI AG. 
We successfully refinanced our banking facilities  
in May with the signing of new facilities totalling 
£1,155m. The new facilities have a four-year term 
and mature in 2015. Interest will be incurred at a 
margin above LIBOR dependent on the proportion 
of the facility drawn and it is envisaged that the 
average margin will be less than 2%. Our covenants 
remain unchanged (net debt/EBITDA not to exceed 
3 times, fixed charges cover to exceed 1.5 times, 
tested half-yearly).

In addition, Specialist & Activity made the following 
bolt-on acquisitions:

• English Language Centre (York), which provides 
high quality language courses to students from 
44 countries

• Great Atlantic Travel, a US sports tour operator

In November, Specialist & Activity disposed of the 
Thomson Al Fresco business to Homair Vacances.

In A&D, we acquired:

• Lima Tours, a destination management business 
which specialises in creating and operating 
innovative and high value added travel 
experiences in Peru

• TMS Gateway, the leading supplier of port 
agency and ground handling services to cruise 
ships on the US and Canadian West Coast

• Top Class, a port handling company based  
in France

In Central Europe, we acquired a number of travel 
agencies to support our strategy of increasing the 
controlled distribution mix.

Taxation
Underlying profit before tax for the year was 
£360m. The effective tax rate on these profits  
is 27%. Based on the current structure of the 
business and existing local taxation rates and 
legislation, it is expected that the underlying tax 
rate will be maintained at this level. The actual tax 
rate is 44%. This differs to the underlying tax rate 
due to the tax effect of separately disclosed items 
(principally the non-recognition of tax losses arising 
from such items), acquisition related expenses, 
goodwill impairment charges and the booking of 
£17m of specific provisions against potential tax 
exposures in Morocco and the UK.

The cash tax rate is expected to be lower than  
the underlying income tax rate as we utilise our 
deferred tax assets generated from restructuring 
expenditure and trading losses. In the coming year, 
we envisage a cash tax rate of approximately 20% 
of underlying profit before tax.

Earnings per share
Underlying basic earnings per share was 23.6p 
(2010: 19.0p). Basic earnings per share was 7.7p 
(2010: loss per share 11.1p).
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Group performance continued

understatement of current liabilities within 
Nouvelles Frontières, the French tour operator, of 
£45m. As both errors offset within cost of sales and 
trade and other payables and do not materially 
change the profit, net assets or overall financial 
position of the Group, the prior year has not  
been restated. The correction of the errors has 
been made through the profit and loss account  
in the year ended 30 September 2011. We have 
addressed the underlying causes of these errors 
within the business concerned, and are introducing 
a Group-wide compliance framework as part of  
our ongoing work to improve key financial controls 
and procedures.

Other separately disclosed items netted to nil.  
A £12m impairment of one of our UK cruise ships, 
Island Escape, was offset by profits on disposal  
of aircraft and engines.

Further information is included within Note 4.

Pension deficit
The net accounting pension deficit at the year end 
was £513m (2010: £493m). The cash contribution  
to fund the deficit was £33m in 2011 (2010: £64m). 
The increase in deficit reflects actuarial losses 
arising from a reduction in the value of scheme 
assets as a result of worsened stock market 
conditions, and an increase in the value of scheme 
liabilities as a result of changes in discount rate 
assumptions. These were partly offset by £63m 
reduction in the UK pension scheme liability. As 
previously reported, during the six-month period 
ended 31 March 2011, the Company engaged in  
a consultation process with the members of its 
defined benefit pension schemes which resulted  
in a restriction to salary increases used under the 
rules of the pension schemes to calculate benefits 
to a maximum of 2.5% in any one year. This  
change resulted in a reduction in accrued pension 
liabilities measured under IAS 19 of £63m, with a 
corresponding credit recognised within separately 
disclosed items in the income statement. 

Separately disclosed items
Separately disclosed items net to a £74m expense 
in the year (2010: £255m). The following table 
provides a breakdown of these items.

£m   2011 2010

Merger related integration costs  – 116
Restructuring costs   137 63
Pension   (63) –
Incremental costs caused by  
volcanic ash disruption in 2010  (7) 69
Aircraft and other   7 7

Total separately disclosed items  74 255

Restructuring costs of £137m were incurred in the 
year. The largest items by division were as follows:

• £35m in France in relation to the ongoing 
restructuring of the airline and retail network  
of Nouvelles Frontières

• £32m in Germany, where we announced in 
September our strategy and growth programme 
GET 2015

• £19m in the UK including rationalising the retail 
distribution network

• £15m in the Specialist & Activity Sector relating 
to back office cost reductions

The remaining costs related primarily to 
restructuring within the A&D Sector and Group 
head office companies.

The above costs were partly offset by a £63m 
reduction in the UK pension scheme liability 
following agreement with pension scheme 
members to cap the rate of future growth of 
pensionable pay (detailed below).

During the current financial year two errors have 
been identified which relate to the balance sheet  
as at 30 September 2010. The omission of an 
elimination of surplus sundry payables from the 
Group balance sheet resulted in an overstatement 
of current liabilities of £38m. This was offset by an 
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Business and financial review

Segmental performance

• The impact of predecessor accounting for Magic 
Life is included within the revenue figures for  
the Hotels division. Full details are given in  
Note 1(B)(ii)

In addition, the prior year revenue and underlying 
operating profit used in the segmental analysis 
below are pro forma financial measures before  
the estimated impact of the closures of Northern 
European airspace during 2010 as a result of 
volcanic ash. A reconciliation of revenue and 
underlying operating profit shown above to the  
pro forma revenue and underlying operating profit 
shown in this section is as follows:

Segmental performance is based on underlying 
financial information (which excludes certain items, 
including separately disclosed items, acquisition 
related expenses and predecessor accounting).

As previously announced, the following changes 
have been made to the prior year figures:

• With effect from 1 October 2010, the Group 
reorganised its business Sectors, with the main 
change being the merger of the Specialist and 
Activity Sectors. The segmental results for both 
the current and prior periods are presented 
under this new structure 

• Previously, we reported Jet4You’s results  
as a discontinued operation as we expected  
to dispose of the business in the near term.  
As a sale agreement has not been reached,  
the prior year figures have been re-presented  
to include Jet4You’s results. Full details are  
given in Note 1(B)(ii)

Year ended 30 September 2010 

  Northern Central Western Specialist Accommodation
£m  Region Europe Europe & Activity & Destinations Other Total

Statutory revenue  4,312 4,354 2,920 1,347 581 – 13,514
Impact of volcanic ash  59 21 35 4 6 – 125

Pro forma revenue  4,371 4,375 2,955 1,351 587 – 13,639

Year ended 30 September 2010 

  Northern Central Western Specialist Accommodation
£m  Region Europe Europe & Activity & Destinations Other Total

Underlying operating profit  162 85 38 77 73 (36) 399
Impact of volcanic ash  21 7 6 1 – – 35

Pro forma underlying operating profit  183 92 44 78 73 (36) 434
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Environmental Guidelines 
launched

TUI Travel launched ‘Guidelines 
for Environmental Sustainability 
in Hotels’ at a conference which 
brought together hotel general 
managers, industry associations, 
academics and key colleagues 
from across the Group to share 
best practice. The guidelines 
illustrate how hotels can reduce 
their negative impacts on the 
environment and support the 
local community, while making 
financial savings. 

Thomson Airways makes 
aviation history

Thomson Airways became  
the first UK airline to operate 
commercial flights on sustainable 
biofuel from used cooking oil 
when TOM 7446 took off from 
Birmingham Airport to Arrecife 
in Lanzarote on 6 October 2011. 
Carrying 232 passengers on a 
Boeing 757-200, the landmark 
flight, which was given full 
backing by Aviation Minister 
Theresa Villiers, confirmed 
Thomson Airways’ position  
at the forefront of sustainable 
aviation. The flight generated  
a considerable amount of press 
coverage and has paved the way 
for daily flights using sustainable 
biofuel to commence from early 
2012 for six weeks. 

Mainstream Sector 

Northern Region
The Northern Region reported an underlying operating profit of £250m (2010: £183m). All 
divisions improved year on year, with particularly strong performances by the UK and Nordic 
region and the completion of the turnaround programme in Canada following the strategic  
venture with Sunwing.

The main drivers of the year on year change in underlying operating profit are summarised in the  
following table:

  Nordic   Northern
£m UK Region Canada Hotels Region

2010 127 56 (5) 5 183
Incremental synergies/cost efficiencies 17 – – – 17
Turnaround 4 – 23 – 27
Magic Life – – – 8 8
Egypt/Tunisia (5) (3) – – (8)
Trading 6 13 (1) 3 21
FX translation – 4 1 (3) 2

2011 149 70 18 13 250

 
Northern Region   2011 2010 Change %

Customers (‘000)1

UK & Ireland   5,440 5,399 +1%
Nordic region   1,427 1,224 +17%

Total   6,867 6,623 +4%

Revenue (£m)
UK & Ireland   3,588 3,392 +6%
Nordic region   1,054 864 +22%
Canada1   – 52 n/a
Hotels   29 63 -54%

Total   4,671 4,371 +8%

Underlying operating profit/(loss) (£m)
UK & Ireland   149 127 +17%
Nordic region   70 56 +25%
Canada   18 (5) n/a
Hotels   13 5 +160%

Total   250 183 +37%

1)  From 14 January 2010, our Canadian operations have been accounted for under the equity method. Canadian customer numbers have been 
excluded in both periods.

Business and financial review

Segmental performance continued



www.tuitravelplc.com

TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2011 37
G

roup at a glance
G

overnance
Financial statem

ents
Shareholder inform

ation

Business and financial review

B
usiness and financial review

Strategic overview

Product differentiation at 
heart of UK strategy

TUI UK & Ireland continues  
to make use of its dual brand 
portfolio with Thomson and First 
Choice. Further distinctiveness 
came this year with the move of 
the First Choice brand to offer 
only all inclusive holidays from 
Summer 2012. This builds on the 
strength of the popular ranges 
across both brands, including 
First Choice Holiday Village and 
Splash. With Thomson Sensatori, 
Couples and Family Resorts to 
choose from, customers have 
access to a range they simply 
cannot find from any other  
tour operator. 

TUI Nordic drives growth 
online

During 2011 TUI Nordic  
stepped up its efforts to become 
online-driven after dispensing 
with the traditional Summer  
and Winter brochures. The web 
is now the ‘daily brochure’, 
including a 24-hour information 
channel and online shop and  
is supported by inspirational 
magazines published two  
or three times a year. Online 
sales have grown from 57%  
to 61% with controlled 
distribution reaching 86%  
as at 30 September 2011.

Nordic region
The Nordic region achieved an improved underlying 
operating profit of £70m (2010: £56m). Excluding 
the impact of foreign exchange translation, the 
improvement versus prior year was £10m. 

Volume improvements were seen across most 
destinations, with the Canaries up 26% and 
Thailand up 30% in Winter, the latter destination 
benefiting from the use of a Corsair 747. In 
Summer, the programme was again expanded, with 
Greece up 17%, Turkey up 28% and Spain up 33%. 

Differentiated products accounted for 58% of  
the overall mix, up thirteen percentage points on 
prior year. Two new Blue Villages were launched  
for Summer 2011 – Blue Village Seven Seas in 
Turkey (formerly Magic Life) and Blue Village 
Alcudia Pins in Mallorca (shared exclusively with 
Thomson Family).

The Nordic region continues to successfully 
implement its online strategy, with online bookings 
accounting for 61% of the total in 2011, up four 
percentage points on prior year. Traditional 
brochures were not issued this year for the core 
tour operator brands (Fritidsresor in Sweden, Star 
Tour in Norway and Finnmaktat in Finland); instead, 
customers use the website as a ’daily brochure’ 
which provides information and acts as an online 
shop. As online bookings have grown, the business 
has further rationalised its retail portfolio and 
therefore reduced further its distribution costs.

Canada
Canada delivered an underlying operating profit  
of £18m (2010: loss of £5m).

Following the completion of the joint venture  
with Sunwing in January 2010, the business has 
successfully transformed itself to become a market 
leader. The annualised benefit of synergies (airline 
efficiencies and back office cost savings), coupled 
with better purchasing and cost control and 
product improvements have driven the improved 
result which has exceeded expectations. We now 
consider the turnaround to be complete and  
expect the business to move into a phase of 
profitable growth.

Hotels
The Hotels division comprises hotel management 
companies and joint ventures in hotel assets. 
Underlying operating profit improved to £13m  
in 2011 (2010: £5m), benefitting from £8m high 
season profits from the Magic Life acquisition 
which completed at the start of the final quarter.

UK & Ireland
The UK & Ireland businesses delivered a £22m 
improvement in underlying operating profit to 
£149m (2010: £127m). We are particularly pleased 
with the performance of our differentiated 
products and with the outcome of Summer trading, 
which helped to offset the negative impact of 
unrest in North Africa earlier in the year. 

The growth of higher margin differentiated 
products has underpinned volume and margin 
performance. Differentiated products accounted 
for 47% of the total product mix in 2011 for the 
year, up five percentage points on 2010. Sales  
of unique differentiated products such as 
SplashWorld, Holiday Village, Sensatori and 
Couples have grown by 14% in the year whilst sales 
of lower margin commodity products have declined 
by 5%. The Couples concept, which was introduced 
in 2011, has been a particular success. All 16 hotels 
in this range are strictly child free. The First Choice 
Holiday Village portfolio has also been expanded 
with a new unit in Tenerife and a planned opening 
in Menorca. 

In addition, exclusive products (which can only be 
booked via Thomson and First Choice) accounted 
for a further 19% of our customers. This, together 
with the growth of differentiated product, helps to 
provide an enhanced and unique product offering 
to our customers.

Online distribution accounted for 39% of bookings 
in 2011. More customers book using our website 
than by any other distribution channel. Significant 
enhancements were made to both the Thomson 
and First Choice websites that have improved 
navigation, customer experience and ‘look to book’ 
ratios. Thomson is one of the top three most 
visited travel websites in the UK.

The UK business delivered the final £5m of 
post-merger synergies in the first quarter, and 
delivered a further £12m of cost efficiency savings, 
mainly relating to pensions and back office cost 
reductions, in the remainder of the year. Our 
business in Ireland delivered a turnaround of £4m 
in the year, with the completion of the programme 
of capacity rationalisation and cost savings which 
commenced in 2010.
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TUI flagship store Berlin

TUI Germany has opened the 
country’s most modern travel 
agency in Berlin. It combines  
the benefits of personal travel 
consultancy with state-of-the-
art media and technology such  
as large-size LCD screens, iPads 
and internet research. The 
contemporary store design  
not only creates an entirely  
new shopping experience but 
provides an impressive backdrop 
for customer events. As such, 
TUI’s new flagship store serves 
as a blueprint for the next 
generation of travel agencies  
to be rolled out across TUI’s 
retail chain.

Business and financial review

Segmental performance continued

Central Europe
Central Europe reported an £11m increase in underlying operating profit to £103m (2010: £92m).

The main drivers of the year on year change in underlying operating profit are summarised in the  
following table:

     Central 
£m Germany Austria Switzerland Poland Europe

2010 81 9 4 (2) 92
Egypt/Tunisia (6) (1) – – (7)
Trading 3 1 – – 4
FX translation 11 2 1 – 14

2011 89 11 5 (2) 103

 
Central Europe   2011 2010 Change %

Customers (‘000)
Germany1   6,424 6,208 +3%
Austria   543 558 -3%
Switzerland1   149 161 -7%
Poland   166 116 +43%

Total   7,282 7,043 +3%

Revenue (£m)
Germany   4,235 3,800 +11%
Austria   333 324 +3%
Switzerland   184 183 +1%
Poland   89 68 +31%

Total   4,841 4,375 +11%

Underlying operating profit/(loss) (£m)
Germany   89 81 +10%
Austria   11 9 +22%
Switzerland   5 4 +25%
Poland   (2) (2) flat

Total   103 92 +12%

1)  Customer figures for Germany and Switzerland have been restated for 2010 to reflect redefined product reporting following the 
implementation of a new system.
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Austria
Austria reported underlying operating profit  
of £11m, £2m ahead of prior year (2010: £9m).  
The downturn in demand for North African 
destinations was offset by increased bookings for 
overland tours. Controlled distribution improved  
by five percentage points to 36%, driven by growth 
in the retail and online channels.

Switzerland
In Switzerland underlying operating profit was £5m 
for the year (2010: £4m). Trading was challenging  
as a result of the strong Swiss Franc, which has led 
some customers to book holidays from Eurozone 
source markets which border on Switzerland. This 
was offset by cost efficiencies.

Poland
In Poland, the underlying operating loss was £2m 
(2010: £2m loss), partly due to fuel surcharges 
from third party carriers through the Summer 
which could not be passed on to the customer.  
We have commenced the turnaround programme 
in this source market and expect the benefits to  
be realised from 2012.

Germany
In Germany, underlying operating profit was £89m 
(2010: £81m). This included £11m favourable 
impact from foreign currency translation partly 
offset by £6m impact of unrest in North Africa.

The main tour operator TUI Germany experienced 
improved demand in the Summer versus prior  
year, when we were able to flex capacity to enable 
customers to switch from Egypt to destinations 
such as the Balearics, Greece and Turkey, albeit at 
lower margins than Egypt. Margins benefited from 
the expansion of our differentiated offering 
through the Sensimar and Puravida properties. 
Differentiated product accounted for 32% of our 
volumes in 2011. However, some of the specialist 
tour operators, such as L’TUR Tourismus AG and 
Gebeco, experienced more challenging trading 
conditions as a result of macroeconomic and 
geopolitical factors.

Online bookings accounted for 19% of the total,  
up two percentage points on prior year. This  
was offset by a reduction in bookings through 
franchised retail shops, with controlled distribution 
remaining at 51% as a result of increased bookings 
through owned retail shops.

On 29 September 2011 we announced plans to 
implement a strategy and growth programme,  
GET 2015, through which TUI Germany expects  
to improve margins. This will be achieved via 
increased focus on differentiated and exclusive 
product, increasing our online business through 
significant website developments and back  
office restructuring. These actions will take  
place alongside previously announced initiatives  
to replace outdated IT systems, which will drive 
cost reductions.

Dynamic ‘Discount Travel’

TUI Germany has successfully 
advanced the business model  
of its ‘Discount Travel’ brand. 
Having marketed TUI holidays 
exclusively at attractive prices  
in the past, Discount Travel  
now actively seeks and bundles 
product from third party 
suppliers and partners as well. In 
consequence, the new business 
model not only increases product 
availability to the customer but 
also generates an additional 
revenue stream for the brand.
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Segmental performance continued

Western Europe
Western Europe reported an underlying operating profit of £17m (2010: £44m).

The main drivers of the year on year change in underlying operating profit are summarised in the  
following table:

   Southern  Western
£m France Netherlands Belgium Europe Jet4You Europe

2010 (10) 7 56 4 (13) 44
Turnaround 5 10 – – – 15
Egypt/Tunisia  
(excluding France tour operator) – – (2) (1) – (3)
Provision for North Africa contracts (9) – – – – (9)
France tour operator (50) – – – – (50)
Trading 9 3 1 (5) 3 11
FX translation 2 2 5 – – 9

2011 (53) 22 60 (2) (10) 17

 
Western Europe   2011 2010 Change %

Customers (‘000)
France   2,057 2,063 flat
Netherlands   1,360 1,211 +12%
Belgium   2,012 1,861 +8%
Southern Europe   143 184 -22%
Jet4You   529 497 +6%

Total   6,101 5,816 +5%

Revenue (£m)
France   1,363 1,311 +4%
Netherlands   783 668 +17%
Belgium   821 754 +9%
Southern Europe   103 131 -21%
Jet4You   81 91 -11%

Total   3,151 2,955 +7%

Underlying operating profit/(loss) (£m)
France   (53) (10) +430%
Netherlands   22 7 +214%
Belgium   60 56 +7%
Southern Europe   (2) 4 n/a
Jet4You   (10) (13) +23%

Total   17 44 -61%

France
France reported an underlying operating loss of £53m (2010: loss of £10m). The increase in loss was driven 
by the French tour operators, partly offset by an improved performance by the airline, Corsair.

France   2011 2010 Change %

Underlying operating (loss)/profit (£m)
Tour operator   (43) 14 n/a
Airline   (10) (24) +58%

Total   (53) (10) +430%

TAKE OFF 2012

The airline of Group Nouvelles 
Frontières, Corsairfly, 
successfully continued the 
roll-out of its transformation 
project, named ‘TAKE OFF 2012’, 
with the plan to reposition the 
airline as a scheduled carrier, 
specialising in long haul 
destinations, ahead of schedule. 
The management team has been 
strengthened, products and 
services have been modernised 
and the flight programme has 
been improved. 

Jetair celebrates 40th 
birthday and two million 
passengers

The TUI Belgium master brand, 
Jetair, celebrated its 40th 
birthday with a further increase 
in bookings and gain in market 
share. For the first time in 
history, over two million 
passengers travelled with TUI 
Belgium during the year. This 
was realised through market 
leading customer satisfaction, 
efficient capacity management, 
the launch of new destinations 
and a growing offer from 
regional airports. 
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distribution and yield management. In addition, 
cost efficiency savings were made as a result  
of improved airline productivity and lower 
accommodation costs. Online distribution 
improved by three percentage points to 33%. 

Belgium
Underlying operating profit in Belgium was £60m 
(2010: £56m). After a good trading performance  
in the first half as a result of higher volumes and 
better airline utilisation which offset the impact  
of unrest in North Africa, Summer margins  
were below prior year. This was due to a  
higher proportion of seat only sales as we are 
increasingly competing with low cost carriers to 
beach destinations. The increase in seat only sales, 
together with the increase in volumes sold through 
our direct seller, Sunjets, increased sales through 
the online channel by four percentage points to 
37%, leading to a four percentage point improvement 
in controlled distribution to 59% and reduced 
distribution costs as a proportion of revenue.

Southern Europe
Southern Europe, which consists of tour operators 
based in the Italian and Spanish source markets, 
reported an underlying operating loss of £2m 
(2010: profit of £4m). This reflects the challenging 
consumer environment in these source markets, 
coupled with a reliance on North African destinations.

Jet4You
Our Moroccan low cost airline Jet4You reported  
a lower underlying operating loss of £10m (2010: 
loss of £13m). We have expanded our business 
improvement programme to include Jet4You and 
intend to bring the business to a break even result.

The tour operator losses of £43m (2010: £14m 
profit) were driven by lower demand for North 
African destinations. The French tour operators  
are particularly reliant on these destinations – 
historically Egypt, Tunisia and Morocco have  
made up around 40% of their capacity in total,  
and around 65% for Marmara alone. A provision  
of £9m has been made in respect of prepayments 
for North African contracts, as a result of lower 
demand for holidays in the region. Although 
volumes overall were flat year on year, margins 
were lower as a result of customers switching 
to higher cost destinations in the Western 
Mediterranean and Greece. In addition, Nouvelles 
Frontières, whose core competency has been in 
earlier selling long haul holidays, has been impacted 
by the challenging consumer environment.

As previously stated, we have initiated a project  
to consolidate the businesses of the French tour 
operators with the aim of creating a single business 
with a long term viable future. Initial meetings with 
Works Council and local employees have taken 
place and the merger is progressing as anticipated.

The airline result improved by £14m to a loss of 
£10m (2010: loss of £24m). This was due partly  
to network planning improvements to better  
serve customer demand, with a remodelled 
programme to the Indian Ocean and French West 
Indies. In addition, the restructuring programme  
is progressing as planned.

Netherlands
Netherlands achieved a significant improvement in 
underlying operating profit to £22m (2010: £7m). 
The increase in profit was driven by an increase in 
market share, made possible by improvements in 

Emerging Markets reported an underlying 
operating loss of £12m in 2011 (2010: loss of £7m). 
The result for this division reflects our continued 
investment in brand and distribution in Russia  
and the CIS. The division now has over 510,000 
customers, up 6% on prior year. The Russian 
market is highly fragmented and competitive but 
continues to exhibit good growth characteristics  
for sun and beach package holidays, with 
particularly good growth prospects in the  
regions outside of Moscow. 

Emerging Markets

Emerging Markets (share of joint ventures)   2011 2010 Change %

Underlying operating loss (£m)   (12) (7) -71%

We are continuing to evaluate our strategic 
participation options in the Chinese market and 
have identified a number of long term growth 
opportunities. During 2011, we were one of three 
foreign companies to be granted an outbound 
operating licence, under the new pilot scheme 
introduced by the Chinese National Tourism 
Authority. This licence creates a new source  
market for us with excellent growth prospects.

We are also exploring a number of projects in India 
to broaden our presence in the wider travel sector.

TUI China heading 
outbound

In May 2011, TUI China was 
awarded an outbound tour 
operator licence by The National 
Tourism Administration of China, 
positioning the brand as the  
only authorised European tour 
operator to provide international 
travel to Chinese holidaymakers. 
To date, TUI China has 
specialised as an inbound tour 
operator, so the new outbound 
licence opens up significant new 
opportunities.

Integration in Russia and 
Ukraine

TUI Travel continues to build its 
presence in the emerging 
markets of Russia and Ukraine, 
having established a joint 
venture with S-Group. During 
the year the joint venture has 
secured full control of three 
businesses, VKO Group and 
Mostravel in Russia, and Voyage 
Kiev in Ukraine. The two Russian 
businesses are now being 
integrated to create a single 
multi-destination operator. 
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Specialist Holidays Group underlying operating 
profit was £21m (2010: £21m). Profits on ski holidays 
were lower than prior year due in part to the late 
timing of Easter and the division was affected by 
unrest in the Middle East and North Africa. This 
was offset by improved Summer volumes in Citalia, 
Hayes & Jarvis and Sovereign and reduced shop 
costs following the closure of Travelmood outlets.

Education underlying operating profit was  
£14m (2010: £27m). The decrease was driven by  
a reduction in demand for gap year travel. The 
downturn in the UK economy and rise in university 
tuition fees means that fewer students are taking a 
gap year at the moment. In addition, the language 
division experienced operational difficulties during 
the year. In view of this, the division is undergoing 
restructuring in order to reduce back office costs 
and drive operational efficiencies. The result for 
2011 included £1m impact from new acquisitions 
and the annualised impact of acquisitions made  
in the prior year.

As anticipated due to the lack of major sporting 
events in 2011, the Sport division reported an 
underlying operating loss of £1m (2010: £5m profit). 
2010 included the FIFA World Cup, which was not 
offset by profits from the Ashes tour in 2011.

Specialist & Activity 

Specialist & Activity reported a profit of £65m (2010: £78m), down £13m, driven by the Education 
division. This included £1m favourable impact from foreign currency translation, £3m favourable 
impact from acquisitions (including the annualisation impact of prior year acquisitions) and £2m 
cost savings, partly offset by £3m adverse impact of unrest in the Middle East and North Africa. 
Specialist & Activity   2011 2010 Change %

Customers (‘000)   1,500 1,611 -7%
Revenue (£m)
Adventure   208 211 -1%
North American Specialist   130 127 +2%
Education   211 228 -7%
Sport   67 92 -27%
Marine   141 134 +5%
Specialist Holiday Group   615 559 +10%

Total   1,372 1,351 +2%

Underlying operating (loss)/profit (£m)
Adventure   7 8 -13%
North American Specialist   8 1 +700%
Education   14 27 -48%
Sport   (1) 5 n/a
Marine   16 16 flat
Specialist Holiday Group   21 21 flat

Total   65 78 -17%

Underlying operating profit for North American 
Specialist has improved to £8m (2010: £1m), driven 
by a switch in mix towards lower volume, higher 
margin products offered by operators such as 
Starquest (private jet tours) and Quark (polar 
expeditions), and improved cost control.

Marine underlying operating profit was £16m 
(2010: £16m). Strong cost control enabled  
the division to maintain its margins in spite of 
inflationary pressures. During the year, our inland 
waterways brand, Le Boat, launched the new 1500 
series of boats, the roll-out of which will continue  
in the next few years. In addition, the corporate 
fleet has been refreshed in Port Solent in the UK. 
These improvements will significantly enhance 
customer experience.

Adventure underlying operating profit was £7m 
(2010: £8m). Excluding the impact of the strategic 
venture with Intrepid Travel which began in April, 
profit decreased by £3m. This was driven by lower 
volumes and reduced margins for travel to Australia 
as a result of the strong dollar and the floods in 
Queensland early in 2011. In addition the result has 
been impacted by the unrest in the Middle East 
and North Africa.

Global leaders in 
adventure travel

In February 2011, Intrepid  
Travel combined with TUI 
Travel’s international portfolio of 
adventure brands to create PEAK 
Adventure Travel Group, the 
largest adventure travel business 
in the world. PEAK consists of 
over 20 brands with revenues of 
circa £230m and over 340,000 
passengers. Combined they 
provide customers with every 
type of adventure holiday  
across all seven continents.  
The brands include Adventure 
Center, Country Walkers, 
Exodus, Intrepid Travel,  
Oz Experience, Peregrine, 
Sawadee, TrekAmerica and 
WesternXposure. 

Online gateway for 
specialist and activity 
holidays

During the year, the Specialist & 
Activity Sector launched www.
iexplore.com/uk, a one-stop shop 
for inspirational, experienced-
based holiday ideas. iExplore 
helps consumers achieve 
something unforgettable, be it 
summiting Kilimanjaro, skiing 
that first black run, enjoying a 
sundowner on their own yacht, 
experiencing the roar when  
their team wins, or cuddling  
lion cubs. The website’s unique 
‘holiday matchmaker’ tool  
helps customers identify their 
travelling style and matches  
it to their budget, interests  
and expertise.
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Intercruises increased the number of port calls 
handled by over 30% to 8,600 (2010: 6,400). This 
was in part due to the expansion of offering in 
North America with the acquisition of TMS Gateway.

The North African destination services businesses 
were adversely affected by the events earlier in the 
year, as customers chose to travel to alternative 
destinations. We acquired two destination services 
businesses in 2011, Lima Tours (which specialises  
in creating and operating innovative and high value-
added travel experiences in Peru) and Svoy Travel 
Group (which provides hotel accommodation and 
destination services in Russia), the latter being 
through our joint venture, Togebi Holding Limited.

Accommodation & Destinations

A&D delivered an underlying operating profit of £72m (2010: £73m). Excluding the £10m 
investment in the accommodation OTA, profits were up £9m on prior year, driven by growth in the 
B2B division and LateRooms UK and £3m favourable impact from new acquisitions and the 
annualised impact of 2010 acquisitions, which offset the £4m adverse impact of unrest in the 
Middle East and North Africa.
Accommodation & Destinations   2011 2010 Change %

Customers (‘000)
B2B roomnights (Online)     +20%
B2C roomnights (Online)     +14%
Incoming passenger volumes     +7%

Revenue (£m)   652 587 +11%

Underlying operating profit (£m)   72 73 -1%

Total transaction value for the Sector increased by 
18% to £2.6bn (2010: £2.2bn). This was driven by 
growth in Hotelbeds and Bedsonline in the B2B 
division, by LateRooms in the B2C division and  
by our cruise handling business, Intercruises.

Roomnights in the B2B division grew by 20% year 
on year. Bookings to all core destinations and from 
all source markets were up, with Americas and Asia 
being the key growth drivers.

The B2C division has continued its strategy of 
expansion and investment in the UK, Asia and 
Europe. The division has invested heavily in 
expanding AsiaRooms and LateRooms – the  
latter both in the UK and Europe. LateRooms  
has continued to increase its market share in  
the UK and outperformed the market with year  
on year growth in commissions of 21% in 2011. 

Intercruises’ delivers coast 
to coast in North America

Intercruises, a global provider of 
ground handling and port agency 
services to the ocean and river 
cruise industry, extended its 
coverage of the North American 
region through the acquisition  
of TMS Gateway in June 2011. 
Intercruises now provides 
ground handling and port agency 
services at all major ports in 
North America, including the 
west coast destinations of San 
Diego, Los Angeles, Seattle and 
Vancouver. 

10 years of success for 
Hotelbeds

Hotelbeds, the international 
accommodation wholesaler, 
celebrated its 10 year 
anniversary and transformation 
from a local to a global business 
with a brand relaunch at World 
Travel Market in London. 
Hotelbeds began with one source 
market (the UK), one destination 
(Spain) and an accommodation 
database of 2,000 hotels. It now 
has over 100 source markets and 
manages an accommodation 
database of over 45,000 hotels in 
more than 500 destinations. 
Hotelbeds has a market leading 
brand position and continues to 
outperform the market.
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Current trading and outlook

In Canada we are continuing to experience strong 
growth in demand and bookings are currently up 
34%. Capacity has been expanded to destinations 
in Mexico and the Caribbean, with sales performing 
particularly well into the RIU hotel portfolio. We are 
currently 37% booked in Canada.

In the Nordic region capacity has been increased, 
with the expansion to destinations such as the 
Canaries, Cape Verde and Mexico. This has been 
facilitated by the arrival of two Boeing 767s from 
the UK replacing a Boeing 747 which came from 
Corsair (who have now reduced their fleet) and 
increased third party capacity. Volumes left to sell 
are currently 10% higher than prior year and our 
booked load factor is 73%. Volumes overall are  
flat, although within this sales to Thailand are 
particularly difficult due to the flooding in and 
around Bangkok, while other destinations such  
as the Canaries are selling well. We have the 
flexibility to switch capacity between destinations  
if appropriate. Differentiated volumes continue  
to grow with volumes up 31% on prior year.

In Germany, capacity has been reduced by  
11%, driven by lower demand for North African 
destinations. Bookings to Egypt are currently  
39% behind prior year which is in line with capacity 
reductions. This is partly offset by demand for 
alternative destinations such as the Canaries  
(up 12%). Booked load factor is 53% and average 
selling prices are up 5%.

The French tour operators continue to experience 
lower demand for North African destinations, with 
volumes down 26% for Egypt, Tunisia and Morocco. 
In addition, there is a trend towards later bookings, 
driven by the consumer environment. However, 
thanks to the planned merger, capacities are shared 
and managed across the French tour operators, so 
that load factors for the first half of Winter are in 
line with prior year.

In Belgium, bookings are 2% ahead of last year  
and load factors are broadly in line. The increase  
in volume continues to be driven by seat only and 
through an increase in long haul sales as we open 
up new destinations such as Thailand. In the 
Netherlands our strong trading performance in 
Summer 2011 has continued into Winter 2011/12, 
with volumes up 15% and average selling price up 
8%. An increase in capacity, mainly as a result of 
fleet expansion, has helped us continue to build  
on our market leading position. 

In Specialist & Activity revenue is up 7% year on 
year, with growth achieved in all divisions except 
Adventure, which continues to be affected by  
lower demand for North Africa. Education and 
North American Specialist are performing well.

In A&D bookings are up 15% versus last year, 
driven by the B2B division, where bookings are  
up 21%. Bookings for the B2C division are up 4%, 
following strong growth in 2010. We have now 
launched the AsiaRooms.com website in five  
local languages.

Winter 2011/12
We are satisfied overall with the progress of trading 
for Winter 2011/12. Bookings have slowed since our 
previous update in some source markets where,  
as expected, we are experiencing a later booking 
profile, reflecting the continuing issues in North 
Africa and challenging consumer environment in 
these markets.

  Bookings
  since
 Cumulative previous Cumulative
Year on year customer bookings trading bookings
booking variation % at 11 Sept statement at 27 Nov

UK  -11 -12 -12
Nordic region  +1 flat flat
Germany  -3 -10 -8
France tour operators  -7 -14 -12
Belgium  +2 +3 +2
Netherlands  +31 +7 +15

In the UK capacity has been reduced by 9%. This is 
as a result of a change in aircraft fleet mix, including 
moving aircraft within the Group to serve higher 
demand in the Canadian and Nordic markets. Most 
of the capacity reduction has come out of Egypt 
and Tunisia. Booked load factor remains broadly in 
line with prior year, at 48%. Volumes sold since our 
last update are down 12%, highlighting the later 
booking profile compared with prior year. This slow 
down is being driven by the continuing issues in 
North Africa and a weaker consumer environment. 
Average selling prices are up 5% which partly 
reflects cost inflation of approximately 4%, as well 
as the higher proportion of differentiated product 
sales. Differentiated product continues to book 
earlier and experience higher demand, with 
volumes up 12% compared with last year.

Current trading1

 Winter 2011/12 Risk only  
 Total Total Total
 ASP2 sales2 customers2 Capacity3 Left to sell3Year on year variation %

Mainstream
UK +5 -7 -12 -9 -6
Nordic region +1 +1 flat +3 +12

Northern Region +4 -4 -7  

Germany +5 -3 -8 -11 -3
Austria +3 -6 -9  
Switzerland -16 -17 -1  
Poland +10 +49 +36  

Central Europe +4 -3 -7  

France tour operators -1 -12 -11  
Belgium flat +3 +3  
Netherlands +8 +24 +15  

Western Europe +2 +2 +1  

Specialist & Activity n/a +7 n/a  
Accommodation & Destinations4 +4 +21 +16  

1)  These statistics are up to 27 November 2011.

2)  These statistics relate to all customers whether risk or non-risk.

3)  These statistics include all risk capacity programmes.

4)  These statistics refer to online accommodation businesses only; sales refer to total transaction value and customers 
refers to roomnights.
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In France, as previously stated, we have initiated a 
project to consolidate the tourism businesses with 
the aim of creating a single French business with a 
long term viable future. Initial meetings with Works 
Council and local employees have taken place and 
the merger is progressing as anticipated.

In addition, for clarity purposes, we will from now 
on combine the turnaround and cost efficiencies 
targets together under a new business improvement 
programme.

In light of the above, we have reassessed our target 
from the remainder of £78m and now expect 
incremental profits and cost savings of £107m,  
to be delivered in broadly even tranches over the 
next three years.

Outlook
As with the rest of the travel and aviation industry, 
we continue to operate in a challenging geopolitical 
and economic environment which is demonstrated 
by the later booking profile that we are seeing in 
some source markets. We have adjusted our Winter 
capacities to reflect the current market conditions 
and are trading in line with our expectations. 
Summer capacities will be flexed to match 
profitable demand.

We remain focused on our strategy of increasing 
the proportion of sales of differentiated and 
exclusive product, and on increasing controlled 
distribution with a focus on online to enhance  
our customer access and reduce distribution  
costs. Through our new business improvement 
programme we have self help measures in place  
to help offset the difficult macro-economic 
environment, including clear plans in place for 
Germany and France. In addition, we continue  
to strengthen our cash flow in order to fund the 
dividend and growth. All of which means that, even 
in the current challenging market conditions, we 
continue to operate from a position of strength.

Summer 2012
It is still early in the bookings cycle for Summer 
2012, with most source markets outside of the 
Northern Region launching their main edition 
brochures in December.

In the UK we have currently sold 19% of the 
programme. Bookings are 11% lower than prior 
year, partly reflecting a reduction in capacity, which 
is currently down 9%. Average selling price is up 
9%, partly reflecting cost inflation of approximately 
5% and the higher proportion of differentiated 
products sold, which currently account for 65%  
of sales, up eight percentage points on prior year.

The Nordic region programme was launched on  
20 October 2011 and as such, it is very early in  
the bookings cycle, with only 12% sold to date.

Fuel/foreign exchange
We have hedged the majority of our fuel and 
currency requirements for the seasons currently  
on sale. The following table shows the percentage 
of our forecast requirement that is currently 
hedged for Euros, US Dollars and jet fuel. We have 
previously stated that fuel costs are expected to 
rise by circa 30% in 2012. 

   Winter Summer
   2011/12 2012

Euro   98% 92%
US Dollars   92% 80%
Jet fuel   91% 78%

As at 1 December 2011.

Business improvement programme
We announced at the start of the year that we 
expected to deliver a further £89m through our 
turnaround programme across our Mainstream 
businesses, and a further £40m of cost savings and 
efficiencies in the UK Mainstream business and 
Group, over a three year period. We have delivered 
£42m of turnaround savings (including £12m over 
delivered in Canada) and £21m of cost savings 
during 2011, leaving a remainder of £78m.

Our German Mainstream business recently 
announced plans to implement a cost reduction 
and growth programme, GET 2015, through which 
it expects to improve margins. This will be achieved 
via increased focus on differentiated and exclusive 
product, increasing our online business through 
significant website developments and back office 
restructuring. These actions will take place 
alongside previously announced initiatives to 
replace outdated IT systems, which will drive  
cost reductions. 

Current trading1

 Summer 2012 Risk only  
 Total Total Total
 ASP2 sales2 customers2 Capacity3 Left to sell3Year on year variation %

UK +9 -3 -11 -9 -8
Nordic region +5 -9 -14 +1 +3

Northern Region +8 -4 -11  

1)  These statistics are up to 27 November 2011.

2)  These statistics relate to all customers whether risk or non-risk.

3)  These statistics include all risk capacity programmes.
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Services (AEGIS), AEGIS Managing Agency Limited (UK), 
HSBC North America Holding Inc, Talisman Energy Inc 
and US Cold Storage Inc. 

11. Rainer Feuerhake
Non-Executive Director (Age 67)
Rainer Feuerhake joined the Preussag Group (now  
TUI AG) in 1968 and by 1980 was responsible for group 
accounting. Rainer was appointed as Chief Financial 
Officer of Preussag AG in November 1988 and 
subsequently TUI AG (following a resolution to rename 
Preussag AG on 1 July 2002). In this position Rainer  
was responsible for the departments of Accounting  
& Reporting, Finance, Investor Relations, Tax Affairs, 
Mergers & Acquisitions, Destination Management  
and the Shared Service Centre. He resigned as Chief 
Financial Officer in February 2010 and is now acting  
as a consultant for TUI AG. He joined the Board of  
TUI Travel PLC on 28 June 2007.

12. Harold Sher
Non-Executive Director (Age 64)
Harold Sher joined the Board of TUI Travel PLC as  
a Non-Executive Director on 29 October 2007. He 
studied commerce at university and started his career  
as a Chartered Accountant. Harold moved to industry 
early in his career holding a range of executive positions 
before being appointed Chief Executive of Amalgamated 
Metal Corporation PLC in 1992, a position he still holds. 
He has served as president of a major North American 
Steel Services Group and, together with his role at 
Amalgamated Metal Corporation, this has provided  
him with broad international commercial experience.

13. Dr Albert Schunk
Non-Executive Director (Aged 70)
Dr Albert Schunk joined the Board of TUI Travel PLC  
as a Non-Executive Director on 29 October 2007.  
Albert studied economics at university and carried out  
a research project for the German Government in Latin 
America. After joining IG-Metall, he has served on the 
supervisory board of Volkswagen and other German 
Companies since 1976. In 1994 he became a member of 
the European Economic and Social Council in Brussels 
and has recently been advising the Riu Group in Spain.

14. Dr Erhard Schipporeit
Non-Executive Director (Age 62)
Dr Erhard Schipporeit joined the Board of TUI Travel 
PLC as a Non-Executive Director on 29 October 2007. 
He started his career in 1979 in the Bosch Group and  
in 1981 he joined VARTA AG/VARTA Battery AG, at  
that time a leading European battery company, where 
he became Chief Financial Officer in 1990 and Chief 
Executive and Chairman of the Executive Board in 1993. 
After the successful restructuring of VARTA the next 
move in his career brought him to the Munich based 
conglomerate company VIAG AG as CFO. VIAG merged 
in 2000 with VEBA AG to form the new E.ON AG, one  
of the world’s leading utility companies. Erhard was  
CFO and Executive Board Member of E.ON from 2000 
until his resignation in November 2006. He is currently  
a non-executive director of a number of companies 
including SAP AG, Deutsche Boerse AG, Talanx AG, 
Hanover Rueckversicherung AG and Fidelity SICAV.

15. Minnow Powell
Non-Executive Director (Age 57)
Minnow Powell became a Non-Executive Director of  
TUI Travel PLC in April 2011. During his 35 years at 
Deloitte, he became a senior partner and concentrated 
on looking after Deloitte’s major clients including BAA, 
Hammerson, Reed Elsevier, Anglo American and BSkyB. 
He was also a member of the UK’s Audit Practices Board 
for six years.

16. Coline McConville 
Non-Executive Director (Age 47)
Coline McConville joined the Board of TUI Travel PLC on 
21 September 2011. Her background is in management, 
marketing and consulting. She spent ten years at Clear 
Channel International Limited where, as Chief Executive 
for Europe, she was responsible for operations across  
58 countries including the UK, France, Italy and Spain. 
Coline began her career in management consultancy, 
working with both McKinsey & Co in London and the 
LEK Partnership in Munich. She is a law graduate with 
an MBA from Harvard. 

Mainstream Sector which includes source markets, UK 
and Ireland, Canada, Sweden, Norway, Denmark and 
Finland. Prior to the merger of First Choice Holidays PLC 
and the Tourism Division of TUI AG, Johan was Chief 
Executive of TUI Nordic and also took responsibility for 
tourism sales in the source markets of Italy and Russia.

6. Dr Volker Böttcher
Managing Director, Central Europe (Age 52)
Dr Volker Böttcher joined the Board of TUI Travel PLC 
on 19 June 2007 and is responsible for Central Europe  
in the Mainstream Sector. After an early career in law, 
Volker joined Touristik Union International in 1987 as  
a legal advisor. Having occupied various management 
positions, he became head of TUI’s Special Programmes 
Division in 1996 which included responsibility for  
long haul destinations, city tours and the Eastern 
Mediterranean. In 2003 Volker was appointed Chairman 
for Central Europe for TUI AG, being responsible for all 
tourism activities in the source markets of Germany, 
Austria, Switzerland and Poland. He was appointed to 
the Board of TUI Deutschland GmbH in April 2000. 
Following the restructuring of TUI’s business model in 
Germany, he was appointed CEO of TUI Deutschland 
GmbH in July 2001. 

7. Horst Baier 
Non-Executive Director (Age 55)
Horst Baier joined the Board of TUI Travel PLC as  
a Non-Executive Director on 13 October 2009. He 
commenced his professional career in the Treasury 
Department of Continental AG, the German tyre 
manufacturer. Between 1994 and 1996 Horst was 
responsible for Group Financing for the Fürth-based 
Schickedanz Group. In 1996, he took over responsibility 
for the Treasury, Accounting and Tax Department at  
TUI AG. Since 2001, Horst has been responsible for 
Accounting & Reporting for TUI AG and, in November 
2007, was appointed to the Executive Board of TUI AG 
with responsibility for the Controlling function. In 
February 2010, Horst was appointed Chief Financial 
Officer of TUI AG.

8. Tony Campbell
Non-Executive Director (Age 62)
Tony Campbell became a Non-Executive Director  
of First Choice Holidays PLC in April 1997 and joined  
the Board of TUI Travel PLC on 28 June 2007 as a 
Non-Executive Director. Tony was Deputy Chief 
Executive of Asda Stores Limited until March 2001. He  
is currently the Chairman of T M Lewin Group Limited, 
The White Company (UK) Limited and EAT Limited, a 
non-executive director of The Original Factory Shop and 
a director of Data Transfer & Communications Limited.

9. Clare Chapman
Non-Executive Director (Age 51)
Clare Chapman became a Non-Executive Director of 
First Choice Holidays PLC (First Choice) in March 2003. 
She joined the Board of TUI Travel PLC which was 
formed when First Choice merged with the Tourism 
Division of TUI AG in September 2007. Clare was also 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. She is 
currently Group People Director at BT Group PLC and 
was previously the Director General of Workforce for 
NHS and Social Care, Department of Health. Before  
this, Clare was Group Personnel Director at Tesco. In 
addition, she serves on the advisory Board Member for 
the Judge Institute, Business School for the University 
of Cambridge; and is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Personnel. Clare was appointed as a non-executive 
director of Kingfisher PLC in December 2010.

Clare resigned from the Board of TUI Travel PLC on  
19 October 2011.

10. Bill Dalton
Non-Executive Director (Age 67)
Bill Dalton became a Non-Executive Director of First 
Choice Holidays PLC in October 2004 and joined the 
Board of TUI Travel PLC on 19 March 2007. Bill is also 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. He was 
previously an executive director of HSBC Holdings plc, 
Chief Executive of HSBC Bank plc and Global Head  
of Personal Financial Services for the HSBC Group. 
During his banking career, he has amassed a great deal 
of international expertise and is also a non-executive 
director of a number of UK and North American 
companies including Associated Electric & Gas Insurance 

1. Dr Michael Frenzel
Non-Executive Chairman (Age 64)
Dr Michael Frenzel joined the Board of TUI Travel  
PLC on 28 June 2007 as Non-Executive Chairman. 
Michael studied law at Ruhr University in Bochum and 
completed his doctorate whilst working at the university 
as a scientific assistant. He joined Westdeutsche 
Landesbank (WestLB), Düsseldorf, in 1981 where  
he was promoted to various managerial positions  
and became manager of the Industrial Holdings 
Department in 1983 and overall manager of WestLB’s 
Equity Holdings Division in 1985 – including holdings  
in banking, leasing and real estate.

In 1988, he became a member of the Preussag AG 
executive board, being responsible for Trading and 
Logistics. Michael has held the position of Chief 
Executive and Chairman of the Executive Board of  
TUI AG (formerly Preussag AG) since January 1994, 
overseeing its extensive acquisition programme in the 
late 1990s, which resulted in the acquisitions of TUI AG’s 
stake in Hapag-Lloyd and of leading tourism businesses 
such as Thomson Travel and Nouvelles Frontières. 
Michael is also currently a member of the supervisory 
board of a number of companies including AXA Konzern 
AG, AWD Holding AG and Volkswagen AG.

2. Sir Michael Hodgkinson 
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman and Senior 
Independent Director (Age 67) 
Sir Michael Hodgkinson joined the Board of First Choice 
Holidays PLC as a Non-Executive Director in January 
2004 and became Chairman in March 2004. He joined 
the Board of TUI Travel PLC on 28 June 2007 as 
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman and is the Senior 
Independent Director. Following an early career in the 
automotive industry, he was appointed Chief Executive 
of Grand Metropolitan’s European Food Division in 1986 
and in 1992 he joined BAA plc, becoming Chief Executive 
in 1999, a post from which he retired in June 2003. 

Sir Michael was Senior Non-Executive Director at  
Royal Mail and Chairman of Post Office Limited until 
September 2007, a director of Bank of Ireland plc from 
May 2004 until July 2006 and a non-executive director 
of Dublin Airport until November 2011. He is currently  
a non-executive director of Transport for London and 
Crossrail Limited and was appointed Chairman of Keolis 
(UK) Limited on 11 October 2011. 

3. Peter Long
Chief Executive (Age 59)
Peter Long joined the Board of TUI Travel PLC on  
28 June 2007 as Chief Executive. In November 1996  
he was appointed Group Managing Director of First 
Choice Holidays PLC and became Chief Executive in 
September 1999. Prior to joining First Choice, he was 
Chief Executive of Sunworld Holidays.

From February 2001 to June 2005 Peter was a 
non-executive director of RAC plc, and from April  
2006 to July 2009 he was a non-executive director of 
Debenhams plc. Peter was appointed as a non-executive 
director of Rentokil Initial Plc in 2005 and is currently  
the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director. 

4. William Waggott
Chief Financial Officer (Age 48)
William Waggott joined the Board of TUI Travel PLC on 
28 June 2007 as Commercial Director. He was appointed 
Chief Financial Officer of TUI Travel PLC in November 
2010. Will spent the early part of his career with Coopers 
& Lybrand and Courtaulds Textiles plc, where he 
performed various senior group finance and divisional 
director roles. He entered the leisure travel industry 
when he joined Airtours plc and held a number of 
positions including UK leisure group finance director, 
prior to joining Thomson Travel Group in 2001. He  
then went on to become Chief Financial Officer of  
TUI Tourism in 2006.

5. Johan Lundgren
Deputy Chief Executive (Age 45)
Having worked in the tourism industry for twenty  
five years, Johan is the Deputy Chief Executive of TUI 
Travel PLC responsible for the Mainstream Sector and 
was appointed to the Board of TUI Travel PLC on 21 
December 2007. Prior to his appointment as Deputy 
Chief Executive in October 2011, he was Managing 
Director of the Northern Region of TUI Travel’s 
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Group policy that payments to suppliers, whether in advance or after 
the provision of the goods or services, are made on the basis of the 
terms that have been agreed with them.

The Company had no trade creditors at 30 September 2011  
(2010: £nil) and consequently creditor days have not been presented.  
Where the Company is the recipient of goods or services, payment of 
suppliers is conducted by one of the Group companies in accordance 
with the policy set out above.

Charitable giving and political donations
We have developed a Group-wide charity policy and guidelines to 
ensure transparency in our charitable activities and to enable us to 
report annually on TUI Travel’s charitable giving. During the year, the 
Group made charitable donations of £380,680 (2010: £475,277). For 
further details see page 30. The Group made no political contributions 
during the year (2010: £nil).

Directors and their interests
Details of Directors and their biographies can be found in the 
Corporate Governance report on page 46 and Directors’ interests  
are given in the Remuneration report on page 65.

Directors’ and officers’ insurance
The Company has purchased, and maintained throughout the year, 
Directors’ and Officers’ Liability insurance and the level of cover is 
regularly reviewed.

Significant agreements – change of control
The Companies Act 2006 requires us to disclose any significant 
agreements that take effect, alter or terminate on a change of  
control of the Company.

Relationship Agreement with TUI AG
The Relationship Agreement between TUI AG and TUI Travel,  
dated 29 June 2007, includes the principle that TUI Travel will operate 
independently of TUI AG and records the understanding between  
TUI AG and TUI Travel regarding the relationship between them and 
the governance of TUI Travel. The Relationship Agreement will remain 
in force until either the shares in TUI Travel are no longer admitted  
to trading on the London Stock Exchange, or TUI AG has less than 
10% of the rights to vote at general meetings. In addition, in the event 
that another party acquires control of TUI AG during the term of the 
Relationship Agreement, TUI AG will lose certain rights under the 
Relationship Agreement including its rights in respect of the 
composition of the Board.

The Relationship Agreement contains restrictions on the acquisition 
by TUI AG of additional shares in TUI Travel which result in the increase 
of its shareholding to more than 55% of the voting rights on a fully- 
diluted basis (save where TUI AG makes a general offer to acquire all 
TUI Travel shares in issue). A number of bonds are held on TUI AG’s 
behalf and, if converted at the conversion price set on the launch 
date, would give rise to 52,309,463 new shares. On a fully-diluted  
basis (if shares held by all bondholders were converted), TUI AG had  
a holding of 50.83% as at 30 September 2011. As a percentage of 
shares in issue, TUI AG’s holding as at 30 September 2011 was 55.47%.

TUI AG has anti-dilution rights in respect of further issues of shares  
in TUI Travel other than on a pre-emptive basis. TUI Travel has also 
agreed that certain matters will require the prior approval of 80% of 
the Directors present at the meeting of the Board at which such matter 
is considered, including material changes to the business of any Group 
company, acquisitions and disposals of a value which exceeds £10m, 
the entry into, variation or redemption prior to their due date of any 
borrowing facilities and the approval of the annual budget.

The Directors submit their report and the audited financial 
statements of the Company and the Group to the members of TUI 
Travel PLC (the Company) for the year ended 30 September 2011.

Principal activity
The principal activity of the TUI Travel PLC group of companies  
(the Group) is that of an international leisure travel business and  
the principal activity of the Company is that of a holding company.  
It provides a broad and diverse range of leisure travel experiences to 
more than 30 million customers in 31 key source markets. For further 
information see TUI Travel overview page 2.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) will be held on Tuesday 7 
February 2012 at 10.30 am at the offices of Herbert Smith, Exchange 
House, Primrose Street, London EC2A 2HS. An explanation of  
the business to be transacted at the AGM has been circulated to 
shareholders and can be found on the website www.tuitravelplc.com.

Business performance
A description of the business performance for the year ended  
30 September 2011, prepared in accordance with the Companies  
Act 2006, is set out on pages 32 to 43 and forms part of the  
Directors’ report. 

Results and dividends
The Group profit before taxation for the year ended 30 September 
2011 was £144m (2010: restated loss of £73m). The Directors 
recommend a final dividend of 8.0p per ordinary share (2010: 7.8p), 
payable on 10 April 2012 to holders on the register at the close of 
business on 9 March 2012. When taken with the interim dividend  
of 3.3p per ordinary share paid on 3 October 2011 (2010: 3.2p), this 
gives a total dividend of 11.3p per share (2010: 11.0p) relating to the 
year ended 30 September 2011. 

Key performance indicators and principal risks and 
uncertainties
See page 18 for the key performance indicators and page 20 for the 
principal risks and uncertainties.

Corporate Governance report
The Corporate Governance report for the year ended 30 September 
2011, prepared in accordance with rule 7.2 of the FSA’s Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules, is set out on pages 51 to 55 and forms part of the 
Directors’ report.

Suppliers
TUI Travel benefits from both its economies of scale and application 
of purchasing power. Our principal suppliers are hotel owners and 
operators and aircraft suppliers. Amongst others, our key strategic 
relationships are with hotel chains such as RIU, Fiesta, Atlantica and 
aircraft providers such as Boeing. Each source market has local and 
overseas teams to engage in effective procurement strategies to 
deliver optimum benefits to TUI Travel. Co-operative working is 
fundamental to our relationships with key suppliers to ensure that  
the highest standards in terms of Health & Safety and quality are 
maintained. Suppliers falling below these expectations will be 
removed from our programmes.

The operating units within the Group are responsible for agreeing the 
terms and conditions under which business transactions with their 
suppliers are conducted. Due to the nature of the Group’s operations, 
and in common with the industry as a whole, payments are often 
made in advance for the provision of goods and services. The Group 
does not follow any code or statement on payment practice but it is 

Governance

Directors’ report
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Contractual arrangements
The Group has contractual arrangements with numerous third parties 
in support of its business activities (see pages 30 and 48). 

Independent Auditors
KPMG Audit PLC, the previous auditors, did not seek re-appointment 
for the year ended 30 September 2011 and therefore the Directors 
appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. A resolution to re-appoint 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will be proposed at the AGM. 

Statement of the Directors as to disclosure of 
information to the auditors
The Directors confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is  
no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are 
unaware; and each Director has taken all the steps that he or she 
ought to have taken as a Director to make himself or herself aware  
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s 
auditors are aware of that information. 

Other information
Other information relevant to the Directors’ report can be found  
in the following sections of the Annual Report:

Information Location in Annual Report

People Page 24
Social responsibility Page 24
Sustainable development Page 28
Charitable and political donations Page 30
Future developments Page 45
Board and Committee Membership Pages 51 and 52
Financial risk management Page 20 
Pension schemes Financial statements – Note 6(C)
Acquisitions Financial statements – Note 13
Post balance sheet events after 
30 September 2011  Financial statements – Note 33
Share capital – authorised and issued Financial statements – Note 23
Substantial shareholdings Page 144

The Directors’ report was approved by a duly authorised Committee 
of the Board of Directors on 4 December 2011 and signed on its 
behalf by Andrew John, the Company Secretary.

By Order of the Board

Andrew John
Company Secretary
4 December 2011
Company Number: 6072876

£1,155m bank revolving credit facility agreement
An agreement dated 17 May 2011 between a number of relationship 
banks and the Company relating to a £1,155m bank revolving credit 
facility currently provided to the Company, contains terms which  
give the lending banks the right to cancel all commitments to the 
Company and to declare all outstanding credits and accrued interest 
immediately due and payable if a change of control occurs. For the 
purpose of this agreement a change of control occurs if:

• Any person or group of persons acting in concert gains control of 
the Company; or

• TUI AG and any persons acting in concert with it acquires or acquire 
75% or more of the voting shares in the Company

£350m 6.0% convertible bonds
In September 2009, the Company issued £350m of 6.0% convertible 
bonds with a conversion price set at 349.30p per share. The settlement 
took place on 5 October 2009. The convertible bonds contain terms 
which give the bondholders the right to redeem the bonds at their 
principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest up to the 
date of redemption, if a change of control occurs. For the purpose of 
the convertible bonds a change of control occurs if:

• Following a takeover offer to acquire all or a majority of the shares 
in the Company being declared unconditional in all respects or 
becoming effective, the offeror and/or its associates have or  
will have more than 50% of the voting rights in the Company; or

• The Free Float of the Company is less than 30% of the issued 
ordinary shares for at least five consecutive dealing days (where  
the Free Float is (a) all outstanding ordinary shares of the Company 
less those held by or on behalf of TUI AG, its associates and any 
persons acting in concert with it and (b) the ordinary shares 
underlying the outstanding secured exchangeable bonds due  
2013 issued by Nero Finance Limited on 16 January 2008)

£400m 4.90% convertible bonds
In April 2010, the Company issued £400m of 4.90% convertible bonds 
with a conversion price set at 382.34p per share. The settlement took 
place on 27 April 2010. The convertible bonds contain terms which 
give the bondholders the right to redeem the bonds at their principal 
amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest up to the date  
of redemption, if a change of control occurs. For the purpose of the 
convertible bonds a change of control occurs if:

• Following a takeover offer to acquire all or a majority of the  
shares in the Company being declared unconditional in all respects 
or becoming effective, the offeror and/or its associates have or will 
have more than 50% of the voting rights in the Company; or 

• The Free Float of the Company is less than 30% of the issued 
ordinary shares for at least five consecutive dealing days (where  
the Free Float is (a) all outstanding ordinary shares of the Company 
less those held by or on behalf of TUI AG, its associates and any 
persons acting in concert with it and (b) the ordinary shares 
underlying the outstanding secured exchangeable bonds due  
2013 issued by Nero Finance Limited on 16 January 2008)

TUI AG subscribed, at the issue price, for 50% of the convertible bond 
offering to prevent the potential dilution of its majority shareholding. 

Going concern 
After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have reasonable 
expectation that the Company and Group have adequate resources  
to continue operations for the foreseeable future. For this reason, 
they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
financial statements.

A further summary of funding and liquidity is included in Note 1(B)(vi) 
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also 
responsible for preparing a Directors’ report, Directors’ remuneration 
report and Corporate Governance statement that complies with that 
law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of 
the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s 
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation  
in other jurisdictions.

The Directors in office at the date of approval of the Annual Report  
& Accounts each confirm that to the best of their knowledge:

• The Group financial statements, which have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view 
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group

• The Directors’ report includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and position of the Group, together 
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces

The Statement of Directors’ responsibilities was approved by a duly 
authorised Committee of the Board of Directors on 4 December 2011 
and signed on its behalf by William Waggott, Chief Financial Officer.

William Waggott
Chief Financial Officer
4 December 2011

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,  
the Directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements  
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent 
company financial statements for each financial year. Under that  
law they are required to prepare the Group financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)  
as adopted by the EU and applicable law and have elected to prepare 
the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK 
Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice). Under company law the Directors must not 
approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the 
Company and of their profit or loss of the Group for that period.  
In preparing each of the Group and parent company financial 
statements, the Directors are required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

• Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent

• State whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and 
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject  
to any material departures disclosed in and explained in the Group 
and parent company financial statements respectively

• Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 
it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the parent 
company will continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them  
to ensure that the financial statements and Directors’ remuneration 
report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and as regards to the 
Group financial statements, Article 4 of IAS Regulation. They are  
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and  
the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Corporate Governance report

Board procedures/responsibilities
The Board meets regularly, including away days, to review the 
strategy of the Group and is responsible for the overall leadership and 
control of the Group. The schedule of matters specifically reserved to 
it for decision includes: 

• Determining the strategy of the Group 

• Amendments to the structure and capital of the Group 

• Approval of financial reporting and controls 

• Oversight of the Group’s internal controls

• Approval of capital and revenue expenditure of a significant size 

• Acquisitions, disposals and share dealings 

• Board membership and appointments 

• Approval of remuneration of Directors and certain senior 
management

• Corporate governance matters 

• Approval of Group policies and risk management strategies 

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief 
Executive is clearly established, has been agreed by the Board and  
is reviewed by the Company Secretary on a regular basis.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company 
Secretary and can take independent professional advice, if necessary, 
at the Company’s expense. To the Company Secretary’s knowledge, 
no such advice was sought by any Director during the year. 

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring Board procedures 
are followed including the formal minuting of any unresolved concerns 
that any Director may have in connection with the operation of the 
Company. In January 2011, Jeremy Hicks and Giles Thorley resigned 
their positions as Non-Executive Directors of the Company. Their 
letters of resignation were circulated to the Board and discussed and 
recorded in the Board minutes. 

The Terms of Reference for the Board and its Committees are 
available for inspection on the Group’s website www.tuitravelplc.com 
and will be available at the AGM.

Directors’ conflicts of interests 
Under the Companies Act 2006, the Directors have a statutory duty 
to avoid a situation where they have, or could have, a direct or indirect 
interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with the interests of 
the Company. Directors of public companies may authorise conflicts 
and potential conflicts where appropriate, if the Articles of Association 
contain a provision to this effect. 

The Company’s Articles of Association permit the Board to authorise 
actual or potential conflicts of interest. The Company has established 
formal procedures for the disclosure and review of any conflicts, or 
potential conflicts, of interest which the Directors may have and for 
the authorisation of such conflict matters by the Board. In deciding 
whether to authorise a conflict or potential conflict the Directors must 
have regard to their general duties under the Companies Act 2006. 
The authorisation of any conflict matter, and the terms of authorisation, 
may be reviewed at any time and will be reviewed formally by the 
Board on an annual basis. The Board believes that the procedures 
established to deal with conflicts of interest are operating effectively.

Board effectiveness and individual performance of Directors 
An effectiveness survey of the Board and its Committees (Audit, 
Remuneration and Nomination) was undertaken during June/July 
2011. This also included a series of questions appraising individual 
Directors (including the Chairman). The survey was undertaken online 
and was facilitated by an external provider which has no connection 
with the Company. Each Director was asked to place a score against  

The Company has complied with the principles set out in Section 1 of 
the UK Corporate Governance Code issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council in June 2010 (the Code) except in the areas detailed in the 
report and set out on page 55.

The Board 
The Company is controlled through its Board of Directors – the 
Directors at the date of this report are:

Director’s name Title

Horst Baier Non-Executive Director
Dr Volker Böttcher Managing Director, Central Europe
Tony Campbell Independent Non-Executive Director
Bill Dalton Independent Non-Executive Director
Rainer Feuerhake Non-Executive Director
Dr Michael Frenzel Non-Executive Chairman
Sir Michael Hodgkinson  Independent Non-Executive Deputy Chairman  

and Senior Independent Director
Peter Long Chief Executive
Johan Lundgren Deputy Chief Executive
Coline McConville Independent Non-Executive Director
Minnow Powell Independent Non-Executive Director
Dr Erhard Schipporeit Independent Non-Executive Director
Dr Albert Schunk Independent Non-Executive Director
Harold Sher Independent Non-Executive Director
William Waggott Chief Financial Officer

All Directors detailed above served throughout the year with the 
exception of Minnow Powell (appointed on 4 April 2011) and Coline 
McConville (appointed 21 September 2011). Directors resigning during 
the year were Paul Bowtell (stepped down 31 December 2010), 
Jeremy Hicks (resigned 31 January 2011) and Giles Thorley (resigned 
31 January 2011). Clare Chapman resigned on 19 October 2011. Johan 
Lundgren was appointed Deputy Chief Executive with effect from  
20 October 2011.

As at 30 September 2011, the Board comprised four Executive 
Directors and 11 Non-Executive Directors (including the Chairman). 
Biographical details of all the Directors are set out on page 47.

In accordance with the new UK Corporate Governance Code 
guidelines, all Directors will be subject to annual re-election by 
shareholders. To enable shareholders to make an informed decision, 
the 2012 Notice of the Annual General Meeting (AGM) includes 
biographical details and a statement as to why the Company believes 
the Directors should be re-elected. The Chairman intends to confirm 
at the AGM that the performance of each individual continues to be 
effective and demonstrates commitment to the role. 

The Board recommends to shareholders the re-appointment of  
all Directors retiring at the meeting on the basis that they are all 
effective Directors of the Company and demonstrate the appropriate 
level of commitment in their respective roles. 

The terms of the Directors’ service contracts are disclosed in the 
Remuneration Report commencing on page 56. Directors’ interests  
in the shares of the Company are disclosed on page 65. 

Directors’ service contracts and the letters of appointment of the 
Non-Executive Directors are available for inspection at the Company’s 
registered office and will be available at the AGM which is scheduled 
to take place on Tuesday 7 February 2012. 

Following the appointment of any new Director, the Chairman,  
in conjunction with the Company Secretary, ensures that a full,  
formal and tailored induction to the Company is made available.  
The Company Secretary is on hand to answer any questions which 
may arise. All Directors have been given a detailed induction and 
training manual. 



www.tuitravelplc.com

52 TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2011

Governance

Corporate Governance report continued

At the meeting of the Non-Executive Directors in May 2011, the 
appraisal of the Chairman was undertaken. The Chairman was not 
present for the discussion which was led by the Senior Independent 
Director – Sir Michael Hodgkinson. 

Attendance of Directors at meetings of the Board and its 
Committees
  Audit Remuneration Nomination
 Board Committee Committee Committee
 meetings meetings meetings meetings

Horst Baier (Non-Executive Director) 7(7) – – –
Dr Volker Böttcher (MD Central Europe) 7(7) – – –
Paul Bowtell (Chief Financial Officer) 0(2) – – –
Tony Campbell (Non-Executive Director) 7(7) 12(14) 5(5) –
Clare Chapman (Non-Executive Director) 5(7) – 5(5) 2(2)
Bill Dalton (Non-Executive Director) 6(7) 13(14) 4(5) –
Rainer Feuerhake (Non-Executive Director) 7(7) – 5(5) 2(2)
Dr Michael Frenzel (Chairman) 7(7) – 5(5) 2(2)
Jeremy Hicks (Non-Executive Director) 2(2) 5(7) – –
Sir Michael Hodgkinson (Deputy Chairman  
and Senior Independent Director) 7(7) 4(4) – 2(2)
Peter Long (Chief Executive) 7(7) – – –
Johan Lundgren (Deputy Chief Executive) 7(7) – – –
Coline McConville (Non-Executive Director) 1(1) – – –
Minnow Powell (Non-Executive Director) 3(3) 5(5) – –
Erhard Schipporeit (Non-Executive Director) 7(7) – – –
Dr Albert Schunk (Non-Executive Director) 7(7) – – –
Harold Sher (Non-Executive Director) 6(7) – – –
Giles Thorley (Non-Executive Director) 2(2) 5(7) – –
Will Waggott (Chief Financial Officer) 7(7) – – –

Figures in brackets indicate the maximum number of meetings during the year in which the 
individual was a Board member.

Clare Chapman was unable to attend two Board meetings due  
to clashes with NHS meetings (where she was Director General  
of Workforce).

Remuneration Committee
See the Remuneration report for full details of the Remuneration 
Committee, its composition and work during the year.

Throughout the year, Clare Chapman was Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee – she resigned from the Board  
on 19 October 2011 and has been replaced as Chairman of  
the Remuneration Committee by Bill Dalton. 

No major concerns were raised in the Remuneration Committee 
effectiveness survey.

a variety of questions and the Directors were able to make additional 
comments where appropriate.

The results were collated and the responses were given to the Chairs 
of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees and to the 
Chairman of the Board (on an anonymous basis). In September 2011, 
summary reports, analysing the responses by broad category and by 
reference to a traffic-light system showing the number of red, amber 
and green scores, were presented to the Board for consideration and 
debate and action points were agreed.

Independence of Non-Executive Directors
The Chairman, Dr Michael Frenzel, did not meet the independence 
criteria laid out in the provisions of the Combined Code at the  
time of his appointment. This is because Dr Frenzel is the Chief 
Executive of TUI AG – a 55.47% shareholder of the Company as at  
30 September 2011.

Details of the Chairman’s other significant commitments are given in 
his biography on page 47. The Chairman does have a number of other 
external roles but the Board is satisfied that these do not interfere 
with the performance of his duties as Chairman of the Company.

Of the other 10 Non-Executive Directors, two are not considered to 
be independent – Horst Baier is also an Executive Director of TUI AG 
and Rainer Feuerhake was a member of TUI AG’s Executive Board 
until his resignation in February 2010. 

The Non-Executive Directors considered to be independent are Sir 
Michael Hodgkinson, Tony Campbell, Bill Dalton, Minnow Powell, 
Coline McConville, Dr Erhard Schipporeit, Dr Albert Schunk and 
Harold Sher. 

The Board recognises that the UK Corporate Governance Code 
requires that at least half the Board, excluding the Chairman,  
should be independent Non-Executive Directors. The Company  
was compliant with provision B1.1 of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code throughout the year ended 30 September 2011. The Board is 
committed to seek to ensure that its membership is refreshed regularly. 

Meetings of the Non-Executive Directors
The Chairman met with the Non-Executive Directors three times 
during the year – two meetings in February and one in May 2011.  
Two meetings have been scheduled for 2012 and others will be  
held as the need arises. 

TUI Travel PLC

Nomination CommitteeRemuneration Committee Audit Committee

Delegated authorities
Sets remuneration and incentives for the Executive 
Directors; approves and monitors remuneration 
and incentive plans for the Group.

Members
Bill Dalton Chairman
Tony Campbell
Dr Michael Frenzel
Rainer Feuerhake

Delegated authorities
Ensures that the Board and Committee 
composition has the optimum balance of skills, 
knowledge and experience by nominating suitable 
candidates for approval by the Board to fill 
executive and non-executive vacancies.

Members
Sir Michael Hodgkinson Chairman
Dr Michael Frenzel
Rainer Feuerhake

Delegated authorities
Monitors the Group’s integrity in financial 
reporting and reviews the effectiveness of 
the risk management framework.

Members
Minnow Powell Chairman
Tony Campbell 
Bill Dalton
Sir Michael Hodgkinson

Board governance structure 
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The Chief Financial Officer, the Director of Group Audit Services & 
Risk and the external auditor are normally invited to meetings and 
other Directors, including the Chief Executive and the Non-Executive 
Directors, may also attend. The Audit Committee meets with the 
external auditor without management present and also meets with 
the Director of Group Audit Services without management present.

The Committee’s duties, which were discharged during the year, include: 

• Monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the Company 
and formal announcements relating to the Company’s financial 
performance and reviewing the significant financial reporting 
judgments contained therein

• Reviewing the Company’s internal control and risk management 
systems, including presentations from sector, regional and 
functional management 

• Agreeing in advance the work of Group Audit Services and 
reviewing the results of the work undertaken

• Considering the appointment, re-appointment and removal, 
approval of remuneration and terms of engagement of the  
external auditor

• Reviewing the policy for the engagement of the external auditor  
to supply non-audit services. The Audit Committee has concluded 
that, in some cases, the provision of non-audit services by the 
incumbent auditor, which does not impact on their independence  
in providing their primary statutory audit role, is appropriate and 
this has been communicated to the Board. Auditor independence 
and objectivity are safeguarded by the Audit Committee monitoring 
and approving, where appropriate, the nature of the work and the 
level of fees paid for non-audit services as a proportion of the total 
audit fees paid

• Reviewing and revising the Committee’s terms of reference

During the year, the Audit Committee has focused on improving  
key financial controls, processes and procedures. In the UK & Ireland 
Mainstream business, a new senior management team is in place and 
a review has been completed of critical processes and procedures. 
Control improvements which have been identified are being 
implemented and a process of continuous monitoring of these 
controls will also be established. As part of the ongoing work on 
processes and procedures elsewhere in the Group, net write-offs  
of £7m have been identified arising from the understatement of 
current liabilities in Nouvelles Frontières (French tour operator)  
offset by surplus sundry payables which had not been eliminated 
from the Group balance sheet. See Note 4 of the consolidated 
financial statements for further details. Finally, in the TUI Travel 
Marine business an extensive review of back office finance processes 
has been conducted and control improvements identified are in the 
process of being implemented.

Further steps being taken to improve key financial controls and 
procedures during the year have included the following:

• Close focus on, and investment in, the Financial Control Improvement 
Programme established in the UK & Ireland business. This has 
included the restructuring of financial roles and responsibilities  
and the establishment of a new senior management team

• Introduction of a COSO control framework in the UK & Ireland to 
strengthen financial controls as part of an initiative to introduce a 
Group-wide COSO compliance framework

• Presentations on financial controls to the Audit Committee from 
senior management of major businesses across the Group

• Establishment of documented quarterly self-certification at a 
business unit level to confirm key financial controls are in place  
and operating as intended

Nomination Committee 
The Committee comprised four Non-Executive Directors for the year 
ended 30 September 2011 and is chaired by Sir Michael Hodgkinson 
(the Senior Independent Director) – Sir Michael Hodgkinson and  
Clare Chapman are considered to be independent by the Company. 
Clare Chapman resigned from the Board on 19 October 2011 and the 
current membership is three.

No major concerns were raised in the Nomination Committee 
effectiveness survey.

In relation to the appointments of Minnow Powell (appointed  
4 April 2011) and Coline McConville (appointed 21 September 2011),  
a description of the roles and required capabilities was prepared prior 
to the appointments. 

An extensive search of suitable candidates was carried out by an 
external agency prior to commencing the interview process and the 
balance of skills, experience, independence, diversity, how the Board 
works as a unit and the collective knowledge of the Board had been 
taken into consideration when preparing a description of the role and 
the capabilities required. Consideration was also given to whether  
the candidates would have sufficient time available to devote to their 
duties. The Nomination Committee considered that Minnow Powell 
and Coline McConville would make excellent contributions to the 
deliberations of the Board and that they met the independence criteria 
laid out in the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

It was felt that Minnow Powell’s qualifications and experience, gained 
over 30 years as an auditor in an international accountancy practice, 
made him an excellent candidate as a Board member and also 
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

Coline McConville’s educational qualifications and operational 
experience in various senior roles over the last 20 years, and as a 
non-executive director of HBOS, would also enhance the current 
skillset of the Board.

Two meetings took place during the year – one to consider recommending 
the appointment of Minnow Powell as a Non-Executive Director and 
the other in respect of Coline McConville. A meeting to consider 
succession planning in detail – for the Board and senior management 
– has been scheduled into the corporate calendar for 2011/12.

Audit Committee 
From 1 October 2010 until 31 January 2011, the membership of  
the Audit Committee was Jeremy Hicks, Tony Campbell, Bill Dalton 
and Giles Thorley – all being independent Non-Executive Directors. 
Following the resignation of Jeremy Hicks and Giles Thorley on  
31 January 2011, the Committee comprised only two independent 
Non-Executive Directors whilst an external search process was 
underway to find replacement Non-Executive Directors. Tony 
Campbell undertook the role of Acting Chairman during this period.

On 4 April 2011, Minnow Powell was appointed as a Non-Executive 
Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee which increased the 
membership to three. The Company, therefore, did not comply with 
the UK Corporate Governance Code for the period 1 February to  
3 April 2011 as a minimum of three independent Non-Executive Directors 
is required. Minnow Powell is considered to be independent and the 
Board is satisfied that he has ’recent and relevant financial experience’.

The Audit Committee met 14 times during the year – four of  
these meetings were specifically called to review and approve draft 
announcements, results and trading statements of the Company. 
Three meetings – two in October and one in December 2010 –  
were called to discuss financial control issues which resulted in  
the restatement of the 2009 financial statements.
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• The Group Audit Services function reviews independently the 
existence and adequacy of controls implemented by management 
and reports its findings regularly to the Audit Committee

• The Audit Committee reviews the proposed work plans of the 
Group Audit Services function, reports issued by Group Audit 
Services, progress made on addressing findings arising from  
these reports, as well as reports on systems and controls from  
the external auditor covering material weaknesses. The Chairman 
of the Audit Committee reports to the Board on the outcome of 
the Audit Committee meetings held and the Board receives the 
minutes of all such meetings

• The Treasury position of the Group, including cash, foreign 
exchange and fuel hedging exposure, is managed centrally in 
accordance with policies appropriate for each Sector and is the 
responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer and Group Treasurer 

• Financial forecasts, providing predicted results with sensitivity 
analysis, are prepared routinely throughout the year for review  
by the GMB and the Board. These forecasts also include details  
of the Group’s ongoing compliance with its regulatory and  
banking requirements 

• The Group has established investment appraisal and authorisation 
procedures and its capital expenditure is reviewed against budgets 
which have been approved by the Board

Processes are in place to ensure appropriate action is taken where 
necessary to remedy any deficiencies identified through the Group’s 
internal control and risk management processes.

Group Risk Management Committee (GRMC)
The GRMC is chaired by the Chief Executive and comprises members 
of the GMB, the Director of Group Audit Services & Risk, the Director 
of Financial Control and the Chief Information Officer. Meetings of  
the GRMC are held at least twice a year and membership is  
reviewed annually. 

The GRMC’s core duties are to assist the Board in fulfilling its 
responsibilities through:

• Providing an oversight of the framework for managing risk 
throughout the Group 

• Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
framework and internal control systems for managing risk

• Determining the nature and extent of the significant risks the  
Group is willing to take

• Monitoring performance and changes in the Group risk profile

• Identifying the most significant risks to the Group and agreeing 
responsibility for appropriate mitigating strategies

Enterprise-wide risk management (ERM)
The objective of the framework is to improve operational performance, 
reduce losses and to protect and enhance shareholder value in the 
pursuit of the Group’s strategic goals. 

The Group considers four types of risk when identifying potential 
events that could affect the delivery of business objectives and 
strategic goals. Risks are considered in the context of longer term 
strategic and emerging threats; medium term challenges associated 
with business change programmes; shorter term risks triggered by 
changes in the external and regulatory environment; and shorter  
term risks in relation to internal operations and control.

There is regular reporting to the Board through the Audit Committee 
on key ERM activities undertaken by Group Risk Management and the 
status of the risk management process.

• Establishment of a Group Finance Compliance team to verify the 
self-certification returns and support the various businesses in 
strengthening financial control

• Review of the numbers and quality of financial management across 
the Group supported by an external consultancy company and the 
establishment of a finance academy as part of a continuing 
commitment to competence

• Establishment of a ‘Finance Auditable Universe’ to ensure that 
decisions as to what should be audited are taken in the context  
of a complete knowledge of what could be audited

• Improved monitoring of the timely closure of audit recommendations

Audit Committee effectiveness review
At the meeting of the Board in September 2011, the points raised as a 
result of the review were considered in detail and action points agreed.

Internal control and risk
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of  
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness, whilst the role  
of management is to implement Board policies on risk and control. 
The systems of internal control and risk management have been 
developed to ensure compliance with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code on internal control and risk management.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management of the 
Company to the Chief Executive and, through him, to the other 
Executive Directors and the Group Management Board (GMB). The 
system of internal control is designed to manage and mitigate rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. In 
pursuing these objectives, internal controls – which include financial, 
operational and compliance controls – and risk management can only 
provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness  
of internal controls during the year.

The Board confirms that:

• There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the significant risks faced by the Group 

• This has been in place for the year under review and up to the  
date of approval of the Annual Report & Accounts 

• The process is regularly reviewed by the Board 

• The process accords with the UK Corporate Governance Code 

The key elements of the existing control framework and review 
processes in place across the Group are as follows: 

• The Board sets corporate strategy and business objectives. The 
GMB and Sector management integrate these objectives into their 
operational and financial business plans 

• The GMB meets regularly together with other senior executives to 
consider Group operational and financial performance and business 
development. The Chief Executive reports to the Board on behalf  
of the GMB on significant changes in the business and the external 
environment. The Chief Financial Officer provides the Board with 
financial information which includes key performance and risk indicators

• The Group operates an enterprise-wide risk management (ERM) 
process which is integrated within the short and long term business 
planning processes (see below)

• The Board believes that, in order to be effective, risk management 
processes must be driven down to each operating unit. Accordingly, 
each Sector Board now addresses risk management as a standing 
agenda item and is responsible for ensuring that the risks facing 
that Sector’s businesses are identified and that related action plans 
are implemented 
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announcement of the interim and preliminary results, details of which, 
together with the Group’s financial reports and other announcements, 
can be accessed via the Group’s website www.tuitravelplc.com.

The UK Corporate Governance Code recommends that the Senior 
Independent Director meets with a range of major shareholders to 
gain an understanding of their views. Both Sir Michael Hodgkinson 
(Senior Independent Director) and Clare Chapman (Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee) met with major shareholders during the 
course of the year.

Sir Michael Hodgkinson met with several major shareholders in January 
2011. Discussions covered the restatement of the 2009 accounts, the 
selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the new auditor and the 
process for appointing a new Chair of the Audit Committee.

Clare Chapman met with one of our major shareholders in June 2011. 
The meeting was arranged at Clare’s invitation following her discussion 
with investors at the AGM which was held in February 2011. The meeting 
was a general exchange of views and covered a number of issues 
which were fed back to the Committee.

There is an opportunity for shareholders to question the Chairman 
and other Directors (including the Chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration 
and Nomination Committees) at the AGM. The AGM also provides  
a forum for the Non-Executive Directors to discuss the views of 
shareholders with them directly.

In respect of general meetings of the Company:

• The Company prepares separate resolutions on each substantially 
separate issue and does not combine resolutions together 
inappropriately

• Proxy appointment forms provide shareholders with the option to 
vote for, against or to withhold their vote. The proxy form makes it 
clear that a ‘vote withheld’ is not a vote in law and will not be counted

• All postal proxy votes are returned to Equiniti (the Company’s 
Registrar) which is responsible to for ensuring votes are properly 
received and counted

• Proxy counts are displayed at the close of the AGM and the results 
posted on the Company’s website www.tuitravelplc.com following 
the closure of the meeting

• The Annual Report & Accounts is laid before shareholders at the AGM 

UK Corporate Governance Code Provisions
For the reasons disclosed within this Annual Report, during the year 
the Company did not fully comply with the following provisions:

• Code Provision A2.2. The Chairman should on appointment meet 
the independence criteria set out in Code A3.1 (see page 52) 

• Code Provision B2.1. The majority of members of the Nomination 
Committee should be independent Non-Executive Directors (Sir 
Michael Hodgkinson and Clare Chapman are considered to be 
independent but Dr Michael Frenzel and Rainer Feuerhake are not 
for the reasons given on page 52)

• Code Provision C3.1. The Board should establish an Audit 
Committee of at least three or, in the case of smaller companies, 
two independent Non-Executive Directors (see page 53)

• Code Provision D2.1. If the Company Chairman is a member of the 
Remuneration Committee, he must be considered independent on 
appointment (see page 52)

Andrew John
Company Secretary
4 December 2011

Anti-bribery and corruption 
The TUI Travel Group Code of Conduct (the Code), which was first 
published in August 2008, made it clear that the Group will not 
tolerate any type of corruption or bribery whether public, private, 
active or passive.

The Group’s policy was further amplified in July 2011 when a detailed 
policy on procedures for the prevention of bribery and corruption  
(the Anti-Bribery Policy) was issued to all employees worldwide and 
posted on the Group intranet to take account of the provisions of the 
Bribery Act 2010.

Great importance is attached to adherence with the Anti-Bribery 
Policy and, therefore, extensive training is taking place throughout  
the Group. This training is delivered by a combination of internet 
exercises and interactive presentations which often make use of  
a specially-produced in-house film using professional actors. The  
film tracks a fictitious hotel construction and contracting project  
in a Mediterranean country and is designed to be paused at various 
points to provide interactive discussion. It has proven to be far more 
memorable than more conventional slide presentations.

To date, training has been received by the Board, the GMB, the 
GRMC, most of the Sector Boards and all in-house counsel. Training 
continues to cascade down to all relevant managers and to other 
colleagues whose roles make it particularly important for them to 
understand the law and the Anti-Bribery Policy.

Whistle-blowing 
There are policies and procedures for the reporting by employees  
and the resolution of suspected fraudulent activities. It is the policy of 
the Group to employ staff and management of high integrity, to train 
them appropriately and to require compliance with all relevant laws, 
regulations and internal policies. 

For all employees on a UK contract (approximately 18,000), and for 
almost 6,000 German colleagues (together representing approximately 
50% of all employees across the Group), confidential employee 
hotlines are in place using third party providers. Employees can  
make confidential reports about any issues they would like to raise. 

Plans are in place to make whistle-blowing hotlines available, where 
the law permits, to all Group employees by the end of the calendar 
year 2012. However, irrespective of whether hotlines are available,  
all employees are aware of the provisions in the TUI Travel Code of 
Conduct (the Code) which encourages them to report any lack of 
compliance with the Code to their immediate supervisor or other 
suitable Group function. The Code makes it clear that nobody who 
provides information with honest intentions need fear any adverse 
consequences, even if the information proves to be unfounded. 

The operators of hotlines report calls to nominated recipients in the 
Group Audit Services Department who review these and investigate 
them as appropriate. In the financial year a total of 34 calls were 
made, the majority of which resulted in internal investigations. Within 
its regular report to the Audit Committee, Group Audit Services 
provides a summary of any confidential reports received and actions 
taken. A monthly report is also produced which includes a summary  
of all calls received highlighting any issues raised.

Communication with shareholders
The Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer and members of  
the Investor Relations’ team hold regular meetings with major 
shareholders to review the Group’s performance and prospects.  
The views of shareholders are communicated to all members of  
the Board following such meetings. During the course of these 
meetings the issue of governance is discussed. Presentations to  
major shareholders are made at least twice yearly, after the 
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Remuneration report

Material advice or services were provided to the Committee during 
the year by: 

Deloitte LLP (Deloitte)
Herbert Smith LLP (Herbert Smith)
Peter Long – Chief Executive
Bill Logan – Advisor to the GMB
Jacky Simmonds – Group Human Resources Director
David House – Group Reward Director

Jacky Simmonds has direct access to the Chairman of the Committee 
and, together with David House, they advised the Committee on all 
aspects of the Group’s reward policies and structures during the year, 
ensuring a greater balance between payment relating to control as 
well as performance. Peter Long attends meetings of the Committee 
to make recommendations relating to the performance and remuneration 
of his direct reports and Andrew John (Company Secretary) acts as 
Secretary to the Committee. Peter Long, Jacky Simmonds and Andrew 
John are not in attendance when their own remuneration is considered. 

Deloitte, an external consultancy organisation, provided independent 
advice on all aspects of senior management remuneration. Deloitte 
also provides salary benchmarking information and tax services to the 
Group from time-to-time and verification of the relative performance 
conditions attached to the Performance Share Plan (PSP) and Deferred 
Annual Bonus Scheme (DABS). 

Herbert Smith LLP advised on various legal issues relating to the 
Company’s share schemes and also provides other legal services to 
the Group. 

Policy on remuneration of Non-Executive Directors 
Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, do not have service 
contracts and do not participate in the Group’s pension scheme, 
annual bonus scheme or long term incentive schemes. Non-Executive 
Directors have second term letters of appointment which can be 
terminated by either party serving three months’ notice (with the 
exception of Horst Baier whose initial appointment letter has not  
yet expired and, in common with all initial term letters, provides for  
six months’ notice). In accordance with the requirements of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code, all Directors will be subject to re-election 
at the AGM to be held on 7 February 2012. 

Non-Executive Directors are paid a fee which is approved by the 
Board on the recommendation of the Executive Directors, having 
taken account of the fees paid in other companies of a similar 
complexity and the skills and experience of the individuals. The base 
fee for the Non-Executive Directors is £55,000 but the Chairman  
and Deputy Chairman (who is also the Senior Independent Director) 
are paid higher fees to reflect their additional responsibilities. The 
Chairman receives a fee of £300,000 and the Deputy Chairman 
receives a fee of £200,000. The Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee receive an additional 
fee of £15,000 and £10,000 respectively. 

Policy on remuneration of Executive Directors and 
senior executives 
The Committee aims to ensure that remuneration packages are 
offered which: 

• Set the total remuneration package at an appropriate level to 
reflect the competitive market in which the Group operates 

• Link a substantial proportion of the total remuneration package  
to the achievement of demanding financial performance targets 

• Structure the reward of senior management to align their interests 
with those of the shareholders over the long term 

• Reinforce the high performance culture throughout the Group 

The Remuneration Committee (the Committee) formulates and 
applies the Company policy with consideration to the prevailing 
economic climate in the major economies within which the Group 
operates and within the spirit of its core values which cultivate 
responsible leadership in the external and internal social environment. 
Consequently the Committee closely considers the Company’s 
performance in building both shareholder value and a secure future 
for all stakeholders.

This report has been prepared by the Committee and has been 
approved by the Board. It complies with Schedule 8 of the Large  
and Medium Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008. This report will be presented to shareholders  
for approval at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) to be held on  
7 February 2012. 

Remuneration Committee 
During the year, the Committee comprised the following  
Non-Executive Directors: 

Clare Chapman – Chairman
Tony Campbell
Bill Dalton
Dr Michael Frenzel
Rainer Feuerhake

Three of the members of the Committee are independent Non-
Executive Directors. Dr Michael Frenzel and Rainer Feuerhake are  
not considered by the Company to be independent. Dr Frenzel is  
a member of the Executive Board of TUI AG and Rainer Feuerhake 
was a member of TUI AG’s Executive Board until his resignation in 
February 2010. TUI AG is a 55.47% (50.83% on a fully-diluted basis) 
shareholder of TUI Travel PLC as at 30 September 2011 and their 
appointments are pursuant to the Relationship Agreement between 
TUI AG and the Company. 

Clare Chapman resigned from the Board on 19 October 2011 and  
Bill Dalton has been appointed Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee in her place. Sir Michael Hodgkinson was also appointed 
as an additional member of the Committee on 19 October 2011 and 
Coline McConville was appointed to the Committee on 2 December 2011.

No member of the Committee has any personal financial interest, 
other than as a shareholder (as disclosed in the interests in shares 
table on page 65), in the matters to be decided by the Committee. 
The three independent members of the Committee have no conflicts 
of interest arising from Committee members’ cross-directorships  
and none of the members of the Committee participate in any  
bonus schemes, pension plans, share awards or any employee share 
schemes in respect of the Company. Members of the Committee  
have no day-to-day involvement in the running of the Company. 

The Committee met five times during the year. Bill Dalton was unable 
to attend on one occasion due to prior commitments. 

The Committee advises the Board on overall remuneration policy.  
The Committee also determines, on behalf of the Board, and with  
the benefit of advice from external consultants and members of the 
Human Resources Department, the remuneration of the Executive 
Directors and other members of the Group Management Board 
(GMB). The activities of the Committee are governed by its Terms  
of Reference, which have been approved by the Board and can be 
found on the TUI Travel website at www.tuitravelplc.com.
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In accordance with a decision taken by the Committee based upon  
the economic climate, Executive Directors’ base salaries were not 
increased at the normal annual review in October 2009, October 2010 
or October 2011. However, to reflect performance and promotion 
during the year, the Committee does anticipate undertaking a review 
for selected Directors prior to 31 December 2011. 

Benefits are provided to Executive Directors in accordance with the 
practice applying to other executives in their geographic location. 

Annual performance bonus 
Within the Annual Bonus Plan, challenging performance goals are set 
and these must be achieved before the maximum bonus becomes 
payable. Below a set threshold level no bonus is payable and, at a 
target level, half of the maximum is payable. To exceed the threshold 
level, performance of at least 90% of the level required for the target 
award is required. The Annual Bonus Plan measures are weighted 
heavily to the Group’s financial performance and the balance to 
personal objectives. The maximum bonus opportunity for each 
Executive Director varies by individual. The range is 120% to 175%  
of annual base salary. The chart below provides further detail in 
respect of the bonus measures and weightings for the current year.

Full year profit and cash flow measure

Cash headroom at the cycle low point

Personal strategic objectives

 

Long term incentives 
Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme 
All Executive Directors participate in the DABS which requires a 
minimum of 25% and a maximum of 50% of any annual performance 
bonus award to be deferred into share-based awards. Matching 
share-based awards may also be made up to four times the deferred 
amount and are subject to the achievement of stretching performance 
conditions over a three-year period. Awards of deferred and matching 
share-based awards are subject to forfeiture conditions until the 
release date. The earliest point at which the shares are eligible  
for release is at the end of three years following deferral. Before  
1 October 2011 awards consist of conditional shares and it is intended 
that awards made after 1 October 2011 will consist of nil cost options.

For awards of matching shares made during the year, no shares will 
vest unless the annual average of the ratio of the Group’s return  
on invested capital (ROIC) to the weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC) meets or exceeds one over the three-year period. A hurdle  
of ROIC, being at least equal to WACC, is used to ensure that the 
relevant long term incentive awards pay out only when shareholder 
value is being created over the performance periods. If the ROIC/
WACC hurdle is met, shares will only vest to the extent to which two 
further performance conditions are satisfied over the three-year 
period as follows: 

The Group has performance-related reward policies. These  
are designed to provide the appropriate balance between fixed 
remuneration and variable ‘at-risk’ reward which is linked to  
the performance of both the Group and the individual. Group 
performance-related measures are chosen carefully to ensure  
a strong link between reward and true underlying financial 
performance. Individual performance is measured through an 
assessment of comprehensive business unit deliverables, modelling 
the Group’s values and the achievement of specific objectives. At a 
minimum, the individual performance of the Executive Directors is 
assessed on an annual basis. 

In assessing levels of pay and benefits, TUI Travel compares the 
packages offered by different groups of comparator companies. 
These groups are chosen having regard to: 

• Financial size – turnover, profits and market capitalisation 

• Scale of business – the number of people employed 

• Diversity and complexity of businesses 

• Geographical spread of businesses 

• Industry type 

•  Relevance as:  
– a potential source for candidates for roles within the Group; and  
– a potential threat in respect of attracting TUI Travel executives. 

External consultants are used to advise the Committee on the 
structure and level of pay and benefits in TUI Travel’s markets. 

The normal policy for Executive Directors is that, using ‘target’  
or ‘expected value’ calculations, long term performance drives  
60% of total annual remuneration (excluding benefits) and the  
total proportion of performance-related remuneration (including 
annual bonus) is 70% (as shown in the chart below).

Fixed remuneration

Annual incentive

Long term incentive

 

The main components of remuneration in the Company are: 

• Fixed remuneration  
– base salary  
– benefits  
– pension contribution 

• Performance-related remuneration  
– annual bonus  
– long term incentives 

Base salary 
The salary for each Executive Director is based on individual 
performance and on information from independent professional 
sources on the salary levels for similar jobs in groups of comparable 
companies. This approach is consistent with that used to determine 
salary and benefit levels for all employees within the Group. Internal 
relativities and salary levels in the wider employment market are also 
taken into account. 
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Awards under the PSP lapse if the performance conditions are not met.

The DABS and PSP schemes have been amended. Going forward, 
rewards to employees will be more closely aligned with their 
contribution to the performance of the Group. For future awards 
under both the DABS and PSP schemes it is intended that:

• Up to half of the nil cost options over shares will become 
exercisable based on growth in the Group’s EPS as reported  
in relation to the growth in the UK RPI. The level of growth 
required will remain unchanged

• Up to one quarter of the nil cost options over shares will become 
exercisable based on the Group’s TSR performance relative to an 
index of 23 international travel and leisure companies (see opposite 
for constituents) as shown in the table below:

TSR per annum Proportion of nil cost options exercisable

Below index 0%
Between index and index +8% On a straight line basis  
 between 15% and 100%
At or above index +8% 100%

• Up to one quarter of the nil cost options over shares will become 
exercisable based on the improvement in the Group’s ROIC over 
the performance period as determined by the Committee prior  
to each award

All-employee share schemes 
Executive Directors based in the UK are eligible to participate in  
the HMRC-approved Share Incentive Plan which is an all-employee 
share scheme enabling staff to acquire shares in the Company on 
preferential terms. To further encourage employee shareholding in 
the Company, the Share Incentive Plan provides a matching share for 
every four shares bought by a participant under the plan. Matching 
shares are not subject to performance conditions. 

Shareholding guidelines 
The Executive Directors will be expected to build, within five years of 
their appointment, and then maintain, a shareholding equal in value to 
1.5 times their basic salary or two times in the case of the Chief Executive. 

No new shares were issued during the year and therefore the 
Company has remained within its headroom limits for the issue of 
new shares under share incentive schemes. All share incentive awards 
made, and all future share incentive awards, will normally be settled 
with shares purchased in the market. 

Policy on pensions 
Each of the UK-based Executive Directors and senior executives 
participates in a defined contribution retirement or long term 
investment scheme. 

The Group’s pension policy is that, in the event that a participant  
in a registered pension scheme may reach or exceed HMRC lifetime  
or annual thresholds, and therefore chooses not to accept further 
registered pension contributions, a contribution to an unregistered 
long term investment scheme or a non-pensionable cash payment, 
equivalent to the Group’s contribution to the registered pension 
scheme, will be offered in lieu. Pension scheme participants will not  
be compensated for any adverse tax consequences of exceeding the 
HMRC lifetime allowance limit. 

Executive Directors, and senior executives outside of the UK, 
participate in local pension plans. 

• Up to three quarters of the matching shares will vest based on 
growth in the Group’s earnings per share (EPS), before amortisation 
of goodwill and merger intangibles, goodwill impairment and 
separately disclosed items, in relation to the growth in the UK 
Retail Price Index (RPI) as shown in the table below: 

Average annual EPS growth in excess of RPI growth Proportion of matching shares vesting 

Below 4% 0%
Between 4% and 13% On a straight line basis  
 between 10% and 100%
13% or above 100%

• Up to one quarter of the matching shares will vest based on the 
Group’s ranking of total shareholder return (TSR) performance 
relative to companies ranked 30th to 100th by market capitalisation 
as at the date of the award as shown in the table below: 

TSR Ranking Proportion of matching shares vesting 

Below median 0%
Between median and upper quartile On a straight line basis  
 between 15% and 100%
At or above upper quartile 100% 

Matching share awards lapse if the performance conditions are  
not met. 

Performance Share Plan 
The PSP allows Executive Directors and eligible participants  
to receive share-based awards, subject to the satisfaction of 
performance conditions set by the Committee, which are normally 
measured over a three-year period. Once vested, PSP share-based 
awards are subject to forfeiture conditions until the release date.  
The earliest point at which the shares are eligible for release is the 
third anniversary of the award date. Before 1 October 2011 awards 
consist of conditional shares and it is intended that awards made  
after 1 October 2011 will consist of nil cost options.

For awards made during the year, no shares will vest unless the  
annual average of the ratio of the Group’s ROIC to the WACC  
meets or exceeds one over the three-year period. If the ROIC/WACC 
hurdle is met, shares will only vest to the extent to which two further 
performance conditions are satisfied over the three-year period  
as follows: 

• Up to half of the shares will vest based on growth in the Group’s 
EPS, before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, goodwill 
impairment and separately disclosed items, in relation to the 
growth in the UK RPI as shown in the table below: 

Average annual EPS growth in excess of RPI growth Proportion of shares vesting 

Below 4% 0%
Between 4% and 13% On a straight line basis  
 between 10% and 100%
13% or above 100%

• Up to half of the matching shares will vest based on the Group’s 
ranking of TSR performance relative to companies ranked 30th to 
100th by market capitalisation as at the date of the award as shown 
in the table below: 

TSR Ranking Proportion of matching shares vesting 

Below median 0%
Between median and upper quartile On a straight line basis  
 between 15% and 100%
At or above upper quartile 100% 

Governance

Remuneration report continued
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Contracts of service 
Executive Directors 
The Remuneration Committee’s policy is for Executive Directors to 
have rolling contracts with a 12-month notice period. 

Volker Böttcher, Peter Long, Johan Lundgren and William Waggott 
currently have service agreements with a 12-month notice period and 
it is intended that all new appointments will also have 12-month notice 
periods. However, on occasion, to complete an external recruitment 
successfully, a longer initial period may be used reducing to 12 months, 
following guidance in the UK Corporate Governance Code. 

No provisions for compensation for termination following change  
of control, or for liquidated damages of any kind, are included in the 
current Directors’ contracts. In the event of any early termination  
of an Executive Director’s contract, the policy is to seek to minimise 
any liability.

Executive Director Effective date of contract Notice period

Dr Volker Böttcher 5 September 2007 12
Peter Long 19 February 2008 12
Johan Lundgren 20 March 2009 12
William Waggott 22 April 2008 12

Non-Executive Directors
Non-Executive Director Effective date of appointment Notice period

Horst Baier 13 October 2009 6
Tony Campbell 3 September 2010 3
Clare Chapman 3 September 2010 3
Bill Dalton 3 September 2010 3
Rainer Feuerhake 3 September 2010 3
Dr Michael Frenzel 3 September 2010 3
Sir Michael Hodgkinson 3 September 2010 3
Coline McConville 21 September 2011 3
Minnow Powell 4 April 2011 3
Dr Erhard Shipporeit 29 October 2010 3
Dr Albert Schunk 29 October 2010 3
Harold Sher 29 October 2010 3

The information provided in the following pages of this report has 
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Policy on external appointments 
The Company recognises that its Directors may be invited to become 
non-executive directors of other companies and that those such 
appointments can broaden experience and knowledge and benefit the 
business. Subject to the approval of the Board, Executive Directors 
are, therefore, allowed to accept non-executive appointments and  
to retain the fees received (excluding positions where the Director  
is appointed as the Company’s representative) as long as this is not 
likely to lead to a conflict of interest. 

For the year ended 30 September 2011, Peter Long received and 
retained non-executive directors’ fees in respect of an appointment 
with Rentokil Initial plc (FTSE 100) of £75,000 (2010: £75,000).  
For the period 1 October 2010 to 31 December 2010, Paul Bowtell 
received and retained non-executive director fees in respect of his 
two appointments – Capita Group Plc (FTSE 100) and SThree plc  
(a small cap company) – of £15,000 (2010: £15,682) and £10,000 
(2010: £40,000) respectively. 

Performance graph 
TUI Travel PLC shares were listed on the London Stock Exchange  
on 3 September 2007. From December 2007 until June 2011, the 
Company was a member of the FTSE 100 Index. The graph below 
measures the performance of First Choice Holidays PLC up to the 
merger, and subsequently the performance of TUI Travel PLC, assuming 
dividends are reinvested, compared with the TSR performance achieved 
against an index of 23 international travel and leisure companies. The 
latter index is considered to be the most appropriate benchmark for 
comparison purposes and will in future be used within the performance 
measures of the Company’s long term incentive schemes. 

The constituents of the index are:
Aer Lingus Group Finnair Priceline.com
Air Berlin FirstGroup Royal Caribbean Cruises
Air France-KLM Flight Centre Ryanair Holdings
Carnival Hertz Global Holdings Stagecoach Group
Club Mediterranee Kuoni Reisen ‘R’ Thomas Cook Group
Deutsche Lufthansa National Express TUI Travel
easyJet Norwegian Air Shuttle Wotif.com Holdings
Expedia Pierre & Vacances

TUI Travel PLC

FTSE 100

FTSE 250

International Travel and Leisure Group

Source: Datastream
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Directors’ remuneration 
    Total    
       For the For the
   Basic    year ended year ended
   salaries Annual  Severance 30 September 30 September
   and fees bonus¹ Benefits² payments 2011 2010
   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive Directors
Dr Volker Böttcher3   470 282 17  769 827
Paul Bowtell4   123  5 745 873 1,012
Peter Long   850 744 24  1,618 2,066
Johan Lundgren7   605 363 69  1,037 1,406
William Waggott5   487 343 18  848 1,115
Non-Executive Directors
Horst Baier   55    55 55
Tony Campbell   55    55 55
Clare Chapman   65    65 65
Bill Dalton   55    55 55
Rainer Feuerhake   55    55 55
Dr Michael Frenzel (Chairman)   300    300 300
Jeremy Hicks6   23   18 41 70
Sir Michael Hodgkinson (Deputy Chairman)   200    200 200
Coline McConville   2    2 
Minnow Powell   35    35 
Dr Erhard Schipporeit   55    55 55
Dr Albert Schunk   55    55 55
Harold Sher   55    55 55
Giles Thorley6   18   14 32 55

Total   3,563 1,732 133 777 6,205 7,501

1)  ‘Annual Bonus’ figures include bonus awards in cash in respect of participation in the Annual Bonus Plan but exclude bonus awards in deferred shares, details of which are set out on page 62. 
Messrs Böttcher, Long, Lundgren and Waggott achieved the maximum level for the annual bonus.

2)  ‘Benefits’ incorporate all tax assessable benefits arising from the individual’s employment. For Messrs Bowtell, Long and Waggott, this relates in the main to the provision of a fully expensed 
company car or car allowance and private healthcare cover, and for Mr Böttcher the provision of a fully expensed company car or car allowance. In addition to the provision of a fully expensed 
company car or car allowance and private healthcare cover, Mr Lundgren received education benefits and tax assistance as part of the ongoing support relating to his relocation to the UK 
from Sweden on 1 August 2009.

3)  In calculating remuneration for Mr Böttcher, payments made during the year in EUR have been converted at 1.16 to 1 GBP, being the average exchange rate for the period 1 October 2010 to 
30 September 2011.

4)  Mr Bowtell ceased employment on 31 December 2010. In addition to his normal basic salary and benefits up to his cessation date, he received the cash equivalent of his unexpired notice 
period paid monthly and subject to mitigation.

5)  On 1 December 2010 Mr Waggott’s salary increased from £470,000 to £490,000 as a result of his appointment as Chief Financial Officer.

6)  Mr Hicks and Mr Thorley both ceased employment as Non-Executive Directors on 31 January 2011. They both received three months’ pay in lieu of notice. 

7) On 20 October 2011 Mr Lundgren was promoted to the role of Deputy Chief Executive and received a corresponding base salary increase to £700,000 per annum. 

Governance

Remuneration report continued
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Pension contributions for Directors 
 Pension contributions or allowance  
 for the year ended 30 September 2011
Executive Director £000

Dr Volker Böttcher 117
Paul Bowtell¹ 374
Peter Long 425
Johan Lundgren 200
William Waggott 158

Total 1,274

1)  In addition to regular pension contribution for the period up to cessation of employment 
on 31 December 2010, Mr Bowtell also received a one-off payment of £343,000 in lieu of  
a deferred share award for the financial year ended 30 September 2010.

Total pension contributions or allowances for the year ended  
30 September 2011 were £1.274m. In calculating this total, payments 
made in EUR have been converted at 1.16 to 1 GBP, being the average 
exchange rate for the year ended 30 September 2011. 

Long term incentives 
Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme (DABS) 
Messrs Böttcher, Long, Lundgren and Waggott participated in the 
DABS during the year ended 30 September 2011 and are expected  
to receive an award by 9 December 2011 as follows: 

 Estimated value of award
Executive Director £000

Dr Volker Böttcher 282
Peter Long 744
Johan Lundgren 363
William Waggott 343

Total 1,732

Awards made under the DABS, and which remain outstanding at  
30 September 2011, are given in the table on page 62.

Directors’ pensions 
During the year a contribution equal to 50% and 33% of base salary 
was made into the TUI Travel International Retirement Saving Plan, a 
defined contribution scheme, for the benefit of Peter Long and Johan 
Lundgren respectively. A contribution equal to 25% of base salary pro 
rata was made into a defined contribution pension scheme for the 
benefit of Paul Bowtell prior to the termination of his employment  
on 31 December 2010. 

A contribution of 33% of base salary was made partly into a defined 
contribution scheme and partly into the TUI Travel International 
Retirement Saving Plan for the benefit of William Waggott. 

In addition, William Waggott has deferred pension entitlements  
under the Defined Benefit section of the TUI Pension Scheme (UK). 
He ceased to be an active member of the Defined Benefit section  
on 3 September 2007 and, therefore, no increase in accrued benefit  
has occurred during the year. Additional information is as follows: 

• The accrued benefits including deferred revaluation to  
30 September 2011 are a pension of £55,181.36 per annum,  
payable from age 60

• The transfer value as at 30 September 2011 calculated on the 
current basis is £1,164,159

• The transfer value as at 30 September 2010 calculated on the  
basis in place at the time is £1,139,263

• The only change in accrued benefits over the financial year is 
another year of deferred revaluation (at fixed 5% per annum).  
The accrued benefits at the start of the year were £52,553.67  
per annum so there has been an increase in pension of £2,627.69 
per annum over the year

• There have been no contributions by Mr Waggott over the financial 
year. The change in transfer value is £24,896

In the event of death in service, the Executive Directors’ and  
senior executives’ pension arrangements provide lump sums for  
the purchase of dependants’ pensions of the greater of eight times 
salary or the value of the pension fund in addition to which a lump 
sum of four times salary is payable. Following the changes to the  
tax rules from April 2006, any dependant’s pension may be paid  
as an additional lump sum subject to HMRC limits. 

Dr Volker Böttcher participates in separate pension arrangements  
in Germany at a cost of 25% of base salary. 
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Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme (DABS)
  DABS   DABS    DABS     Maximum
  shares   shares    shares     value
  awarded   vested    released    Maximum based on
 DABS during   during    during    DABS share
 shares the year  Market the year Market  Planned/ the year Market   shares price of 
 held at ended  price per ended price per Market actual ended price per Market  held at 149.3p at
 1 Oct 30 Sept Award share at 30 Sept share at value at vesting 30 Sept share at value at Release 30 Sept 30 Sept
Directors 2010 2011 date award 2011 vesting vesting £ date 2011 release release £ date 2011 2011 £

Dr Volker 60,4321  19.12.07 270.40p 60,432 249.10p 150,536 29.12.10 60,432 249.10p 150,536 29.12.10 – –
Böttcher 241,7292  19.12.07 270.40p 181,296 249.10p 451,608 29.12.10 181,296 249.10p 451,608 29.12.10 – –
 104,8093  28.11.08 205.25p    28.11.11     104,809 156,480
 419,2364  28.11.08 205.25p    28.11.11     419,236 625,919
 101,8195  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.12     101,819 152,016
 407,2766  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.12     407,276 608,063
  121,5687 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     121,568 181,501
  486,2728 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     486,272 726,004

Total 1,335,301 607,840       241,728  602,144  1,640,980 2,449,983

Paul Bowtell 39,8831, 9  19.12.07 270.40p    02.12.09 39,883 237.30p 94,642 20.12.10 – –
 270,3942  19.12.07 270.40p 202,795 249.10p 505,162 29.12.10 202,795 249.10p 505,162 29.12.10 – –
 79,3373, 10  28.11.08 205.25p    02.12.09     79,33711 118,450
 537,8804  28.11.08 205.25p    28.11.11     388,46812 579,983
 71,2945, 10  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.09     71,29411 106,442
 483,3526  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.12     174,54312 260,593

Total 1,482,140        242,678  599,804  713,642 1,065,468

Peter Long 81,5891, 9  19.12.07 270.40p    02.12.09 81,589 237.30p 193,611 20.12.10 – –
 553,1502  19.12.07 270.40p 414,862 249.10p 1,033,421 29.12.10 414,862 249.10p 1,033,421 29.12.10 – –
 172,4723, 10  28.11.08 205.25p    02.12.09     172,472 257,501
 1,169,3044  28.11.08 205.25p    28.11.11     1,169,304 1,745,771
 154,5925, 10  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.09     154,592 230,806
 1,048,0886  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.12     1,048,088 1,564,795
  324,7817 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     324,781 484,898
  1,299,1248 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     1,299,124 1,939,592

Total 3,179,195 1,623,905       496,451  1,227,032  4,168,361 6,223,363

Johan Lundgren 39,7841, 9  19.12.07 270.40p    02.12.09 39,784 237.30p 94,407 20.12.10 – –
 269,7232  19.12.07 270.40p 202,292 249.10p 503,909 29.12.10 202,292 249.10p 503,909 29.12.10 – –
 79,9133, 10  28.11.08 205.25p    02.12.09     79,913 119,310
 541,7844  28.11.08 205.25p    28.11.11     541,784 808,884
 62,4595, 10  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.09     62,459 93,251
 423,4526  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.12     423,452 632,214
  158,5157 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     158,515 236,663
  634,0608 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     634,060 946,652

Total 1,417,115 792,575       242,076  598,316  1,900,183 2,836,974

William Waggott 43,3991, 9  19.12.07 270.40p    02.12.09 43,399 237.30p 102,986 20.12.10 – –
 294,2302  19.12.07 270.40p 220,672 249.10p 549,694 29.12.10 220,672 249.10p 549,694 29.12.10 – –
 57,4903, 10  28.11.08 205.25p    02.12.09     57,490 85,833
 389,7684  28.11.08 205.25p    28.11.11     389,768 581,924
 52,1375, 10  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.09     52,137 77,841
 353,4726  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.12     353,472 527,734
  123,1447 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     123,144 183,854
  492,5768 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     492,576 735,416

Total 1,190,496 615,720       264,071  652,680  1,468,587 2,192,602

Grand total 8,604,247 3,640,040       1,487,004  3,679,976  9,891,753 14,768,390

Governance

Remuneration report continued
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1)  This award is the deferred element of the Annual Bonus entitlement for Financial Year 2006/07 and is subject only to continued employment to the release date.

2)  This matching award is based on a) performance to 30 September 2010 where the performance measure relates to EPS growth in excess of the rate of inflation; and b) performance to the 
third anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s TSR ranking against the constituent companies of the FTSE 100 index ranked 30 to 100 by 
market capitalisation as calculated at the award date. A performance hurdle of the return on ROIC being in excess of the WACC must also be achieved for any of the award to be released.  
The number of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 7.5% of the award being released for 12% in excess of inflation and 75% of the award released for 39% in excess of 
inflation; and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 3.75% of the award being released for median and 25% of the award being released for upper quartile. The ROIC/
WACC hurdle was achieved, EPS growth was greater than 39% in excess of inflation and the TSR ranking was below median. Therefore 75% of the award was released with the remainder of 
the award being forfeit.

3)  This award is the deferred element of the Annual Bonus entitlement for Financial Year 2007/08 and is subject only to continued employment to the release date.

4)  This matching award is based on a) performance to 30 September 2011 where the performance measure relates to EPS growth in excess of the rate of inflation; and b) performance to the 
third anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s TSR ranking against the constituent companies of the FTSE 100 index ranked 30 to 100 by 
market capitalisation as calculated at the award date. A performance hurdle of the return on ROIC being in excess of the WACC must also be achieved for any of the award to be released.  
The number of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 7.5% of the award being released for 12% in excess of inflation and 75% of the award released for 39% in excess  
of inflation; and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 3.75% of the award being released for median and 25% of the award being released for upper quartile. 

5)  This award is the deferred element of the Annual Bonus entitlement for Financial Year 2008/09 and is subject only to continued employment to the release date.

6)  This matching award is based on a) performance to 30 September 2012 where the performance measure relates to EPS growth in excess of the rate of inflation; and b) performance to the 
third anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s TSR ranking against the constituent companies of the FTSE 100 index ranked 30 to 100 by 
market capitalisation as calculated at the award date. A performance hurdle of the return on ROIC being in excess of the WACC must also be achieved for any of the award to be released.  
The number of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 7.5% of the award being released for 12% in excess of inflation and 75% of the award released for 39% in excess  
of inflation; and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 3.75% of the award being released for median and 25% of the award being released for upper quartile. 

7)  This award is the deferred element of the Annual Bonus entitlement for Financial Year 2009/10 and is subject only to continued employment to the release date.

8)  This matching award is based on a) performance to 30 September 2013 where the performance measure relates to EPS growth in excess of the rate of inflation; and b) performance to the 
third anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s TSR ranking against the constituent companies of the FTSE 100 index ranked 30 to 100 by 
market capitalisation as calculated at the award date. A performance hurdle of the return on ROIC being in excess of the WACC must also be achieved for any of the award to be released.  
The number of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 7.5% of the award being released for 12% in excess of inflation and 75% of the award released for 39% in excess  
of inflation; and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 3.75% of the award being released for median and 25% of the award being released for upper quartile. 

9)  During Financial Year 2009/10 these Directors and the Company agreed to enter into a joint election pursuant to section 431(1) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect 
of this award. Consequently, the Remuneration Committee agreed to vest this award early and release sufficient shares to satisfy the tax liability arising from the joint election. The remaining 
shares were held as restricted shares subject to claw-back conditions and were released after the third anniversary of the award date in accordance with the scheme rules.

10)  During Financial Year 2009/10 these Directors and the Company agreed to enter into a joint election pursuant to section 431(1) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect 
of this award. Consequently, the Remuneration Committee agreed to vest this award early and release sufficient shares to satisfy the tax liability arising from the joint election. The remaining 
shares, which are vested, are held as restricted shares subject to claw-back conditions and will not be released before the third anniversary of the original award date in accordance with the 
scheme rules.

11)  Paul Bowtell ceased employment with effect from 31 December 2010. Under the terms of his departure, and in accordance with the scheme rules, these deferred awards will be released in 
full (subject to any claw-back conditions) after the third anniversary of the award date.

12)  Paul Bowtell ceased employment with effect from 31 December 2010. Under the terms of his departure, and in accordance with the scheme rules, these matching awards were subject to  
pro-rating on the basis of the time elapsed from award date to cessation of employment as compared with 36 months, with the remainder of the award being forfeit.
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Performance Share Plan (PSP) 
Awards made under the PSP, and which remain outstanding at 30 September 2011 are: 
  Maximum
  PSP   PSP    PSP     Maximum
  shares   shares    shares     value
 Maximum awarded   vested    released    Maximum based on
 PSP during   during    during    PSP share
 shares the year  Market the year Market  Planned/ the year Market   shares price of 
 held at ended  price per ended price per Market actual ended price per Market  held at 149.3p at
 1 Oct 30 Sept Award share at 30 Sept share at value at vesting 30 Sept share at value at Release 30 Sept 30 Sept
Directors 2010 2011 date award 2011 vesting vesting £ date 2011 release release £ date 2011 2011 £

Dr Volker 129,2091  13.09.07 273.00p 64,604 249.10p 160,929 29.12.10 64,604 249.10p 160,929 29.12.10 – –
Böttcher 221,8292  28.11.08 205.25p    28.11.11     221,829 331,191
 203,6393  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.12     203,639 304,033 
  202,6154 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     202,615 302,504 

Total 554,677 202,615       64,604  160,929  628,083 937,728 

Paul Bowtell 202,1981  13.09.07 273.00p 101,099 249.10p 251,838 29.12.10 101,099 249.10p 251,838 29.12.10 – –
 286,4792  28.11.08 205.25p    28.11.11     206,9015 308,903 
 241,6763  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.12     87,2715 130,296 

Total 730,353        101,099  251,838  294,172 439,199 

Peter Long 586,0811  13.09.07 273.00p 293,040 249.10p 729,963 29.12.10 293,040 249.10p 729,963 29.12.10 – –
 828,2582  28.11.08 205.25p    28.11.11     828,258 1,236,589 
 698,7253  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.12     698,725 1,043,196 
  742,3584 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     742,358 1,108,340 

Total 2,113,064 742,358       293,040  729,963  2,269,341 3,388,125 

Johan Lundgren 104,7731  13.09.07 273.00p 52,386 249.10p 130,494 29.12.10 52,386 249.10p 130,494 29.12.10 – –
 192,3071  19.12.07 270.40p 96,153 249.10p 239,517 29.12.10 96,153 249.10p 239,517 29.12.10 – –
 287,1062  28.11.08 205.25p    28.11.11     287,106 428,649 
 248,6643  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.12     248,664 371,255 
  264,1924 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     264,192 394,439 

Total 832,850 264,192       148,539  370,011  799,962 1,194,343 

William Waggott 146,5201  13.09.07 273.00p 73,260 249.10p 182,491 29.12.10 73,260 249.10p 182,491 29.12.10 – –
 209,5002  28.11.08 205.25p    28.11.11     209,500 312,784 
 176,7363  02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.12     176,736 263,867 
  256,7694 06.12.10 229.00p    06.12.13     256,769 383,356 

Total 532,756 256,769       73,260  182,491  643,005 960,007 

Grand total 4,763,700 1,465,934       680,542  1,695,232  4,634,563 6,919,402 

1)  This award is based on a) performance to 30 September 2010 where the performance measure relates to EPS growth in excess of the rate of inflation; and b) performance to the third 
anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s TSR ranking against the constituent companies of the FTSE 100 index ranked 30 to 100 by market 
capitalisation as calculated at the award date. A performance hurdle of the ROIC being in excess of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) must also be achieved for any of the award to 
be released. The number of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 5% of the award being released for 12% in excess of inflation and 50% of the award released for 39%  
in excess of inflation; and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 7.5% of the award being released for median and 50% of the award being released for upper quartile. 
The ROIC/WACC hurdle was achieved, EPS growth was greater than 39% in excess of inflation and the TSR ranking was below median. Therefore 50% of the award was released with the 
remainder of the award being forfeit.

2)  This award is based on a) performance to 30 September 2011 where the performance measure relates to EPS growth in excess of the rate of inflation; and b) performance to the third 
anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s TSR ranking against the constituent companies of the FTSE 100 index ranked 30 to 100 by market 
capitalisation as calculated at the award date. A performance hurdle of the ROIC being in excess of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) must also be achieved for any of the award to 
be released. The number of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 5% of the award being released for 12% in excess of inflation and 50% of the award released for 39%  
in excess of inflation; and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 7.5% of the award being released for median and 50% of the award being released for upper quartile.

3)  This award is based on a) performance to 30 September 2012 where the performance measure relates to EPS growth in excess of the rate of inflation; and b) performance to the third 
anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s TSR ranking against the constituent companies of the FTSE 100 index ranked 30 to 100 by market 
capitalisation as calculated at the award date. A performance hurdle of the ROIC being in excess of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) must also be achieved for any of the award to 
be released. The number of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 5% of the award being released for 12% in excess of inflation and 50% of the award released for 39%  
in excess of inflation; and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 7.5% of the award being released for median and 50% of the award being released for upper quartile.

4)  This award is based on a) performance to 30 September 2013 where the performance measure relates to EPS growth in excess of the rate of inflation and b) performance to the third 
anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s TSR ranking against the constituent companies of the FTSE 100 index ranked 30 to 100 by market 
capitalisation as calculated at the award date. A performance hurdle of the ROIC being in excess of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) must also be achieved for any of the award to 
be released. The number of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 5% of the award being released for 12% in excess of inflation and 50% of the award released for 39%  
in excess of inflation; and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 7.5% of the award being released for median and 50% of the award being released for upper quartile.

5)  Paul Bowtell ceased employment with effect from 31 December 2010. Under the terms of his departure, and in accordance with the scheme rules, these awards were subject to pro-rating  
on the basis of the time elapsed from award date to cessation of employment as compared with 36 months, with the remainder of the award being forfeit.

Governance
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Value Creation Synergy Plan (VCSP) 
The Value Creation Synergy Plan (VCSP), was a one-off three-year plan and Executive Directors received an award which was to be satisfied by 
a combination of cash and shares provided that stretching performance targets were satisfied. The performance targets, set by the Committee, 
were based on the achievement of the synergistic objectives of the merger of First Choice Holidays PLC (now First Choice Holidays Limited) and 
the Tourism Division of TUI AG. 

The VCSP is now closed and the final release of shares is detailed in the table below. 
      VCSP    VCSP    
      shares    shares    
      vested    released    Maximum
   VCSP   during    during    VCSP
   shares  Market the year Market   the year Market   shares 
   held at  price per ended price per Market Actual ended price per Market  held at
   1 Oct Award share at 30 Sept share at value at vesting 30 Sept share at value at Release 30 Sept
Directors   2010 date award 2011 vesting vesting £ date 2011 release release £ date 2011

Dr Volker Böttcher   78,6061 28.11.08 205.25p 78,606 230.00p 180,794 02.12.10 78,606 230.00p 180,794 02.12.10 –
   72,1612 02.12.09 243.30p 72,161 230.00p 165,970 02.12.10 72,161 230.00p 165,970 02.12.10 –

Total   150,767       150,767  346,764  –

Paul Bowtell   72,7251, 3 28.11.08 205.25p    02.12.09 72,725 230.00p 167,268 02.12.10 –
   61,3512, 3 02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.09 61,351 230.00p 141,107 02.12.10 –

Total   134,076       134,076  308,375  –

Peter Long   172,4721, 3 28.11.08 205.25p    02.12.09 172,472 230.00p 396,686 02.12.10 –
   145,4992, 3 02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.09 145,499 230.00p 334,648 02.12.10 –

Total   317,971       317,971  731,334  –

Johan Lundgren   87,9041, 3 28.11.08 205.25p    02.12.09 87,904 230.00p 202,179 02.12.10 –
   74,9472, 3 02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.09 74,947 230.00p 172,378 02.12.10 –

Total   162,851       162,851  374,557  –

William Waggott   63,2391, 3 28.11.08 205.25p    02.12.09 63,239 230.00p 145,450 02.12.10 –
   53,3492, 3 02.12.09 243.30p    02.12.09 53,349 230.00p 122,703 02.12.10 –

Total   116,588       116,588  268,153  –

Grand total   882,253       882,253  2,029,183  –

1)  This award is the deferred element of Tranche 1 of the VCSP for Financial Year 2007/08. A profit margin performance hurdle must be achieved for any of the award to vest. The vesting of 
shares is graded according to synergistic value achieved with none of the award vesting for synergistic value below £100m and all of the award vesting for £150m synergistic value or more. 
The profit margin hurdle was exceeded and the synergy performance was £195m therefore all of the shares vested.

2)  This award is the deferred element of Tranche 2 of the VCSP for Financial Year 2008/09. A profit margin performance hurdle must be achieved for any of the award to vest. The vesting of 
shares is graded according to synergistic value achieved with none of the award vesting for synergistic value below £100m and all of the award vesting for £150m synergistic value or more. 
The profit margin hurdle was exceeded and the synergy performance was £195m therefore all of the shares vested.

3)  During Financial Year 2009/10 these Directors and the Company agreed to enter into a joint election pursuant to section 431(1) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect 
of this award. Consequently, the Remuneration Committee agreed to vest this award early and release sufficient shares to satisfy the tax liability arising from the joint election. The remaining 
shares were held as restricted shares subject to claw-back conditions and were released on the third tranche date in accordance with the scheme rules.

Directors’ interests in ordinary shares of the Company 
As at 30 September 2011, the Directors’ interests in ordinary shares of the Company were:
  Ordinary shares   Ordinary shares  
  of 10p each as at   of 10p each as at  
Directors Title 30 September 2011 Directors Title 30 September 2011

Horst Baier Non-Executive Director – Peter Long* Chief Executive 3,154,859
Dr Volker Böttcher Managing Director, Central Europe 224,292 Johan Lundgren Managing Director, Northern Region 703,762
Tony Campbell Non-Executive Director 46,966 Coline McConville Non-Executive Director –
Clare Chapman Non-Executive Director 10,000 Minnow Powell Non-Executive Director –
Bill Dalton Non-Executive Director 10,000 Dr Erhard Schipporeit Non-Executive Director –
Rainer Feuerhake Non-Executive Director – Dr Albert Schunk Non-Executive Director –
Dr Michael Frenzel Non-Executive Chairman – Harold Sher Non-Executive Director –
Sir Michael Hodgkinson Non-Executive Deputy Chairman 20,000 William Waggott* Chief Financial Officer 484,124 
 and Senior Independent Director

*Includes shares purchased under the Share Incentive Plan. 

The Company’s Register of Directors’ Interests, which is open to inspection at the Registered Office, contains full details of Directors’ 
shareholdings and will be available for inspection before and during the Annual General Meeting to be held on 7 February 2012. 

During the year, the price of the Company’s ordinary shares ranged between 137.20p and 271.90p and the mid-closing price on 30 September 
2011 was 149.30p.

On 3 October 2011, Tony Campbell and William Waggott were allocated 1,047 and 56 additional shares respectively under the Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan. Mr Powell purchased 6,891 shares on the same date.

The Remuneration report was approved by a duly authorised Committee of the Board of Directors on 4 December 2011 and signed on its behalf by: 

Bill Dalton
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
4 December 2011



Financial statements

www.tuitravelplc.com

66 TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2011

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion:

• the information given in the Directors’ report for the financial year 
for which the Group financial statements are prepared is consistent 
with the Group financial statements; and

• the information given in the Corporate Governance report set  
out on pages 51 to 55 with respect to internal control and risk 
management systems and about share capital structures is 
consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if,  
in our opinion: 

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law  
are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit; or

• a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the 
parent company.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

• the Directors’ statement, set out on page 49, in relation to going 
concern; 

• the part of the Corporate Governance statement relating  
to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the  
UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review; and

• certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board  
on Directors’ remuneration.

Other matter 
We have reported separately on the parent company financial 
statements of TUI Travel PLC for the year ended 30 September 2011 
and on the information in the Remuneration report that is described 
as having been audited. 

Roger de Peyrecave (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
4 December 2011

We have audited the Group financial statements of TUI Travel PLC for 
the year ended 30 September 2011 which comprise the consolidated 
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity, the consolidated statement of cash flows and 
the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement  
set out on page 50, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the Group financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express  
an opinion on the Group financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only  
for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose.  
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility 
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is 
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed 
by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to  
the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the Directors; and the overall presentation of  
the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and 
non-financial information in the Annual Report & Accounts to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements.  
If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements  
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the Group financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at  
30 September 2011 and of its profit and cash flows for the year 
then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted 
by the European Union; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the lAS Regulation. 

Financial statements

Independent Auditors’ report to the members of TUI Travel PLC
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        Restated
       Year ended Year ended 
       30 September 30 September 
       2011 2010 
      Note £m £m

Revenue      1, 3 14,687 13,514
Cost of sales       (13,351) (12,343)

Gross profit       1,336 1,171
Administrative expenses       (1,094) (1,124)
Share of profits/(losses) of joint ventures and associates     12 13 (3)

Operating profit       255 44

Analysed as:
Underlying operating profit      1, 3 471 399
Separately disclosed items      4 (74) (255)
Predecessor accounting for Magic Life      1 (17) (19)
Acquisition related expenses      13(A) (82) (63)
Impairment of goodwill      10 (39) (12)
Taxation on profits and interest of joint ventures and associates    12 (4) (6)

Total operating profit       255 44

Financial income      5 83 69
Financial expenses      5 (194) (186)

Net financial expenses       (111) (117)

Profit/(loss) before tax       144 (73)
Taxation charge      8 (57) (50)

Profit/(loss) for the year       87 (123)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent       85 (123)
Non-controlling interests       2 –

Profit/(loss) for the year       87 (123)

        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       Pence Pence

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share for profit/(loss) attributable  
to the equity holders of the Company during the year
Basic earnings/(loss) per share      32 7.7 (11.1)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share      32 7.6 (11.1)

Financial statements

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 September 2011
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 September 2011

        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September  30 September
       2011 2010
      Note £m £m

Profit/(loss) for the year       87 (123)

Other comprehensive (expense)/income
Foreign exchange translation       (18) (85)
Actuarial losses arising in respect of defined benefit pension schemes    6(C) (89) (42)
Cash flow hedges:
– movement in fair value      25(J) 85 33
– amounts recycled to the consolidated income statement     25(J) (4) 41
Foreign exchange gains recycled through the consolidated income statement     – (6)
Share of other movements in reserves of associates and joint ventures     – 2
Available for sale financial assets:
– movement in fair value       (2) (4)
– amounts recycled to the consolidated income statement      1 –
Deferred tax on items in other comprehensive income     8(iii) (29) (9)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year net of tax     (56) (70)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year      31 (193)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent       26 (193)
Non-controlling interests       5 –

Total       31 (193)

Non-GAAP measures
Reconciliation of underlying operating profit to underlying profit before tax
        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September  30 September
       2011 2010
      Note £m £m

Underlying operating profit      3 471 399
Net underlying financial expenses      5 (111) (110)

Underlying profit before tax       360 289
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Consolidated balance sheet
at 30 September 2011

       Restated Restated
      30 September  30 September 30 September
      2011 2010 2009
     Note £m £m £m

Non-current assets
Intangible assets     10 4,642 4,659 4,737
Property, plant and equipment     11 1,001 1,023 975
Investments in joint ventures and associates     12 242 211 112
Other investments     12 72 79 77
Trade and other receivables     16 202 156 194
Retirement benefit asset     6(C) 1 1 1
Derivative financial instruments     25(I) 30 21 13
Deferred tax assets     14 138 114 211

      6,328 6,264 6,320

Current assets
Inventories     15 69 54 56
Other investments     17(B) 22 5 40
Trade and other receivables     16 1,472 1,425 1,507
Income tax recoverable      62 34 30
Derivative financial instruments     25(I) 185 144 271
Cash and cash equivalents     17(A) 902 1,304 790
Assets classified as held for sale     18 13 57 126

      2,725 3,023 2,820

Total assets      9,053 9,287 9,140

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings     19 (96) (757) (327)
Retirement benefits     6(C) (3) (5) (3)
Derivative financial instruments     25(I) (133) (122) (284)
Trade and other payables     20 (4,622) (4,335) (4,282)
Provisions for liabilities     21 (317) (241) (194)
Income tax payable      (133) (84) (68)
Liabilities classified as held for sale     18 – (31) (59)

      (5,304) (5,575) (5,217)

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings     19 (802) (796) (801)
Retirement benefits     6(C) (511) (489) (498)
Derivative financial instruments     25(I) (18) (23) (18)
Trade and other payables     22 (56) (93) (108)
Provisions for liabilities     21 (353) (307) (250)
Deferred tax liabilities     14 (71) (28) (97)

      (1,811) (1,736) (1,772)

Total liabilities      (7,115) (7,311) (6,989)

Net assets      1,938 1,976 2,151

Equity
Called up share capital     23 112 112 112
Convertible bond reserve     24 85 83 –
Other reserves     24 2,846 2,794 2,752
Accumulated losses     24 (1,155) (1,014) (716)

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent    24 1,888 1,975 2,148
Non-controlling interests     24 50 1 3

Total equity     24 1,938 1,976 2,151

The financial statements on pages 67 to 136 were approved by a duly authorised Committee of the Board of Directors on 4 December 2011 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Peter J Long William H Waggott
Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer

Company number: 6072876
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   Other reserves  
  Called up  Convertible     Equity Non-
  share bond Merger Translation Hedging Accumulated holders controlling
  capital reserve reserve reserve reserve losses of parent interests Total
  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m  £m £m

Balance at 1 October 2009  
(as previously reported)  112 – 2,490 360 (75) (716) 2,171 3 2,174
Adjustment in respect of Magic Life (Note 1(B)(ii)) – – (11) (12) – – (23) – (23)

Balance at 1 October 2009 (restated)  112 – 2,479 348 (75) (716) 2,148 3 2,151

Loss for the year (restated)  – – – – – (123) (123) – (123)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  
for the year (as previously reported)  – – – (59) 56 (70) (73) – (73)
Adjustment in respect of Magic Life  – – – 3 – – 3 – 3

Other comprehensive (expense)/income  
for the year (restated)  – – – (56) 56 (70) (70) – (70)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income  
for the year (restated)  – – – (56) 56 (193) (193) – (193)

Transactions with owners
Share-based payment  – – – – – 20 20 – 20
Acquisition of shares by Employee Benefit Trust – – – – – (7) (7) – (7)
Dividends  – – – – – (118) (118) (2) (120)
Issue of convertible bond (net of deferred tax) – 83 – – – – 83 – 83
Capital increase in Magic Life  – – 42 – – – 42 – 42

At 30 September 2010 (restated)  112 83 2,521 292 (19) (1,014) 1,975 1 1,976

   Other reserves  
  Called up  Convertible     Equity Non-
  share bond Merger Translation Hedging Accumulated holders controlling
  capital reserve reserve reserve reserve losses of parent interests Total
  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m  £m £m

At 1 October 2010 (restated)  112 83 2,521 292 (19) (1,014) 1,975 1 1,976

Profit for the year  – – – – – 85 85 2 87
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year – – – (3) 56 (112) (59) 3 (56)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year – – – (3) 56 (27) 26 5 31

Transactions with owners
Share-based payment  – – – – – 19 19 – 19
Acquisition of shares by Employee Benefit Trust – – – – – (7) (7) – (7)
Dividends  – – – – – (122) (122) (2) (124)
Capital increase in Magic Life  – – 2 – – – 2 – 2
Disposals to non-controlling interests  – – – (3) – (4) (7) 46 39
Change in deferred tax rate on equity 
portion of convertible bond  – 2 – – – – 2 – 2

At 30 September 2011  112 85 2,523 286 37 (1,155) 1,888 50 1,938

Details of reserve movements are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Restatement
Please refer to Note 1(B)(ii) for a full explanation of the restatement.

Financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
      Note £m £m

Profit/(loss) for the year       87 (123)
Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amortisation      10, 11 238 265
Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment    10, 11 30 15
Impairment of goodwill      10 39 12
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses      6(D) 19 14
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment      7 6 1
Share of (profit)/loss of joint ventures and associates     12 (13) 3
Loss on foreign exchange      7 38 18
Change in value of trade investment      12 – (30)
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates     12 7 9
Pension curtailment gain recognised in consolidated income statement    6(C) (64) –
Financial income      5 (83) (69)
Financial expenses      5 194 186
Loss from discontinued operation       – 18
Taxation      8 57 50

Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions     555 369
(Increase)/decrease in inventories       (9) 1
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables      (68) 81
Increase in trade and other payables       140 69
Increase in provisions and employee benefits       125 91

Cash flows from operations       743 611
Interest paid       (86) (59)
Interest received       9 2
Income taxes paid       (53) (34)

Cash flows from operating activities       613 520

Investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment      148 26
Proceeds from disposal of associated undertakings net of cash disposed of     – 1
Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired      13(B) (33) (51)
Proceeds from other investments       3 9
Investment in joint ventures, associates and other investments      (18) (90)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment      11 (257) (164)
Acquisition of intangible assets      10 (56) (44)

Cash flows from investing activities       (213) (313)

Financing activities
Proceeds from new loans and deposits taken       26 769
Repayment of borrowings       (556) (257)
Repayment of finance lease liabilities       (145) (31)
Dividends paid to ordinary and non-controlling interests     24 (124) (120)
Shares purchased by Employee Benefit Trust      23 (7) (7)

Cash flows from financing activities       (806) 354

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents      (406) 561
Cash and cash equivalents at start of the year      17 1,304 790
Effect of foreign exchange on cash held       4 (47)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year      17 902 1,304

Movements in cash and net debt are presented in Note 26.

Financial statements

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 September 2011
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(ii) Restatement
Jet4You
The results of the Group’s business of Société d’Investissement 
Aérien S.A. (Jet4You) were previously separately classified as a 
discontinued operation for the comparative year ended 30 September 
2010. As a result of the cessation of negotiations for the sale of this 
business in the first half of the financial year, this business ceases to 
qualify as held for sale.

In accordance with IFRS 5, the results of Jet4You are presented in  
the consolidated income statement as continuing in both the current 
and comparative year. For the purposes of segmental reporting, the 
results of Jet4You are included within the Rest of Western Europe 
segment. The balance sheets for both comparative years have not 
been re-presented or re-measured, as dictated by IFRS 5. Accordingly, 
the comparative consolidated statement of cash flows has not been 
re-presented.

The current year’s balance sheet values have been re-measured to  
the carrying amounts prior to the disposal group being classified as 
held for sale, adjusted for an additional £1m depreciation that would 
have been recognised if the disposal group had not been classified as 
held for sale.

Magic Life
On 26 May 2011, the Group announced that it had reached agreement 
with TUI AG and its subsidiary undertaking, Magic Life GmbH & Co 
KG, for the Group to acquire six separate operating companies (the 
‘ML Companies’, referred to as ‘Magic Life’) through which Magic Life 
GmbH & Co KG leases and manages 13 holiday clubs in Turkey, 
Tunisia, Egypt, Greece and Spain.

The acquisition is classified under the UK Listing Rules as a  
‘related party transaction’ as TUI AG is classified as a ‘related party’  
as a substantial shareholder of TUI Travel PLC. Consequently, the 
acquisition meets the conditions of a business combination between 
entities under common control, as defined by IFRS 3 (revised). The 
Group’s accounting policy for business combinations under common 
control is to incorporate the results of Magic Life as if both the Group 
and Magic Life had always been combined (known as ‘predecessor 
accounting’). Control passed from TUI AG to the Group on 22 June 
2011, following approval at the Company’s General Meeting on that 
date. The results of Magic Life have therefore been fully included in 
the consolidated income statement for both years, including the 
pre-control periods. The results of Magic Life for the pre-control 
period have been separately disclosed on the predecessor accounting 
line on the face of the consolidated income statement, whereas the 
results in the post-control period are included in underlying profit for 
the year. The inclusion of Magic Life’s results under predecessor 
accounting has no impact on the Group’s cash or distributable 
reserves for the pre-control periods.

1. Accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are consistent with those followed 
in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 September 2010, except for the adoption of the 
following new International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
Interpretations that are applicable for the year ended 30 September 
2011. These new or amended standards have no significant impact  
on consolidated results or financial position:

IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the construction of real estate

IFRIC 17 – Distributions of non-cash assets to owners

IFRIC 18 – Transfer of assets from customers

IFRIC 19 – Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments

Amendment to IFRS 1: First-time Adoption of IFRS – Additional 
exemptions for first-time adopters

Amendment to IFRS 2: Share-based Payment – Group cash settled 
share-based payment transaction

Amendment to IAS 32: Financial Instruments – Presentation: 
Classification of rights issues

Annual improvements project (2009) (partly applicable for the year 
ended 30 September 2010)

Annual improvements project (2010) (partly applicable for the year 
ended 30 September 2011)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in the Group’s 
presentational currency of Sterling, rounded to the nearest million.

(A) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 September 
2011 have been prepared and approved by the Directors in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
IFRIC interpretations as adopted by the European Union (Adopted 
IFRS) and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS. The consolidated financial statements were approved on 
4 December 2011.

(B) Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical 
cost basis other than derivative financial instruments, financial 
instruments held for trading and financial instruments classified as 
available for sale, which are stated at their fair value. Non-current 
assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of 
their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

(i) Parent Company
TUI Travel PLC (the Company) is a company incorporated and 
domiciled in England and Wales under the Companies Act 1985  
and listed on the London Stock Exchange. The Registered Office  
of the Company is TUI Travel House, Crawley Business Quarter, 
Fleming Way, Crawley, West Sussex, RH10 9QL.

The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial 
statements in accordance with UK GAAP.

Financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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The representation of Jet4You and the restatement of Magic Life has resulted in the restatement of the comparative year’s results as follows:

Consolidated income statement
     Year ended
     30 September  Impact of Restated
     2010 Impact of the predecessor Year ended
     as previously re-presentation accounting for 30 September
     reported of Jet4You Magic Life 2010
     £m £m £m £m

Revenue     13,400 91 23 13,514
Cost of sales     (12,217) (92) (34) (12,343)

Gross profit/(loss)     1,183 (1) (11) 1,171
Administrative expenses     (1,099) (17) (8) (1,124)
Share of (losses)/profit of joint ventures and associates    (3) – – (3)

Operating profit/(loss)     81 (18) (19) 44

Analysed as:
Underlying operating profit/(loss)     412 (13) – 399
Separately disclosed items     (250) (5) – (255)
Predecessor accounting for Magic Life     – – (19) (19)
Acquisition related expenses     (63) – – (63)
Impairment of goodwill     (12) – – (12)
Taxation on results of joint ventures and associates    (6) – – (6)

     81 (18) (19) 44

There was no impact on taxation, financial income or financial expenses following the re-presentation and the restatement. The loss for the year 
ended 30 September 2010 is restated as follows:

        Year ended
        30 September
        2010
        £m

Loss for the year from continuing operations as previously stated      (86)
Representation of Jet4You’s discontinued operations as continuing operations     (18)
Restatement in respect of predecessor accounting for Magic Life      (19)

Loss for the year as restated        (123)

Loss for the year to equity holders of the parent       (123)

Earnings per share
    Earnings per share –  
    continuing operations    
Year ended 30 September 2010       Basic pence Diluted pence

Originally reported       (7.8) (7.8)
Representation of Jet4You       (1.6) (1.6)
Restatement in respect of predecessor accounting for Magic Life     (1.7) (1.7)

Restated       (11.1) (11.1)

Financial statements
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies continued
Consolidated balance sheet
   30 September Impact of  30 September Impact of
   2009 predecessor Restated 2010 predecessor Restated
   as previously accounting for 30 September as previously accounting for 30 September
   reported Magic Life 2009 reported Magic Life 2010
   £m £m £m £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment   964 11 975 1,012 11 1,023
Other non-current assets   5,345 – 5,345 5,241 – 5,241

Total non-current assets   6,309 11 6,320 6,253 11 6,264

Inventories   51 5 56 49 5 54
Current investments   36 4 40 – 5 5
Trade and other receivables   1,482 25 1,507 1,404 21 1,425
Other current assets   427 – 427 235 – 235
Cash and cash equivalents   790 – 790 1,304 – 1,304

Total current assets   2,786 34 2,820 2,992 31 3,023

Interest-bearing liabilities   (327) – (327) (757) – (757)
Current trade and other payables   (4,220) (62) (4,282) (4,301) (34) (4,335)
Current provisions   (189) (5) (194) (236) (5) (241)
Current income tax payable   (67) (1) (68) (84) – (84)
Other current liabilities   (346) – (346) (158) – (158)

Total current liabilities   (5,149) (68) (5,217) (5,536) (39) (5,575)

Non-current liabilities   (1,772) – (1,772) (1,736) – (1,736)

Net assets   2,174 (23) 2,151 1,973 3 1,976

Total equity   2,174 (23) 2,151 1,973 3 1,976

(iii) Underlying measures of profits and losses
The Group believes that underlying operating profit, underlying profit 
before tax and underlying earnings per share provide additional 
guidance to statutory measures to help understand the underlying 
performance of the business during the financial year. The term 
underlying is not defined under IFRS. It is a measure that is used by 
management to assess the underlying performance of the business 
internally and is not intended to be a substitute measure for adopted 
IFRSs’ GAAP measures. The Group defines these underlying measures 
as follows:

Underlying operating profit is operating profit or loss from continuing 
operations stated before separately disclosed items (Note 4), the 
impact of predecessor accounting, acquisition related expenses, 
impairment of goodwill, interest and taxation on the Group’s share  
of the results of joint ventures and associates.

Underlying profit before tax is profit or loss from continuing 
operations before taxation (Group and share of joint ventures and 
associates), the impact of predecessor accounting, acquisition related 
items, impairment of goodwill, the interest expense of joint ventures 
and associates and separately disclosed items included within both 
the operating result (Note 4) and net financial expenses (Note 5).

Underlying earnings used in the calculation of underlying earnings  
per share is profit after tax from continuing operations excluding  
the impact of predecessor accounting, acquisition related items, 
impairment of goodwill and separately disclosed items included within 
both the operating result (Note 4) and net financial expenses (Note 
5). For the purpose of this calculation, an underlying tax charge is 
used which excludes the tax effects of separately disclosed items, 
acquisition related expenses, goodwill impairment charges and 
separately disclosable tax items.

It should be noted that the definitions of underlying items being used 
in these consolidated financial statements are those used by the Group 
and may not be comparable with the term ‘underlying’ as defined by 
other companies within both the same sector or elsewhere.

(iv) Separately disclosed items
Separately disclosed items are those significant items which in 
management’s judgment are highlighted by virtue of their size or 
incidence to enable a full understanding of the Group’s financial 
performance. Such items are included within the income statement 
caption to which they relate (Notes 4 and 5).

(v) Business and performance review
The Group’s business activities, together with factors likely to affect 
its future development, performance and position are set out in  
the Business performance section. In addition Note 25 sets out the 
Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, 
financial risks, financial instruments and hedging activities as well  
as its exposures to credit and liquidity risk.

(vi) Funding and liquidity
The Board remains satisfied with the Group’s funding and liquidity 
position. The main sources of debt funding are:

1 A new shareholder loan from TUI AG put in place following the 
Magic Life transaction (described in Note 1(B)(ii)). This amounts  
to €30m and is being repaid as follows: 30 April 2012: €20m and  
31 August 2012: €10m;

2 A total of £970m syndicated bank revolving credit facilities which 
mature in June 2015;

3 £185m of bonding and letter of credit facilities which mature in 
June 2015;

4 A £350m convertible bond (due October 2014) issued in October 
2009; and

5 A £400m convertible bond (due April 2017) issued in April 2010.

The ratio of earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, 
amortisation and operating lease rentals (EBITDAR) to fixed  
charges (being the aggregate amount of interest and any other 
finance charges in respect of borrowings and including all payments 
under operating leases) and the ratio of net debt to earnings before 
interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA), which  
the Board believes to be the most useful measures of cash generation 
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On purchase or sale of a non-controlling interest held in a Group 
subsidiary, the Group recognises increases or decreases in the value 
of its interest directly in equity providing there is no overall change in 
control. As such, these transactions do not result in goodwill or gains 
and losses being recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
When control is lost, any remaining interest in equity is re-measured  
to fair value and a gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement.

(iv) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and any unrealised gains or income and 
expenses arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains 
arising from transactions with associates and jointly controlled  
entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the 
entity. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised 
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(v) Acquisition in stages
Where a Group gains control of a subsidiary undertaking through  
a step acquisition, the existing interest owned is re-measured at fair 
value with the difference between fair value and book value being 
recognised in the income statement. The accounting impact of 
changes in share ownership which do not affect control is accounted 
for through reserves.

(vi) Acquisition related expenses
Acquisition related expenses comprise amortisation of business 
combination intangibles, other acquisition related expenses and 
remuneration for post-combination services. Directly attributable 
acquisition costs are expensed in the consolidated income statement 
rather than included as part of the purchase price.

(vii) Contingent consideration
Contingent consideration (for business combinations up until  
30 September 2009)
Contingent consideration is recognised when the payment amount 
becomes probable and the amounts can be reliably measured.  
The purchase price is subsequently adjusted against goodwill or 
negative goodwill as the estimate of the amount payable is revised.

Contingent consideration (for business combinations from  
1 October 2009)
Contingent consideration is accounted for at fair value at the 
acquisition date with subsequent changes in the fair value being 
recognised in the income statement. Contingent consideration 
dependent upon continuing service of an employee is charged  
to the income statement over the related service period.

The term contingent consideration has been used throughout these 
financial statements to describe the part of the overall consideration 
paid to the former shareholders of businesses acquired on or after  
1 October 2009 that is contingent upon the future results of those 
acquired businesses, including where the payment is contingent on 
those former shareholders undertaking employment with the Group 
for a predetermined period after the relevant business combination. 
IFRS 3 (revised) requires that these amounts are charged to the 
consolidated income statement as a post-acquisition employment 
cost over the term of the relevant post combination employment 
period. The Group includes the relevant income statement charge 
within acquisition related expenses (Note 13) and which are included 
within operating profit. The Directors believe the commercial  
nature of these payments means that this term remains the most 
appropriate to describe these payments, notwithstanding the 
accounting treatment required by IFRS 3 (revised).

and gearing, as well as being the main basis for the Group’s credit 
facility covenants, are currently well within the covenant limits. 
Forecasts reviewed by the Board, including forecasts adjusted for 
significantly worse economic conditions, show continued compliance 
with these covenants. For both covenants, earnings are calculated on 
an underlying basis as described in Note 1(B)(iii).

On the basis of its forecasts, both base case and adjusted as described 
above, and available facilities, the Board has concluded that the going 
concern basis of preparation continues to be appropriate.

(C) Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company 
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group) and equity 
account the Group’s interest in joint ventures and associates. The 
parent company financial statements present information about the 
Company as a separate entity and not about the Group. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are amended 
where necessary to be consistent with those adopted by the Group. 
Where audited financial statements are not co-terminous with those 
of the Group, the financial information is derived from the last audited 
accounts available and unaudited management accounts for the 
period up to the Group’s balance sheet date.

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when 
the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
information from the date that control commences until the date  
that control ceases.

(ii) Joint ventures and associates
Joint ventures are jointly controlled entities whose activities the 
Group has the power to control jointly, established by contractual 
agreement. Associates are those entities in which the Group has  
the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control, over the 
financial and operating policies. The consolidated financial statements 
include the Group’s share of the total recognised income and expense 
and changes in equity of joint ventures and associates on an equity 
accounted basis, from the date that joint control or significant 
influence respectively commences until the date that it ceases. 
Associates and joint ventures are recorded at cost as adjusted for 
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the 
entity including goodwill net of accumulated impairment loss. When 
the Group’s share of losses exceeds the carrying amount of the joint 
venture or associate, the carrying amount is reduced to £nil and 
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent  
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or  
made payments on behalf of the joint venture or associate.

(iii) Non-controlling interests
In the consolidated balance sheet, the share of net assets attributable 
to non-controlling interests is disclosed as a separate component  
of equity after share capital and reserves, although it is neither a 
financial liability nor an equity instrument. The consolidated income 
statement discloses the amount of the result for the year attributable 
to non-controlling interests.

Where the Group has a written put option in respect of a non-controlling 
interest and has an unavoidable obligation to purchase the shareholding, 
the obligation is recorded as a financial liability at fair value, rather 
than being reported as a separate component of equity. No result is 
attributable to non-controlling interests and instead changes to the 
fair value of the financial liability are recorded at each period end in 
the income statement within financial income or financial expenses.
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(ii) Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill  
and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated to 
Sterling at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.

The revenues and expenses of overseas operations are translated  
at rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on 
retranslation have been recognised directly in equity in the translation 
reserve, a designated foreign exchange reserve, since 1 January 2007.

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary item 
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the settlement  
of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are 
considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation 
and are recognised directly in equity in the translation reserve.

(iii) Net investment in foreign operations
Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a  
financial liability designated as a hedge of a net investment in a 
foreign operation are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge is effective and 
are presented within equity in the translation reserve. To the extent 
that the hedge is ineffective, such differences are recognised in profit 
or loss. When the hedged part of a net investment is disposed of the 
relevant amount in the translation reserve is transferred to profit or 
loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

(E) Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets
Financial assets are either classified as loans and receivables, available 
for sale financial assets, or financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss. Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, loans, trade and other investments, derivative financial 
instruments and other receivables, but excludes financial deposits, 
prepayments and taxes. The Group determines the classification of  
its financial assets at initial recognition. Financial assets are recognised 
initially at fair value, normally being the transaction price plus, in the 
case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly 
attributable transaction costs. The subsequent measurement of 
financial assets depends on their classification, as follows:

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such 
assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
if the time value of money is significant. Gains and losses are recognised 
in income when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, 
as well as through the amortisation process. This category of financial 
assets includes trade and other receivables.

Available for sale financial assets
Available for sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial 
assets that are not classified as loans and receivables or financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss. After initial recognition, 
available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value, with gains 
or losses recognised within other comprehensive income until the 
investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined  
to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
reported in other comprehensive income is included in the consolidated 
income statement. Note 1(W)(iv) describes the basis on which fair 
value is determined.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at 
fair value after initial recognition. The gain or loss is included in the 
consolidated income statement. Note 1(W)(iv) describes the basis  
on which fair value is determined.

1. Accounting policies continued
Contingent consideration arising in a business combination that had 
been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 (2004) that has not 
been settled or otherwise resolved at the effective date of IFRS 3 
(revised) continues to be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 
(2004). Contingent consideration is discounted to present value  
where the time value of money is material.

(viii) Non-current assets held for sale
The Group classifies non-current assets or disposal groups containing 
a non-current asset as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. To be classified as held for sale, the assets must be 
available for immediate sale in their present condition, subject only  
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets,  
and their sale must be highly probable. Sale is considered to be  
highly probable when management are committed to a plan to sell  
the assets and an active programme to locate a buyer and complete 
the plan has been initiated, at a price that is reasonable in relation to 
their current fair value, and there is an expectation that the sale will 
be completed within one year from the date of classification.

On initial classification as held for sale, non-current assets and 
disposal groups are measured at the lower of previous carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell with any adjustments taken  
to profit or loss. The same applies to gains and losses on subsequent 
re-measurement.

Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill 
and then to remaining applicable assets on a pro rata basis (except no 
loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets or 
employee benefit assets, which continue to be measured in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies).

Certain assets/liabilities are excluded from the measurement basis  
of IFRS 5 including: deferred tax assets (IAS 12 Income Taxes), assets 
arising from employee benefits (IAS 19 Employee Benefits) and 
financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.

(ix) Business combinations between entities under common control
The results of business combinations between entities under common 
control are incorporated as if the acquired entity had always been 
combined. This is also known as ‘predecessor accounting’. Where this 
applies, all necessary comparatives for the prior year financial statements 
are restated to reflect the inclusion of results from the commencement 
of the earliest comparative period, in accordance with IAS 8.

(D) Foreign currency
(i) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet 
date are translated to Sterling at the foreign exchange rate ruling at 
that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are 
recognised in the income statement (except for differences arising  
on the retranslation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of the 
net investment in a foreign operation, or qualifying cash flow hedges, 
which are recognised directly in equity). Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to 
Sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair  
values were determined.
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Derivatives
Derivatives are accounted for in accordance with the policy in Note 
1(E)(iii).

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial liability when the contractual 
obligations to pay the contractual cash flows on the financial liability 
are discharged, cancelled or expire.

(iii) Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure 
to foreign exchange, interest rate and fuel price risks arising from 
operational, financing and investment activities. In accordance with its 
treasury policy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes. However, derivatives that do not 
qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value  
on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured at fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain 
or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument and if so the nature of the item being hedged. The gain or 
loss on re-measurement to fair value on derivatives not designated as 
a hedging instrument is recognised immediately in the income statement. 
Where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, see Note 1(F).

(iv) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share awards are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

(F) Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as either hedges of a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a  
highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge) or a hedge of 
the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment 
(fair value hedge).

On initial designation of the hedge, the Group formally documents the 
relationship between the hedging instrument(s) and hedged item(s), 
including the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking 
the hedge transaction, together with the methods that will be used  
to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Group 
makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship 
as well as on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging instruments are 
expected to be ’highly effective’ in offsetting the changes in the fair 
value or cash flows of the respective hedged items during the period 
for which the hedge is designated and whether the actual results of 
each hedge are within a range of 80-125%. For a cash flow hedge of  
a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly probable to 
occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that 
could ultimately affect reported net income.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable 
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair 
value, and changes therein are accounted for as described below:

(i) Cash flow hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of 
the variability in cash flows arising from a recognised asset or liability, 
or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any fair 
value gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised 
directly in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of the hedge  
is recognised immediately within the consolidated income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits 
which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and have an original 
maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are repayable 
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management 
are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose only of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Derivatives
Derivatives are accounted for in accordance with the policy in  
Note 1(E)(iii).

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual  
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the  
rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset  
in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in 
transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group  
is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

(ii) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are either classified as financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost, or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss. Financial liabilities include trade and other payables (excluding 
tax and social security and deferred income), accruals, finance debt 
and derivative financial instruments. The Group determines the 
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. Financial 
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, normally being the 
transaction price plus, in the case of financial liabilities not at fair  
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on  
their classification, as follows:

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. For 
interest-bearing loans and borrowings this is the fair value of the 
proceeds received net of issue costs associated with the borrowing. 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities other than those at fair 
value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated 
by taking into account any issue costs and any discount or premium 
on settlement. Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement 
or cancellation of liabilities are recognised respectively in interest and 
other revenues and finance costs. This category of financial liabilities 
includes trade and other payables.

Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds are separated into three components; liability, 
issuer call option and equity at inception. Each component is 
recognised separately.

The initial fair value of the liability component of the convertible  
bond is determined using the market interest rate for an equivalent 
non-convertible bond and is subsequently recorded at an amortised 
cost basis using the effective interest method until extinguished on 
conversion or maturity of the bonds. The issuer call option is fair 
valued using a valuation model and is measured at each balance sheet 
date with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. 
The remainder of the proceeds are recognised in shareholders’ equity 
in retained earnings.

Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components 
of a convertible bond based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability 
and equity components when the instruments are first recognised.
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(i) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised in the consolidated income statement when 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 
to the buyer. Travel agency commissions and other revenues received 
from the sale of third party product are recognised when they are 
earned, typically on receipt of final payment. Revenue in respect of 
in-house product is recognised on the date of departure. Revenue 
from individual travel modules directly booked by the customer  
with airlines, hotels and incoming agencies is recognised when the 
customer departs or uses the respective service.

No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties 
regarding recovery of the consideration due or associated costs.

(ii) Client monies received in advance (deferred income)
Client monies received at the balance sheet date relating to holidays 
commencing and flights departing after the year end are deferred  
and included within trade and other payables.

(iii) Valuation of revenue
Where the Group acts as principal, revenue is stated at the contractual 
value of goods and services provided.

Where the Group acts as an agent between the service provider  
and the end customer, revenue is presented on a net basis as the 
difference between the sales price to the customer and the cost  
of the services purchased and not the total transaction sales value. 
Businesses are identified as intermediaries dependent on a number  
of criteria, principally including the control exercised over the provision 
of service, inventory risk, and customer credit risk.

(iv) Aircraft lease income
Operating lease rental incomes are recognised in operating income  
as earned, on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(H) Expenses
(i) Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement on a straight line basis over the  
term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement as an integral part of the total  
lease expense over the term of the lease.

(ii) Finance lease payments
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining  
balance of the liability.

(iii) Marketing and other direct sales costs
Marketing, advertising and other promotional costs, including those 
related to the production of brochures, are expensed when the benefit 
of the goods or services is made available to the Group. In particular, 
brochure and advertising costs are expensed to the consolidated 
income statement when the Group’s suppliers have delivered the 
relevant material.

(I) Employee benefits
(i) Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans 
are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement  
as incurred.

1. Accounting policies continued
When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the  
recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the 
associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from the hedging 
reserve and is included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of 
the non-financial asset or liability. If a hedge of a forecast transaction 
subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a 
financial liability, the associated gains and losses that were recognised 
directly in equity are reclassified into the consolidated income 
statement in the same period or periods during which the asset 
acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss.

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding  
two paragraphs, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed 
from equity and recognised in the consolidated income statement  
in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast 
transaction affects the consolidated income statement.

Prospective hedge testing is performed at the inception of the  
hedge relationship and subsequently at each balance sheet date, 
through comparison of the critical terms of the hedged forecast 
transaction and the hedging instrument. Retrospective hedge testing 
is performed at each reporting date principally using a dollar offset 
analysis, comparing the cumulative changes in the fair values of  
the forecast hedged transaction and the hedging instrument.

When a hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity 
revokes designation of the hedge relationship, hedge accounting is 
discontinued prospectively. If the hedged forecast transaction is still 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in 
equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the 
transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to 
take place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity 
is recognised in the consolidated income statement immediately.

(ii) Fair value hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge  
of the variability in fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an 
unrecognised firm commitment, all changes in the fair value of the 
derivative are recognised immediately in the income statement.  
The carrying value of the hedged item is adjusted by the change  
in fair value that is attributable to the risk being hedged (even if  
it is normally carried at cost or amortised cost) and any fair value 
gains or losses on re-measurement of the hedged risk are recognised 
immediately in the income statement (even if those gains would 
normally be recognised directly in equity).

(G) Revenue
Revenue represents the aggregate amount earned from inclusive 
tours, scheduled and charter flying, provision of incoming agency 
destination services, travel agency commission received and other 
services supplied to customers in the ordinary course of business. 
Revenue excludes intra-group transactions and is stated after the 
deduction of trade discounts and sales taxes. Revenue is reported 
gross of fixed charges which are a liability of the tour operator or 
airline. These include Air Passenger Duty and other per passenger 
charges and levies, including the ATOL Protection Contribution in  
the UK.
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(iv) Own shares held by the Employee Benefit Trusts
Transactions of the Group-sponsored Employee Benefit Trusts (the 
Trusts) are included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
In particular, the Trusts’ purchase of shares in the Company is debited 
directly in equity to retained earnings/accumulated losses.

(v) Short term benefits
Short term employee benefits are measured on an undiscounted 
basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

(J) Financial income and expenses
Financial income comprises interest income on funds invested 
(including available for sale financial assets), dividend income, gains  
on the disposal of available for sale financial assets and changes in the 
fair value of financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using 
the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in profit 
or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established which, in the case of quoted securities, is the ex-dividend 
date. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Financial expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, 
unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair value  
of financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and 
impairment losses recognised on financial assets. All borrowing costs 
are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

(K) Taxation
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, in which case the related tax is also recognised in 
other comprehensive income, or directly in equity, as appropriate.

(i) Current tax
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for  
the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous periods.

(ii) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided or recognised using the balance sheet liability 
method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary 
differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill  
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or 
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that 
they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount 
of deferred tax asset recognised is based on the expected manner  
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using the tax rate at which the asset or liability is expected 
to reverse in future periods, based on tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can 
be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(ii) Defined benefit plans
The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans 
is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of 
future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service 
in current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine 
its present value and any unrecognised past service costs and the fair 
value of any plan assets is deducted in calculating the overall liability. 
The liability discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on  
AA credit-rated bonds denominated in the currency of, and having  
the same maturity dates approximating to, the terms of the Group’s 
obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using 
the projected unit credit method.

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the asset 
recognised is limited to the present value of any future refunds from 
the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan which are 
under the control of the Group.

When the benefits of a plan are amended, the portion of the  
increase/decrease in benefit relating to past services by employees  
is recognised as an expense/income in the consolidated income 
statement on a straight line basis over the average period until  
the benefits become vested. To the extent that the benefits vest 
immediately, the expense/income is recognised immediately in the 
consolidated income statement.

All actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the period they  
occur directly in equity through the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. Either monthly or annual contributions are 
made to funded schemes. The current service cost is included in the 
consolidated income statement as a personnel expense. Any change 
in the present value of pension scheme liabilities relating to employee 
service in prior periods but arising in the current period as a result of 
benefit amendments is charged/credited to operating expenses over 
the period during which such amendments vest.

The expected return on the schemes’ assets and the increase during 
the period in the present value of the schemes’ liabilities arising from 
the passage of time are included in other finance income.

(iii) Share-based payment transactions
The Group’s share award programmes allow certain Group employees 
to acquire shares of the Company; these shares are awarded by the 
Company. For equity-settled transactions, the fair value of services  
is measured by the fair value of the shares at the time awarded and  
is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity. The fair value is spread over the period during which the 
employee becomes entitled to the awards.

For cash-settled transactions, the resulting liability for the Group is 
charged to expenses at its fair value as at the date of the performance 
of the service by the beneficiary. Until payment of this liability, the  
fair value of the liability is re-measured at every reporting date and  
all changes are included in the consolidated income statement.

For both types of share-based payment transactions, the fair value  
of the awards is measured using option valuation models, taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the awards were made. 
The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual 
number of share awards that vest except where forfeiture is due only 
to market based performance conditions not meeting the threshold 
for vesting.
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(ii) Computer software and other intangible assets
Computer software consists of all software that is not an integral  
part of the related computer hardware and is stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes 
are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are 
directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and 
unique software products controlled by the Group are recognised as 
intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

• It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it 
will be available for use

• Management intends to complete the software product and use or 
sell it

• There is an ability to use or sell the software product

• It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate 
probable future economic benefits

• Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the software product are available

• The expenditure attributable to the software product during its 
development can be reliably measured

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software 
product include the software development employee costs and an 
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously 
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a 
subsequent period.

Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical 
cost. Licences acquired in a business combination are recognised at 
fair value at the acquisition date. Licences have a finite useful life and 
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.

(iii) Contractual customer relationships
Contractual customer relationships acquired in a business 
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The 
contractual customer relations have a finite useful life and are carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation.

(iv) Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to the consolidated income statement on  
a straight line basis over the estimated useful economic life of each 
type of intangible asset as follows:

Computer software 3-10 years
Brands 15-20 years
Order book at date of acquisition Over the period until travel occurs
Customer relationships  Over the period during which value will be 

obtained by the Group (up to 15 years)
Licences Over the term of licence

Software in development is not amortised. Upon completion of 
development and bringing the software into use, the costs are 
re-categorised into computer software and amortisation commences.

(P) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Owned assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes the 
original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to 
bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.

1. Accounting policies continued
(L) Dividends
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised  
as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which 
the dividends are appropriately authorised and approved for payment 
and are no longer at the discretion of the Company. Unpaid dividends 
that do not meet these criteria are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

(M) Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data 
for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit  
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares. EPS measures for continuing operations 
have been presented in accordance with IAS 33. The Group also 
presents a basic and diluted underlying EPS measure based on 
underlying earnings as defined in Note 1(B)(iii) above. Further  
details of the EPS calculation are presented in Note 32.

(N) Investments
Unless designated at fair value through profit and loss, trade 
investments are classified as available for sale assets and are  
included under non-current assets. They are recorded at fair value 
with movements in value taken to other comprehensive income.  
Any impairment to value is recorded in the income statement.

Short term investments in debt and equity securities which are held 
for trading are classified as current assets and are stated at fair value, 
with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the income statement.

(O) Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the  
purchase method.

Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates. Goodwill represents the difference 
between the fair value of consideration paid or payable and the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
acquired. Identifiable intangibles, such as brands and customer 
relationships, are those which can be sold separately or which arise 
from contractual or legal rights regardless of whether those rights  
are separable, and the fair value can be reliably measured. Goodwill  
is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is allocated to those cash generating units (CGUs) expected 
to benefit from the business combination and is not amortised but 
tested annually for impairment. Impairment testing is based on assets 
grouped at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes. In respect of joint ventures and associates, 
the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount  
of the investment in the joint venture or associate.

Fair value adjustments are made in respect of acquisitions. If at  
the balance sheet date, the amounts of fair values of the acquiree’s 
identifiable assets and liabilities can only be established provisionally, 
then these values are used. Any adjustments to these values are 
taken as adjustments to goodwill and must be recorded within  
12 months of the acquisition. Negative goodwill arising on an 
acquisition is recognised in the income statement upon acquisition.
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If the leaseback is classified as an operating lease, then any gain  
is recognised immediately if the sale and leaseback terms are 
demonstrably at fair value. Otherwise, the sale and leaseback is 
accounted for as follows:

• If the sale price is below fair value, then the gain or loss is 
recognised immediately, other than to the extent that a loss  
is compensated for by future rentals at a below-market price,  
then the loss is deferred and amortised over the period that  
the asset is expected to be used

• If the sale price is above fair value, then any gain is deferred  
and amortised over the useful life of the asset

• If the fair value of the asset is less than the carrying amount of  
the asset at the date of the transaction, then that difference is 
recognised immediately as a loss on the sale

(Q) Impairments
(i) Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial 
asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that 
one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount and its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss in respect of an available for sale financial asset  
is calculated by reference to its fair value. The recoverable amount  
of the Group’s receivables which are carried at amortised cost is 
calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets). 
Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment  
on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed 
collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any cumulative 
loss in respect of an available for sale financial asset previously 
recognised in equity is transferred to profit or loss. An impairment 
loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial 
assets measured at amortised cost and available for sale financial 
assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or 
loss. For available for sale financial assets that are equity securities, 
the reversal is recognised directly in equity.

(ii) Non-financial assets
The carrying amount of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than 
inventory and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
such an indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
For goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance 
sheet date.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of  
an asset or its CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and fair 
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. A CGU is the smallest identifiable 
group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent 
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. The largest 
unit to which goodwill is allocated is an operating segment level as 
defined in IFRS 8 before applying aggregation criteria.

Where significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment 
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items  
of property, plant and equipment.

(ii) Leased assets
Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Leased assets 
acquired by way of a finance lease are stated at an amount equal to 
the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments at the inception of the lease, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Lease payments are accounted 
for as set out in Note 1(H) above.

(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statement on  
a straight line basis over the estimated useful economic lives of each 
part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Freehold land is  
not depreciated. The useful economic lives are as follows:

Freehold properties Up to 50 years
Short leasehold improvements  Lease period or useful 

economic life if shorter
Owned aircraft Up to 18 years
Finance leased aircraft and equipment  Lease period or useful 

economic life if shorter
Aircraft spares 12 years
Cruise ships 40 years
Yachts 5-15 years
Motor boats 15-24 years
Computer equipment including  
retail computer equipment 3-5 years
Retail fixtures and fittings 8 years
Other assets 4 years

The cost of major overhauls of owned airframes and engines is 
capitalised and depreciated over the period until the next scheduled 
major overhaul.

The depreciation methods, useful economic lives and residual  
values are reassessed annually. Revisions to useful economic lives  
and residual values are accounted for prospectively from the date  
of change.

Assets under construction and advance payments, including 
capitalised borrowing costs, for future aircraft are not depreciated. 
Upon the delivery of the aircraft, the advance payments are 
re-categorised to aircraft assets and depreciation is commenced.

(iv) Borrowing costs
In respect of borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets, the Group 
capitalises borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost  
of that asset.

The Group has capitalised borrowing costs with respect to  
pre-delivery payments relating to aircraft.

(v) Sale and leaseback transactions
When a sale and leaseback results in a finance lease, any gain on  
the sale is deferred and recognised as income over the lease term. 
Any loss on the sale is immediately recognised as an impairment  
loss when the sale occurs.
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(iii) Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected 
benefits to be derived by the Group from the contract are lower than 
the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. 
The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the 
expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost 
of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the 
Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with 
that contract.

(T) Related parties
For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, parties 
are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability 
directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant 
influence over the party making financial and operating decisions, or 
vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common 
control or common significant influence. Related parties may be 
individuals or other entities.

(U) Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of an entity that:

• Engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues  
and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating  
to transactions with other components of the same entity)

• Whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group 
Management Board (GMB) to make decisions about resources  
to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance

• For which discrete financial information is available

As described in Note 3, all underlying operating items are allocated  
to the segment’s underlying profit except central costs and net 
financial expenses.

Segment information for total assets is only disclosed if such information 
is regularly reported to the chief operating decision maker.

(V) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application  
of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
Details of critical judgments, significant estimates and assumptions 
are disclosed in the relevant notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. The key accounting estimates and judgments are 
described in Note 2.

(W) Determination of fair values
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require 
the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial 
assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement 
and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When 
applicable, further information about the assumptions made in 
determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset 
or liability.

1. Accounting policies continued
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses 
recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to reduce 
the carrying amount of other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect 
of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation,  
if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(R) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less the estimated 
costs incurred until the sale and the estimated variable costs required 
to sell. All inventories are written down individually where the net 
realisable value of inventories is lower than their carrying amounts. 
The measurement method applied to similar inventory items is the 
weighted average cost formula.

(S) Provisions
A provision is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet when the 
Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required  
to settle the obligation and the outflow of economic benefits can be 
reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability.

(i) Maintenance provision for leased aircraft
To reflect the legal obligations placed upon the Group under  
the terms of certain operating leases, provision is made for  
the maintenance, overhaul and repair costs of operating leased 
airframes, engines and certain other components. The provision  
is based on the present value of total anticipated external costs  
over the useful economic life of the asset calculated by reference to 
costs experienced and published manufacturers’ data. The charge  
to the consolidated income statement is calculated by reference to 
the number of hours and cycles flown and by reference to the length  
of the full overhaul cycle. Costs incurred are charged against the 
provision. Neither the timing nor the value of the expenditure can  
be precisely determined but they can be averaged over time and  
over a fleet. The unwinding of discounted values is charged to the 
consolidated income statement as a financial expense.

The cost of major overhauls of owned airframes and engines  
is capitalised and depreciated over the period until the next  
scheduled major overhaul.

(ii) Restructuring provision
A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group  
has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the 
restructuring either has commenced or has been announced  
publicly. Future operating costs are not provided for.
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(ix) Share-based payments
The fair value of the shares awarded is measured using option 
valuation models, taking into account the terms and conditions upon 
which the awards were made. The valuation basis is identical whether 
the awards will be settled in cash or shares.

(X) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The following standards which are applicable to the Group have been 
endorsed by the European Union and will be applied for all accounting 
periods beginning as of 1 October 2011.

IAS 24 (revised), ‘Related party disclosures’, supercedes IAS 24 ‘Related 
party disclosures’. The new standard is mandatory for periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2011 and will be applied by the Group for the 
accounting period commencing 1 October 2011. The Group has not 
adopted this new standard early. The revised standard simplifies and 
clarifies the definition of a related party, enlarges the scope of what is 
a related party, such as subsidiaries of associated companies, whilst it 
removes the requirement for government-related entities to disclose 
details of all transactions with the government and other government-
related entities. As this standard relates to disclosures, there is not 
expected to be an impact on the Group’s financial statements in 
future years.

Amendment to IFRIC 14 ‘Prepayments of a minimum funding 
requirement’ is effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 
2011 and will be applied by the Group for the accounting period 
commencing 1 October 2011. The amendment removes an 
unintended consequence of IFRIC 14 related to voluntary pension 
prepayments when there is a minimum funding requirement. The 
amendment has been endorsed by the EU but is not expected to  
have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and to 
IFRS 1 on Hyperinflation and fixed dates are effective for accounting 
periods commencing 1 July 2011. The amendment to IFRS 7 relates  
to disclosures and is not expected to have an impact on the Group’s 
results. The amendment to IFRS 1 is not expected to have a significant 
impact on the Group’s financial statements in future years. These two 
amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU.

The following standards, revisions and amendments to current 
standards which have been issued and are applicable to the Group 
but which have not yet been endorsed by the EU are as follows:

 Effective date: accounting  
Standard periods commencing on or after 

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ 1 January 2013
IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ 1 January 2013
IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ 1 January 2013
IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ 1 January 2013
IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ 1 January 2013
IAS 19 (revised 2011) ‘Employee Benefits’ 1 January 2013
IAS 27 (revised 2011) ‘Separate Financial Statements’ 1 January 2013
Amendment to IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ 1 January 2012
Amendment to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of  
Financial Statements on OCI’ 1 July 2012

IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ is the first step in the process to replace 
IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: recognition and measurement’. IFRS 9 
introduces new requirements for classifying and measuring financial 
assets. The IASB has issued an exposure draft that proposes to delay 
the effective date of IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ to annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2015.

(i) Property, plant and equipment
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a  
result of a business combination is based on market values. The 
market value of property is the estimated amount for which a 
property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a 
willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after 
proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, 
prudently and without compulsion. The market value of items of 
plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings is based on the quoted market 
prices for similar items.

(ii) Intangible assets
The fair value of intangible assets recognised as a result of a business 
combination, including brands, customer relationships and the 
customer order book at the date of acquisition, is valued by reference 
to external market values or income-based methods. Income-based 
methods estimate the future economic benefits to be derived from 
ownership of the asset by identifying, quantifying and separating cash 
flows attributable to the asset and capitalising their present value.

(iii) Inventories
The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination  
is determined based on the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and sale, 
and a reasonable profit margin based on the effort required to 
complete and sell the inventories.

(iv) Investments in equity and debt securities
The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
and available for sale financial assets is determined by reference to 
their quoted closing bid price at the reporting date, where available.  
If there is no market price available the fair value is calculated based 
on other valuation techniques, including assessments of future cash 
flows, estimated selling price and other available information. The  
fair value of held to maturity investments is determined on initial 
recognition and thereafter for disclosure purposes only.

(v) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised at their fair value and subsequently 
recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method as 
reduced by allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts. An 
allowance for irrecoverable amounts is established when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The 
amount of allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

(vi) Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised at their fair value and subsequently 
recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(vii) Derivatives
The fair value of foreign currency contracts, fuel forward contracts 
and option contracts is their forward market price at the balance 
sheet date, based on external valuations or internal valuations using 
market data.

(viii) Non-derivative financial liabilities
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated 
based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. For 
finance leases the market rate of interest is determined by reference 
to similar lease agreements.
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Defined benefit pension plans
A qualified independent actuary undertakes the estimation of  
the present value of the Group’s obligations under defined benefit 
pension schemes using assumptions taken from a range of possible 
actuarial assumptions. These assumptions may not be borne out in 
practice, especially due to the long timescales involved. In particular, 
the valuation of scheme assets is based on the fair value at the 
balance sheet date. As these assets are not intended to be sold in the 
short term, their value may change significantly prior to realisation. In 
reviewing the work of the qualified independent actuary, management 
was required to exercise judgment to satisfy itself that appropriate 
weight had been afforded to macroeconomic factors. Details of the 
actual assumptions used, including sensitivity analysis, are set out in 
Note 6(C).

Derivative financial instruments
Judgment is required in the assessment of prospective effectiveness 
and specifically in the assessment of the probability of forecast 
transactions, both at hedge inception and during the period over 
which hedge accounting is adopted. The fair value of derivative 
financial instruments can also involve judgment. Where appropriate, 
external valuations from financial institutions are undertaken to 
support the carrying value of such items. Details of sensitivity analysis 
are set out in Note 25(L).

(B) Judgments
Separately disclosed items
Separately disclosed items are those significant items which in 
management’s judgment are highlighted by virtue of their size  
or incidence to enable a full understanding of the Group’s financial 
performance. Such items are included within the income statement 
caption to which they relate (Notes 4 and 5).

Business combinations
Judgment and estimation is required in the identification and 
valuation of separable assets and liabilities on acquisitions. In 
particular, judgment and estimation is required in the identification 
and valuation of separable intangible assets, being brands, orders 
books and customer databases, and determining appropriate useful 
economic lives for these assets. Judgment and estimation is also 
required in determining contingent consideration payable in respect 
of acquisitions. Details of acquisitions are set out in Note 13.

Liabilities
In accounting for provisions, judgment is required in determining 
occurrence probability, maturity and level of risk. Judgment and 
estimation is required in determining aircraft maintenance, 
restructuring and onerous lease provisions. Due to the volume of 
transactions and the materiality of period end accruals, judgment  
is also required in respect of the recognition and derecognition of 
airline and accommodation operating accruals. Details of provisions 
made and the basis on which the provision has been calculated is 
disclosed in Note 21 and the accounting policy is set out in Note 1(S).

Taxation
The Group has, from time to time, contingent tax liabilities arising 
from trading and corporate transactions in the UK and overseas 
jurisdictions. After taking appropriate external advice, the Group 
makes provision for these liabilities based on the probable level  
of economic loss that may be incurred and which is reliably 
measurable. Judgment is also required in the assessment of  
the future recoverability of tax losses and recognition of deferred  
tax assets. Details of unrecognised tax losses are given in Note 14.

1. Accounting policies continued
IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ establishes principles for 
the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements 
when an entity controls one or more other entities. The IFRS 
supersedes IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ 
and SIC-12 ‘Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities’. IAS 27 (revised 
2011) ‘Separate financial statements’ has therefore also been revised.

IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ establishes principles for financial 
reporting by parties to a joint arrangement. The IFRS supersedes  
IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 ‘Jointly Controlled 
Entities – Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers’. The IFRS is 
concerned principally with both the structure of the arrangement  
and that an entity had a choice of accounting treatment for interests 
in jointly controlled entities.

IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ applies to entities 
that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint arrangement, an associate 
or an unconsolidated structured entity. The IFRS requires an entity  
to disclose information that enables users of financial statements to 
evaluate both the nature of, and risks associated with, its interests  
in other entities; and the effects of those interests on its financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows.

IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ defines fair value, sets out in  
a single IFRS a framework for measuring fair value and requires 
disclosures about fair value measurements.

The amendment to IAS 19 ‘Employee benefits’ makes significant 
changes to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit 
pension expense and termination benefits, and to the disclosures  
for all employee benefits.

The Group continues to monitor the potential impact of these and 
other new standards and interpretations which may be endorsed by 
the European Union and require adoption by the Group in future 
accounting periods.

2. Key accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of consolidated financial statements under adopted 
IFRSs requires the Directors to make estimates and judgments that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amount of revenue 
and expenses during the year. The Directors evaluate the estimates 
and judgments on an ongoing basis. Such estimates and judgments 
are based upon historical experience and other factors it believes to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ 
from estimates.

Management has discussed with the Audit Committee the 
development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical 
accounting policies and estimates and the applications of these 
policies and estimates. Key estimates and judgments have been  
made in respect of the following areas:

(A) Estimates
Intangible assets – Goodwill carrying value
A full impairment review has been performed of all goodwill and 
intangibles balances held across the Group on a CGU basis. The 
impairment review is performed on a ‘value in use’ basis (with the 
exception of one CGU which is performed upon a fair value less costs 
to sell basis), which requires estimation of future net operating cash 
flows, the time period over which they will occur, an appropriate 
discount rate and an appropriate growth rate. Further details, 
including sensitivity analysis, are given in Note 10 and the accounting 
policy is set out in Note 1(Q).
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The Emerging Markets Sector is a growing portfolio of travel 
businesses, currently focusing on the specific source markets of 
Russia and Ukraine and is considered to be one operating segment.

Reportable and reported segments
Under IFRS 8, the results of the UK & Ireland and Germany are 
reported separately within the Northern Region and Central Europe 
respectively due to the size and importance of these core markets 
and both meet the threshold of being individual reportable segments. 
The results of Nordics are shown separately from other Northern 
Region segments as it exceeds the quantitative threshold defined in 
IFRS 8. Canada and the Hotels division have been reported separately 
as these two segments do not meet the majority of the aggregation 
criteria of IFRS 8.

The results of Austria, Switzerland and Poland have been aggregated 
into the Rest of Central Europe segment as these are considered to 
be economically similar over the long term and their activities are also 
considered to be similar in nature under the aggregation criteria of 
IFRS 8.

The French Airline, Corsair, has been separately disclosed from the 
Rest of Western Europe because, as a scheduled airline within the 
Group, it has a different business model to the rest of the Group’s 
integrated tour operators. Following the re-presentation of Jet4You  
as a continuing operation, this segment has also been disclosed 
separately as it does not meet the aggregation criteria of IFRS 8. 
Belgium, the Netherlands, Southern Europe and the French tour 
operating businesses form the Rest of Western Europe as these 
segments meet the aggregation criteria.

The Specialist & Activity Sector is reported separately as this qualifies 
as a reportable segment under IFRS 8. The results of Accommodation 
& Destinations and Emerging Market Sectors are reported voluntarily 
to be consistent with internal management reporting.

Segmental information for both the current and prior year has been 
presented using this new structure, with the prior year information 
being restated for the change in structure, as well as in respect of  
the restatement for Magic Life and Jet4You being re-presented as  
a continuing operation.

Corporate costs are in respect of central costs including finance, 
human resources, legal, facility costs and some information 
technology costs that do not relate to each business segment  
and hence they are not allocated.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment  
is provided below. Segmental performance is evaluated based  
on underlying operating profit and is measured consistently with 
underlying operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial 
statements and as defined in Note 1(B)(iii).

Intersegmental sales and transfers reflect arm’s length prices as if 
sold or transferred to third parties. Financial income and expenses are 
not allocated to the reportable segments as this activity is managed 
by the Group’s treasury function which manages the overall net debt 
position of the Group.

No one customer exceeds 10% of entity revenues in any segment. 
Intangible asset impairment losses arising are detailed in Note 10  
and are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Segment assets comprise capital expenditure (as this is the only 
measure of assets reported monthly to the GMB) and represent  
the amounts purchased in the year.

Recoverable amounts of deposits and prepayments
Judgments have been made in respect of the volumes of future 
trading with hoteliers and the credit-worthiness of those hoteliers  
in order to assess the recoverable amounts of deposits and 
prepayments made to those hoteliers.

Fair value measurements
Management has to make judgments regarding the valuation of some 
financial instruments, that use inputs that are not observable in active 
markets. These are disclosed in Note 25(H).

3. Segmental information
IFRS 8 requires segment information to be presented on the same 
basis as that used for internal management reporting. Segmental 
information is reported by the Group’s business sectors to the GMB. 
The GMB consists of tour operating and functional experts drawn 
from across the Group and who execute TUI Travel’s day-to-day 
operations and allocate resources to and assess the performance  
of the operating segments. Consequently, the GMB is considered  
to be the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of IFRS 8.

Group structure
The Group presents segmental information in respect of its four 
Sectors. As disclosed in the 2010 Annual Report & Accounts, on  
1 October 2010, the Group reorganised its Sectors from that of last 
year. The Mainstream Sector remains largely unchanged in terms  
of the Regions that are within it. The remaining three Sectors were 
refined and renamed to reflect the strategic priorities of TUI Travel  
as it develops and are now Specialist & Activity, Accommodation & 
Destinations, and Emerging Markets.

The four Sectors are divided into either Regions (Mainstream Sector) 
or divisions (Sectors other than Mainstream), which are further sub- 
divided into operating segments. Aggregation criteria is then used to 
combine certain of these operating segments into reported segments.

The Mainstream Sector consists of three Regions: Northern, Central 
Europe and Western Europe. The Northern Region comprises the 
distribution, tour operating businesses and airlines in the UK & Ireland, 
Canada, the Nordic Countries (comprising the markets of Sweden, 
Norway, Denmark and Finland) and the Hotels division comprising 
hotel management companies and joint ventures in hotel assets.

Central Europe comprises the distribution, tour operating businesses and 
airline in the source markets of Germany, Austria, Switzerland and Poland.

Western Europe comprises the distribution, tour operating businesses 
and airline in France, Belgium, the Netherlands and Southern Europe 
(comprising Spain and Italy) and the Moroccan based airline, Jet4You.

Each source market within each Region represents an operating 
segment, for the purposes of segmental information.

The Specialist & Activity Sector operates under six divisions – 
Adventure, Education, Marine, North American Specialist, Sport and 
Specialist Holidays Group. The Sector has over 100 specialist and 
activity international brands delivering a range of unique customer 
experiences. The Specialist & Activity Sector is considered to be  
one operating segment, in line with internal management reporting.

The Accommodation & Destinations Sector (A&D) sells and provides  
a range of services in destinations to tour operators, travel agents, 
corporate clients and direct to the consumer worldwide. A&D is 
structured along the following divisions – Business to Business (B2B), 
Business to Customer (B2C) and Specialist, although the A&D Sector 
in total is considered as one operating segment, in line with internal 
management reporting.
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3. Segmental information continued
Year ended 30 September 2011
        Underlying
      Intersegmental  Total external operating
     Total revenue revenue revenue profit/(loss)
Sector     £m £m £m £m

UK & Ireland     3,648 (60) 3,588 149
Canada     – – – 18
Nordics     1,055 (1) 1,054 70
Hotels     184 (155) 29 13

Total Northern Region     4,887 (216) 4,671 250

Germany     4,261 (26) 4,235 89
Rest of Central Europe     666 (60) 606 14

Total Central Europe     4,927 (86) 4,841 103

French Airline     426 (70) 356 (10)
Jet4You     88 (7) 81 (10)
Rest of Western Europe     2,717 (3) 2,714 37

Total Western Europe     3,231 (80) 3,151 17

Total Mainstream     13,045 (382) 12,663 370

Specialist & Activity     1,373 (1) 1,372 65
Accommodation & Destinations     879 (227) 652 72
Emerging Markets     – – – (12)
All other segments and unallocated items     – – – (24)

Total Group     15,297 (610) 14,687 471

Year ended 30 September 2010
        Underlying
      Intersegmental  Total external operating
     Total revenue revenue revenue profit/(loss)
     (restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
Sector     £m £m £m £m

UK & Ireland     3,399 (61) 3,338 108
Canada     52 – 52 (5)
Nordics     861 (2) 859 54
Hotels     171 (108) 63 5

Total Northern Region     4,483 (171) 4,312 162

Germany     3,812 (29) 3,783 74
Rest of Central Europe     623 (52) 571 11

Total Central Europe     4,435 (81) 4,354 85

French Airline     395 (56) 339 (25)
Jet4You     91 – 91 (13)
Rest of Western Europe     2,503 (13) 2,490 76

Total Western Europe     2,989 (69) 2,920 38

Total Mainstream     11,907 (321) 11,586 285

Specialist & Activity     1,347 – 1,347 77
Accommodation & Destinations     790 (209) 581 73
Emerging Markets     – – – (7)
All other segments and unallocated items     – – – (29)

Total Group     14,044 (530) 13,514 399

Reconciliation of Group underlying operating profit to profit/(loss) before tax
        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
      Note £m £m

Group underlying operating profit       471 399
Separately disclosed items      4 (74) (255)
Predecessor accounting for Magic Life      1 (17) (19)
Acquisition related expenses      13 (82) (63)
Impairment of goodwill      10 (39) (12)
Taxation on profits and interest of joint ventures and associates    12 (4) (6)

Operating profit      1, 3 255 44
Net financial expenses      5 (111) (117)

Profit/(loss) before tax       144 (73)

Financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Other segmental information
    Total depreciation of property,  
    plant and equipment and
   Capital expenditure amortisation of intangible assets    
      Restated  Restated
     2011  2010 2011  2010
     £m £m £m £m

UK & Ireland     103 188 83 84
Nordics     12 5 5 4
Hotels     18 14 11 9

Total Northern Region     133 207 99 97

Germany     15 24 13 35
Rest of Central Europe     3 2 3 4

Total Central Europe     18 26 16 39

French Airline     58 22 19 22
Jet4You     – 1 1 –
Rest of Western Europe     26 21 29 37

Total Western Europe     84 44 49 59

Total Mainstream     235 277 164 195
Specialist & Activity     53 31 44 36
Accommodation & Destinations     25 19 30 34
All other segments and unallocated items     7 1 – –

Total Group     320 328 238 265

Total depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets of £238m (2010 restated: £265m) comprises £101m 
(2010: £94m) of amortisation of intangible assets as shown in Note 10 and £137m (2010 restated: £171m) of depreciation as shown in Note 11.

Reconciliation of capital expenditure to amounts included in the financial statements
        Restated
       Year ended  Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
      Note £m £m

Total Group capital expenditure as shown above      320 328
Analysed as:
Additions to intangible assets       53 43
Additions to property, plant and equipment       267 285

       320 328

Reconciliation to the notes to the financial statements
Additions to intangible assets in segmental analysis      53 43
Additions to goodwill       – 1

Intangible assets: total additions      10 53 44

Additions to property, plant and equipment in segmental analysis     267 285

Property, plant and equipment: total additions     11 267 285

Entity wide disclosures
The UK is the Group’s country of domicile. Revenues from external customers and non-current assets are split geographically as follows:

 UK Germany France Other Europe Rest of the World Total      
    Restated  Restated  Restated  Restated  Restated
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue from  
external customers 4,454 4,134 4,248 3,727 1,396 1,313 3,883 3,524 706 816 14,687 13,514
Non-current assets 2,655 2,685 589 639 431 510 1,176 1,079 830 758 5,681 5,671

Revenue is classified based on the source of the supply. In addition to the United Kingdom, revenue relating to an individual country is separately 
disclosed when it represents 10% or more of total revenue. Other Europe is defined as Continental Europe and Eire excluding UK, Germany and 
France. Non-current assets for the table above excludes all financial instruments, deferred tax assets and post-employment benefit assets in 
accordance with IFRS 8.
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4. Separately disclosed items
        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Merger related integration costs       – 116
Restructuring and other separately disclosed items      74 63
Aircraft and other assets       – 7
Items relating to the prior year       7 –

Total pre-volcanic ash       81 186
Incremental costs caused by volcanic ash disruption      (7) 69

Total       74 255

Separately disclosed financial expenses       – 7

Separately disclosed items within operating profit are included within the consolidated income statement as follows:
        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Cost of sales       (6) 133
Administrative expenses       80 122

Total       74 255

Merger related integration costs
The merger related integration programme has now been completed and no further costs are expected to arise in this category.

In 2010, these related primarily to the costs of integration of the UK businesses. The majority of costs (£48m) arose from the integration of  
First Choice and Thomson in the UK and, in particular, from the formation of one airline and an integrated retail estate. A combined Mainstream 
UK head office was established in Luton in 2010 and the UK business completed the creation of a single management information suite. The 
improved management information and forecast capability which it gave the business led to the closing out of certain foreign currency positions 
based on the improved visibility of past and future requirements, resulting in a £20m charge in that year.

In 2010, costs also arose from the ongoing merger of former TUI businesses based in Continental Europe with their First Choice counterparts 
(£4m). In the Accommodation & Destinations Sector separate First Choice and TUI Tourism incoming agencies were combined in a number of 
key destinations, notably Spain, the Dominican Republic, Greece and Turkey (total £16m).

2010 costs also included amounts paid or provided for redundancy and integration remuneration costs, property closures and onerous lease 
obligations, as well as professional fees relating to the integration project.

Restructuring and other separately disclosed items
As previously reported, during the six-month period ended 31 March 2011, the Company engaged in a consultation process with the members  
of its defined benefit pension schemes which resulted in a restriction to salary increases used under the rules of the pension schemes to 
calculate benefits to a maximum of 2.5% in any one year. This change resulted in a reduction in accrued pension liabilities measured under IAS 
19 of £63m, which under IAS 19 is recognised fully in the income statement in the period in which it occurs. Therefore a £63m credit is included 
in the consolidated income statement in relation to this curtailment, which is included as a separately disclosed item.

Also included in the year ended 30 September 2011 are Mainstream restructuring costs of £97m which principally relate to a substantial 
programme to reduce costs and improve efficiencies in the German business (£32m); the ongoing restructure of Corsair, the scheduled French 
airline, and the retail network of Nouvelles Frontières in France (£35m in total), and further restructuring initiatives in the UK (£19m) including 
rationalising the retail distribution network. In addition there has been £15m of restructuring costs incurred in the Specialist & Activity Sector, 
£8m in the Accommodation & Destinations Sector and £16m of restructuring costs incurred in Group head office companies.

Costs incurred in the year ended 30 September 2010 included restructuring programmes which were not related to the business combination  
of First Choice and the Tourism businesses of TUI AG. The principal items were £43m to restructure Corsair, the scheduled French airline; £22m 
for the restructuring of hotel operations in Turkey and £13m to restructure the tour operator, retail network and hotel operations of Nouvelles 
Frontières in France. Also included was a £30m credit arising from the revaluation of the investment in The Airline Group Limited (Note 12), and 
a £13m gain recognised on the disposal of the Canadian Mainstream operation which was contributed when creating the strategic venture. This 
gain was more than offset by our share of post-deal restructuring costs and related Skyservice write-offs.

Aircraft and other assets
During the year ended 30 September 2011, the principal charge is £12m in relation to a further impairment of the cruise ship, the ‘Island Escape’, 
after its dry-dock costs were more expensive than previously anticipated and the assessment of the recoverable value of the ship through value in 
use has been reduced as a consequence of lower margins than anticipated being achieved in the current Summer season. This charge is completely 
offset by profits on the sale and leaseback or disposal of aircraft and the disposal of aircraft engines previously held for sale.

Included in the year ended 30 September 2010 was a £47m credit relating to a combination of aircraft order cancellation credits and compensation 
for delays to the delivery of aircraft, offset by a £12m impairment of the cruise ship ‘Island Escape‘, a £12m charge to provide for costs relating 
to the Corsair fleet renewal and a £7m onerous lease provision on an unused property.
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Items relating to the prior year
During the current financial year two errors have been identified which relate to the balance sheet as at 30 September 2010. The omission of an 
elimination of surplus sundry payables from the Group balance sheet resulted in an overstatement of current liabilities of £38m. This was offset 
by an understatement of current liabilities within Nouvelles Frontières, the French tour operator, of £45m. As both errors offset within cost of 
sales and trade and other payables and do not materially change the profit, net assets or overall financial position of the Group, the prior year 
has not been restated. The correction of the errors has been made through the consolidated income statement account in the year ended 30 
September 2011. We have addressed the underlying causes of these errors within the businesses concerned, and are introducing a Group-wide 
compliance framework as part of our ongoing work to improve key financial controls and procedures.

Impact of volcanic ash
Included in separately disclosed items for the prior year were the incremental direct costs incurred by the Group in respect of welfare costs to 
look after the customers who were affected by the closure of European airspace in April 2010. These costs principally included hotel costs for 
stranded inbound and outbound customers and the cost of repatriation of inbound customers which amounted to £69m. In the current year, 
there has been a release of £7m of accruals as costs in relation to the disruption in 2010 have been finalised with third party suppliers.

Separately disclosed financial expenses
The separately disclosed financial expenses in the year ended 30 September 2011 relate to £7m interest charges on the late settlement of tax 
liabilities in Spain, offset by the first time recognition of £7m interest receivable on loan notes owed to the Group by The Airline Group Limited. 
The separately disclosed financial expenses in the year ended 30 September 2010 related to non-debt items, principally a £3m interest charge 
on a tax penalty imposed by the Turkish authorities relating to financial years up to and including 2008.

5. Net financial expenses
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Financial income
Bank interest receivable       10 3
Interest on pension scheme assets       73 66

Total       83 69

Financial expenses
Bank interest payable on loans and overdrafts       (11) (10)
Finance charges on convertible bond       (62) (44)
Interest on pension scheme liabilities       (84) (84)
Interest payable in respect of loans from parent       (4) (15)
Finance lease charges       (10) (11)
Unwinding of discount on provisions       (11) (11)
Other financial expenses       (12) (11)

Total       (194) (186)

Net financial expenses       (111) (117)

       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Net financial expense (as above)       (111) (117)
Less separately disclosed financial expenses (Note 4)      – 7

Net underlying financial expenses       (111) (110)
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6. Employees
(A) Average number of employees
The average monthly number of employees in the year in the Group, including Directors on service contracts and key management was as follows:

        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       Number Number

By Sector
Mainstream Sector       39,198 39,063
Specialist & Activity Sector       5,686 5,668
Accommodation & Destinations Sector       8,012 7,100
Emerging Markets Sector       5 –
Corporate       346 359

Total       53,247 52,190

The 2010 numbers have been reallocated so that they are aligned with the revisions to Sector structure implemented in October 2010. There  
is no change to the total number of employees in this respect. The 2010 numbers have also been restated to reflect the inclusion of Magic Life 
employees in line with the treatment adopted as set out in Note 1(B)(ii).

(B) Employee costs
        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Wages and salaries       1,437 1,402
Social security costs       249 251
Pension costs:
– defined benefit pension scheme – curtailment gain disclosed in separately disclosed items    (63) – 
– defined benefit pension scheme cost       33 37 
– defined contribution pension scheme cost       25 24
Share-based payments (Note 6(D))       20 15

Total       1,701 1,729

The curtailment gain of £63m in relation to the changes in the UK pension schemes (described in Note 6(C)), together with £42m (2010: £96m) 
of wages and salaries costs and £4m (2010: £8m) of social security costs relating to redundancy and integration costs, are included within 
separately disclosed items in Note 4.

(C) Pension costs
The Group operates pension schemes for employees eligible and wishing to participate in the schemes. These comprise both defined 
contribution and defined benefit schemes. Pension obligations vary reflecting the different legal and market conditions in each country of 
operation. Defined contribution schemes are funded by the payment of contributions to private and state-run organisations, whilst defined 
benefit schemes comprise both funded and unfunded schemes. The assets of all the funded defined benefit schemes are held separately from 
the assets of the Group.

Defined contribution schemes for employees and Directors
Current contributions are recognised as an expense in the year and once paid the Group has no further liability. Pension costs of £25m (2010: £24m) 
relating to defined contribution schemes were charged to the income statement.

Defined benefit pension schemes
The movement of defined benefit pension obligations and assets is detailed below, summarised as UK, Germany and Other. Other includes 
funded schemes in Ireland, the Netherlands, Switzerland and Norway, whilst the main unfunded arrangements are in Austria and France.  
Almost all UK schemes are funded whilst German schemes are unfunded.

The principal funded schemes in the UK are shown in the table below. These are closed to new members, with the exception of existing 
employees working towards their entry qualification date.
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During the year, there were major changes to UK defined benefit schemes. With effect from April 2011, the schemes’ future benefit accrual  
was amended as follows:

1)  The rate of increase in future pensionable salary was capped at 2.5% per annum for staff earning over £30,000 per annum.

2)  Normal retirement age was increased to age 65 (where this was not already the case) and the option to retire before normal retirement date 
without actuarial reduction, where it existed, was removed.

3)  Future index linked increases are linked to the Consumer Price Index (CPI), instead of the Retail Price Index (RPI).

In addition, some employee contribution rates were increased.

On 17 May 2011, the Group entered into an arrangement with the trustees of the Britannia Airways Limited Superannuation and Life Assurance 
Scheme, the TUI Pension Scheme (UK), and the four schemes that subsequently merged to become the Thomson Airways Pension Scheme, to 
address an element of the deficit in the schemes.

The Group established a Pension Funding Partnership (PFP) arrangement including TUI Travel Amber Scot LP (the SLP) and TUI Travel Amber 
E&W LLP (LLP), together the Partnerships (the Partnerships). The main operating brands of the UK business, namely Thomson and First 
Choice, were transferred to the LLP and the pension schemes subscribed for interests in the LLP via the SLP. TUI UK Limited will pay a royalty 
to the LLP for the use of the brands. The Britannia Airways Limited Superannuation and Life Assurance Scheme, the TUI Pension Scheme (UK) 
and the Thomson Airways Pension Scheme in aggregate are entitled to an annual income distribution of approximately £17m. The PFP has a life 
of 15 years, after which the schemes will receive a payment equal to their outstanding funding deficit, up to a maximum of £275m in aggregate, 
in return for their interest in the PFP.

The Partnerships are controlled by the Group, and their results are consolidated by the Group. There is no net impact on the consolidated balance 
sheet, the IAS 19 deficit or income statement. The investment held by the pension schemes does not meet the definition of a scheme asset 
under IAS 19, and is therefore not included within the fair value of scheme assets disclosed in the Group financial statements. The recognition of  
the brand assets in the Group financial statements remains unaffected by the establishment of the PFP, although the Thomson and First Choice 
brands, the latter of which is recognised on the Group balance sheet, are now being held as security for the PFP. See Note 10 for more information.

Subsequently, with effect from 1 June 2011, the Air 2000 Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme, the Jetsave Retirement Benefits Plan and the 
Orion Airways Pension and Life Assurance Scheme all merged into the Unijet Group Plc Final Salary Scheme which was renamed the Thomson 
Airways Pension Scheme.

 Date of last full   Average employee 
Scheme name actuarial valuation Average Group contribution rate contribution rate

Britannia Airways Limited Superannuation  
and Life Assurance Scheme 31 March 2010 5.4% plus £18.9m per annum deficit contribution plus £11.9m PFP income 9.1%
TUI Pension Scheme (UK) 31 March 2010 7.6% plus £4.3m per annum deficit contribution plus £4.1m PFP income 6.8%
Thomson Airways Pension Scheme 31 March 2010* 14.4% plus £1.9m per annum deficit contribution plus £0.5m PFP income 9.9%

*There has not been a full valuation of the new scheme. All four merged schemes had their previous valuations updated to 31 March 2010 to support the merger and the PFP arrangement and 
for the purposes of implementing a new recovery plan.

Where there is more than a single class of membership, contribution rates reflect weighted average values within the scheme. Contribution rates 
are stated before adjustment for salary sacrifice arrangements where applicable.

The principal unfunded schemes in Germany are shown below. These were all subject to a full actuarial valuation within three months preceding 
the balance sheet date:

Scheme name Status

Versorgungsordnung’ Hapag-Lloyd Fluggesellschaft GmbH Open to new members
Versorgungsordnung’ TUI Deutschland GmbH Closed to new members
Versorgungsordnung’ TUI Leisure Travel GmbH Closed to new members

Valuations of the schemes are made by qualified actuaries using market based valuations for the assets and the projected unit method for the 
liabilities. The Group recognises all actuarial gains or losses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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6. Employees continued
The assets of each scheme have been taken at market value and liabilities in each territory have been calculated using the following principal 
assumptions:

  UK1 per annum Germany per annum Other3 per annum    
   2011 2010  2011  2010 2011 2010
   %  % %  % %  %

Inflation   3.2 3.2 2.5 1.6 2.1 1.8
Pensionable salary inflation   2.62 4.22 2.5 2.5 2.8 2.8
Discount rate   5.3 5.3 4.8 4.3 4.1 3.9

1)  Pension increases in payment across the UK Schemes reflect either fixed increases or index linked increases, subject to minimum and maximum limits applicable to each class of benefit.

2)  UK pensionable salary increase is capped at 2.5% for all staff earning over £30,000. In the prior year 4.2% was applicable across all UK Schemes with the exception of the Britannia Airways 
Limited Superannuation and Life Assurance Scheme which had assumed salary inflation of 3.7% plus 1.4% to reflect annual service increments.

3) The assumptions for Other are a weighted average.

The mortality assumptions underlying the value of the accrued liabilities for each territory are set out in the tables below. The mortality 
assumptions are based on relevant standard mortality tables in each territory:

UK life expectancy (weighted average)
       2011 2010
       Years Years

Males
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    23.1 23.0
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   24.2 24.3
Females
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    25.5 25.4
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   26.4 26.5

Germany life expectancy
       2011 2010
       Years Years

Males
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    18.5 18.3
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   21.2 21.4
Females
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    22.6 22.0
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   25.1 25.0

Other life expectancy (weighted average)
       2011 2010
       Years Years

Males
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    20.7 20.5
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   21.7 21.9
Females
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    23.3 22.9
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   23.7 23.6

The fair value of assets of the schemes in each territory are set out below:

 UK Germany Other Total    
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Equities 524 523 – – 46 47 570 570
Government debt 229 242 – – 55 37 284 279
Corporate bonds 196 177 – – 1 21 197 198
Property 15 12 – – 1 1 16 13
Cash and cash equivalents 10 20 – – 10 1 20 21
Other 103 99 – – 32 35 135 134

Total 1,077 1,073 – – 145 142 1,222 1,215
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The expected rates of return on each category of assets in each territory are as follows:

  UK Germany Other    
   2011 2010  2011  2010  2011  2010
    % % % % % %

Equities   7.8 7.8 n/a n/a 7.9 8.0
Government debt   3.8 3.8 n/a n/a 4.3 4.2
Corporate bonds   5.3 5.3 n/a n/a 4.7 4.3
Property   5.8 6.5 n/a n/a 4.8 6.4
Cash and cash equivalents   0.5 0.5 n/a n/a 0.8 2.6
Other   7.4 7.4 n/a n/a 2.6 2.5

Overall expected rate of return   6.2 6.3 n/a n/a 4.8 5.0

The overall expected rate of return is calculated by weighting the individual rates in accordance with the anticipated balance in the schemes’ 
investment portfolio. The fair values of the schemes’ assets are not intended to be realised in the short term and may be subject to significant 
change before they are realised.

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets in each territory are as follows:

 UK Germany Other Total    
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
 £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m

Balance at beginning of year 1,073 942 – – 142 137 1,215 1,079
Expected return on scheme assets 67 60 – – 6 6 73 66
Company contributions 50 89 – – 5 5 55 94
Member contributions 3 4 – – 2 2 5 6
Benefits paid (62) (61) – – (5) (5) (67) (66)
Experience gains/(losses) (54) 39 – – (8) – (62) 39
Foreign exchange – – – – 3 (3) 3 (3)

Balance at end of year 1,077 1,073 – – 145 142 1,222 1,215

Actual return on scheme assets 13 99 – – (2) 6 11 105

Employer contributions in the following year are expected to be £55m in respect of the UK and £4m in respect of Other. The UK value includes 
£17m in respect of income distribution from the PFP.

The composition of the fair value of scheme assets in each territory is as follows:

 UK Germany Other Total    
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
 £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m

Schemes with surplus of assets – 2 – – 9 9 9 11
Schemes with deficit of assets 1,077 1,071 – – 136 133 1,213 1,204

Total 1,077 1,073 – – 145 142 1,222 1,215

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations in each territory are as follows:

 UK Germany Other Total    
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
 £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m

Balance at beginning of year 1,422 1,327 117 97 170 156 1,709 1,580
Current service cost 19 26 8 7 6 4 33 37
Interest cost on obligation 73 72 5 5 6 7 84 84
Benefits paid (62) (61) (2) (2) (5) (7) (69) (70)
Member contributions 3 4 – – 2 2 5 6
Curtailment (63) – – – (1) – (64) –
Experience losses 44 54 (6) 16 (11) 11 27 81
Reclassification – – 8 – – – 8 –
Foreign exchange – – (1) (6) 4 (3) 3 (9)

Balance at end of year 1,436 1,422 129 117 171 170 1,736 1,709

The reclassification relates to a cabin crew plan at TUIFly previously classified along with more material amounts as a termination benefit within 
other provisions. The termination benefits have been extinguished, leaving the residual pension element which has therefore been reclassified.
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6. Employees continued
The amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement for the years ended 30 September 2011 and 30 September 2010 for each 
territory are as follows:

 UK Germany Other Total    
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
 £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m 

Current service cost 19 26 8 7 6 4 33 37
Curtailment (63) – – – (1) – (64) –
Interest on defined benefit  
pension scheme obligation 73 72 5 5 6 7 84 84
Expected return on defined  
benefit pension scheme (67) (60) – – (6) (6) (73) (66)

Total (38) 38 13 12 5 5 (20) 55

The UK curtailment gain reflects the future growth in pensionable salary being capped at 2.5% per annum for employees earning more than 
£30,000 per annum.

These amounts are included within the following expense/(income) categories in the consolidated income statement:

 UK Germany Other Total    
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
 £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m

Cost of sales (33) 14 7 6 2 2 (24) 22
Administrative expenses (11) 12 1 1 3 2 (7) 15
Financial expenses 73 72 5 5 6 7 84 84
Financial income (67) (60) – – (6) (6) (73) (66)

Total (38) 38 13 12 5 5 (20) 55

The amounts recognised directly in equity for the year ended 30 September 2011 and for the year ended 30 September 2010 for each territory 
are as follows:
 UK Germany Other Total    
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
 £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m

Cumulative losses brought forward 454 439 20 5 34 24 508 468
Losses/(gains) recognised  
during the year 98 15 (6) 16 (3) 11 89 42
Foreign exchange – – (1) (1) – (1) (1) (2)

Cumulative losses carried forward 552 454 13 20 31 34 596 508

Trend analysis information in respect of the UK, Germany and Other territories is as follows:

UK
    2011 2010 2009 2008  2007
UK balance sheet    £m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of scheme assets    1,077 1,073 942 810 891
Present value of scheme liabilities    (1,436) (1,422) (1,327) (1,015) (1,144)

Deficit    (359) (349) (385) (205) (253)

    2011 2010 2009 2008  2007
UK experience adjustments    £m £m £m £m £m

Experience (loss)/gain on scheme assets    (54) 39 37 (178) (7)
Experience (loss)/gain on scheme liabilities    (44) (54) (272) 184 95

Germany
    2011 2010 2009 2008  2007
Germany balance sheet    £m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of scheme assets    – – – – –
Present value of scheme liabilities    (129) (117) (97) (50) (48)

Deficit    (129) (117) (97) (50) (48)

    2011 2010 2009 2008  2007
Germany experience adjustments    £m £m £m £m £m

Experience gain/(loss) on scheme liabilities    6 (16) (13) 8 11
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Other
    2011 2010 2009 2008  2007
Other balance sheet    £m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of scheme assets    145 142 137 114 103
Present value of scheme liabilities    (171) (170) (156) (113) (97)

(Deficit)/surplus    (26) (28) (19) 1 6

    2011 2010 2009 2008  2007
Other experience adjustments    £m £m £m £m £m

Experience loss on scheme assets    (8) – (3) (15) (1)
Experience gain/(loss) on scheme liabilities    11 (11) (20) 5 14

Total
    2011 2010 2009 2008  2007
All territories’ balance sheet    £m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of scheme assets    1,222 1,215 1,079 924 994
Present value of scheme liabilities    (1,736) (1,709) (1,580) (1,178) (1,289)

Deficit    (514) (494) (501) (254) (295)

    2011 2010 2009 2008  2007
All territories’ experience adjustments    £m £m £m £m £m

Experience (loss)/gain on scheme assets    (62) 39 34 (193) (8)
Experience (loss)/gain on scheme liabilities    (27) (81) (305) 197 120

Reconciliation of defined benefit obligations and scheme assets to values recognised in the balance sheet:

 UK Germany Other Total    
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
 £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m £m  £m

Present value of unfunded  
defined benefit obligations 1 1 129 117 18 18 148 136
Present value of funded  
defined benefit obligations 1,435 1,421 – – 153 152 1,588 1,573
Fair value of scheme assets (1,077) (1,073) – – (145) (142) (1,222) (1,215)

 359 349 129 117 26 28 514 494
Unrecognised past service cost – – – – (1) (1) (1) (1)

Recognised liability for  
defined benefit obligation 359 349 129 117 25 27 513 493

Analysed as:
Retirement benefit non-current assets – – – – (1) (1) (1) (1)
Retirement benefit current liabilities – – 2 3 1 2 3 5
Retirement benefit non-current  
liabilities 359 349 127 114 25 26 511 489

Total 359 349 129 117 25 27 513 493

The sensitivity of the fair value of the defined pension deficit to the key financial and demographic assumptions is illustrated below.

     UK Germany Other Total
     2011 2011 2011 2011
     £m £m £m £m

Decrease to deficit of increasing discount rate by 0.25%    (63) (5) (6) (74)
Increase to deficit of reducing discount rate by 0.25%    67 6 6 79
Increase to deficit of increasing all life expectancies by 1 year    37 3 3 43
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6. Employees continued
(D) Share award schemes
The Company operates three principal share award schemes which are designed to link remuneration to the future performance of the Group. 
The schemes are the Performance Share Plan (PSP), the Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme (DABS) and the Deferred Annual Bonus Long-term 
Incentive Scheme (DABLIS). The DABLIS scheme is described below and the other three schemes are described in the Remuneration report 
along with the relevant vesting criteria.

At 30 September 2011 the shares allocated and outstanding in respect of ordinary shares, were as follows:

Share award scheme Number of shares Date due to vest

Performance Share Plan 1,020,602 28 November 2011
 5,139,613 28 November 2011
 1,852,876 2 December 2012
 712,513 19 March 2013
 1,988,854 6 December 2013
Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme 3,829,912 28 November 2011
 3,202,607 2 December 2012
 3,959,768 6 December 2013
Deferred Annual Bonus Long-term Incentive Scheme 2,171,283 2 December 2012
 2,468,921 6 December 2013

Total 26,346,949

The number of share awards at the beginning and end of the year is as follows:

       Number of awards 
       30 September
        2011

Outstanding at beginning of the year – excluding deferred shares      29,575,371
Forfeited during the year        (6,401,065)
Exercised during the year        (5,346,542)
Granted during the year        8,519,185

Outstanding at the end of the year – excluding deferred and delayed shares     26,346,949

In addition to the above shares, there are 1,310,340 (2010: 423,096) deferred shares outstanding in relation to the DABS. These are due to vest 
between 28 November 2011 and 6 December 2013.

In respect of the DABLIS there are an additional 2,176,746 (2010: 1,155,478) deferred shares. These are due to vest between 2 December 2012 
and 6 December 2013, although participants have opted to delay vesting in respect of 71,205 shares.

The weighted average share price of the shares exercised was £2.42.

No material awards have been made to date under the Group’s HMRC approved Share Incentive Plan which is an all-employee share plan.

The fair value of services received in return for shares awarded during the year is measured by reference to the fair value of the shares awarded. 
The fair value at the date the shares were awarded has been estimated using a binomial methodology for all schemes except where there is a 
market based performance condition attached to vesting, in which case a Monte Carlo simulation was used. The principal assumptions required 
by these methodologies were:

       2011 2010

Information relating to fair values of shares awarded
Fair value at measurement date       £1.50-£1.94 £1.30-£2.58
Share price       £2.29 £2.43-£2.93
Expected volatility       56.1% 44.0%
Award life       3 years 3 years
Expected dividends       5.56% 3.6%
Risk free interest rate       1.0% 1.6%

Participants are not entitled to dividends prior to vesting. Expected volatility is based on historic volatility adjusted for changes to future volatility 
indicated by publicly available information. Shares were awarded under a service condition.
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Employee expenses for the year
Employee expenses for the current and prior year relating to share-based schemes are:
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Equity-settled       19 14
Expense arising for share appreciation rights       1 1

Total       20 15

Of the £20m (2010: £15m) total employee expenses relating to share-based schemes incurred in the year ended 30 September 2011, £nil  
(2010: £4m) is included within separately disclosed items (Note 4) as relating to specific remuneration incurred for post-merger integration.

Share appreciation rights
Certain participants (other than board directors) are eligible to receive their awards on a cash-settled basis, the calculation of which exactly 
replicates the formal share-based scheme.

Long term incentives
Deferred Annual Bonus Long-term Incentive Scheme
The Deferred Annual Bonus Long-term Incentive Scheme (DABLIS) is for participants below the GMB level and requires a 25% deferral of any 
annual performance bonus award into shares. Matching shares may also be awarded up to four times the deferred amount and are subject to 
the achievement of stretching performance conditions over a three-year period. Awards of deferred and matching shares are subject to forfeiture 
conditions until the release date. The earliest point at which the shares are eligible for release is at the end of three years following deferral.

For awards of matching shares made during the year, no shares will vest unless the annual average of the ratio of the Group’s return on invested 
capital (ROIC) to the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) meets or exceeds one over the three-year period. A hurdle of ROIC, being at least 
equal to WACC, is used to ensure that the relevant long term incentive awards pay out only when shareholder value is being created over the 
performance periods. If the ROIC/WACC hurdle is met, shares will only vest to the extent to which two further performance conditions are 
satisfied over the three-year period as follows:

• Up to half the matching shares will vest based on growth in ROIC within the participants’ Sector or Group over the three year performance period

ROIC performance GAP Proportion of matching shares vesting

Below the minimum 0%
Minimum level achieved On a straight line basis between 10% and 100%
Maximum level achieved 100%

• Up to one quarter of the matching shares will vest based on growth in the Group’s earnings per share (EPS), before amortisation of merger 
intangibles, goodwill impairment and separately disclosed items, in relation to the growth in the UK Retail Price Index (RPI) as shown in the 
table below:

Average annual EPS growth in excess of RPI growth Proportion of matching shares vesting

Below 4% 0%
Between 4% and 13% On a straight line basis between 10% and 100%
13% or above 100%

• Up to one quarter of the matching shares will vest based on the Group’s ranking of total shareholder return (TSR) performance relative to 
companies ranked 30th to 100th by market capitalisation on the London Stock Exchange as at the date of the award as shown in the table below:

TSR Ranking Proportion of matching shares vesting

Below median 0%
Between median and upper quartile On a straight line basis between 15% and 100%
At or above upper quartile 100%

Matching share awards lapse if the performance conditions are not met.

(E) Remuneration of Directors
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Emoluments       8 9
Pensions and other retirement benefits       1 1

Total       9 10

Further information is provided in the audited section of the Remuneration report.
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7. Income, expenses and auditors’ remuneration
Included within operating profit in the consolidated income statement for the year are the following (credits)/charges:

        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Operating lease income:
– aircraft       (54) (54)
– land and buildings       (4) (4)
Operating lease rentals:
– land and buildings       198 180
– aircraft and other equipment       460 423
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment       137 171
Amortisation of intangible assets:
– business combination intangibles       66 54
– other intangibles       35 40
Charge for share-based payments       20 15
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment       6 1
Loss on foreign currency retranslation       38 18
Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles       51 12
Impairment of property, plant and equipment       18 15

Operating lease rentals: land and buildings, includes £12m (2010: £15m) of costs included in separately disclosed items (Note 4) as provisions for 
onerous leases, primarily related to vacated properties in the UK and Ireland. In addition to the operating lease rentals disclosed above, charges 
of £184m (2010: £149m) were incurred in respect of hotel accommodation rentals which are disclosed as operating leases under IFRIC 4: 
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease.

Up to 20 aircraft are ‘wet leased’ exclusively to another European airline company at fixed rates. The expected income from future minimum 
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases being leased to others is as follows:

       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring:
Within one year       36 40
Between one and five years       142 142
Later than five years       108 144

Total       286 326

Services provided by the Company’s auditors and its associates
During the year the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company’s auditor and its associates:

        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Parent Company and consolidated financial statements  1 1
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for other services:
Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation      3 4

Auditors‘ remuneration for audit services       4 5
Other services provided to comply with legislation (including regulatory reporting)    1 1
All other services       2 3

The 2011 audit fees refer to fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who are now the auditors for the Group.

The 2010 Auditors’ fees have been restated so as to include fees paid to both the Group’s then auditors, KPMG Audit Plc, and its associates and 
also fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP who were then auditors of certain subsidiaries of the Group. This has been done to make the two 
sets of figures directly comparable.
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8. Taxation
The tax charge can be summarised as follows:

(i) Analysis of charge/(credit) in the year
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Current tax charge
UK corporation tax on profit/loss for the year       24 –
Non-UK tax on profit/loss for the year       50 61
Adjustments in respect of previous years       (3) (15)

       71 46

Deferred tax (credit)/charge
Origination and reversal of timing differences:
Current year UK       (40) (6)
Current year non-UK       41 (2)
Changes in tax rates       14 (1)
Adjustments in respect of previous years       (29) 13

       (14) 4

Total income tax charge in consolidated income statement      57 50

(ii) Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The total tax charge (2010: charge) for the year is higher (2010: higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 27% (2010: 28%). 
The differences are explained below:
   Year ended Year ended
   30 September 2011 30 September 2010    
     £m % £m %

Profit/(loss) before tax reported in the consolidated income statement   144  (36)
Less share of (profit)/loss in joint ventures and associates (Note 12)   (13)  3

     131  (33)

Income tax on profit/(loss) before tax excluding share of profit of joint  
ventures and associates at the standard rate of UK tax of 27% (2010: 28%)   35 27 (9) 28
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes     29 22 3 (9)
Income not taxable     (14) (11) (2) 6
Tax losses not recognised as an asset     64 49 67 (203)
Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised    (30) (23) – –
Higher tax rates on overseas earnings/losses     (3) (2) (3) 9
Lower tax rates on overseas earnings/losses     – – (3) 9
Changes in tax rates     8 6 (1) 3
Adjustments to taxation in respect of previous periods    (32) (24) (2) 6

Total income tax charge in income statement     57 44 50 (151)

The underlying effective rate of taxation for the year ended 30 September 2011 is calculated based on the underlying profit before tax 
(excluding separately disclosed items, acquisition related expenses and goodwill impairment charges) and is calculated at 27%. The actual tax 
rate of 44% differs from the underlying effective tax rate due to the tax effect of separately disclosed items (principally the non-recognition  
of tax losses arising from such items), acquisition related expenses, goodwill impairment charges and the booking of £17m of specific provisions 
against potential tax exposures in Morocco and the UK.

(iii) Deferred tax recognised outside of the consolidated income statement
The following taxation charge has been recognised outside of the consolidated income statement:
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income
Cash flow hedges       22 9
Defined benefit pension plans       3 (9)
Other       4 9

Total tax debited to other comprehensive income      29 9

Tax (credited)/debited directly to equity
Equity-settled transactions (share-based payments)      – (4)
Convertible bonds       (2) 31

Total tax (credited)/debited to equity       (2) 27

Total       27 36
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8. Taxation continued
(iv) Factors affecting future tax charge
(a) On 22 June 2010, the UK Government announced a phased reduction in the main UK corporation tax rate from 28% to 24%, with the first  
1% reduction taking effect from 1 April 2011 (having been substantively enacted on 20 July 2010). The March 2011 UK Budget Statement 
announced an additional 1% reduction in the main UK corporation tax rate to 26% taking effect from 1 April 2011.

At the balance sheet date, the second 1% reduction has been substantively enacted confirming that the main UK corporation tax rate will be 
25% from 1 April 2012. Therefore, at 30 September 2011, deferred tax assets and liabilities have been calculated based on a rate of 25% where 
the temporary difference is expected to reverse after 1 April 2012.

The remaining proposed reductions of the main rate of corporation tax by 1% per year to 23% by 1 April 2014 are expected to be enacted 
separately each year. These further changes had not been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are therefore not included  
in these financial statements.

This may reduce the Group’s future current tax charge accordingly. It has not yet been possible to quantify the full anticipated effect of the 
announced further 2% rate reduction, although this should further reduce the Group’s future current tax charge and reduce the Group’s 
deferred tax liabilities/assets accordingly.

(b) The Spanish tax authorities are auditing parts of the Group’s Spanish operations for the years 2002 through 2006. During 2010, the Spanish 
tax authorities formally notified the Group that they disagreed with the Spanish corporate income tax treatment of two separate transactions 
that were undertaken during the period under audit. The Group has had extensive discussions with the Spanish tax authorities to explain the 
nature of the transactions and seek to agree the Spanish tax treatment of these.

The original tax deduction arising from the transactions being challenged by the Spanish tax authorities was approximately €28m. In prior years, 
the Directors recorded a tax creditor for their best estimate of the tax that they believe may become payable in the event that the Spanish tax 
authorities are successful in their challenge. This creditor continues to be held at 30 September 2011, within income taxes payable. In continuing 
to challenge these transactions, the tax authorities may seek to pursue a judicial process with the possibility of interest and penalties, the 
outcome of which at this stage is not certain. On the basis of independent legal advice taken, the Group firmly believes that in the event of any 
such case, it could be defended robustly. It is likely that the resolution of this matter will take a number of years to reach a final conclusion.

(c) Other factors which may affect the future tax charge include the mix of jurisdictions with different tax rates in which profits and losses arise, 
changes in tax rates and the potential future recognition of tax losses for which a deferred tax asset has not been recognised at the year end 
(Note 14).

9. Dividends
The following dividends which relate to ordinary shares have been deducted from equity in the year:

       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
      Pence 2011 2010
      per share £m £m

Dividends relating to the year ended 30 September 2009
Interim dividend (paid October 2009)      3.0 – 33
Final dividend (paid April 2010)      7.7 – 85

      10.7 – 118

Dividends relating to the year ended 30 September 2010
Interim dividend (paid October 2010)      3.2 36 –
Final dividend (paid April 2011)      7.8 86 –

      11.0 122 –

The interim dividend in respect of the year ended 30 September 2011 of 3.3p per share was paid on 3 October 2011 and this dividend of £36m 
will be recognised as a deduction from equity in the year ending 30 September 2012.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Directors have proposed a final dividend of 8.0p per share (2010: final dividend of 7.8p per share) 
payable on 10 April 2012 to the holders of relevant shares on the register at 9 March 2012. The final proposed dividend amounts to £125m and 
will, after approval by shareholders, be recognised in the consolidated financial statements for the year ending 30 September 2012. The final 
ordinary dividend of 8.0p per share, together with the interim dividend of 3.3p per share, makes a total dividend of 11.3p per share relating to 
the year ended 30 September 2011.

A dividend reinvestment plan is in operation. Those shareholders who have not elected to participate in this plan, and who would like to 
participate with respect to the 2011 final dividend, may do so by contacting Equiniti directly on 0871 384 2030 or via the overseas helpline on 
+44 121 415 7047. The last day for election for the final proposed dividend is 23 March 2012 and any requests should be made in good time 
ahead of that date.



Financial statements

www.tuitravelplc.com

TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2011 101
G

roup at a glance
Strategic overview

B
usiness and financial review

G
overnance

Financial statem
ents

Shareholder inform
ation

10. Intangible assets
   Customer Computer  Software in
 Goodwill Brands relationships software Licenses development Other Total
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 October 2009 (as previously reported) 4,530 441 211 395 42 29 137 5,785
Restatement 2 – – – – – – 2

At 1 October 2009 (restated) 4,532 441 211 395 42 29 137 5,787
Additions 1 – – 27 1 14 1 44
Acquisition through business combinations 31 13 1 – – – 27 72
Disposals (6) – – (18) (2) – – (26)
Reclassification from assets held for sale – – – – 2 – – 2
Foreign exchange (80) (7) (12) (2) (2) (1) (2) (106)
Reclassification of asset class – – – 20 (5) (15) – –

At 30 September 2010 4,478 447 200 422 36 27 163 5,773

At 1 October 2010  
(as previously reported) 4,476 447 200 422 36 27 163 5,771
Restatement 2 – – – – – – 2

At 1 October 2010 (restated) 4,478 447 200 422 36 27 163 5,773
Additions – – 1 47 1 3 1 53
Acquisition through business  
combinations 57 9 – 2 – – 7 75
Disposals (18) – – (24) (2) – – (44)
Reclassification from assets  
held for sale 11 – – 1 – – – 12
Foreign exchange 20 3 2 2 1 – – 28
Reclassification of asset class 1 – 2 (1) 1 – (3) –

At 30 September 2011 4,549 459 205 449 37 30 168 5,897

Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 October 2009 (as previously reported) (603) (48) (35) (278) (19) – (65) (1,048)
Restatement (2) – – – – – – (2)

At 1 October 2009 (restated) (605) (48) (35) (278) (19) – (65) (1,050)
Amortisation for the year – (25) (13) (47) (2) – (7) (94)
Impairment loss (12) – – – – – – (12)
Disposals – – – 16 2 – – 18
Reclassification from assets held for sale – – – – (1) – – (1)
Foreign exchange 20 1 3 2 – – (1) 25
Reclassification of asset class – – – (5) 5 – – –

At 30 September 2010 (597) (72) (45) (312) (15) – (73) (1,114)

At 1 October 2010  
(as previously reported) (595) (72) (45) (312) (15) – (73) (1,112)
Restatement (2) – – – – – – (2)

At 1 October 2010 (restated) (597) (72) (45) (312) (15) – (73) (1,114)
Amortisation for the year – (30) (14) (47) (1) – (9) (101)
Impairment loss (39) (6) (1) – (1) (4) – (51)
Disposals – – – 24 1 – – 25
Reclassification from assets  
held for sale (8) – – – – – – (8)
Foreign exchange (2) (1) (1) (1) – (1) – (6)

At 30 September 2011 (646) (109) (61) (336) (16) (5) (82) (1,255)

Net book value
At 1 October 2009 3,927 393 176 117 23 29 72 4,737

At 30 September 2010 3,881 375 155 110 21 27 90 4,659

At 30 September 2011 3,903 350 144 113 21 25 86 4,642
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10. Intangible assets continued
As part of the restatement for the impact of Magic Life, the opening balances at 1 October 2009 for cost and accumulated amortisation have 
both been increased by £2m, with no impact on net book value.

Disposals within goodwill of £18m represent reductions in the amounts of deferred and contingent consideration on acquisitions which took 
place in previous years.

Amortisation of intangible assets is recognised within cost of sales in the consolidated income statement.

As disclosed above in Note 6(C), the Group established a PFP arrangement in the year. The main operating brands of the UK business, namely 
Thomson and First Choice, were sold into the PFP and three UK pension schemes subscribed for interests in the PFP. The recognition of the  
two brand assets in the Group financial statements remains unaffected by the establishment of the PFP, although the Thomson and First Choice 
brands, the latter of which is recognised on the Group balance sheet at a value of £108m, are now being held as security for the PFP.

Amortisation of business combination and other intangibles combined with depreciation of property, plant and equipment is disclosed by 
segment in Note 3.

Individual intangible assets other than goodwill that are considered material to the Group are as follows:

  Brands Customer relationships  Other intangible assets    
   2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
   £m £m £m £m £m £m

First Choice brand   108 114 – – – –
Marmara brand   32 34 – – – –
Accommodation & Destinations (B2B) – Customer relationships – – 84 91 – –
Landing slots   – – – – 32 34

   140 148 84 91 32 34

The First Choice and Marmara brands are major brands of the UK & Ireland and French businesses respectively and have a remaining amortisation 
period of 16 years (2010: 17 years). The customer relationships within the Accommodation & Destinations (B2B) Sector are in respect of 
commercial contractual relationships with travel agents and have a remaining amortisation period of 11 years (2010: 12 years). The landing  
slots are in respect of the UK & Ireland business for airports in the UK and have a remaining amortisation period of 16 years (2010: 17 years).

Intangible asset impairment charges (other than goodwill)
Of the £12m (2010: £nil) impairment charge to intangible assets other than goodwill in the year ended 30 September 2011, £11m (2010: £nil) 
relates to the UK & Ireland segment, of which £6m relates to the impairment of brands (2010: £nil), £4m (2010: £nil) relates to the impairment 
of software in development, and £1m (2010: £nil) relates to the impairment of customer relationships.

Of the brand impairment, £5m is in relation to the ‘Island Escape’ brand. The recoverable amount of both the ‘Island Escape’ cruise ship and its 
related brand asset were calculated using the value in use basis derived from the cash flow projections in the Group’s latest approved five-year 
business plan, discounted at the Group’s WACC and adjusted as appropriate for business specific factors to give a post-tax discount rate of 10%. 
The carrying value was impaired to the extent it was below recoverable value with the brand being fully impaired. The remaining £1m of the 
brand impairment and the £1m impairment of customer relationships relates to the Explorers Travel Group, and these impairments have been 
charged because the Group no longer uses these assets.

An impairment charge of £4m was made to software in development in relation to the project to replace the UK & Ireland business‘ core reservation 
and web-selling platform. These capitalised costs were impaired as they were not considered likely to deliver future economic benefit following  
a change in direction of the project.

A £1m (2010: £nil) impairment charge has also been charged in respect of licences within the Specialist & Activity Sector.

Goodwill impairment testing
IAS 36 requires that impairment tests are carried out on CGUs, following the level at which the Group’s management measures returns on operations.

Once every year, or more frequently if events or a change in the economic environment indicate a risk of impairment, the Group assesses the 
recoverable amount of goodwill allocated to its CGUs as required by IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. The recoverable value of goodwill for all CGUs 
has been determined to be ‘value in use’, with the exception of the French CGU which is determined using the ‘fair value less costs to sell’ basis. 
This fair value less costs to sell basis has been used as the Board’s restructuring plan is not sufficiently advanced to meet the criteria for including 
both the costs and the associated benefits of the plan in a value in use calculation and not as a result of any intention to dispose of this CGU.
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The calculation of recoverable value for CGUs based on value in use includes the following assumptions:

• Cash flow projections based on the Group’s latest approved five-year business plan

• Cash flows beyond the plan period are extrapolated using an inflation only growth rate of between 1.25% and 4%. The growth rate used is 
less than or equal to third party estimates of the medium term GDP growth rates of the key geographic markets in which the specific CGU 
operates at the time the projections are prepared

• Cash flows are discounted using the Group’s WACC adjusted as appropriate for business specific factors, such as geographic risk

• Cash flows exclude planned enhancement capital expenditure, together with the associated benefit that the expenditure is expected to produce

• Cash flows include the impact of working capital in both the asset base and the impact on cash flows over the plan period

• Central group overheads are borne in full by CGUs and are allocated pro rata to the CGU’s underlying operating profit

The calculation of recoverable value for CGUs based on fair value less costs to sell includes the following assumptions:

• Cash flow projections based on the Group’s latest approved five-year business plan, incorporating adjustments to fair value where appropriate

• Cash flows beyond the plan period are extrapolated using an inflation only growth rate of 2%

• Cash flows are discounted using the Group’s WACC adjusted as appropriate for specific factors relevant to that CGU, such as geographic risk

• Central group overheads are borne in full by CGUs and are allocated pro rata to the CGUs’ underlying operating profit

Other key assumptions are in respect of the short and medium term post-acquisition earnings of acquired operations. The forecast earnings  
of these newly-acquired businesses are inherently more judgmental over these time frames.

Assumptions used in the five-year plan take past experience into account with CGU specific and central contingencies being allocated into  
the five-year plan figures for all CGUs. The higher CGU specific WACC rates in 2010 are a result of the budgeted central contingency not being 
allocated to specific CGUs, but instead an additional specific risk factor was applied to each CGU’s WACC. For 2011, the central contingency has 
been allocated to individual CGUs and hence the individual CGU specific WACCs do not require an additional specific risk factor to be applied. 
Exceptional events in the magnitude of the volcanic ash and related closure of airspace in 2010 are not expected to occur again and are not built 
into the plan. Whilst the full impact of the 2011 Arab Spring could not be built into the previous years’ five-year plans, the current five-year plan 
used for this impairment test does reflect the current and expected weaker demand in the near future, relative to previous five-year plans.

Since determination of an appropriate Group WACC is judgmental, sensitivities also address how increases in the base Group WACC might 
impact the results of the impairment tests. The Group’s WACC is based on a capital asset pricing model calculation using a mixture of in-house 
data and externally available information.

An analysis of the aggregate and material carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each principal CGU, together with the growth rates being 
applied to cash flows beyond the plan period and the pre-tax discount rates used for each CGU or group of similar CGUs is as follows:

   Growth rate applied to
  Goodwill cash flows after five-year plan Pre-tax discount rate used    
  30 September 30 September   30 September 30 September
  2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Sector CGU £m £m % % % %

Mainstream – Northern Region UK & Ireland  1,495 1,514 2 1.5 10 11
Mainstream – Central Europe Germany  409 387 2 2 11 11
Accommodation & Destinations  Accommodation &  

Destinations B2B  398 322 2 3 11 13
Mainstream – Northern Region Nordics  276 273 2 2 10 11
Mainstream – Western Europe France  205 228 2 1.5 11 11
Accommodation & Destinations  Accommodation &  

Destinations B2C  234 218 2.25 3 10 13
Accommodation & Destinations  Accommodation &  

Destinations Specialist  102 159 2 3 11 13
Specialist & Activity Student  134 143 2 1.5 10 12
All Sectors Multiple CGUs  759 729 1.25-4 1.1-3 10-13 11-14

Total goodwill   4,012 3,973

Of which:
Goodwill included within intangible assets 3,903 3,881
Goodwill included in assets held for sale (Note 18) – 3
Goodwill included within joint ventures and associates (Note 12) 109 89

   4,012 3,973

Goodwill included in assets held for sale at 30 September 2010 of £3m relates to Jet4You and has been re-presented in the current year  
within intangible assets (See Note 10). The multiple CGUs not separately listed above do not individually represent more than 3% of total  
Group goodwill. All of the Group’s goodwill has been allocated to each CGU and all CGUs have been tested for impairment.
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10. Intangible assets continued
Goodwill impairment charges
If the recoverable amount of a CGU is estimated to be less than the total of its operating non-current assets, goodwill and other intangibles,  
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the income statement. The impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of 
any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets on a pro rata basis. The impairment loss recognised is equal to the difference 
between the net book value and the recoverable amount.

A £39m impairment charge has been recognised in respect of the French CGU, being that of the French tour operator, following the fair value 
less costs to sell basis. Key differences between the fair value less costs to sell and value in use calculations are the inclusion of the costs and 
benefits of the Group’s restructuring plan for France and the exclusion of working capital balances in the fair value less costs to sell calculation. 
The French tour operator CGU includes the tour operating brands of Groupe Nouvelle Frontières, Marmara and Aventuria. The recognition of an 
impairment follows a deterioration in the trading results during the year of the French source market due to the political unrest in North Africa, 
this being a key destination for the French market. The French tour operator CGU is included within the Rest of Western Europe segment for  
the purposes of segmental reporting.

In the year ended 30 September 2010 there was a £12m impairment of goodwill relating to the Italian (£7m) and Spanish (£5m) CGUs as a result 
of a deterioration in forecast trading results compared to the prior year. The impairment test for both of these CGUs was based on the value in 
use calculation. Both impairment charges are disclosed within administrative expenses and shown separately on the face of the consolidated 
income statement.

The impairment arose since the cash flow model based on the then current five-year plan and other criteria described above did not support  
the carrying amount of goodwill and all other assets for these two CGUs. The pre-tax discount rate used for these two businesses was 11%  
for Italy and 12% for Spain and the growth rates beyond the five-year plan used were 1.2% for the Italian CGU and 1.9% for the Spanish CGU.

Sensitivity analysis for goodwill
The calculation of recoverable amount is, for the current year, sensitive to forecast future earnings and, particularly, the discount rates used.  
The Directors have considered the separate impacts of i) increasing WACC by 0.5%, ii) a reduction in underlying earnings of 5% across all years, 
and iii) a reduction in the long term percentage growth rate beyond the five-year plan to nil as being reasonably possible changes.

    Impact of a reasonably possible
    change in assumption   
        Reduction in
       Reduction in  the long term
      Increase in underlying percentage
      WACC of 0.5% earnings of 5% growth rate to nil
      £m £m £m

CGUs where an impairment would arise following a reasonably possible change in assumption
Italy – Mainstream Sector      2 1 3
Spain – Mainstream Sector      3 3 1

      5 4 4

These sensitivities disclosed immediately above do not take account of any mitigating action that management would take should earnings decrease.

No further impairments to goodwill would arise following a reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions in isolation. Except 
for the impairments referred to above and based on the calculations undertaken, the Directors consider that the recoverable amount of goodwill 
in each CGU exceeds its carrying value.

In the year ended 30 September 2010 there was a £12m impairment of goodwill relating to the Italian (£7m) and Spanish (£5m) CGUs. As at  
30 September 2011, there remains no excess in the recoverable value over carrying value for these two CGUs. Therefore any reasonably possible 
deterioration in an assumption will cause the recoverable value to be below the carrying value and therefore require an impairment, as shown above.
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11. Property, plant and equipment
     Advance
     payment
   Yachts, motor  for future
  Land and boats and Aircraft and delivery Computer Other
  buildings cruise ships equipment of aircraft equipment equipment Total
  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 October 2009 (as previously reported)  339 241 967 108 168 495 2,318
Restatement (Note 1(B)(ii))  – – – – 1 28 29

Restated balance at 1 October 2009  339 241 967 108 169 523 2,347
Foreign exchange  (10) (2) (40) (5) 1 (15) (71)
Acquisitions through business combinations  2 – – – – 3 5
Additions  26 131 32 36 8 52 285
Disposals  (8) (17) (49) – (13) (37) (124)
Reclassifications  3 (1) 24 (2) 11 (35) –
Transferred from assets held for sale  2 – – – – – 2

At 30 September 2010  354 352 934 137 176 491 2,444

At 1 October 2010 (as previously reported)  354 352 934 137 175 461 2,413
Restatement (Note 1(B)(ii))  – – – – 1 30 31

Restated balance at 1 October 2010  354 352 934 137 176 491 2,444
Foreign exchange  13 1 8 (1) 3 (3) 21
Acquisitions through business combinations  1 – – – 2 3 6
Transfer from inventory  – – 30 – – – 30
Additions  20 60 28 73 14 72 267
Disposals  (8) (7) (229) (39) (1) (51) (335)
Reclassifications  3 14 10 – 1 (28) –
Transferred from/(to) assets held for sale  1 (1) (52) – – – (52)

At 30 September 2011  384 419 729 170 195 484 2,381

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 October 2009  (175) (87) (633) – (146) (313) (1,354)
Restatement (Note 1(B)(ii))  – – – – (1) (17) (18)

Restated balance at 1 October 2009  (175) (87) (633) – (147) (330) (1,372)
Foreign exchange  4 1 27 – (1) 6 37
Provided in the year  (16) (19) (83) – (12) (41) (171)
Disposals  7 9 41 – 12 32 101
Impairments  – (15) – – – – (15)
Reclassifications  (2) – – – (7) 9 –
Transferred from assets held for sale  (1) – – – – – (1)

At 30 September 2010  (183) (111) (648) – (155) (324) (1,421)

At 1 October 2010 (as previously stated)  (183) (111) (648) – (154) (305) (1,401)
Restatement (Note 1(B)(ii))  – – – – (1) (19) (20)

Restated balance at 1 October 2010  (183) (111) (648) – (155) (324) (1,421)
Foreign exchange  (3) – (4) – (3) 1 (9)
Acquisitions through business combinations  – – – – (2) (2) (4)
Transfer from inventory  – – (21) – – – (21)
Provided in the year  (14) (22) (51) – (8) (42) (137)
Disposals  6 – 154 – – 27 187
Impairments  (2) (12) (4) – – – (18)
Reclassifications  (3) (7) – – – 10 –
Transferred to assets held for sale  – – 43 – – – 43

At 30 September 2011  (199) (152) (531) – (168) (330) (1,380)

Net book value
At 1 October 2009 (restated)  164 154 334 108 22 193 975

At 30 September 2010 (restated)  171 241 286 137 21 167 1,023

At 30 September 2011  185 267 198 170 27 154 1,001

Please refer to Note 1(B)(ii) for a full explanation of the restatement.
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11. Property, plant and equipment continued
Impairment charges
Of the impairment charge in the year ended 30 September 2011 of £18m (2010: £15m), £12m (2010: £15m) relates to one owned ship within  
the UK operating segment, the ‘Island Escape’.

An impairment charge of £15m was booked in relation to this ship in the year ended September 2010 after an expanded class survey on the 
condition of the ship revealed that it would require a more extensive dry-dock than was originally expected due to steelwork corrosion. The 
recoverable amount in 2010, using fair value less costs to sell basis of valuation, was derived from obtaining an independent market valuation 
from an external international shipping consultancy, using open market value. The carrying value was impaired to the extent that it was above 
recoverable value.

During the year ended 30 September 2011 a further £12m impairment charge was required because the costs of this dry-dock escalated further 
and difficult market conditions meant it was not possible to sell the ship for what was considered its market value at September 2010. The 
recoverable amount of the asset has therefore been calculated using the value in use basis. It is derived from the cash flow projections for this 
asset based on the Group’s latest approved five-year business plan, discounted at the Group’s WACC and adjusted as appropriate for business 
specific factors to give a post-tax discount rate of 10%. The carrying value was impaired to the extent that it was above recoverable value.

Advance payments for future delivery of aircraft
Interest of £7m (2010: £5m) has been capitalised during the year in relation to the advance payments for future delivery of aircraft at a rate  
of 5.4% (2010: 5.4%).

Other disclosures
Other property, plant and equipment with a combined net book value as at 30 September 2011 of £154m (2010: £167m) includes £112m (2010: 
£114m) of fixtures and fittings, £17m (2010: £24m) of property, plant, and equipment under construction and £24m (2010: £28m) of motor vehicles.

Some rotable and repairable aircraft spares with a net book value of £9m were disclosed as inventory at 30 September 2010 but have been 
transferred to aircraft and equipment within property, plant and equipment in the current year. These changes were undertaken to ensure 
consistent presentation across the Group and because these assets are held for long term economic benefit.

Land and buildings comprise freehold and long leasehold properties with net book values of £135m (2010: £118m) and short leasehold properties 
with a net book value of £50m (2010: £53m) respectively.

The net book value of assets held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts at 30 September 2011 was £146m (2010: £201m). This 
includes £103m (2010: £109m) of ships, yachts and motorboats, £26m (2010: £79m) of aircraft, £8m (2010: £7m) of land and buildings and  
£9m (2010: £6m) of other assets, mainly vehicles.

The net book value of property, plant and equipment with restrictions on title, being pledged as security for bank loans, amounted to £29m 
(2010: £27m).
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12. Investment in joint ventures, associates and other investments
The Group’s equity investment in its joint ventures and associates is recorded in the consolidated financial statements as follows:

      Share of net Share of net Total
      assets of assets of share of
      joint ventures associates net assets
      £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 October 2009      57 19 76
Share of profits/(losses) before interest and tax for the year     8 (3) 5
Share of amortisation for the year      – (2) (2)
Share of interest and tax charge      (5) (1) (6)
Acquisitions      1 58 59
Disposals      – (1) (1)
Dividends paid      (7) (2) (9)
Reclassifications and other movements      5 (4) 1
Foreign exchange      (2) 1 (1)

At 30 September 2010      57 65 122
Share of (losses)/profits before interest, amortisation and tax for the year    (1) 23 22
Share of interest and tax charge      (4) – (4)
Share of amortisation for the year      – (3) (3)
Acquisitions      4 1 5
Dividends paid      (2) (5) (7)
Reclassifications and other movements      (1) – (1)
Foreign exchange      (1) – (1)

At 30 September 2011      52 81 133

Goodwill
At 1 October 2009      20 16 36
Acquisitions      10 47 57
Reclassifications and other movements      – (1) (1)
Foreign exchange      (1) (2) (3)

At 30 September 2010      29 60 89
Acquisitions      19 1 20
Reclassifications and other movements      (1) – (1)
Foreign exchange      1 – 1

At 30 September 2011      48 61 109

Cost and Net book value
At 1 October 2009      77 35 112

At 30 September 2010      86 125 211

At 30 September 2011      100 142 242

The principal joint ventures and associates and the proportion of voting rights are shown below:

   Proportion of   Country of 
Name of company   voting rights held % Nature of business  registration/incorporation

Joint ventures
Travco Group Holding SAE    50.0 Incoming agency Egypt
Le Passage to India Tours and Travels Private Limited   50.0 Incoming agency India
Atlantica Hellas SA    50.0 Hotel operator Greece
Atlantica Hotels & Resorts Limited    49.9 Hotel operator Cyprus
Togebi Holdings Limited    49.0 Tour operator Cyprus
Associates
Sunwing Travel Group Inc    25.0 Tour operator Canada
TUI InfoTec GmbH    49.9 IT Services Germany

Togebi Holdings Limited operates through subsidiaries in Russia and Ukraine.
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12. Investment in joint ventures, associates and other investments continued
A summary of the results for the year ended 30 September 2011 and of the assets and liabilities at this date of the Group’s joint ventures and 
associates is shown below:
   Joint   Joint
   ventures Associates Total ventures Associates Total
   2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010
100% values   £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue   752 842 1,594 792 618 1,410
Operating costs   (754) (795) (1,549) (781) (623) (1,404)
Operating (loss)/profit   (2) 47 45 11 (5) 6
Net interest payable   (4) – (4) (2) (1) (3)
(Loss)/profit before taxation   (6) 47 41 9 (6) 3
Taxation   (4) (1) (5) (5) (3) (8)
(Loss)/profit after taxation for the year   (10) 46 36 4 (9) (5)

Non-current assets   83 144 227 169 159 328
Current assets   293 265 558 158 184 342
Total assets   376 409 785 327 343 670
Non-current liabilities   (210) (186) (396) (59) (60) (119)
Current liabilities   (62) (53) (115) (154) (145) (299)
Total liabilities   (272) (239) (511) (213) (205) (418)
Net assets   104 170 274 114 138 252

Sunwing strategic venture
The Canadian Mainstream business was classified as a disposal group as at 30 September 2009 and disclosed as held for sale on the basis of  
the then announced strategic venture transaction with Sunwing Travel Group Inc. (Sunwing). The respective parties received all the necessary 
regulatory approvals and completed the transaction on 14 January 2010. On this date, Sunwing was accounted for as an acquisition of an 
associate in accordance with IAS 27 (revised).

Togebi Holdings Limited
The Group has an agreement with S-Group Capital Management Limited (SGCM), regarding Togebi Holdings Limited, a jointly-owned 
investment holding company, owned 51% by SGCM and 49% by the Group. The joint venture owns three subsidiary tour operators and travel 
agency groups in Russia and Ukraine, being Mostravel, VKO Group and Voyage Kiev.

All major decisions have to be agreed by both shareholders and under IAS 31: Interests in Joint Ventures the entity is therefore accounted  
for as a joint venture.

SGCM is owned by a significant shareholder of TUI AG and is therefore considered to be a related party. Togebi Holdings Limited and its 
subsidiary undertakings are therefore considered to be related parties by virtue of SGCM being the joint venturer to this investment.

Other investments
      Trade Non-
      and listed consolidated
      investments entities Total
      £m £m £m

At 1 October 2009      47 30 77
Disposals      (9) – (9)
Reclassification to non-current interest-bearing receivables     (7) – (7)
Investments consolidated for the first time      – (4) (4)
Change in the fair value of available for sale financial asset     (4) – (4)
Change in the fair value of assets held at fair value through profit and loss    30 – 30
Foreign exchange      (1) (3) (4)
At 30 September 2010      56 23 79
Additions      – 1 1
Disposals      (4) – (4)
Investments consolidated for the first time      – (1) (1)
Impairment during the year      – (2) (2)
Change in the fair value of available for sale financial asset     (1) – (1)
At 30 September 2011      51 21 72

Other investments of £72m (2010: £79m) comprise trade and listed investments and non-consolidated entities.

Trade and listed investments at 30 September 2011 re-presented the Group’s 14.3% (2010: 14.3%) shareholding in The Airline Group Limited 
(which in turn has a 42% shareholding in National Air Traffic Services Limited), a 6.0% (2010: 7.2%) shareholding in Air Berlin PLC and a 10% 
(2010: 10%) shareholding in the Atlantica Leisure Group Limited.

In 2010, the Group increased the fair value of its investment in The Airline Group and reclassified the loan note element of this investment to 
non-current interest-bearing receivables. The uplift in the value of the investment of £30m was credited to separately disclosed items (Note 4). 
There has been no change to this valuation in 2011.

Non-consolidated entities are recorded at cost and reflect the Group’s net investment held in circa 50 subsidiaries which, due to the immaterial 
size of their revenues, result and financial position, have not been consolidated. Balances between these entities and consolidated subsidiaries 
have not been eliminated.
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13. Investments
Acquisitions
(A) Acquisitions in the year ended 30 September 2011
Acquisitions were made in the year for a total investment value of £69m in order to expand business operations in line with the Group’s growth 
strategy. In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 (revised), incidental acquisition costs of £11m and £5m of remuneration for post-combination 
services have been expensed within administrative expenses (and disclosed as an acquisition related expense) in the consolidated income statement 
in the year. These acquisitions gave rise to provisional goodwill of £57m. The principal acquired businesses and their acquisition dates were:

Business Description Date Country

Mainstream Sector
GEO Reisebüro & Franchisesystem Travel agent November 2010 Austria
Travel & More GmbH Travel agent March 2011 Germany
Centrum Podrozy SA Travel agent December 2010 Poland
Specialist & Activity Sector
Intrepid Travel Pty Ltd Tour operator April 2011 Australia
Great Atlantic Travel and Tour Inc. Tour operator July 2011 USA
The English Language Centre York Limited Language teaching July 2011 United Kingdom
Accommodation & Destinations Sector
Top Class – European Cruise Services SAM Cruise handling October 2010 Monaco
Lima Tours S.A.C. Tour operator January 2011 Peru
Gateway Guest Services USA LLC (TMS Gateway) Cruise services June 2011 USA

In addition to the above, the Group acquired 27 individually insignificant German-based travel agency businesses and one insignificant Austrian-
based travel agency business for a total consideration of £4m during the year ended 30 September 2011.

The Group acquired 100% of the voting equity instruments in respect of each acquisition completed during the year with the exception of Great 
Atlantic Travel and Tour Inc, of which 75% of the voting equity instruments were acquired, Intrepid Travel Pty Ltd, of which 60% of the voting 
equity instruments were acquired and GEO Reisebüro & Franchisesystem which was an asset deal.

The relative size of the acquisitions made is set out in the table below:
       Total Total
Consideration      Number of consideration goodwill
£m      acquisitions £m £m

0-5      6 7 6
5-10      1 5 3
> 10      2 53 45

Total      9 65 54
Other individually insignificant businesses      28 4 3

Total      37 69 57

The total provisional net assets/(liabilities) acquired are set out below:
        Fair value of
        net assets/
        (liabilities)
        acquired
        £m

Fair value of net assets/(liabilities) acquired
Intangible assets        18
Property, plant and equipment        2
Trade receivables        22
Investments        3
Cash        11
Current liabilities (excluding debt)        (35)
Deferred tax provision        (5)
Other non-current liabilities (excluding debt)        (2)
Interest-bearing liabilities        (2)

Total        12

Total consideration        69
Less net assets acquired (as above)        (12)

Total goodwill        57

Of the trade receivables above, £22m represents the gross and fair contractual value of the amount of the receivables. There were no material 
amounts of contractual cash flows not expected to be recoverable.
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13. Investments continued
All acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method, as required by IFRS 3 (revised). It should be noted that certain fair value 
adjustments and the value of contingent consideration have necessarily been prepared on a provisional basis due to the recent timing of certain 
acquisitions, the periods over which contingent consideration may become payable and the seasonality of businesses, such that fair values can 
only be determined accurately once a season has passed. Experience may result in revisions to fair values in the subsequent accounting period. 
No material amount of goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

There are no material accounting policy adjustments nor any significant differences between the book and fair values of assets and liabilities acquired.

The consideration payable is made up of:
        £m

Cash        23
Contingent consideration        3
Deferred consideration        4
Fair value of 40% in Adventure travel business (see below)       39

Total consideration        69

The provisional goodwill arising in the year of £57m (2010: £31m) arises from 37 (2010: 31) separate acquisitions. One single acquisition in the 
current year is considered material to goodwill, being the acquisition of Intrepid Travel Pty Ltd. Further disclosure is provided below.

Intrepid Travel Pty Limited
On 4 April 2011, the Group acquired 60% of the ordinary equity instruments of Intrepid Travel Pty Limited, for the purpose of expanding the 
Specialist & Activity Sector’s growth strategy.

The total provisional net assets/(liabilities) acquired are set out below:
        Fair value of
        net assets/
        (liabilities)
        acquired
        £m

Fair value of net assets/(liabilities) acquired
Intangible assets        7
Property, plant and equipment        1
Investments        2
Trade receivables        15
Cash        8
Current liabilities (excluding debt)        (28)
Other non-current liabilities (excluding debt)        (2)
Interest-bearing liabilities        (2)

Total        1

Total consideration        39
Less net assets acquired (as above)        (1)

Total provisional goodwill in respect of acquisitions       38

Of the trade receivables above, £15m represents the gross and fair contractual value of the amount of the receivables. There were no material 
amounts of contractual cash flows not expected to be recoverable. There are no material accounting policy adjustments nor any significant 
differences between the book and fair values of assets and liabilities acquired.

Total consideration of £39m represents the Group’s 40% share of its existing Adventure travel business, headed by the following companies 
which made up the consideration as follows:
       Number of ordinary
        shares provided
Company        as consideration

Active Safari Pty Ltd        2
Active Travel & Recruitment Pty Ltd        1
Adventure Tours Australia Group Pty Ltd        9,223,871
Australia Adventure Tours Pty Ltd        63,045
Australian Pinnacle Holidays Pty Limited        1
FC Adventures Canada Inc.        1,103,870
First Choice Holdings Australia Pty Ltd        10,191,178
Peak Adventure Travel USA Inc        411,273
Pinnacle Services Pty Limited        1
Pinnacle Tours Pty Limited        4,800
Pinnacle Travel Centre (1987) Pty Limited        14,000
The Imaginative Traveller Australia Pty Ltd        28,000
TKJ Pty Ltd        344,840
Trek Investco Limited        6,740,867
Tropical Car Rental Pty Limited        2
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The consideration payable was valued using an earnings multiple of seven times being applied to the combined results of the above businesses 
and their subsidiaries for the then most recent financial year ended, being 30 September 2010. The total valuation calculated was AU$60m, 
equivalent to £39m.

There is no cash or contingent consideration on this acquisition.

The residual provisional goodwill on this acquisition represents the value of assets and earnings that do not form separable assets under  
IFRS 3 (revised) but nevertheless are expected to contribute to the future results of the Group. Residual goodwill in respect of this acquisition 
represents principally:

• Integration synergies

• Involvement of existing management and employees and transfer of their knowledge of the operation of the business model

• The ability to sell acquired product through existing channels and existing product through acquired channels

The goodwill is deemed provisional at this stage as the Group continues to review the fair values of assets and liabilities. The main elements that 
remain under review are non-current assets, trade receivables and current liabilities.

Non-controlling interest of £46m has been recognised at the acquisition date, primarily representing the 40% of the Group’s Adventure business 
before the transaction together with 40% of the Intrepid group not within the Group’s control after the transaction. The consideration for 
acquisition of £39m, being the disposal of 40% of the Group’s share of the above Adventure businesses that it no longer owns, is recognised 
directly in equity in accordance with IAS 27 (revised).

If Intrepid Travel Pty Limited had been part of the Group since 1 October 2010, Group revenue would have been increased by £26m to £14,713m. 
The profit before tax for the year of £144m would have been less than £1m lower on this basis. This amount has been calculated after applying 
the Group’s accounting policies and adjusting for charging amortisation of business combination intangibles had those intangible assets been 
recognised since 1 October 2010.

The acquired businesses contributed revenues of £38m and profit after tax (including amortisation of business combination intangibles) of £3m.

Contingent consideration
IFRS 3 (revised) requires consideration that is contingent on future service by the vendor to be expensed over the service period and acquisition 
costs to be expensed as incurred. In this respect, £16m (2010: £9m) has been expensed in the year and included in the acquisition related 
expenses in the consolidated income statement.
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Acquisition related expenses in operating profit
Amortisation of business combination intangibles      66 54
Other acquisition related expenses       11 7
Remuneration for post-combination services       5 2

Total       82 63

Movements in deferred and contingent consideration in the year were as follows:
     Deferred Contingent
     consideration consideration Loan notes Total
     £m £m £m £m

At 30 September 2010     21 34 2 57
Recognised in the year relating to current year acquisitions*    4 2 2 8
Adjustments to amounts recognised in respect of prior period acquisitions   (9) (13) (1) (23)
Cash paid     (11) (8) (2) (21)
Foreign exchange     (1) 1 – –

At 30 September 2011     4 16 1 21

*Includes capitalised and expensed amounts. Contingent consideration is defined within Note 1(C)(vii).

Deferred and contingent consideration payable is dependent on the results of the businesses over a number of future periods and in some 
cases is also dependent upon the previous owners or management of those businesses remaining in employment with the Group during the 
earn out period.

Adjustments to amounts recognised in respect of prior period acquisitions of £23m reflects an £8m reduction following a legal settlement over the 
consideration payable for an acquisition. The remainder reflects reductions in both the amounts settled in the year against the amounts accrued 
and the expected amount still to pay in future years. These latter amounts reflect changes in the range of outcomes following lower than expected 
earnings figures by these acquired entities, with the contingent consideration being based upon a multiple of the appropriate earnings figures.
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13. Investments continued
Further details of deferred and contingent consideration payable in less than one year and after more than one year is given in Notes 20 and 22 
respectively.

The contingent and deferred consideration payable arising in the year is in respect of the acquisitions listed below. It is dependent on the results 
of the businesses over the following periods or the balance of working capital at the acquisition date, and the Directors believe the amounts 
reflect the most likely outcome in each case:

 Basis of calculation Period for calculation Expected range
Acquisition  of consideration of consideration of consideration

Lima Tours S.A.C. Earnings and employment Up to 30 June 2014 USD 3-8m
TMS Gateway Earnings and employment Up to 31 March 2012 GBP 2m
Other individually insignificant considerations Earnings and employment Up to 31 December 2011 GBP 1m

Total contingent consideration recognised  
in respect of current year acquisitions   GBP 5-8m

Expected consideration payable represents the expected consideration that the Group will be obliged to pay following an assessment of the 
range of possible contingent amounts of consideration.

The expected contingent consideration for all acquisitions above is calculated using multiples of underlying earnings. As all of the above acquisitions 
are within the fair valuing period since their date of acquisition, there have been no material changes to the amounts recognised in the year.

(B) Cash flows arising in respect of acquisitions
Total cash flows relating to acquisitions in the year, including amounts paid in respect of deferred and contingent consideration arising on prior 
period acquisitions, are as follows:
       Expected 2011
       total paid
       £m £m

Acquisitions in the current year       62 23
Deferred and contingent consideration arising and paid      7 1

Cash outflow relating to current year acquisitions (excluding acquisition related expenses)   69 24

Cash acquired with acquisitions        (11)

Net cash outflow in the year relating to current year acquisitions      13
Cash paid relating to prior period acquisitions (including settlement of acquisition related loan notes)    20

Net cash outflow in the year relating to acquisitions       33
Acquisition related expenses        11

Total cash outflows in the year relating to acquisitions       44

(C) Residual goodwill
A consistent process is undertaken at each acquisition to identify the fair value of separable assets and liabilities acquired, including the fair 
value of intangible assets, being brands, order books, licences, customer relationships and other intangible assets. The residual goodwill on 
acquisition represents the value of assets and earnings that do not form separable assets under IFRS 3 (revised) but nevertheless are expected 
to contribute to the future results of the Group.

Residual goodwill in respect of current year acquisitions represents principally:

• Market knowledge of, and access to, particular geographic areas

• Knowledge of particular market segments, for example language training

• Involvement of existing management and employees and transfer of their knowledge of the operation of the business model

• Integration synergies

• The ability to sell acquired product through existing channels and existing product through acquired channels, in all Sectors

(D) Consolidated income statement
If the results of the acquired businesses from the 1 October 2010 until each of their respective acquisition dates had been included in these 
consolidated financial statements, the Group‘s revenue and profit would have been £42m and less than £1m higher respectively. This amount 
has been calculated after applying the Group’s accounting policies and adjusting for amortisation of business combination intangibles had those 
intangible assets been recognised since 1 October 2010.

Since the respective acquisition dates, the acquired businesses contributed revenues of £65m and profit after tax (including amortisation of 
business combination intangibles) of £2m.

(E) Acquisitions post balance sheet date
Subsequent to 30 September 2011, the Group acquired Eurolink in the way of an asset deal for consideration of €2m.

The accounting for this acquisition has not yet been finalised.
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(F) Prior period revisions to fair values
In the year ended 30 September 2010, the Group acquired various businesses for a total consideration of £43m. The finalisation of the acquisition 
balance sheets for these businesses has not led to a material adjustment to goodwill presented in the 2010 accounts and therefore there is no 
restatement of the results for the year ended 30 September 2010, or balance sheet as at 30 September 2010 in respect of these finalisations.

(G) Gains and losses in subsequent periods
IFRS 3 (revised) and its predecessor, IFRS 3 (2004), require disclosure in the current year of any material gain or loss in the current period in 
respect of material business combinations. In 2011, the Group has impaired the brand of Island Escape, by £5m and the customer list of 
Explorers Travel by £1m. In the comparative year the Group impaired the asset of Island Escape by £15m.

Disposals
During the year ended 30 September 2011, the Group disposed of its 70% shareholding in Danubius Travel S.R.L, Constanta, Romania, for 
consideration of £1m and generating a profit of less than £1m.

14. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
  Assets Liabilities Net    
   Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
   30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
   2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
   £m £m £m £m £m £m

Intangible assets   21 1 (93) (150) (72) (149)
Finance lease transactions   – – (2) (32) (2) (32)
Property, plant and equipment   85 97 (40) (47) 45 50
Financial instruments and foreign exchange   – 32 (16) (37) (16) (5)
Employee benefits   88 126 – – 88 126
Other short term temporary differences   161 556 (218) (547) (57) 9
Tax value of losses carried forward   81 87 – – 81 87

Total   436 899 (369) (813) 67 86
Set off of deferred tax within the same jurisdiction  (298) (785) 298 785 – –

Net tax assets/(liabilities)   138 114 (71) (28) 67 86

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets relating to tax losses in individual tax jurisdictions based on forecast future taxable profits.

The deferred tax balance associated with the pension deficit has been adjusted to reflect the current tax benefit obtained in the current year 
following the contribution of the First Choice and Thomson brands into the Pension Schemes, as explained in Note 6(C).

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (reported at the applicable tax rate):
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Capital losses       3 3
Other losses       233 197

Total losses       236 200

These assets have not been recognised principally because the Directors are not certain of the timing of any benefits that might arise in the 
future. Other losses includes £14m which are subject to a four-year expiry period. The balance of losses are not subject to time expiry and  
are available for utilisation against profits arising in future periods in the territories in which they have arisen. There are no other unprovided 
deferred tax liabilities nor unrecognised deferred tax assets.

Movements in deferred taxation during the current year:
      Recognised/
      (charged)
      outside of the
  Balance at   Recognised/  consolidated  Balance at
  1 October Arising on Extinguished (charged) income Foreign 30 September
  2010 acquisition on disposal in income statement exchange 2011
  £m £m  £m £m £m £m £m

Intangible assets  (149) 3 (3) (21) 107 (9) (72)
Finance lease transactions  (32) – – 29 – 1 (2)
Property, plant and equipment  50 – – (5) (1) 1 45
Financial instruments and foreign exchange  (5) – (2) 12 (20) (1) (16)
Employee benefits  126 1 (2) (34) (3) – 88
Other short term temporary differences  9 1 3 39 (110) 1 (57)
Tax value of losses carried forward  87 – – (6) – – 81

Total  86 5 (4) 14 (27) (7) 67
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14. Deferred tax assets and liabilities continued
Movements in deferred taxation during the prior year are analysed as follows:

      Recognised/
      (charged)
      outside of the
  Balance at   Recognised/  consolidated  Balance at
  1 October Arising on Extinguished (charged) income Foreign 30 September
  2009 acquisition on disposal in income statement exchange 2010
  £m £m  £m £m £m £m £m

Intangible assets  (186) (4) 26 13 (1) 3 (149)
Finance lease transactions  (24) – – (8) – – (32)
Property, plant and equipment  37 – (1) 14 – – 50
Financial instruments and foreign exchange  5 – 1 – (9) (2) (5)
Employee benefits  117 – – (5) 13 1 126
Other short term temporary differences  88 – 5 (38) (39) (7) 9
Tax value of losses carried forward  77 – (11) 20 – 1 87

Total  114 (4) 20 (4) (36) (4) 86

Intangible asset temporary differences arise in respect of assets recognised on acquisition. Property, plant and equipment temporary 
differences principally relate to tax depreciation in the UK, France and Germany. Employee benefits temporary differences arise in respect of 
defined benefit pension scheme liabilities and future deductions available on the vesting of employee awards. Financial instruments and foreign 
exchange temporary differences arise in respect of financial instruments accounted for under IAS 39 and principally reflect the fair value at  
30 September 2011 of cash flow hedging derivatives that will be settled against future transactions. Other short term temporary differences 
relate to operating expenses and related accruals and provisions for which a tax deduction has not yet been recognised.

15. Inventories
       Restated  Restated
      30 September 30 September 30 September
      2011 2010 2009
      £m £m £m

Marine inventories      31 15 17
Airline spares and operating equipment      24 24 21
Other operating inventories      14 15 18

Total      69 54 56

Other operating inventories have increased by £5m as at 30 September 2009 and 2010 following the restatement disclosed in Note 1(B)(ii).

Included within cost of sales in the year is a write-down of inventories by £1m to net realisable value. The reversal of a write-down of inventories 
to net realisable value amounted to £2m in 2010.

16. Trade and other receivables
  Restated  Restated
 30 September 2011 30 September 2010 30 September 2009   
   Non-   Non-   Non-
  Current current Total Current current Total Current current Total
  assets assets assets assets assets assets assets assets assets
  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Trade receivables, gross  568 – 568 644 – 644 666 – 666
Less: provision for impairment  (58) – (58) (55) – (55) (59) – (59)

  510 – 510 589 – 589 607 – 607
Amounts owed by related parties  48 – 48 54 – 54 33 – 33
Interest-bearing other receivables  – 13 13 – 7 7 – – –
Other receivables  241 42 283 218 34 252 279 43 322

  799 55 854 861 41 902 919 43 962
Prepayments  673 147 820 564 115 679 588 151 739

Total  1,472 202 1,674 1,425 156 1,581 1,507 194 1,701

Following the restatement disclosed in Note 1(B)(ii), as at 30 September 2010 trade receivables have increased by £3m (2009: £3m), amounts 
owed by related parties have increased by £1m (2009: £7m), other receivables have increased by £14m (2009: £13m) and prepayments have 
increased by £3m (2009: £2m).

Other receivables include aircraft related receivables, lease and security deposits, derivative settlement receivables and various end of season 
rebates due from suppliers.
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The maximum exposure to credit risk for the financial assets included within trade and other receivables by geographic region was:
        Restated
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

United Kingdom       199 191
Germany       95 121
France       67 75
Other European countries       213 291
Rest of the World       119 54

Total       693 732

Trade receivables are disclosed net of provisions for bad and doubtful debts, an analysis of which is shown below:
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Balance at the beginning of the year       55 59
Foreign exchange       (1) (2)
Charge to the consolidated income statement       25 17
Utilisation of provision       (21) (19)

Total       58 55

The ageing of the financial assets included within trade and other receivables at the balance sheet date was:

  30 September 2011 30 September 2010   
   Gross Provision Net Gross Provision Net
   £m £m £m £m £m £m

Not overdue   481 (3) 478 539 (2) 537
Overdue 1-30 days   143 (3) 140 113 (3) 110
Overdue 31-90 days   64 (2) 62 38 (1) 37
Overdue 91-180 days   16 (4) 12 15 (2) 13
Overdue more than 180 days   47 (46) 1 82 (47) 35

Total   751 (58) 693 787 (55) 732

No individually material bad debt provision movements or changes have been recorded in the year. Based on past experience and the post 
balance sheet period to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Group considers that the provision allowance 
recorded is adequate. Within the provision there are no individually material amounts held. Trade receivables not overdue and not impaired 
include amounts due from travel agencies, tour operators and hoteliers in respect of Mainstream, Specialist & Activity and Accommodation & 
Destinations Sectors.

Credit exposure to individual passengers booking holidays directly is limited by the Group’s policy that full payment is required before the issue 
of tickets and holiday departure. In the case of travel services sold by third party agents, the credit risk depends on the creditworthiness of 
those third parties, but this risk is also limited because of the relatively short period of credit.

The provision against overdue receivables of £55m (2010: £53m) relates to gross receivables of £77m (2010: £94m).

There are £193m of receivables that are overdue and not impaired at 30 September 2011 (2010: £154m).

17. Cash and cash equivalents
(A) Cash and cash equivalents
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Cash in hand       20 18
Cash at bank       267 234
Deposits       615 1,052

Cash and cash equivalents       902 1,304

Cash and cash equivalents includes £46m (2010: £51m) that is not available for immediate use by the Group. This is made up of monies held to 
meet regulatory requirements plus cash balances on short term deposits held on a restricted basis by the Group’s captive insurance funds as 
part of their ongoing operations.

Deposits include an amount of £nil (2010: £370m) which is deposited with the parent company, TUI AG and is repayable on demand.

(B) Other investments
Other current investments disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet comprise of £20m deposit balances (2010: £nil) held to meet regulatory 
requirements with a term exceeding three months and £2m (2010: £5m) of other deposits with a maturity in excess of three months.
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18. Assets classified as held for sale
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Yachts and motor boats       – 1
Land and buildings       1 1
Aircraft       7 15
Disposal groups – assets       – 30
Other       5 10

Total assets classified as held for sale       13 57
Disposal groups – liabilities       – (31)

Net assets classified as held for sale       13 26

At 30 September 2010, the disposal group assets and liabilities held for sale comprised Société d’Investissement Aérien S.A. (Jet4You). As stated in 
Note 1(B)(ii), as a result of the cessation of negotiations for the sale of Jet4You in the first half of this financial year, this business ceases to qualify 
as held for sale. In accordance with IFRS 5, the results of Jet4You are presented in the consolidated income statement as continuing in both the 
current and comparative year. The balance sheets for comparative years have not been re-presented or re-measured, as dictated by IFRS 5.

Assets held for sale are expected to be sold within 12 months.

19. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Current liabilities
Amounts owed to related parties       26 575
Bank loans and overdrafts       11 1
Loan notes       1 1
Finance leases (and hire purchase contracts)       19 142
Other financial liabilities       39 38

Total       96 757

Other financial liabilities comprise the ‘fair value’ of two put options written by the Group to the sole remaining non-controlling interest 
shareholder in L’TUR Tourismus AG that may require the Group to purchase the non-controlling interest shareholding. During the prior year the 
Group increased its shareholding from 51% to 70% on the exercise of part of one of the options. The remainder of this put option over 20% of 
the shares may be exercised at any time until 2015. A further put option at a fixed price with no time limit has been written by the Group during 
the year to the same non-controlling interest shareholder for the remaining 10% shareholding.

Fair value changes in the put option liability are included within financial expenses or financial income.

       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Non-current liabilities
Amounts owed to related parties       10 –
Bank loans       19 35
Loan notes       – 1
Finance leases (and hire purchase contracts)       113 127
Convertible bonds       654 633
Other financial liabilities       6 –

Total       802 796

The bank loans and loan notes are repayable:

       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Within one year       12 2
Between one and five years       19 36

Total       31 38

Certain loans are secured on the underlying assets of the company in whose name the borrowings are made.

At 30 September 2011 and 30 September 2010 the related party loans were all repayable within five years.
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Finance lease liabilities relate primarily to the leasing of aircraft, boats and cruise ships. Group obligations under finance leases and hire purchase 
contracts are payable as follows:

     Minimum   Minimum
     lease payments   lease payments
     30 September   30 September
   Principal Interest 2011 Principal Interest 2010
   £m £m £m £m £m £m

In respect of aircraft, yachts and equipment payable within:
One year   19 5 24 142 12 154
One to five years   71 13 84 78 14 92
After five years   42 14 56 49 16 65

Total   132 32 164 269 42 311

Convertible bonds
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

£350m convertible bond 6.0% October 2014       315 304
£400m convertible bond 4.9% April 2017       339 329

Total       654 633

The Group has two convertible bonds in issue, details are as follows:

A £350m fixed rate 6% bond was issued in October 2009 raising £341m net of issue costs. The bond is convertible at the option of the holder, 
before or upon maturity in October 2014. Conversion into ordinary shares will occur at a premium of 33% to the Group’s share price on the date 
of issuance.

A £400m fixed rate 4.9% bond was issued in April 2010 raising £391m net of issue costs. The bond is convertible at the option of the holder, 
before or upon maturity in April 2017. Conversion into ordinary shares will occur at a premium of 33% to the Group’s share price on the date  
of issuance.

The Group holds an Issuer call option to redeem the convertible bonds at their principal amounts, together with accrued interest, upon 
fulfilment of certain pre-determined criteria. The fair value of this option was negligible at 30 September 2011. The equity portion of the  
bonds of £114m (2010: £114m), gross of deferred tax of £29m (2010: £31m), is included in the convertible bond reserve.

Reconciliation of face value to carrying amount
      £350m £400m Total
      convertible convertible convertible
      bond bond bonds
      £m £m £m

Convertible bond – face value      350 400 750
Issue cost      (9) (9) (18)

Cash received      341 391 732
Equity portion      (48) (66) (114)
Accretion interest      9 4 13
Issue costs amortised      2 – 2

Carrying amount at 30 September 2010      304 329 633
Accretion interest      9 9 18
Issue costs amortised      2 1 3

Carrying amount at 30 September 2011      315 339 654

20. Current trade and other payables
       Restated Restated
      30 September 30 September 30 September
      2011 2010 2009
      £m £m £m

Trade payables      1,360 1,372 1,428
Deferred and contingent consideration (Note 13(A))     10 25 23
Other payables      140 187 234
Amounts owed to related parties      99 107 185
Other taxes and social security costs      87 66 101
Accruals and deferred income      1,222 1,065 1,005
Client money received in advance      1,704 1,513 1,306

Total      4,622 4,335 4,282

Please refer to Note 1(B)(ii) for a full explanation of the restatement.
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21. Provisions for liabilities
     Aircraft
     maintenance Restructuring Other Total
     £m £m £m £m

At 1 October 2010 (as previously stated)     330 58 155 543
Restatement (Note 1(B)(ii))     – – 5 5

At 1 October 2010 (as restated)     330 58 160 548
Provided in the year     246 30 88 364
Released in the year     (22) (1) (18) (41)
Unwinding of discounted amount     10 – 1 11
Costs incurred     (130) (29) (58) (217)
Foreign exchange     1 2 2 5

At 30 September 2011     435 60 175 670

Analysed as:
Non-current     263 29 61 353
Current     172 31 114 317

     435 60 175 670

At 30 September 2010
Analysed as:
Non-current     236 26 45 307
Current     94 32 115 241

     330 58 160 548

At 30 September 2009
Analysed as:
Non-current     205 2 43 250
Current     49 28 117 194

     254 30 160 444

Please refer to Note 1(B)(ii) for a full explanation of the restatement.

Aircraft maintenance
In respect of aircraft, provision is made for maintenance, overhaul and repair costs of operating leased airframes, engines and certain other 
components based on total anticipated costs over the useful economic life of the asset calculated by reference to costs experienced and 
published manufacturers’ data. The charge to the income statement is calculated by reference to the number of hours and cycles flown and  
by reference to the length of the full overhaul cycle. Costs incurred are charged against the provision. Neither the timing nor the value of the 
expenditure can be precisely determined but they can be averaged over time and over a fleet.

Restructuring
Restructuring, which includes severance payments, relates to provisions arising as a result of reorganisation and restructuring plans that are 
irrevocably committed. Further details of restructuring projects in the current year are set out in Note 4.

The provision is expected to be utilised within 18 months of the balance sheet date.

Other
Other provisions relate to litigation (including provisions for contingent liabilities recorded on the merger of First Choice), onerous lease contracts 
that have been entered into in the ordinary course of business and other future obligations, the amount or timing of which is uncertain. The 
majority of the provision is anticipated to be utilised within 12 months of the balance sheet date, while the remainder is expected to be utilised 
within one to four years of the balance sheet date, although the timing and payments related to individual litigation claims are estimated and are 
inherently uncertain.

22. Non-current trade and other payables
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Deferred and contingent consideration (Note 13(A))      10 30
Other payables       13 19
Accruals and deferred income       33 44

Total       56 93
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23. Called up share capital
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Issued and fully paid
1,118,010,670 (2010: 1,118,010,670) ordinary shares of 10p each      112 112

Total       112 112

As described more fully in Note 34, the ultimate parent company, TUI AG, is the beneficial owner of 55.47% of the Company’s issued ordinary 
share capital as at 30 September 2011.

At 30 September 2011 12,700,211 shares (2010: 13,191,246 shares) were held by the Group’s Employee Benefit Trusts. Based on 30 September 
2011 share price of £1.49 (2010: £2.14) the value of shares held was £18,961,415 (2010: £28,282,031).

During the year ended 30 September 2011 the Group’s Employee Benefit Trusts acquired 3m shares at market value for consideration of £7m 
(2010: £7m).

Details of dividends debited to equity in the year are set out in Note 9 of the consolidated financial statements.

Whilst the Company has the authority to purchase its own shares, it has not done so in either the current or prior years.

24. Capital and reserves
   Other reserves  
   Convertible     Equity Non-
  Called up bonds Merger Translation Hedging Accumulated holders controlling
  share capital reserve reserve reserve reserve losses of parent interest Total
 Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 October 2009  
(as previously reported)  112 – 2,490 360 (75) (716) 2,171 3 2,174
Adjustment in respect of Magic Life  
(Note 1(B)(ii))  – – (11) (12) – – (23) – (23)

Balance at 1 October 2009 (restated)  112 – 2,479 348 (75) (716) 2,148 3 2,151

Loss for the year (restated)  – – – – – (123) (123) – (123)
Other comprehensive (expense)/ 
income for the year  
(as previously reported)  – – – (59) 56 (70) (73) – (73)
Adjustment in respect of Magic Life  – – – 3 – – 3 – 3

Other comprehensive (expense)/ 
income for the year (restated)  – – – (56) 56 (70) (70) – (70)

Total comprehensive (expense)/ 
income for the year (restated)  – – – (56) 56 (193) (193) – (193)

Transactions with owners
Share-based payment  – – – – – 20 20 – 20
Acquisition of shares by  
Employee Benefit Trust  – – – – – (7) (7) – (7)
Dividends 9 – – – – – (118) (118) (2) (120)
Issue of convertible bond  
(net of deferred tax) 19 – 83 – – – – 83 – 83
Capital increase in Magic Life  – – 42 – – – 42 – 42

At 30 September 2010 (restated)  112 83 2,521 292 (19) (1,014) 1,975 1 1,976
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24. Capital and reserves continued
   Other reserves  
   Convertible     Equity Non-
  Called up bonds Merger Translation Hedging Accumulated holders controlling
  share capital reserve reserve reserve reserve losses of parent interest Total
 Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 October 2010  
(as previously reported)  112 83 2,490 301 (19) (995) 1,972 1 1,973
Adjustment in respect of Magic Life  
(Note 1(B)(ii))  – – 31 (9) – (19) 3 – 3

Balance at 1 October 2010 (restated)  112 83 2,521 292 (19) (1,014) 1,975 1 1,976

Profit for the year  – – – – – 85 85 2 87
Other comprehensive (expense)/ 
income for the year (restated)  – – – (3) 56 (112) (59) 3 (56)

Total comprehensive (expense)/ 
income for the year (restated)  – – – (3) 56 (27) 26 5 31

Transactions with owners
Share-based payment  – – – – – 19 19 – 19
Acquisition of shares by  
Employee Benefit Trust  – – – – – (7) (7) – (7)
Dividends 9 – – – – – (122) (122) (2) (124)
Capital increase in Magic Life  – – 2 – – – 2 – 2
Disposals to non-controlling interest  – – – (3) – (4) (7) 46 39
Change in deferred tax rate on 
equity portion of convertible bond  – 2 – – – – 2 – 2

At 30 September 2011  112 85 2,523 286 37 (1,155) 1,888 50 1,938

Please refer to Note 1(B)(ii) for a full explanation of the restatement.

Convertible bond reserve
The convertible bond reserve comprises the equity element of the convertible bonds and the related portion of the bonds’ issue costs (see Note 19). 
The equity element is calculated in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1(E)(ii) and is presented net of deferred tax.

Other reserves
Details of dividends to equity holders of the parent debited to equity in the year are set out in Note 9.

Exchange gains or losses arising on the translation to the Group’s reporting currency are recorded in the translation reserve. The hedging 
reserve records the portion of the cumulative gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges that are determined as effective.  
Gains or losses arising on cash flow hedges are initially recorded in the hedge reserve and are recycled to the consolidated income statement  
in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 1(F).

The Group also has a capital reserve of £0.1m at 30 September 2011 (2010: £0.1m). The capital reserve is non-distributable.

Non-controlling interest
On acquisition of 60% of Intrepid Travel Pty Limited, an amount of £46m is recognised within non-controlling interest, primarily representing  
the 40% of the Group’s Adventure business of before the transaction together with 40% of the Intrepid group not within the Group’s control 
together after the transaction. The consideration for acquisition of £39m, being the disposal of 40% of the Group’s share of the above 
Adventure businesses that it no longer owns is recognised directly in equity in accordance with IAS 27 (Revised). See Note 13 for more details.
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25. Financial instruments
(A) Treasury risk overview
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks:

• Market risk (in respect of foreign currency rate risk, jet fuel price risk and interest rate risk)

• Liquidity risk (in respect of the Group’s ability to meet its liabilities)

• Credit risk (in respect of recovery of amounts owing to the Group)

• Capital risk (in respect of its capital structure and cost of capital)

The Group’s key financial market risks are in relation to foreign currency rates and jet fuel prices. Currency risk results from the substantial 
cross-border element of the Group’s trading and arises on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currencies of individual Group businesses. The risk is managed by the use of foreign exchange forward, swap and option contracts. 
The Group’s exposure to jet fuel prices results from the aircraft fleet operations and is managed using commodity swaps and options.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk that arises principally from the Group’s floating rate aircraft leases and floating rate bank loans and 
cash balances. Certain finance leases and loans have fixed interest rates.

Credit risk, liquidity risk and capital risk are considered in Notes 25(D), 25(F) and 25(K) respectively.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework and for 
ensuring that the Group has adequate policies, procedures and controls to successfully manage the financial risks that it faces. These form  
part of the Group’s overall Risk Management Framework (the framework).

Incorporated within the framework’s terms of reference are the determination of all treasury policies and the monitoring of the effectiveness  
of those policies. Group Treasury implements the agreed policies on a day-to-day basis. The procedures also stipulate the levels of authority 
applied to approving and to dealing the types of hedging financial instrument used to manage these exposures. Transactions are only undertaken  
to hedge underlying exposures. Financial instruments are not traded, nor are speculative positions taken.

The treasury position of the Group, including liquidity, foreign exchange and fuel hedging exposure, is managed centrally in accordance with 
policies appropriate to cover specific risks faced by each business unit and is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer and Group Treasurer.

Group Treasury conducts regular reviews of financial risks with business unit management teams and receives regular cash flow and where 
relevant jet fuel usage forecasts from each business unit to ensure hedging instruments match the currency or fuel requirements of each 
operating business. Reports and forecasts for the Group, showing hedging instruments and forecast requirements, are submitted monthly  
to the GMB and to each Board meeting of TUI Travel PLC.

In line with its established policy, the Group has monitored throughout the year its counterparty exposure with individual financial institutions. 
Such counterparty risk can arise by way of cash deposited or derivative instruments traded.

(B) Currency risk management
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the functional 
currencies of individual Group businesses (which are principally Sterling, US Dollar, Euro and Swedish Krona).

The Group hedges its foreign currency exposures on a seasonal basis, that is Winter and Summer, with each season comprising a six-month 
period. At the start of a season the Group will have hedged substantially all of its foreign currency exposure (forecast sales and purchases  
and related assets and liabilities) for that season, using predominantly forward exchange contracts and option based instruments, most with  
a maturity of less than one year from the reporting date.

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an 
acceptable level principally by using forward contracts in respect of non-Sterling denominated airline maintenance provision balances, loan 
balances and deposits.

The Group publishes its consolidated financial statements in Sterling and, as a result, it is also subject to foreign currency exchange translation 
risk in respect of the translation of the results and underlying net assets of its foreign operations into Sterling.

The following significant exchange rates to the Group’s Sterling presentation currency (excluding the impact of hedged transactions) are 
illustrative of the rates applied during the current and prior year:

   Average rate Mid-spot rate    
     Year ended Year ended
     30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
£1 GBP equivalent     2011 2010 2011 2010

US Dollar     1.573 1.559 1.558 1.587
Euro     1.158 1.152 1.154 1.163
Swedish Krona     10.657 11.307 10.683 10.631

As at 30 September 2011, the Group has hedged forecast transactions for $3.9bn (2010: $3.4bn) and €1.6bn (2010: €1.5bn) for periods up until 
Winter 2012 principally relating to Winter 2011 and Summer 2012.
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25. Financial instruments continued
(C) Commodity risk
Fuel commodity risk arises from the Group’s operation of aircraft.

The Group hedges its fuel commodity exposures on a seasonal basis, being Winter and Summer with each season comprising a six-month 
period. At the start of a season the Group will have hedged substantially all of its fuel commodity exposure for that season, using predominantly 
commodity swaps or options, most with a maturity of less than one year from the reporting date.

As at 30 September 2011, the Group has hedged transactions for fuel of 1.8m metric tonnes (2010: 1.7m metric tonnes) for periods up until 
Winter 2012.

Details of fuel forward derivative instruments are set out in Note 25(I).

(D) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. Credit risk arises 
from cash balances (including bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents) and derivative financial instruments, as well as credit exposures to 
customers, including outstanding receivables, financial guarantees and committed transactions. Credit risk is managed separately for treasury 
and operating related credit exposures.

The Group minimises its financial credit risk through the application of risk management policies approved and monitored by the Board. While 
counterparties are limited to major banks and financial institutions, Group policy ensures that individual counterparty limits are adhered to and 
that there are no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Group monitors the credit ratings of its counterparties (where applicable) as part 
of its ongoing assessment of its credit exposure. Financial instruments are only transacted with major financial institutions with strong credit 
ratings of A1/P1.

Loans and other receivables exposures are managed locally in the operating units where they arise and credit limits are set as deemed appropriate 
for the customer. There is no material concentration of credit risk with respect to trade and other receivables as the Group has a large number 
of internationally dispersed customers.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet 
date was:
       Restated  Restated
      Carrying value carrying value carrying value
      30 September 30 September 30 September
      2011 2010 2009
      £m £m £m

Trade and other receivables      693 732 781
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17)      902 1,304 790
Derivatives – contracts used for hedging (Note 25(I))     215 165 284
Trade and listed investments (Note 12)      51 56 47
Other investments (Note 17)      22 5 40

Total      1,883 2,262 1,942

Please refer to Note 1(B)(ii) for a full explanation of the restatement.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for total trade and other receivables at the balance sheet date and by geographic region as well as their 
ageing is disclosed in Note 16. Trade and other receivables are shown net of provision for bad and doubtful debts of £58m (2010: £55m, 2009: £59m).

Cash, cash equivalents and other investments principally comprise money market deposits and other short term investments. The investments 
are with counterparties with a strong credit rating of A1/P1. At 30 September 2011, approximately 31% (2010: 33%) of the Group’s unrestricted 
cash and cash equivalents were invested with counterparties based in the United Kingdom, and 53% (2010: 26%) were based with counterparties 
based in the Republic of Ireland. There was nil% (2010: 33%) on deposit with TUI AG, the ultimate parent company of the Group.

Trade and other receivables exclude prepaid accommodation and other prepayments which do not meet the definition of a financial instrument. 
Prepayments for hotel accommodation, whilst not meeting the definition of a financial asset under IAS 39, give rise to a risk similar to credit  
risk due to the inherent risk of the Group not recovering the prepayment through full delivery of the related goods and services. From time  
to time prepayments can concentrate risk with specific counterparties which are based overseas. The carrying amount of prepayments (which 
are presented within current and non-current assets) forms the maximum credit exposure, before taking into account any security or collateral 
held by the Group. Where appropriate, the Group obtains security collateral over the related accommodation property to mitigate credit risk.  
At 30 September 2011, prepaid accommodation which is recoverable after more than one year was £140m (2010: £115m, 2009: £151m).
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(E) Interest rate risk
The Group has exposure to interest rate risk arising principally on Sterling, US Dollar, and Euro floating interest rates that are attached to the 
Group’s floating rate aircraft leases and floating rate bank loans and cash balances.

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss and the Group does not have any interest 
rate swap derivative instruments.

The Group’s loans and borrowings are measured at amortised cost with the exception of the other financial liabilities which are carried at fair value:

       Carrying Carrying
       amount  amount
       30 September 30 September
    Nominal    2011  2010 
Financial instrument Currency    interest rate  Year of maturity  £m £m

Convertible bonds Sterling   4.9%-6.0% 2014-2017 654 633
Shareholder loan EUR   4.3% 2012 26 575
Secured bank loans Sterling   1.8% 2013-2018 14 15
 EUR   5.0%-5.8% 2012-2017 2 2
 USD   n/a 2012 1 7
Unsecured bank loans EUR   1.3%-8.9% 2011-2016 11 12
 USD   3.3% 2014 2 –
      30 36
Finance leases EUR   2.6%-8.4% 2011-2046 100 236
 USD   4.5%-9.0% 2012-2015 29 29
 MAD   5.9%-6.5% 2014-2017 2 2
 AUD   7.2% – 11.8% 2012-2015 1 2
      132 269
Loan notes Sterling   1.1%-4.5% 2012 – 1
 USD   6.0%-6.5% 2011-2016 1 1
      1 2
Amounts owed to related parties EUR   5.9% 2015 10 –
Other financial liabilities EUR   0%-5.0% 2011-2014 45 38
Total interest-bearing liabilities      898 1,553

Analysed between:
Fixed rate instruments      714 921
Variable rate instruments      184 632
      898 1,553

The main movements between fixed rate and variable rate instruments in 2011 are the repayment of the previous year’s shareholder loan, which 
was a variable rate loan.

(F) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach is to ensure that it 
will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed circumstances.

The Group’s liquidity peaks in July and August, during the European Summer holiday season, with the liquidity low point being in December and 
January. To manage the liquidity position the Group is able to draw cash advances under its existing bank facilities which principally comprise the 
following main sources of long term debt funding:

• The external bank revolving syndicated credit facilities totalling £970m (2010: £1,060m) plus bonding and letter of credit facilities totalling £185m 
(2010: £90m) which all mature in June 2015. From these facilities, £111m has been utilised for letter of credit purposes at 30 September 2011 
(2010: £166m)

• A £350m convertible bond (due October 2014) issued in October 2009

• A £400m convertible bond (due April 2017) issued in April 2010

The external bank revolving credit facility is used to manage the seasonality of the Group’s cash flows and liquidity. Cash positions, liquidity and 
available facility headroom are monitored daily by the Group Treasury Department.

The Board remains satisfied with the Group’s funding and liquidity position. Fixed charges cover and the ratio of net debt to EBITDA, which the 
Board believes to be the most useful measures of cash generation and gearing, as well as being the main basis for covenants in the external 
credit facilities, were met at the year end and throughout the year. Fixed charges cover is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and operating lease rentals charge (EBITDAR) divided by net interest plus operating lease rentals. EBITDA is defined as earnings 
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. Both covenants are measured on an ‘underlying basis’ as defined in Note 1(B)(iii).

In respect of the delivery of new aircraft, the Group’s established strategy is to refinance new aircraft in advance of their delivery dates and 
therefore the Group does not forecast to use internal cash resources for new aircraft purchases. Details of aircraft purchase commitments  
at the year end are given in Note 28.
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25. Financial instruments continued
The following are the undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities, including interest payments calculated using interest rates in 
force at each balance sheet date:

      Between  Between
   Carrying  Contractual Within one and two and More than
   amount cash flows one year two years  five years five years
30 September 2011    £m £m £m £m £m £m

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Convertible bonds   654 941 41 41 440 419
Shareholder loan   26 27 27 – – –
Secured bank loans   17 18 3 3 12 –
Unsecured bank loans   13 14 8 3 3 –
Finance leases   132 164 24 26 58 56
Loan notes   1 1 1 – – –
Related parties   10 11 – – 11 –
Other financial liabilities   47 48 48 – – –
Trade and other payables   2,191 2,191 2,178 13 – –
Derivative financial liabilities
Contracts used for hedging   151 127 116 11 – –

Total   3,242 3,542 2,446 97 524 475

      Between  Between
   Carrying  Contractual Within one and two and More than
   amount cash flows one year two years  five years five years
30 September 2010    £m £m £m £m £m £m

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Convertible bonds   633 982 41 41 461 439
Shareholder loan   575 580 580 – – –
Secured bank loans   24 26 10 2 14 –
Unsecured bank loans   12 13 9 2 2 –
Finance leases   269 311 154 21 71 65
Loan notes   2 3 2 1 – –
Other financial liabilities   38 38 38 – – –
Trade and other payables (restated)   2,712 2,712 2,664 48 – –
Derivative financial liabilities
Contracts used for hedging   145 146 119 27 – –

Total (restated)   4,410 4,811 3,617 142 548 504

      Between  Between
   Carrying  Contractual Within one and two and More than
   amount cash flows one year two years  five years five years
30 September 2009    £m £m £m £m £m £m

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Shareholder loan   840 865 249 616 – –
Secured bank loans   29 31 6 10 15 –
Unsecured bank loans   22 27 15 3 6 3
Finance leases   192 206 33 147 23 3
Loan notes   6 7 5 1 1 –
Other financial liabilities   39 39 39 – – –
Trade and other payables (restated)   2,951 2,951 2,920 31 – –
Derivative financial liabilities
Contracts used for hedging   302 348 307 38 3 –

Total (restated)   4,381 4,474 3,574 846 48 6

Please refer to Note 1(B)(ii) for a full explanation of the restatement.

The actual repayment of revolving credit facilities will vary. The timing reflected in the tables is based on the first date that the Group can be 
required to settle the liability.

Trade and other payables exclude customers’ monies received in advance, deferred income, contingent consideration and other non-contractual 
payables.

At 30 September 2011 the Group had available undrawn committed borrowing facilities of £1,044m (2010: £984m), comprising letters of credit, 
guarantees and revolving, floating rate credit facilities for cash borrowings. Any non-compliance with covenants underlying the Group’s financing 
arrangements could, if not waived, constitute an event of default with respect to any such arrangements. The Group was in full compliance with 
its financial covenants throughout each of the periods presented.



Financial statements

www.tuitravelplc.com

TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2011 125
G

roup at a glance
Strategic overview

B
usiness and financial review

G
overnance

Financial statem
ents

Shareholder inform
ation

Undrawn facilities throughout all years presented are analysed as follows:

       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Expiring:
Within one year       – 1
In more than one year but less than five years       1,044 983

Total       1,044 984

(G) Analysis of total financial assets and financial liabilities
The tables below set out the Group’s IAS 39 classification for each of its financial assets and liabilities:

   Financial  Derivative
   assets and  financial
   liabilities at fair  instruments   Financial
   value through  used in hedge Available for sale Loans and liabilities at Total
   profit and loss accounting financial assets receivables amortised cost carrying value
At 30 September 2011   £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents   – – – 902 – 902
Borrowings due within one year   (39) – – – (57) (96)
Borrowings due after more than one year   – – – – (802) (802)
Derivative assets   42 173 – – – 215
Derivative liabilities   (61) (90) – – – (151)
Other financial assets   30 – 22 715 – 767
Other financial liabilities   (4) – – – (2,191) (2,195)

Total   (32) 83 22 1,617 (3,050) (1,360)

   Financial  Derivative
   assets and  financial
   liabilities at fair  instruments   Financial Restated
   value through  used in hedge Available for sale Loans and liabilities at total
   profit and loss accounting financial assets receivables amortised cost carrying value
At 30 September 2010   £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents   – – – 1,304 – 1,304
Borrowings due within one year   (38) – – – (719) (757)
Borrowings due after more than one year   – – – – (796) (796)
Derivative assets   10 155 – – – 165
Derivative liabilities   (12) (133) – – – (145)
Other financial assets (restated)   30 – 27 737 – 794
Other financial liabilities (restated)   (21) – – – (2,691) (2,712)

Total (restated)   (31) 22 27 2,041 (4,206) (2,147)

Other financial assets and other financial liabilities have been restated as described in Note 1(B)(ii).

Other financial assets comprise trade receivables, other receivables which are receivable within and after more than one year as well as other 
investments due within one year. Other financial liabilities comprise trade payables, accruals and other financial liabilities which are payable 
within and after more than one year.

Interest payable on financial instruments carried at amortised cost (comprising bank loans, loans from parent and finance lease liabilities) is 
disclosed in Note 5.

Derivatives presented under held for trading under IAS 39 classifications are analysed between cash flow hedges and economic hedges in Note 25(I).
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25. Financial instruments continued
(H) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with carrying amounts shown in the consolidated balance sheet at 30 September 2011 
and at 30 September 2010, are as follows:
   30 September 2011 30 September 2010    
       Restated Restated
     Carrying Fair carrying fair
     amount value amount value
     £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents     902 902 1,304 1,304
Borrowings
Convertible bond     (654) (544) (633) (705)
Shareholder loan     (26) (26) (575) (575)
Bank loans     (30) (30) (36) (36)
Loan notes     (1) (1) (2) (2)
Finance lease liabilities     (132) (131) (269) (271)
Other financial liabilities     (55) (55) (38) (38)
Derivative financial instruments
Forward exchange contracts used for hedging:
– assets     161 161 153 153
– liabilities     (100) (100) (127) (127)
Commodity contracts used for hedging:
– assets     54 54 12 12
– liabilities     (51) (51) (18) (18)
Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables     693 693 732 732
Trade and listed investments     51 51 56 56
Other investments     22 22 5 5
Other financial liabilities
Current trade and other payables     (2,180) (2,180) (2,664) (2,664)
Non-current trade and other payables     (15) (15) (48) (48)

Total     (1,361) (1,250) (2,148) (2,222)

Please refer to Note 1(B)(ii) for a full explanation of the restatement.

The basis for fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities is set out in Note 1(W) to the consolidated financial statements.

Fair value measurements
IFRS 7 requires enhanced disclosures about fair value measurements of financial instruments through the use of a three-level fair value 
hierarchy that prioritises the valuation techniques used in fair value calculations.

The levels can be broadly described as follows:

• Level 1 – use of unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2 – use of observable inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in 
active markets

• Level 3 – use of inputs not based on observable market data but reflecting management’s own assumptions about pricing the asset or liability

The Group maintains policies and procedures to value instruments using the most relevant data available. If there are multiple inputs available 
that fall into different levels of the hierarchy, the instrument is categorised on the basis of the lowest level input.
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The Group’s financial assets and liabilities, excluding finance lease liabilities, measured at fair value at 30 September 2011 are categorised as follows:

        Total
     Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  fair value
At 30 September 2011      £m £m £m £m

Assets
Trade and listed investments     14 – 37 51
Derivative financial instruments     – 215 – 215

Total assets     14 215 37 266

Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments     – (151) – (151)
Other financial liabilities     – – (43) (43)

Total liabilities     – (151) (43) (194)

Total     14 64 (6) 72

        Total
     Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  fair value
At 30 September 2010      £m £m £m £m

Assets
Trade and listed investments     19 – 37 56
Derivative financial instruments     – 165 – 165

Total assets     19 165 37 221

Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments     – (145) – (145)
Other financial liabilities     – – (59) (59)

Total liabilities     – (145) (59) (204)

Total     19 20 (22) 17

The movements in level 3 instruments, measured on a recurring basis, for the year ended 30 September 2011 are as follows:

      Trade Other Total
      and listed financial level 3
      investments liabilities instruments
      £m £m £m

At 30 September 2010      37 (59) (22)
Cash settlement of deferred consideration      – 11 11
Adjustment of deferred consideration through goodwill     – 5 5

At 30 September 2011      37 (43) (6)

Trade and listed investments
As at 30 September 2011 £37m (2010: £37m) of trade and listed investments were categorised as level 3 instruments. These consist of the 
Group’s investment in The Airline Group Limited (£30m) and other trade investments in the equity of unlisted companies (£7m). Both are valued 
using assumptions not observable in the market and so have been categorised as level 3 instruments in the fair value hierarchy (see Note 12).

The level 1 trade investment is the Group’s holding in Air Berlin PLC (see Note 12).

Derivative assets and liabilities
Derivatives are valued in the market using discounted cash flow techniques.

These techniques incorporate inputs at levels 1 and 2, such as interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. These market inputs are used 
in the discounted cash flow calculation incorporating the instrument’s term, notional amount and discount rate, and taking credit risk into account.

As significant inputs to the valuation are observable in the markets, these instruments are categorised as level 2 in the hierarchy.

Other financial liabilities
The put option to acquire the remaining equity stake in L’TUR Tourismus AG (£39m) is classified as an other financial liability with changes in fair 
value included in operating profit. Deferred consideration (£4m) is also measured at fair value based on the relevant contracts. As all of these 
financial liabilities are valued using assumptions not observable in the market, they are categorised as level 3 instruments in the fair value hierarchy.

There are no reasonably possible changes in assumptions which would materially alter the value of these level 3 financial instruments.
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25. Financial instruments continued
(I) Derivative instruments
At the balance sheet date the fair value of the Group’s derivative financial assets and liabilities was as follows:

  30 September 2011 30 September 2010   
   Assets Liabilities Total Assets Liabilities Total
   Fair value Fair value fair value Fair value Fair value fair value
   £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cash flow hedges
Foreign exchange forwards   119 (39) 80 80 (101) (21)
Foreign exchange options   – – – 3 (2) 1
Commodity options   3 (8) (5) 1 – 1
Commodity swaps   51 (43) 8 11 (18) (7)

   173 (90) 83 95 (121) (26)

Derivatives not hedge accounted
Foreign exchange forwards   42 (61) (19) 60 (12) 48
Held at fair value in profit and loss   – – – 10 (12) (2)

   42 (61) (19) 70 (24) 46

Total   215 (151) 64 165 (145) 20

Analysed as:
Current   185 (133) 52 144 (122) 22
Non-current   30 (18) 12 21 (23) (2)

Total   215 (151) 64 165 (145) 20

The Group has hedged a proportion of its currency requirements for the Winter 2011 and Summer 2012 seasons using collecting forward option 
instruments which are carried at fair value through profit and loss. All other derivatives are held as cash flow hedges or to offset changes in the 
value of items recognised in the consolidated balance sheet. Speculative positions are not undertaken.

The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with derivatives are expected to occur. Future cash flows have been 
estimated based on spot rates and prices at 30 September 2011. The net cash flows are shown net for each instrument.

    Projected cash flows  
      Between Between
     Less than one and two and  Over
     one year two years five years five years
30 September 2011     £m £m £m £m

Derivative financial assets
Foreign exchange forwards     129 22 1 –
Foreign exchange options     – – – –
Commodity swaps     50 3 – –

     179 25 1 –

Derivative financial liabilities
Foreign exchange forwards     (86) (2) – –
Commodity options     (3) – – –
Commodity swaps     (27) (9) – –

     (116) (11) – –

Total     63 14 1 –

    Projected cash flows  
      Between Between
     Less than one and two and  Over
     one year two years five years five years
30 September 2010     £m £m £m £m

Derivative financial assets
Foreign exchange forwards     132 16 2 –
Foreign exchange options     2 – – –
Commodity swaps     8 – – –

     142 16 2 –

Derivative financial liabilities
Foreign exchange forwards     (99) (20) – –
Commodity options     (1) – – –
Commodity swaps     (19) (7) – –

     (119) (27) – –

Total     23 (11) 2 –
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Ineffectiveness
Ineffectiveness in respect of cash flow hedges has been recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 30 September 2011. 
Ineffectiveness for the year ended 30 September 2011 comprised a credit of £1m (2010: credit £2m) relating to fuel hedging and this is included 
within underlying operating profit. There is no ineffectiveness required to be included in profit or loss that arises from hedges of net investments 
in foreign operations.

(J) Amounts recognised directly in equity
The following amounts have been recognised directly in equity during the year:
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Hedging reserve
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedging instruments     85 33
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to the consolidated income statement    (4) 41

       81 74

Deferred tax on the above items recognised outside of the consolidated income statement is shown in Note 8(iii).

(K) Capital management
The Board’s policy has been to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. The Group has a roadmap to deliver sustainable long term value to shareholders with a ROIC greater than the 
Group’s pre-tax weighted average cost of capital. Progress in achieving this objective has been made during this year, by improving cash and 
underlying operating profit which increases ROIC to 11.3% (2010: restated 9.7%).

ROIC is defined as ‘Underlying NOPAT’/‘Average Invested Capital’.

Underlying NOPAT is underlying Net Operating Profit After a Tax charge at the effective annual rate.

‘Underlying’ as a measure of operating profit is defined in Note 1(B)(iii).

Average Invested Capital comprises an average of the net assets (at the start and end of the year) of the Group adjusted to add back net debt, 
cumulative goodwill impairment charges and defined benefit pension scheme net deficits. There is also an adjustment to adjust net debt to 
reflect a seasonal average cash balance. Calculations for the current and prior years are:
        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
    Note   £m £m

Underlying operating profit    Consolidated income statement 471 399
Impact of the volcanic disruption     – 35*

Underlying operating profit excluding impact of volcanic disruption   471 434
Taxation at the underlying effective rate of 27% (2010: 27%)    (127) (117)

Underlying NOPAT     344 317

Net assets    Consolidated balance sheet 1,938 1,976
Net (cash)/debt    26 (4) 249
Seasonal net debt adjustment     300 300
Cumulative goodwill impairment charge (2011: France £39m, 2010: Spain,  
£5m and Italy, £7m; 2009: Sunsail Clubs, £7m; 2008: TUIFly, £112m)  10 170 131
Defined benefit pension net deficit    6C 513 493

Invested capital     2,917 3,149

Average Invested Capital     3,033 3,279

ROIC     11.3% 9.7%

*Pro forma unaudited underlying cost.

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the levels of debt borrowings undertaken and the advantages and security afforded by a sound 
capital position. An analysis of net debt at the year end is in Note 26.

Certain subsidiaries have external capital requirements as a result of applicable travel industry regulations in their jurisdictions. Compliance  
with these regulations is mandatory for the relevant operating businesses in those countries in order that they are able to continue trading.  
Key countries with such mandatory capital requirements are France, Belgium, the Netherlands, Germany and Australia. The capital requirements 
in these countries stipulate maintaining minimum equity/net asset levels in operating subsidiaries. All such capital requirements were complied 
with as at 30 September 2011. None of these requirements are individually or collectively significant to the overall Group and do not place any 
significant restriction on the Group’s funding or operations.

2010 comparatives for underlying operating profit, underlying NOPAT, net assets, invested capital, average invested capital and ROIC have been 
restated following the restatement disclosed in Note 1(B)(ii). Prior to this restatement, in 2010, ROIC was 9.9%.
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25. Financial instruments continued
(L) Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis is for illustrative purposes only and should not be considered a projection of likely future events and gains or losses.

The sensitivity analysis includes the following assumptions:

• Changes in market interest rates only affect interest income or expense of variable financial instruments
• Changes in market interest rates only affect interest income or expense in relation to financial instruments with fixed interest rates if these 

are recognised at fair value
• Changes in market interest, currency and fuel rates affect the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments 

and the majority of hedges are expected to be highly effective with the main exception being collecting FX forward contracts not qualifying 
for hedge accounting

• Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments and other financial assets or liabilities are estimated by discounting the future 
cash flows to net present values using appropriate market rates prevailing at the year end

The Group has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the estimated change to the consolidated income statement and equity of a 
1% (100 basis points) difference in market interest rates or a 10% strengthening or weakening in Sterling against all other currencies and in fuel 
prices, from the rates applicable at the balance sheet date, with all other variables remaining constant, these being considered to be reasonably 
possible changes to interest rates, Sterling rates and fuel prices.

Interest rate risk
Under the above assumptions, a 100 basis points increase in interest rates would result in an immaterial increase in interest expense in the 
consolidated income statement or equity (2010: £5m increase). A 100 basis points reduction in interest rates is not considered reasonably possible.

Currency risk
Similarly, under the above assumptions, a 10% strengthening or weakening of Sterling against all principal exchange rates would have reduced 
profit before tax by £6m (2010: loss unaltered) or increased it by £8m (2010: loss unaltered), respectively (principally relating to the translation 
of the income statements of overseas subsidiaries). Equity (before tax) would have decreased by £217m (2010: £210m) or increased by £265m 
(2010: £215m), respectively.

Fuel price risk
The sensitivity analysis is based on a 10% increase or decrease in fuel prices and the sensitivity will differ correspondingly if the fuel markets are 
more or less volatile. Under these assumptions, with a 10% increase or decrease in the unit price of fuel, profit before tax would neither increase 
nor decrease materially, because of the fuel price hedging policy and appropriate pricing adjustments. Equity (before tax) would increase by 
£105m (2010: £79m), or decrease by £109m (2010: £78m), respectively.

(M) Litigation risk
The Group has a policy to mitigate the financial risk of litigation and disaster through insurance with third party providers and the use of captive insurance 
companies. The Group’s exposure to risk is capped by single event and aggregate limits, with insurance in place for exposures above these limits.

The Group provides for outstanding claims, including settlement expenses, using a consistent methodology based upon historical claims 
patterns, average claims amounts, external legal advice and future expectations.

(N) Cash conversion
The Group targets conversion of underlying profit before tax to free cash flow of at least 70%. ‘Underlying’ as a measure of operating profit is defined 
in Note 1(B)(iii). ‘Free cash flow’ is defined as the movement in cash net of debt during the year (as set out in Note 26) before dividend payments, 
acquisitions and business disposal proceeds and acquisitions of shares for share-based payments. Calculations for the current and prior year are:

        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
    Note   £m £m

Underlying operating profit    Consolidated income statement 471 399
Impact of the volcanic disruption     – 35*

Underlying operating profit excluding impact of volcanic disruption   471 434
Net financial expense    5 (111) (117)
Separately disclosed items – financial expenses    4 – 7

Underlying profit before tax excluding impact of volcanic disruption   360 324

Movement in cash net of debt    26 269 81
Add:
Dividends paid to ordinary and non-controlling interests   Consolidated statement of cash flows 124 120
Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired    Consolidated statement of cash flows 33 51
Investment in joint ventures, associates and other investments   Consolidated statement of cash flows 18 90
Proceeds from disposal of associated undertakings net of cash disposed of  Consolidated statement of cash flows – (1)
Proceeds from other investments    Consolidated statement of cash flows – (9)
Shares purchased by Employee Benefit Trust    Consolidated statement of cash flows 7 7

Free cash flow     451 339

Cash conversion     125% 105%

*Pro forma unaudited underlying cost.
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26. Movements in cash and net debt
 Cash  Amounts due    Other
 and cash  Convertible to related Bank Loan Finance financial
 equivalents bonds parties loans notes leases liabilities Total
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 October 2009 790 – (840) (51) (6) (192) (39) (338)
Cash movement 561 (750) 222 13 4 31 – 81
Non-cash movement – 117 – – – (121) – (4)
Foreign exchange (47) – 43 2 – 13 1 12

At 30 September 2010 1,304 (633) (575) (36) (2) (269) (38) (249)
Cash movement (406) – 530 5 1 145 (6) 269
Non-cash movement – (21) – – – (7) (1) (29)
Foreign exchange 4 – 9 1 – (1) – 13

At 30 September 2011 902 (654) (36) (30) (1) (132) (45) 4

The 2011 non-cash movement of £21m in convertible bonds relates to the accretion of the equity portion of the convertible bonds. The 2010 
non-cash movements relate to the inception of new finance leases arising on capital expenditure and the equity portion on issuance of the 
convertible bonds.

The Group also acquired 40% of Intrepid Travel Pty Limited for total consideration of £39m, which was a non-cash transaction. Further details 
of this transaction is given in Note 13.

27. Operating lease commitments
Total Group obligations under non-cancellable operating lease contracts are payable as follows:

      Aircraft, ships,  Aircraft, ships,
     Land and yachts and Land and yachts and
     buildings equipment buildings equipment
     30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
     2011 2011 2010 2010
     £m £m £m £m

Total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring:
Within one year     355 378 226 369
Between one and five years     548 847 512 728
Later than five years     243 194 245 107

Total     1,146 1,419 983 1,204

Operating lease commitments in respect of land and buildings comprise commitments in respect of the Group’s retail estate, its hotel estate, 
including those commitments that are required to be disclosed as leases under IFRIC 4, and its office premises.

The future commitment under the Group’s floating rate aircraft operating leases at 30 September 2011 was £108m (2010: £122m).

In total the Group operates 137 aircraft on operating leases at 30 September 2011 (2010: 122 aircraft), a minority of which contain purchase 
options. Yachts are held on operating leases in TUI Marine as part of the Group’s Sunsail and The Moorings fleets. Cruise ships are held on 
operating leases in the UK source market.

28. Capital commitments
The Group’s capital commitments are as follows:
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Contracted but not provided for:
Property, plant and equipment       1 5
Intangible assets       1 4

Total       2 9

In addition to the above items, at the year end the Group had contracted to purchase 40 (2010: 40) aircraft with initial deliveries to start in the 
last quarter of the calendar year 2011. At list price, the total order value was US$4,634m (2010: US$4,439m) before escalations and discounts.

The Group intends to finance these aircraft in advance of their delivery dates and therefore does not expect to use its own cash resources for 
their purchase.

The Group’s joint ventures and associates had no material capital commitments at 30 September 2011 (2010: £nil).

29. Contingent liabilities
The Group is at any time defending a number of actions against it arising in the normal course of business. Provision is made for these actions 
where this is deemed appropriate. No actions which are outstanding at 30 September 2011 are expected to have a material effect on these 
accounts. The Directors consider that adequate provision has been made for all known liabilities.
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30. Related party transactions
Apart from with its own subsidiaries which are included in the consolidated financial statements, TUI Travel PLC, in carrying out its ordinary 
business activities, maintained direct and indirect relationships with related parties including consolidated or related companies of its ultimate 
parent company, TUI AG. These companies delivered services to companies in the Group.

The Group also undertook transactions with its joint ventures and associated companies. These transactions related primarily to incoming 
agencies and hotel companies used by the Group’s tour operators. The income and expenses arising from transactions with associates and  
joint ventures are included within the appropriate sector revenue or costs as presented in the segmental analysis.

All transactions with related parties were executed on an arm’s length basis and under normal conditions of trade with independent third parties.

Shareholder loan
A shareholder loan was advanced to the Company by TUI AG on 3 September 2007. The loan bore interest at EURIBOR plus a margin of 1.9% 
per annum. The Company could make voluntary repayments at any time during the term of the loan subject to a minimum repayment of €10m 
and the giving of 30 days’ notice. The loan was repaid during the year, and had a drawn balance of €nil at 30 September 2011 (30 September 
2010: €669m), not including accrued interest payable.

A further shareholder loan was advanced to the Company by TUI AG on 13 July 2011, in respect of acquiring Magic Life. The loan bears interest 
at EURIBOR plus a margin of 2.75% per annum. The Company can make voluntary repayments at any time during the term of the loan subject 
to a minimum repayment of €1m and the giving of 10 days’ notice. The drawn balance of the loan at 30 September 2011 was €30m, not including 
accrued interest payable. It is repayable in two instalments: 30 April 2012: €20m and 31 August 2012: €10m.

Hotel Framework Agreement
As part of the relationship arrangements between the Company and TUI AG at the time of the business combination, both parties entered into 
the Hotel Framework Agreement, which governed the commercial relationship between TUI AG and the Company in respect of the distribution 
of hotel beds forming part of the hotel portfolio interests retained by TUI AG. Under the Hotel Framework Agreement, TUI Deutschland (TUI 
Travel PLC’s German tour operating business) continued to have access to the Robinson hotel portfolio and to the distribution of such portfolio’s 
hotel beds in Europe. The original Hotel Framework Agreement expired on 31 October 2011 and a new agreement has been negotiated which 
sets the room rates TUI Deutschland is charged by Robinson. These rates have been set at current market rates, but the contract does not 
contain any commitment from TUI Deutschland.

Trademark Licence Agreement
The Trademark Licence Agreement incorporates trademark licences granted from TUI AG to members of the TUI Tourism Group in relation to 
TUI Tourism’s use of the TUI name and logo and other trademarks from within TUI AG’s portfolio of trademarks used in the former TUI Tourism’s 
business. Licence fees payable under each licence are an annual fee equal to 0.02% of the average annual gross turnover of the relevant licensee 
under the relevant trademarks measured over a three-year period. Total licence fees charged for the year ended 30 September 2011 were £3m 
(2010: £3m). Each licence’s standard terms are for five years with an option for the relevant licensee to extend for a further five years on the 
same terms.

Details of transactions with related parties and balances outstanding at the balance sheet date are set out in the tables below:

   Revenue Expenses    
        Restated
     Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
     30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
     2011 2010 2011 2010
     £m £m £m £m

Related party
Ultimate parent TUI AG     6 11 34 70
Hotel and resort subsidiaries of TUI AG     11 13 319 423
Other subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates of TUI AG    10 7 74 98
Joint ventures and associates of the Group     42 10 114 120

Total     69 41 541 711

   Receivables outstanding Payables outstanding    
        Restated
     Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
     30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
     2011 2010 2011 2010
     £m £m £m £m

Related party
Ultimate parent TUI AG     5 385 45 594
Hotel and resort subsidiaries of TUI AG     – 4 37 66
Other subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates of TUI AG    9 4 15 12
Joint ventures and associates of the Group     34 31 28 10

Total     48 424 125 682
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Payables outstanding with related parties are reported in Notes 19 and 20 and receivables outstanding are reported in Note 16. Included within 
the amount payable to TUI AG of £45m (2010: £594m) is a shareholder loan of £26m (2010: £575m). Included within the amount payable to joint 
ventures and associates of the Group of £28m (2010: £10m) is a loan to a joint venture of £10m (2010: £nil). The £385m receivable balance 
outstanding from the ultimate parent TUI AG at 30 September 2010 included a £370m cash deposit, which was used in the year as part of 
settling the prior year shareholder loan from TUI AG.

Details regarding the investment in Sunwing Travel Group Limited and Togebi Holdings Limited are included in Note 12. Details on interest rate 
and liquidity risks in respect of balances with related parties are included in Notes 25(E) and 25(F) respectively.

In accordance with IAS 24, key management functions within the Group (the GMB and the Directors of the Company) were related parties whose 
remuneration had to be listed separately. The compensation paid in respect of key management personnel (including Directors) was as follows:

       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Short term employee benefits       9 15
Post-retirement benefits       2 2
Share-based payments       10 9

Total       21 26

Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Remuneration report.

31. Principal operating subsidiaries
Other than as stated below, all the principal operating subsidiaries listed are wholly owned. Principal operating subsidiaries are those which,  
in the opinion of the Directors, significantly affected the Sector’s results and net assets during the year. The Directors consider that those 
companies not listed are not significant in relation to the Sector specified. TUI UK Limited is presented within the Mainstream Sector, Northern 
Region to reflect its principal operations but the Company also includes certain UK Specialist & Activity businesses at 30 September 2011.

Subsidiary Country Nature of business

Mainstream Sector
Mainstream – Northern Region
Falcon Leisure Group (Overseas) Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Fritidsresor AB Sweden Tour operator
Oy Finnmatkat AB Finland Tour operator
Star Tour A/S Denmark Tour operator
Startour-Stjernereiser AS Norway Tour operator
Thomson Airways Limited United Kingdom Airline
TUI Canada Holdings Inc. (Holding Co. of Sunwing Travel Group Inc.) Canada Holding Company
TUI UK Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
TUI UK Retail Limited United Kingdom Travel agent
TUIfly Nordic AB Sweden Airline
Mainstream – Central Europe
Berge & Meer Touristik GmbH Germany Tour operator
L’TUR Tourismus AG (70.0%) Germany Tour operator
TUI (Suisse) AG Switzerland Tour operator
TUI Austria Holding GmbH Austria Tour operator
TUI Aviation GmbH Germany Leasing company
TUI Deutschland GmbH Germany Tour operator
TUI Leisure Travel GmbH Germany Travel agent
TUI Österreich GmbH Austria Tour operator
TUI Poland Sp Zoo Poland Tour operator
TUIfly GmbH Germany Airline
Mainstream – Western Europe
Corsair SA France Airline
Groupe Marmara SAS France Tour operator
JetAir NV Belgium Tour operator
Société d’Investissement Aérien SA Morocco Airline
TUI Airlines Belgium NV Belgium Airline
TUI Airlines Nederland BV Netherlands Airline
TUI Travel Belgium NV Belgium Tour operator
TUI Nederland NV Netherlands Tour operator
Voyages Touraventure SA France Tour operator
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31. Principal operating subsidiaries continued
Subsidiary Country Nature of business

Accommodation & Destinations Sector
Acampora Travel S.R.L (51%) Italy Destination Services
Asiarooms Pte Ltd Singapore Online accommodation
Beds On Line SLU Spain Online accommodation
Club Turavia SA de CV Mexico Accommodation wholesaler
Gateway Guest Services USA, LLC USA Cruise handling
Hotelbeds Dominicana SA Dominican Republic Accommodation wholesaler
Hotelbeds, SLU Spain Accommodation wholesaler
Hotelbeds Spain, SLU Spain Accommodation wholesaler
Hotelbeds Product, SLU Spain Online accommodation
Hotelbeds UK Limited United Kingdom Accommodation wholesaler
Hotelbeds USA, Inc. USA Accommodation wholesaler
Intercruises Shoreside & Port Services, Inc. USA Cruise handling
Intercruises Shoreside & Port Services SLU Spain Cruise handling
Late Rooms Limited United Kingdom Late accommodation
Tantur Turizm Seyahat Anonim Sirketi Turkey Destination services
Transfar-Agencia de Viagens e Turismo Unipessoal LDA Portugal Destination services
TUI Hellas Travel Tourism and Airlines AE Greece Destination services
TUI Portugal-Agencia de Viagens e Turismo SA Portugal Destination services
TUI España Turismo S.A. (99.0%) Spain Destination services
Ultramar Express Transport SA Spain Destination services

Specialist & Activity Sector
Adventure Tours Australia Group Pty Ltd (60%) Australia Tour operator
Brightspark Travel Inc USA Tour operator
Crown Travel Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
EAC Language Centres (UK) Limited United Kingdom Language teaching
Exodus Travels Limited (60%) United Kingdom Tour operator
Fanfirm Pty Limited Australia Tour operator
First Choice Sailing, Inc. USA Tour operator
Gullivers Sports Travel Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Hampstead School of English Limited United Kingdom Language teaching
Hayes & Jarvis (Travel) Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Intrepid Travel Pty Ltd (60%) Australia Tour operator
Mariner International Travel, Inc. USA Tour operator
Peregrine Adventures Pty Ltd Australia Tour operator
Porter and Haylett Limited United Kingdom Boat owning company
Quark Expeditions, Inc. USA Tour operator
Real Travel Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Ski Bound Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Specialist Holiday Group Ireland Limited Irish Republic Tour operator
Specialist Holidays (Travel) Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Sportsworld Group Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
StudentCity.com, Inc. USA Tour operator
Sunsail Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Sunsail Worldwide Sailing Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
TCS and Starquest Expeditions, Inc. USA Tour operator
The Moorings Limited British Virgin Islands Tour operator
Travel Turf, Inc. United Kingdom Tour operator
Trek America Travel Limited (60%) USA Tour operator
TTSS Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Williment Travel Group limited New Zealand Tour operator
World Challenge Expeditions Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Your Man Tours, Inc. USA Tour operator
Zegrahm Expeditions, Inc. USA Tour operator

In addition to the ownership of 100% of the ordinary shares of the above listed principal operating subsidiaries, the Group also owns the 
following shares of these companies:

Principal operating subsidiary Additional classes of shares

Porter and Haylett Limited 180,000 £1 redeemable ordinary shares
Ski Bound Limited 167,502 £1 ‘A’ ordinary shares
Club Turavia SA de CV 2,367,133 MXP1.00 variable shares
Falcon Leisure Group (Overseas) Limited 615,000 €1 preference shares
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32. Earnings/(loss) per share
The basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the result attributable to ordinary shareholders by the applicable weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year, excluding those held in the employee benefit trusts. The diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated 
on the result attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by the adjusted potential weighted average number of ordinary shares, which takes 
account of the outstanding share awards and the impact of the conversion of the convertible bonds, where their conversion is dilutive. The 
additional underlying earnings per share measures have been presented to provide the reader of the accounts with a better understanding  
of the results.

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share is as follows:

     Weighted   Weighted
    average number Earnings  average number Restated loss
   Earnings of shares per share Restated loss of shares per share
   2011 2011  2011 2010 2010 2010
   £m Millions Pence £m Millions Pence

Basic earnings/(loss) per share   85 1,107 7.7 (123) 1,107 (11.1)        
Effect of dilutive options   – 11  – –

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share   85 1,118 7.6 (123) 1,107 (11.1)

The 2010 loss per share (basic and diluted) figures have been restated as described in Note 1(B)(ii). The impact of the restatement on basic and 
diluted loss per share is to increase the loss by 1.6p in respect of the re-presentation of Jet4You and by 1.7p for the inclusion of Magic Life under 
predecessor accounting. The total of 3.3p increases the restated loss (basic and diluted) per share from 7.8p to 11.1p.

For the 2010 statutory measure of diluted loss per share, the effects of the options and the convertible bonds are anti-dilutive. The anti-dilutive 
effect is not included in the calculation and the restated basic loss per share and restated diluted loss per share are therefore both disclosed as 
11.1p. Had these been taken into account in 2010, the fully diluted weighted average number of shares on a statutory basis would have been 
1,262 million.

For the 2011 statutory measure of diluted earnings per share, the effects of including the convertible bonds (only) are anti-dilutive and therefore 
this is not included within the calculation. Had this been taken into account in 2011, the fully diluted weighted average number of shares on a 
statutory basis would have been 1,323 million.

Alternative measures of earnings/(loss) per share
     Weighted   Weighted Restated
    average number Earnings Restated average number loss/(earnings)
   Earnings/ of shares per share loss/(earnings) of shares per share
   (loss) 2011  2011 2010 2010 2010
   £m Millions Pence £m Millions Pence

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share   85 1,107 7.7 (123) 1,107 (11.1)

Acquisition related expenses and impairment of goodwill  121 –  75 –
Predecessor accounting for Magic Life   17 –  19 –
Separately disclosed items   74 –  262 –
Tax base difference   (36) –  (23) –

Basic underlying earnings per share   261 1,107 23.6 210 1,107 19.0
Effect of dilutive options   – 11  – 11
Effect of convertible bond (net of tax)   45 205  32 144

Diluted underlying earnings per share   306 1,323 23.1 242 1,262 19.2

The tax base difference primarily represents the difference between the actual charge in the consolidated income statement and the Group’s 
underlying tax charge, as disclosed in Note 8. The dilutive effect of the convertible bonds is included solely to calculate diluted underlying 
earnings per share.

The 2010 underlying loss per share (basic and diluted) figures have been restated as described in Note 1(B)(ii) to include the impact of volcanic 
ash in the calculation.

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations attributable  
to ordinary shareholders from continuing operations
        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders from continuing operations     85 (123)
Result attributable to non-controlling interests from continuing operations     2 –

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations      87 (123)

2010 numbers have been restated as described in Note 1(B)(ii).
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32. Earnings/(loss) per share continued
Non-GAAP measure
Reconciliation of underlying operating profit to underlying earnings
        Restated
       Year ended Year ended
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
      Note £m £m

Underlying operating profit       471 399
Net underlying financial expenses      5 (111) (110)

Underlying profit before tax       360 289
Underlying tax charge at 27% (2010: 27%)       (97) (79)

Underlying profit for the year       263 210

Attributable to ordinary shareholders       261 210
Attributable to non-controlling interests       2 –

Underlying profit for the year       263 210

The 2010 reconciliation has been restated as described in Note 1(B)(ii). The underlying numbers shown are as described in Note 1(B)(iii) and 
exclude £35m, being the impact of the volcanic ash in 2010, and include the representation from discontinued operations of the results of 
Jet4You as described in Note 1(B)(ii).

33. Post balance sheet events
Details of acquisitions since the balance sheet date are set out in Note 13.

34. Ultimate parent company
The ultimate parent company is considered to be TUI AG, a company registered in Berlin and Hanover (Federal Republic of Germany).  
At 30 September 2011 TUI AG was the beneficial owner of 55.47% of the ordinary share capital of the Company.

In addition a number of bonds are held by TUI AG (either directly or indirectly) and, if converted, this would give rise to 52,309,463 of  
new shares. On a fully-diluted basis, if all bonds were converted, TUI AG’s shareholding would be 50.83% at 30 September 2011.

TUI AG prepares consolidated financial statements which include the results of the Group. TUI AG is the parent undertaking of the smallest  
and largest group to consolidate these financial statements. The accounting reference date of TUI AG is 30 September. Copies of the TUI AG 
financial statements are publicly available and can be obtained from the registered office of this company situated at Karl-Wiechert-Allee 4, 
30625 Hanover, Federal Republic of Germany.
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Independent Auditors’ report to the members of TUI Travel PLC

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

• the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited has 
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 
2006; and

• the information given in the Directors’ report for the financial year 
for which the parent company financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the parent company financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where 
the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent 
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

• the parent company financial statements and the part of the 
Remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are 
not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements  
of TUI Travel PLC for the year ended 30 September 2011.

Roger de Peyrecave (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
4 December 2011

We have audited the parent company financial statements of TUI 
Travel PLC for the year ended 30 September 2011 which comprise the 
parent company balance sheet and the related notes. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement  
set out on page 50, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the parent company financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the parent company financial statements  
in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply  
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only  
for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose.  
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility 
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is 
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed 
by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the 
parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied 
and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the Directors; and the overall presentation  
of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial  
and non-financial information in the Annual Report & Accounts to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements.  
If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements  
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the parent company financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 
30 September 2011;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006.
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       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
      Note £m £m

Fixed assets
Investment in subsidiary undertakings      D 1,430 918

Total investments       1,430 918

Current assets
Derivative financial instruments       1 6
Debtors      E 384 1,145
Cash at bank and in hand       33 –

       418 1,151
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year     F (398) (967)

Net current assets       20 184

Total assets less current liabilities       1,450 1,102
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year     G (926) (638)
Provision for liabilities      H (24) (19)

Net assets       500 445

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital      I 112 112
Profit and loss account      J 277 227
Convertible bond reserve      J 85 83
Other reserves      J 26 23

Total shareholders’ funds      J 500 445

The financial statements were approved by a duly authorised Committee of the Board of Directors on 4 December 2011 and were signed on its 
behalf by:

Peter J Long William H Waggott
Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer

Company number: 6072876

The notes on pages 139 to 143 form part of these financial statements.

Financial statements

Company balance sheet
at 30 September 2011
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Notes to the Company’s financial statements

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. The gain  
or loss on re-measurement to fair value is recognised immediately in 
the income statement. However, where derivatives qualify for hedge 
accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the 
nature of the item being hedged.

Convertible bond
The convertible bonds are split into two components: a debt 
component and a component representing the embedded derivatives 
in the bond. The debt component represents the Group’s liability  
for future interest coupon payments and the redemption amount. 
The embedded derivatives represent the value of the option that 
bondholders have to convert into ordinary shares of the Company. 
These derivatives were valued on inception and recognised in the 
convertible bond reserve in equity.

The debt component of the convertible bonds are measured  
at amortised cost and therefore increase as the present value of  
the interest coupon payments and redemption amount increases, 
with a corresponding charge to finance cost. The debt component 
decreases by the cash interest coupon payments made. The embedded 
derivatives are measured at fair value at each balance sheet date, and 
changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement.

Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and derivative 
components of a convertible bond based on the allocation of 
proceeds to the liability and derivative components when the 
instruments are first recognised.

Share-based payment
The Company operates share-based payment schemes for the 
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The fair value of 
shares awarded to employees is an employee expense and is borne  
by fellow Group subsidiaries. The fair value is measured at the award 
date and is spread over the period during which the employee 
becomes unconditionally entitled to the awards. Calculating the fair 
value takes into account various factors including the expected volatility 
of the shares, the dividend yield and the risk free interest rate.

The Company makes awards of its own shares to the employees  
of its subsidiaries and as such recognises an increase in the cost  
of investment in its subsidiaries equivalent to the equity-settled 
share-based payment charge recognised in its subsidiaries’ financial 
statements with the corresponding credit being recognised directly  
in equity. The increase in investments and credit to equity for the  
year ended 30 September 2011 is £19m (30 September 2010: £14m). 
Further information on the share schemes is provided in Note 6(D)  
to the consolidated financial statements.

Transactions of the Company’s Employee Benefit Trusts are included 
in the Company’s financial statements. In particular, the Trusts’ 
purchases and sales of shares in the Company are debited and 
credited directly to equity.

Related parties
For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered 
to be related to the Company if the Company has the ability directly 
or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over 
the party making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or 
where the Company and the party are subject to common control or 
common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or 
other entities. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption 
contained within FRS 8 and has not therefore disclosed transactions 
or balances with entities which are wholly-owned subsidiaries.

A. Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in 
dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the 
Company’s financial statements.

Accounting convention
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable UK accounting standards and under the historical cost 
convention. The financial statements have been prepared on the 
going concern basis, which assumes that the Company will continue  
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Company  
has taken advantage of the exemption under Section 408 of the 
Companies Act 2006 from presenting its own profit and loss account. 
The profit after tax included in the financial statements of the Company 
determined in accordance with the Act, was £174m (2010: £214m).

The Company is exempt from the requirement to prepare a cash  
flow statement as its cash flows are included within the published 
consolidated statement of cash flows of TUI Travel PLC.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained  
within FRS 29 and has not provided the required financial  
instruments disclosure on the basis that the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements include consolidated IFRS 7 disclosures which  
are compliant with the requirements of FRS 29.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet 
date are translated to Sterling at the foreign exchange rate ruling at 
that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are 
recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to 
Sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair values 
were determined.

Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for 
impairment. Dividends received and receivable are credited to  
the Company’s profit and loss account.

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value  
less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any 
differences between cost and redemption value being recognised  
in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an 
effective interest rate basis.

Classification of financial instruments issued
Financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity 
only to the extent that they meet the following conditions: they 
include no contractual obligation upon the Company to deliver cash  
or other financial assets or to exchange financial assets or financial 
liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable to the Company and; where the instrument will or may 
be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a 
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number 
of the Company’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that will 
be settled by the Company exchanging a fixed amount of cash or 
other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.
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Additions in the year of £534m comprise the following increases  
in investments: £246m increase in the cost of investment into  
TT Holdings France SA during the year, for the purposes of 
recapitalising the Group’s French business, £269m investment into 
TUI Travel Amber E&W LLP, a company which holds the investment 
into the ownership of the Group’s two main UK brands, First Choice 
and Thomson, as described in Note 6 of the consolidated financial 
statements and £19m of share-based payment liabilities incurred. The 
costs of the share-based schemes, which are operated for employees 
of the Company’s subsidiaries, are borne by the subsidiaries, subject 
to local accounting standards. The Company recognises an increase  
in the investment in the subsidiary and a credit to other reserves in 
accordance with FRS 20 Share-based Payments.

Details of the principal operating subsidiaries held directly and 
indirectly by the Company and by the Group in the year ended  
30 September 2011 can be found in Notes 31 and 13, respectively,  
of the consolidated financial statements.

An impairment of £10m has been charged in the year in respect  
of the cost of investment into TT Holdings France SA, following the 
recapitalisation during the year and the outcome from the Group’s 
annual impairment exercise.

The investment into TT Holdings France SA principally relates to  
two CGUs that are the same as those used in the Group’s annual 
impairment test. These two CGUs are the French tour operator and 
the French airline, Corsair. Detailed disclosure of the impairment  
test and the basis for calculation have been set out in Note 10 of the 
consolidated financial statements. The cost of investment has been 
compared against the value in use of the underlying investment of 
Corsair and the fair value less costs to sell basis for the French tour 
operator, using the discounted cash flows (adjusted for the French 
tour operator) as a basis of measurement. This fair value less costs  
to sell basis has been used as the Board’s restructuring plan is not 
sufficiently advanced to meet the criteria for including both the costs 
and the associated benefits of the plan in a value in use calculation 
and not as a result of any intention to dispose of this CGU.

The calculation of recoverable value for these two CGUs use the 
following assumptions:

• Cash flow projections based on the Group’s latest approved 
five-year business plan; incorporating adjustments to fair value 
where appropriate

• Cash flows beyond the plan period are extrapolated using an 
inflationary only growth rate of 2%

• Cash flows include the impact of working capital in the both the 
asset base and the impact on cash flows over the plan period for 
the value in use calculation only

• Cash flows are discounted using the Group’s WACC adjusted as 
appropriate for business specific factors, such as business and 
geographic risk. The risk-adjusted pre-tax WACC for these two 
CGUs was 11%

Financial statements

Notes to the Company’s financial statements continued

Taxation
The charge for taxation is based on the profit or loss for the  
period and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing 
differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and 
accounting purposes. Except as otherwise required by accounting 
standards, full provision without discounting is made for all timing 
differences, which have arisen but not reversed at the balance sheet 
date. Timing differences arise when items of income and expenditure 
are included in tax computations in periods different from their 
inclusion in the financial statements.

Dividends on shares presented within shareholders’ funds
Dividends distributed to the Company’s shareholders is recognised  
as a liability and deducted from equity in the Group’s financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are appropriately 
authorised and approved for payment and are no longer at the 
discretion of the Company. Unpaid dividends that do not meet  
these criteria are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Auditors’ remuneration
The Company’s 2011 audit fee was £25,000 (2010: £25,000).

B. Directors’ remuneration and employees
Details of Directors’ remuneration, gains made by them on vesting of 
share awards, amounts receivable by them under long term incentive 
schemes and pension entitlements in the current and prior years are 
contained in the audited section of the Remuneration report and in 
Note 6 of the consolidated financial statements. The Company had 
seven employees (2010: seven). Details of all share awards issued by 
the Company are given in Note 6(D) of the consolidated financial 
statements. All Directors’ remuneration are borne by subsidiary 
companies.

C. Dividends
Details of dividends paid and proposed by the Company in the 
current and prior year and details of dividends proposed subsequent 
to the balance sheet date are given in Note 9 of the consolidated 
financial statements.

D. Investments
 Shares in
 subsidiaries
 £m

Cost
At 1 October 2010 922
Additions 534
Disposals (12)

At 30 September 2011 1,444

Provision for diminution in value
At 1 October 2010 (4)
Impairment (10)

At 30 September 2011 (14)

Net book value
At 30 September 2010 918

At 30 September 2011 1,430
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E. Debtors
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Amounts owed by ultimate parent company       – 370
Amounts owed by Group undertakings       281 705
Corporation tax recoverable       78 35
Prepayments       11 2
Other debtors       14 33

Total       384 1,145

Amounts owed by ultimate parent
Amounts owed by ultimate parent comprise a loan of £nil (2010: £370m). The loan was unsecured, bore interest at EURIBOR plus a margin  
of 1.9%, had no fixed date of repayment and was repayable on demand. The loan was fully repaid during the year.

Amounts owed by Group undertakings
Amounts owed by Group undertakings are unsecured, includes €30m, equating to £26m at 30 September 2011 (2010: £360m), that bears 
interest at 4.3% (2010: 6.0%) and matures on 31 August 2012, and €150m, equating to £130m at 30 September 2011 (2010: £nil), that bears 
interest at 6-month EURIBOR plus a margin of 1.9% and matures on 28 March 2012. £122m (2010: £336m) is unsecured, bears no interest,  
has no fixed date of repayment and is repayable on demand.

Other debtors
Other debtors includes £14m (2010: £nil) of cash held in an escrow account as required for the Group’s external borrowing facilities.

F. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Bank overdraft       – 112
Deferred and contingent consideration       3 12
Amounts owed to ultimate parent company       38 589
Amounts owed to Group undertakings       338 234
Accruals and deferred income       19 20

Total       398 967

Amounts owed to ultimate parent company
Amounts owed to ultimate parent comprise a shareholder loan of €30m, equating to £26m, at 30 September 2011 (2010: €669m, equating  
to £575m at 30 September 2010), current account of €14m, equating to £12m, at 30 September 2011 (2010: €14m, equating to £12m at  
30 September 2010) and interest payable of €nil (2010: €2m, equating to £2m at 30 September 2010). The loan bears interest at EURIBOR plus 
a margin of 2.75% (2010: 1.9%) per annum. The Company can make voluntary repayments at any time during the term of the loan subject to a 
minimum repayment of €1m (2010: €10m) and the giving of 10 days’ notice (2010: 30 days’). The drawn balance of the loan at 30 September 
2011 was €30m (2010: €669m), not including interest payable. The loan is repayable on as follows: 30 April 2012: €20m and 31 August 2012: 
€10m. All loan balances are unsecured.

Amounts owed to Group undertakings
Amounts owed to Group undertakings include £24m (2010: £nil) that bears interest at the three month Sterling LIBOR rate and is repayable on 
demand, subject to the borrower or the lender giving seven days’ notice. All other amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured, interest 
free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.

G. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Convertible bonds       654 633
Deferred and contingent consideration       2 5
Amounts owed to Group undertakings       270 –

Total       926 638

Details of the convertible bonds are given in Note 19 of the consolidated financial statements. The accounting under UK GAAP and IFRS is  
the same.

Amounts owed to Group undertakings comprise a loan of £269m and interest payable of £1m. The loan bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin  
of 5% per annum, is unsecured and is not repayable in the foreseeable future, with the latest repayment date of 31 March 2026.
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H. Provision for liabilities
        £m

Deferred tax 
Other timing differences        24

Total provision for liabilities        24

At 1 October 2010        19
Deferred tax charge to profit and loss account        7
Deferred tax credit to equity        (2)

At 30 September 2011        24

Other timing differences comprise the deferred tax charge on the equity portion of the convertible bonds and share-based payments.

I. Called up share capital
       30 September 30 September
       2011 2010
       £m £m

Issued and fully paid
1,118,010,670 (2010: 1,118,010,670) ordinary shares of 10p each      112 112

Total       112 112

As described more fully in Note 34, the ultimate parent company, TUI AG, is the beneficial owner of 55.47% of the Company’s issued ordinary 
share capital as at 30 September 2011.

At 30 September 2011 12,700,211 shares (2010: 13,191,246 shares) were held by the Group’s Employee Benefit Trusts. Based on 30 September 
2011 share price of £1.49 (2010: £2.14) the value of shares held was £18,961,415 (2010: £28,282,031).

During the year ended 30 September 2011 the Group’s Employee Benefit Trusts acquired 3m shares at market value for consideration of £7m 
(2010: £7m).

Details of dividends debited to equity in the year are set out in Note 9 of the consolidated financial statements.

Whilst the Company has the authority to purchase its own shares, it has not done so in either the current or prior years.

J. Capital and reserves
    Share Profit and Convertible Other
    capital loss account bond reserve reserves Total
    £m £m £m £m £m

At 30 September 2009    112 127 – 30 269
Acquisition of shares    – – – (7) (7)
Disposal on award of shares    – 4 – (18) (14)
Share-based payment costs    – – – 18 18
Profit for the year    – 214 – – 214
Equity portion of convertible bonds    – – 83 – 83
Dividends paid    – (118) – – (118)

At 30 September 2010    112 227 83 23 445
Acquisition of shares by Employee Benefit Trust    – – – (7) (7)
Disposal on award of shares    – – – (9) (9)
Share-based payment costs    – – – 19 19
Profit for the year    – 174 – – 174
Foreign exchange on net investment hedge    – (2) – – (2)
Effect of rate change on convertible bond    – – 2 – 2
Dividends paid    – (122) – – (122)

At 30 September 2011    112 277 85 26 500
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K. Contingent liabilities
Under the terms of guarantees given to the Civil Aviation Authority and other relevant authorities by the Company in respect of certain 
subsidiaries, in the event of default the Company could be held liable to the extent of the subsidiaries’ net trading liabilities at the time of 
default.

There were contingent liabilities at 30 September 2011 in respect of guarantees and indemnities entered into as part of the ordinary course  
of the Group’s business. No material losses are currently expected to arise from such contingent liabilities. The Company, and its subsidiaries,  
is at any time defending a number of actions against it arising in the normal course of business. Provision is made for these actions where this  
is deemed appropriate. No actions which are outstanding at 30 September 2011 are expected to have a material effect on these accounts.  
The Directors consider that adequate provision has been made for all known liabilities.

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within its Group, the Company 
considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such. In this respect, the Company treats the guarantee contract as  
a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee. At  
30 September 2011, the Company had contingent liabilities in respect of counter-guarantees for letters of credit amounting to £111m (2010: £166m).

L. Related party transactions
Apart from with its own subsidiaries which are included in the consolidated financial statements, TUI Travel PLC, in carrying out its ordinary 
business activities, had transactions with its ultimate parent company, TUI AG which delivered services to companies in the Group.

All transactions with related parties were executed on an arm’s length basis and under normal conditions of trade with independent third parties.

Details of transactions with related parties and balances outstanding at the balance sheet date are set out in the tables below:

   Interest received Expenses    
     Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
     30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
     2011 2010 2011 2010
     £m £m £m £m

Ultimate parent TUI AG     2 4 6 22

Total     2 4 6 22

   Debtors Creditors    
     30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
     2011 2010 2011 2010
     £m £m £m £m

Ultimate parent TUI AG     – 370 38 589

Total     – 370 38 589

M. Post balance sheet events
Details of post balance sheet events relevant to the Company and its Group are given in Note 33 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Shareholder information

Significant shareholdings

At the date of approval of the Annual Report & Accounts for the  
year ended 30 September 2011, the Company had been notified  
of the following holdings in excess of 3% in its issued share capital.

 Shares %

TUI AG 620,137,750 55.47
Monteray Enterprises 53,302,480 4.77
Marathon Asset Management 42,438,940 3.80
DWS Investments 36,368,629 3.25
Blackrock 34,660,366 3.10

Financial calendar

Annual General Meeting 7 February 2012
Interim results May 2012
Preliminary results December 2012
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Solicitors
Herbert Smith

Bankers
Barclays Bank PLC
Citigroup NA
Royal Bank of Scotland plc
Société Générale

Registrars and transfer office
Equiniti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing BN99 6DA
Shareholder Contact Centre No: 0871 384 2030
International: +44 (0) 121 415 7047
Website: www.shareview.co.uk

Company website
www.tuitravelplc.com

Secretary and Registered Office
A L John
TUI Travel House
Crawley Business Quarter
Fleming Way
Crawley
West Sussex RH10 9QL
Telephone: 01293 645700
Facsimile: 01293 645704

Registered number 6072876

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1 Embankment Place
London
WC2 6RH

Merchant bankers
Lazard Brothers & Co Limited
Deutsche Bank

Stockbrokers
RBS Hoare Govett Limited
Deutsche Bank
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Shareholder information

Shareholder discount

Quark Expeditions*
Best price on the www.quarkexpeditions.com website plus a further 
5% discount per adult on all departures.

SkiBound*
Best price on the www.skiboundholidays.co.uk website plus a further 
discount of £20 per adult to a maximum of £40 per booking on all our 
French club hotel destinations.
*  Discounts are not valid on accommodation-only bookings and cannot be used in 

conjunction with any discretionary discounts, group savings or other promotional offers.

**  Discounts are not valid on accommodation or flight-only bookings and cannot be used in 
conjunction with other promotional offers including but not restricted to group discounts. 
Valid on charter flights to European destinations only.

In order to qualify for the discount, private shareholders (including 
those holding through a nominee account) must hold at least 500 
ordinary shares in the Company on the date of booking the holiday 
and must have been on the register of shareholders for a minimum 
period of one year on that date.

To register for your discount call Equiniti on 0871 384 2030 (Monday 
to Friday 08:30-17:30hrs). You will be required to provide details to 
confirm you are an eligible shareholder – in the case of a nominee 
account, this would normally be a letter from the registered 
shareholder. Once confirmed, you will be given a unique code.

To make a booking call us on: 0844 800 3104 (Monday, Wednesday 
and Friday 09:00-18:00hrs, Tuesday 10:00-18:00hrs and Saturday  
09:00-12:30hrs). You will be asked for your unique code and your 
discount will be applied.

Share dealing service
An execution-only share-dealing service for the purchase and sale  
of TUI Travel PLC shares is available from NatWest Stockbrokers. 
NatWest Stockbrokers is authorised and regulated by the Financial 
Services Authority and is a member of the London Stock Exchange 
and PLUS.

For details, please contact:

NatWest Stockbrokers
Suite 1/1
3 Minster Court
Mincing Lane
London EC3R 7DD
Telephone 0808 208 4433

Find out more
TUI Travel PLC has a corporate website which can be accessed 
through www.tuitravelplc.com

Eligible shareholders are entitled to the following discounts (which  
are subject to change) when booking holidays through our dedicated 
Shareholder Discount Line. The shareholder must be the lead name 
on the booking.

Best price on the dedicated website plus a further discount of £20  
per adult to a maximum of £40 per booking (cruise, short/medium 
haul destinations) or £40 per adult to a maximum of £80 per booking 
(long haul destinations) for the following:

First Choice* www.firstchoice.co.uk
Thomson* www.thomson.co.uk
Thomson Worldwide* www.thomsonworldwide.com
Citalia* www.citalia.com
Jetsave* www.jetsave.co.uk
Meon Villas* www.meonvillas.com
Sovereign* www.sovereign.com
Hayes & Jarvis* www.hayesandjarvis.co.uk
Thomson Lakes & Mountains** www.thomsonlakes.co.uk
Thomson Ski & Snowboarding** www.thomsonski.co.uk

Thomson Airways
Best price on the www.thomson.co.uk website plus a further discount 
of £10 per person for a return journey (short/medium haul destinations) 
or £20 per person for a return journey (long haul destinations).

Hotelopia
Best price on all hotels on the www.hotelopia.co.uk website plus an 
additional 14% discount.

Trek America*
Best price on the website www.trekamerica.com plus an additional 
10% discount.

The Moorings*
Best price on the www.moorings.com website plus a further  
discount of £20 per adult to a maximum of £40 per booking (short 
haul destinations) or £40 per adult to a maximum of £80 per booking 
(long haul destinations).

Sunsail*
Best price on the www.sunsail.co.uk website plus a further discount  
of £20 per adult to a maximum of £40 per booking (short haul 
destinations) or £40 per adult to a maximum of £80 per booking  
(long haul destinations).

Le Boat*
Best price on the www.leboat.co.uk website plus a further discount  
of £20 per adult to a maximum of £40 per booking on all destinations.

Real Gap*
Inspired Breaks*
Best price on the www.realgap.co.uk website plus a further discount 
of 10%.
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Load factor
Passenger volumes as a percentage of capacity

m
Million

Merger
The business combination of the Tourism Division of TUI AG 
(excluding certain hotel assets) and First Choice Holidays PLC

OTA
Online travel agent

PSP
Performance Share Plan

PwC
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

ROIC
Return on invested capital

RPI
Retail Price Index

Sector
Subset of TUI Travel PLC whose businesses share similar characteristics

S&A
Specialist & Activity Sector

Summer season
May to October

TSR
Total Shareholder Return

The Board
TUI Travel PLC Board of Directors

The Company
TUI Travel PLC

The Group
The TUI Travel PLC group of companies

TUI AG
TUI Travel PLC’s majority shareholder

UNWTO
United Nations World Travel Organisation

VCSP
Value Creation Synergy Plan

WACC
Weighted average cost of capital

Winter season
November to April

A&D
Accommodation & Destinations Sector

AGM
Annual General Meeting

APAC
Asia Pacific region

ASP
Average selling price

Asset-right
Optimum mix of owned and leased assets

B2B
Business-to-Business

B2C
Business-to-Consumer

bn
Billion

CIS
Commonwealth of Independent States

CO2/RPK
Carbon dioxide emissions per revenue passenger kilometre

Controlled distribution
Owned and franchised retail shops, call centre and website

COSO
The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission

DABS
Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme

Differentiated content
Includes hotels and products that have been tailored to offer 
additional services and facilities to our customers

Direct distribution
Retail, call centre and website

EPS
Earnings per share

ETS
European Emissions Trading Scheme

GDP
Gross Domestic Product

GMB
Group Management Board

IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards

KPIs
Key performance indicators

Glossary of key terms
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